
 

 

Finance Council 
 

Monday, 1st March, 2021 
6.00 pm 

Virtual Meeting 
Join Here 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
1.   Welcome and Apologies  

 
2.   Prayers by the Mayor's Chaplain  

 
3.   Minutes of the Council Forum Meeting held on 28th 

January 2021 
 

 Council Forum January 2021 3 - 9 

 
4.   Declarations of Interest  

 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FORM 10 

 
5.   Mayoral Communications  

 
In respect of items 6 and 7, technical questions on the contents 
of the report should have been raised directly with Louise 
Mattinson, Director of Finance, by 12 noon on Friday 26th 
February 2021.  
 

 

6.   Capital Strategy 2021/22  

 Capital Strategy Report 2021 2022 
Appendices 1 to 6 
Appendix 7 - Asset Management Plan 

11 - 79 

 
7.   The Robustness of the 2021/22 Budget and the 

Recommended Level of Reserves 
 

 Robustness of Budget 2021-22 80 - 93 

 
In respect of Items 8 and 9 below, under the Local Government 
(Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, 
which came into force on 25 February 2014, the Council is 
required to record in the minutes of a budget decision meeting 
the names of persons who cast a vote for or against the 
decision or who abstained from voting.Also in respect of items 
8 and 9, Council are reminded that under Section 25 of the 

 

Public Document Pack

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_YWJhNmU2MmItMTA5OS00ZTkwLWJiNzItNGY2NjQwMGNkMWNj%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22dcfb3fe3-e9c9-423a-a1da-148a4b3a2e60%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2269c7acd0-b51d-4cc3-a771-6977a69570c5%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


 

 

Local Government Act 2003 Members have a duty to have 
regard to the robustness report of the Director of Finance, the 
Council's Section 151 Officer. As such the Mayor will only 
accept amendments that have a robustness report from the 
Director of Finance attached. The Mayor will then ask if it is the 
intention of any Member to put forward an amendment during 
the debate on the Budget. This will help allow a reasonable 
debate on the Budget.  
 
8.   Revenue Budget 2021/22, Medium Term Financial 

Strategy and Capital Programme 2021-24 
 

 Revenue Budget 2021-22 Report 
Appendix A 
Appendix B 
Appendix C 
Appendix D 
Appendix E 

94 - 136 

 
9.   Council Tax 2021/22  

 Council Tax Report 2021-22 FINALv2 137 - 
144 

 
10.   Constitution Update  

 Constitution Update 
Item 10 Draft Update Constitution March 2021 

145 - 
431 

 
 

Date Published: 19th February 2021 
Denise Park, Chief Executive 

 



Council Forum 
Thursday 28th January 2021 

COUNCIL FORUM 
Thursday 28th January 2021 

 
 

PRESENT – The Mayor Councillor Iftakhar Hussain, Councillors  Afzal, Akhtar 
H, Akhtar P, Batan, Bateson, Brookfield, Browne, Casey, Connor, Daley, 
Davies, Desai, Floyd, Gee, Gunn, Hardman, Harling, Hussain M, Hussain S, 
Jan-Virmani, Kay, Khan M, Khan Z, Khonat, Liddle, Mahmood, Marrow, 
McFall, McGurk, Oates, Patel, Rawat, Rigby C, Rigby J, Riley, Salton, Sidat, 
Shorrock, Slater Jacq, Slater Jo, Slater Ju, Slater N, Smith D, Smith J, Talbot, 
Taylor and Whittle.  
. 
 

RESOLUTIONS 
 

42  Welcome and Apologies 
 
The Chief Executive read out the notice convening the meeting and the 
Mayor advised how the remote meeting would operate. Apologies were 
received from Councillor Tasleem Fazal. 
 

   43  Minutes Of The Previous Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the Policy Council meeting held on 3rd December 2020 
were agreed as a correct record. 
 
The Chief Executive reminded Members that it was agreed at the Policy 
Council meeting that the Finance Council meeting would be moved back a 
week to Monday 1st March 2021. 
 

   44  Declarations of Interest 
 
No Declarations of Interest were received. 
 

   45  Mayoral Communications 
 
The Mayor noted with sadness the lives lost due to the ongoing Covid-19 
pandemic. 
 
The Mayor also reflected on recent events and activities, including 
Remembrance commemorations, Christmas engagements and activities 
and his involvement in the on-line Holocaust Memorial Day Event the 
previous day. 
 

    46  Council Forum 
 
The Chief Executive reported that three questions had been received from 
members of the public under Procedure Rule 12 as follows: 
 
To Councillor Damian Talbot, Executive Member for Public Health & 
Wellbeing: 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Council Forum 
Thursday 29th January 2021 

From Bill Stemp (Indoor Bowling Working Party): 

Bowling has over 8,000 registered players in Lancashire and is the 2nd 
most participated sport in the county after junior football. The positives 
regarding physical health and social interaction for all age groups and 
abilities cannot be underestimated and is surely a council priority concern, 
especially after this pandemic. There are over 300 purpose built indoor 
bowling centres in England (despite a southern bias, there are 11 in 
Yorkshire and even 3 in Cumbria) but NONE in Lancashire. Bowlers are 
reduced to limited playing time in the local leisure centre on an uneven floor 
with rolled up mats because our only other option is to travel to Leeds or 
Penrith to play at the nearest custom built site. Would you agree that this is 
totally unjustifiable and undertake to support us in rectifying this 
unacceptable situation? 

From John Schofield: 

We are aware that local council funding would not be an option in financing 
the construction of a custom built indoor bowling venue. We would however 
be supporting the council's public health objective and responsibilities, and 
indeed fulfilling our own ambition, to provide and promote health and 
wellbeing at no cost to the Council themselves. Therefore, if alternative 
funding became available, would the council be prepared to work with us to 
identify an accessible Council owned location at zero or minimal rent? 

To Councillor Mohammed Khan: 
 
From Rick Moore 
 
In recent times it has become clear that the Chinese Communist Party is the 
biggest threat on the globe to Western Civilisation and Values.  
 
The Chinese government’s treatment of the Uighurs - which includes forced 
sterilization of women, murder, physical and psychological torture and 
abuse, forced labour in detention and “re-education” camps - is an 
egregious example of a systematic attempt to destroy and break the will and 
identity of an entire group of people. The likes of which we have not seen 
since the defeat of the National Socialist German Workers Party in the 
1940’s !  
 
The imposition of the National Security Law on Hong Kong by China gives 
the CCP the means to destroy the freedom and autonomy the territory has 
enjoyed since the 1997 handover from Britain. This Law is deliberately so 
vague that it can, potentially, cover any form of political speech or 
organisation, offences punishable with up to life imprisonment. This clearly 
breaks the international agreement “one country – two systems” between 
China and the UK made in 1997 when the colony of Hong Kong was 
handed back to China.  
 
As a Council we should not, in good conscience, stand idly by while the 
CCP commit such atrocities on our fellow human beings. We should set an 
example by totally condemning the Human Rights violations of the CCP.  
 

Page 4



Council Forum 
Thursday 29th January 2021 

I ask Mohammed Khan, as the Leader of Blackburn with Darwen Council 
both personally and on behalf of Blackburn with Darwen Council whether he 
will totally and unconditionally condemn the Chinese Communist Party for 
their Human Rights violations against the Uighurs and the people of Hong 
Kong, and their anti-democratic actions against the same.  
 
Councillor Talbot gave responses to the first two questions and 
supplementary comments, advising of Council support for bowling but it was 
not at the present moment, in a financial position to provide capital or 
revenue investment to a dedicated facility, but continued to offer support 
and advice to Mr Stemp and the group. 
 
Whilst the Council could not commit that there was a suitable council owned 
building, Councillor Talbot was happy to arrange to meet with the group and 
officers, as early as practically possible and would be absolutely willing to 
support and advise the group should alternative funding be identified. 
 

In response to Mr Moore’s question and supplementary comments, Cllr 
Khan stated that the suppression of anyone on religious or cultural grounds 
was wrong, regardless of where it existed in the world.  It was not 
something the Council could influence, and was a matter for the Foreign 
Office.  However, the Council can pass on Mr Moore’s concerns to local 
MP’s Kate Hollern and Jake Berry, who may be able to raise them directly 
with the Foreign Secretary.   
 
 

    47 Motions 
 
The Chief Executive reported that one Motion had been received under 
Procedure Rule 10 as follows: 
 

No cuts to Universal Credit – let families keep the £20 increase 

Aim: To maintain the income of low and middle income families. 

 

This Council notes: 

·       Next April the government plans to cut the benefit level for millions of 

claimants by ending the time limited increase to the basic rate of Universal 

Credit (and the tax credit equivalent) announced by the Chancellor on 20th 

March as part of his pandemic response package. 

·       The £20 a week boost reflected the reality that the level of benefits were 

not adequate to protect the swiftly increasing number of households relying 

on them as the crisis hit. Exactly because that increase was a very 

significant and welcome move to bolster low- and middle-income families' 

living standards, its removal will be a huge loss. 

·       Pressing ahead would see the level of unemployment support fall to its 

lowest real-terms level, since 1990-91, and it’s lowest ever relative to 

average earnings. Indeed, the basic level of out-of-work support prior to the 

March boost was – at £73 a week (£3,800 a year) – less than half the 

absolute poverty line. 

Page 5



Council Forum 
Thursday 29th January 2021 

·       The increase in benefits has had a positive effect on the lives of 

thousands of local claimants who are better able to pay for life’s essentials 

such as food, clothing and utilities, many of which have increased for 

families as children are once again learning from home. 

·       The local economy has also benefited from the increase in benefit levels 

as claimants spend their money locally thereby supporting local businesses 

and jobs. 

·       That this matter was debated in the House of Commons on 19th January 

and a non-binding motion was passed calling for the extension of the £20 

increase to Universal Credit beyond 31st March 2021. 

 

This Council requests the Chief Executive to: 

·       Write to the Chancellor, Rishi Sunak and to the Prime Minister, Boris 

Johnson demanding that the £20 increase to Universal Credit is made 

permanent and extended to claimants on legacy benefits. 

·       Write to both Blackburn and Darwen and Rossendale MPs and also write 

to Rishi Sunak and to the Prime Minister, Boris Johnson demanding that the 

£20 increase to Universal Credit is made permanent and extended to 

claimants on legacy benefits. 

 

Moved by: Councillor Vicky McGurk 

Seconded by: Councillor Maureen Bateson 
 
In moving the report, Cllr McGurk requested that both local MPs be asked to 
write to the Chancellor and the Prime Minister to demand that the £20 
increase to Universal Credit was made permanent. 
 
Following debate, the Council moved to a vote. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Motion be unanimously carried. 
 

   48  Constitution Update – Revised Petitions Scheme 

 
A report was submitted containing proposals to update the Council’s 
Petitions Scheme. 
 
Ahead of discussion of the item, the Chief Executive advised that a revised 
report had been submitted to Members earlier in the week, and if agreed, 
would become the substantive report. 
 
The Leader then read out the revised recommendation in the report: 
 

1. Approve Option 1 as outlined in the report, requiring a minimum of 50 
signatures for a petition to be considered, unless there are exceptional 
circumstances and the petition calls for local action. (The Chief Executive 
having discretion to ask the relevant Chief Officer to consider in exceptional 
circumstances petitions of less than 50 that call for local action. The primary 

Page 6



Council Forum 
Thursday 29th January 2021 

criteria being the low number of residents affected being determined by 
general circumstances). 
 
The report advised that the Council’s petitions scheme has been in place 
since 2010 and whilst it was no longer a requirement to have a petitions 
scheme, Members may feel that petitions should still be considered, but that 
in doing so that realistic parameters be established to ensure such a 
Scheme was fit for purpose for the Councils current governance 
arrangements. The majority of petitions received were considered at the 
Executive Board, with the remainder considered at the Planning and 
Highways and Licensing Committees as appropriate.  
 
If Members were minded to agree the retention of a Petitions Scheme it was 
proposed that the qualifying threshold for a petition be increased from a 
minimum of 6 to a minimum of 50, given signatures could now be collected 
far more quickly, easily and electronically. No changes are proposed to the 
thresholds for petitions requiring debate, or those that hold employees to 
account. No changes were proposed to the current criteria relating to who 
can sign a petition – signatories must live, work or study in the Borough. 
 
As referred to by the Leader, it was also proposed that the Chief Executive 
have discretion to ask the relevant Chief Officer to consider in exceptional 
circumstances petitions of less than 50 that call for local action. The primary 
criteria being the low number of residents affected being determined by 
general circumstances. 
 
Members then debated the report, and moved to the vote, with the 
Conservative Group voting against the proposed changes to the Petitions 
Scheme. 

 
RESOLVED – That Council Forum: 
 

1. Approve Option 1 as outlined in the report, requiring a minimum of 50 
signatures for a petition to be considered, unless there are exceptional 
circumstances and the petition calls for local action. (The Chief Executive 
having discretion to ask the relevant Chief Officer to consider in exceptional 
circumstances petitions of less than 50 that call for local action. The primary 
criteria being the low number of residents affected being determined by 
general circumstances). 
 

2. And,  
 

3. Authorise amendments to the Petition Scheme reflecting the changes 
referred to in Option 1 updating the Constitution accordingly. 

 
 

49  Community Governance Review – Parish of Livesey 
 
Following approval by Policy Council on 3 December 2020 to commence 
the community governance review (CGR), Members received a report on 
the outcome of the consultation.  The report also requested authority to 
implement the recommendations to take effect from 1 February 2021.   
 
There has been one response to the consultation which was supportive of 

Page 7



Council Forum 
Thursday 29th January 2021 

realigning the boundary.  Subject to Council approval of the 
recommendations and the making of the community governance order, 
polling districts LP5 and LP6 will be merged to align with Livesey Parish 
Council boundary, and the amendments reflected in the electoral register.     
A draft of the Order was attached to the report. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Council Forum: 
 

1. Note the outcome of the consultation undertaken as part of the 
Community Governance Review.   
 

2. Agree the final recommendation to merge polling districts LP5 and 
LP6 to align and approve the making and publishing of the 
community governance order (attached), which is to take effect from 
1 February 2021.   
 

3. Authorise the Chief Executive (as the Electoral Registration Officer) 
to make the necessary changes to the electoral register in readiness 
for publication on 1 February 2021.          

 
 

  50  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

51 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

52 
 
 
 

53 

Updates from Other Committees 
 
The Chairs of the PEOPLE, PLACE and Policy and Corporate Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees provided updates on the recent work of 
their respective Committees. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report and updates be noted. 
 
 
Reports of Executive Members with Portfolios 
 
The Leader and Executive Members presented their reports, providing 
updates as appropriate. Members of the Council thanked Council staff, 
volunteers, fellow Councillors and all involved in responding to the Covid-19 
pandemic, and the positive work of a number of people and groups was 
highlighted. 
 
RESOLVED – That the reports of the Leader and Executive Members be 
noted, and thanks be passed to the staff, volunteers and all others involved 
in responding so positively to the challenges of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Questions from Members 
 
No questions from Members had been received under Procedure Rule 11. 
 
Year Planner 2021-22 
 
Members received the Final version of the Year Planner for 2021-22, a draft 
of which had been submitted to Policy Council in December. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Year Planner for 2021-22 be noted. 

Page 8



Council Forum 
Thursday 29th January 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

                    Signed at a meeting of the Finance Council 
 
 

                                  on Monday 1st March 2021 
 

 
                  (being the ensuing meeting on the Council) by 

 
 
 

                                               MAYOR 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

    
 

Page 9



   

D:\blackburn\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\3\1\AI00004135\$tun2klee.doc 

         
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN  

 
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA 

 
 
Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other 
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda 
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if 
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest 
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave 
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item. 
 
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form 
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the 
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest 
at the appropriate point on the agenda. 

 
 

MEETING:       FINANCE COUNCIL 
      
DATE:                         1ST MARCH 2021 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO.:   
 
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF): 
 
NATURE OF INTEREST: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate) 
 
 
SIGNED :  

 
PRINT NAME:  

 
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer) 

 
 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



 
 

Version 2.0 Page 1  

 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
 
TO: FINANCE COUNCIL 
 
ON: 1st MARCH 2021 
 

  
 

SUBJECT :   CAPITAL STRATEGY REPORT 2021/22 
 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report seeks approval for the 2021/22 Capital Strategy, set out in Appendix 1. The 
capital strategy gives a high-level overview of how the Council’s capital expenditure, 
capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local 
public services, along with an overview of how associated risks are managed and the 
implications for future financial sustainability.  
 
Decisions made this year on capital and treasury management will have financial 
consequences for the Authority for many years into the future. They are therefore 
subject to both a national regulatory framework and to a local policy framework, 
summarised in this report. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is recommended that Members approve the proposed Capital Strategy for 2021/22 (in 
Appendix 1), including: 

a) the proposed Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy, as outlined in Appendix 3 

b) the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement (including the change in policy 
as set out in the MRP statement for years 2020/21 onwards) which determines the 
Council’s policy for repayment of debt (Appendix 4) 

c) the proposed prudential indicators for the forthcoming year (Appendix 5); 

d) the proposed Investment Strategy for 2021/22, as outlined in Appendix 6. 

   

3. BACKGROUND 

The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities was updated by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) in December 2017. The 
framework provided by the Prudential Code supports local strategic planning, local asset 
management and proper option appraisal. 

The objectives of the Prudential Code are to provide a framework that will ensure for 
individual local authorities that: 

 capital expenditure and investment plans are affordable; 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 
 

Version 2.0 Page 2  

 all external borrowing and other long-term liabilities are within prudent and 
sustainable levels; and 

 treasury management and other investment decisions are taken in accordance 
with good professional practice.  

In order to demonstrate that these objectives have been fulfilled, the Council should have 
in place a Capital Strategy that sets out the long term context in which capital expenditure 
and investment decisions are made and which gives due consideration to service 
objectives, long term financing implications and potential risks to the authority.  
 
4.  KEY ISSUES 
 
The report outlines the Capital Strategy for the period 2021/22 to 2023/24. 
 
The strategy is included at Appendix 1 which covers: 

 Capital spending priorities and governance – details of the key principles and 
investment priorities for the Council, including ongoing and potential further capital 
projects  

 Capital expenditure and financing – an overview of the proposed capital 
programme and the financing for these schemes, including estimates of the future 
Capital Financing Requirement and Minimum Revenue Provision  

 Asset management – information on the Council’s Asset Management Strategies 
and the related procedures in place 

 Asset disposals – forecast of future capital receipts and details on their intended 
use 

 Treasury management – high-level detail on the borrowing and investment 
strategies, including risk management and governance information. Further details 
of the Council’s borrowing and treasury investments can be found in the Treasury 
Management Strategy, approved by Executive Board annually in March 

 Other investments and long term liabilities – details of non-treasury investments 
and long-term liabilities of the Council, including governance of such arrangements 

 Revenue budget implications – information on the affordability of the Council’s 
capital spending plans in the context of the Revenue Budget 2021/22 

 Knowledge and skills - focussing on the skills and knowledge available to the 
Council in carrying out its capital investment activities, and the extent to which 
external advisors are used in the course of those activities 
 

The strategy is supported by the details contained within Appendices 2 to 6 as follows; 
 

 Appendix 2 (as referred to within the Capital Strategy at Appendix 1) outlines the 
Council’s capitalisation policy. 

 

 Appendix 3 (as referred to within the Capital Strategy at Appendix 1) provides an 
overview of the Capital Programme, an estimate of capital receipts and the 
Council’s ‘flexible use of capital receipts’ strategy. 

 

 Appendix 4 (as referred to within the Capital Strategy at Appendix 1) details the 
Council’s Minimum Revenue Provision Statement including the proposed policy for 
2021/22. This includes proposed changes in the strategy for years 2020/21 
onwards. 

Page 12



 
 

Version 2.0 Page 3  

 

 Appendix 5 (as referred to within the Capital Strategy at Appendix 1) highlights 
the proposed Prudential Indicators for prudence and affordability.  

 

 Appendix 6 (as referred to within the Capital Strategy at Appendix 1) details the 
Council’s investment strategy. This focuses on the non-treasury management 
investments of the Council and their associated risks. 

 

5.  POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 

The policy implications from this report are contained within the Budget Strategy. 
 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

        The financial implications arising from the proposed recommendations contained within 
this report have been incorporated into the 2021/22 Budget, the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy and Council Tax recommendations to be considered by the Council. 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Local authorities are required by regulation to have regard to the Prudential Code when 
carrying out their duties under Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

Local authorities are required each year to set aside resources as provision for debt 
repayment, on the basis of making a prudent provision. The Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) proposals set out in Appendix 4 comply with existing regulatory 
requirements. 
 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

None as a direct consequence of this report.  
 

9. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

The decisions to be taken do not change policy and do not require any further 
consideration in respect of equality issues  

 

10. CONSULTATIONS 
 

None required as a direct consequence of this report.  
 
 

Chief Officer:   Louise Mattinson, Director of Finance – Ext 5600 
 

Contact Officer:  Jody Spencer-Anforth, Finance Manager – Ext 507748  
 
Date:    1st March 2021  
 
Background Papers: Capital programme 2021-2024 and associated papers 

 

Page 13



Appendix 1 

 

 
 

 

Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council 

Capital Strategy 

2021/22 to 2023/24 

 

 

  

Page 14



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

1 | P a g e  
 

 

Contents 
 
Section Title  

1 Background ..........................................................................................................................................2 

2 Aims of the Capital Strategy and its links to the Council’s Corporate Plan ...........2 

3 Capital spending priorities and governance .........................................................................3 

4 Capital Expenditure ..........................................................................................................................7 

5 Capital Financing (Including MRP) ...........................................................................................8 

6 Asset management ..........................................................................................................................9 

7 Asset disposals ................................................................................................................................ 10 

8 Treasury management .................................................................................................................. 11 

9 Other investment and long term liabilities ........................................................................... 14 

10 Revenue budget implications .................................................................................................... 15 

11 Knowledge and skills ..................................................................................................................... 16 

12 Prudential indicators ...................................................................................................................... 16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

2 | P a g e  
 

 Background 
 

The Capital Strategy forms a key part of the Council’s overall Corporate Budget Planning and 
provides a mechanism by which capital expenditure and investment decisions are aligned 
over the medium to long-term period. 
 

The Council prepared a Capital Strategy for the first time in 2019/20, following the release of 
the updated Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) in December 2017. 
 

This Strategy sets out the framework for all aspects of the Council’s capital and investment 
expenditure including prioritisation, governance, funding and monitoring and risk 
management, and maintains links to other key strategic documents, notably the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 

 

 Aims of the Capital Strategy and its links to the Council’s Corporate Plan 
 

The aim of this Strategy is to ensure that the Council has overall long-term policy objectives 
in this area, resulting in the identification of capital strategy requirements, governance 
procedures and clarity in its risk appetite. 
 

The capital strategy gives a high-level overview of how the Council’s capital expenditure, 
capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local public 
services, along with an overview of how associated risks are managed, and the implications 
for future financial sustainability.  
 

Capital investment plans are driven by the Council’s Corporate Plan. The Corporate Plan was 
agreed by elected members in March 2019 and it is the Council’s key strategic document.  

The Corporate Plan 2019-2023 sets out the Council’s core priorities and ambitions for the 
period and contains eight strategic priorities: 

 People: 

o Supporting young people and raising aspirations 

o Safeguarding and supporting the most vulnerable people 

o Reducing health inequalities and improving health outcomes 

 Place: 

o Connected communities  

o Safe and clean environment 

 Economy: 

o Strong, growing economy to enable social mobility  

o Supporting our town centres and businesses 

 Council: 

o Transparent and effective organisation 
 

Page 16



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

3 | P a g e  
 

 Capital spending priorities and governance 

 

The key principles for the Council’s 2021-2024 capital programme are summarised below: 

 Capital spending decisions reflect the aspirations and priorities included within the 
Corporate Plan and supporting strategies. 

 Schemes to be added to the capital programme will be evaluated and prioritised by senior 
management prior to Executive Board / Executive Member approval. 

 The full cost of any capital scheme must be established at the outset, including any 
financing costs and future revenue operational costs. 

 Commissioning and procuring of capital schemes will comply with the requirements set 
out in the Council’s constitution and financial regulations/ contract procurement rules. 

 

The Council prepares its capital programme on a 3 year rolling basis, which is approved 
annually by Finance Council. Quarterly monitoring and outturn reports are considered by 
Executive Board during the financial year. 
 

The Council’s capital spending priorities for 2021/22 include: 

 Transforming our systems to offer digital solutions which improve customer satisfaction 
by ensuring all services where appropriate are able to be accessed digitally, and to allow 
the Council to operate as efficiently as possible. 

 Delivering the growth plan priorities of Industry and Gateways; Town Centre; and 
Housing. 

 Maintaining and improving our highways to support economic growth and improve the 
connectivity of transport networks. 

 Developing commercial floor space and priority housing sites. 

 Creation of school places to meet the demand of pupil growth within the Borough. 
 

Local Plan 2018 to 2037 

The Council is in the process of reviewing its Local Plan, and the draft new plan, which covers 
the period 2018 to 2037, is currently under consultation. 
 

The Vision: Blackburn with Darwen 2037 
In 2037 Blackburn with Darwen will be a thriving, carbon neutral Borough. It will be recognised 
as a place of strong leadership and community cohesion. A place that has invested in its 
communities and infrastructure, has a high quality built and natural environment, and is 
strengthened by the contributions of the different communities who live and work in the 
Borough. Over the period of the plan, policies and decisions will have consistently 
demonstrated net gains in social, environmental and economic objectives set out in the Local 
Plan. 
 
The Draft Local Plan Consultation outlines the strategic policy for a number of core policy 
themes:  

 

Page 17



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

4 | P a g e  
 

 Housing 
The Council’s Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA) estimates a minimum 
requirement for between 358 and 411 net new dwellings per annum to support the 
economic growth scenario for the Borough.  
 
Over recent years a number of new developments have started within the Borough, 
contributing towards fulfilling the need for residential housing in the area. The Council’s 
Growth and Development team continue to work to identify potential sites for future 
developments, however the majority of this work does not fall within the Council’s own 
capital programme. 
 
Currently around 5% of the total residential housing stock in the Borough is empty, with 
13% of properties having stood empty for over 2 years. Empty properties in the borough 
can have negative environmental impact on neighbourhoods, in addition to being a 
wasted housing resource. Tackling empty properties supports the key priorities in the 
Council’s Corporate Plan and the Empty Property Strategy. The Council currently has a 
Neighbourhood Intervention Project as part of the capital programme, which can be used 
to bring long-term empty properties back into use in cases where the owners have not 
done so themselves. This project will continue, and has the potential to grow, over the 
coming years. 
 

 Economic Development 
The Council’s HENA, Employment Land Review, and Strategic Employment Site 
Economic Case set out the justification for planning for delivery of a range of employment 
land of between 57.1 – 70.5ha of land over the period of the plan. This will ensure that 
businesses and developers are provided with a choice of sites by size, quality and 
location; to ensure that land is available to meet local needs, but also to allow Blackburn 
with Darwen to compete for inward investment in the regional economy. 
 
Alongside the provision of new sites (including a new strategic employment site at 
Junction 5 of the M65), the Council will focus on protecting existing employment areas. 
 

 Town Centres and Commercial Development 
Promoting the growth of commercial development and other town centre uses such as 
leisure, entertainment, offices, arts, culture, tourism facilities and housing is important for 
maintaining the vitality and viability of existing centres in the Borough and ensuring that 
they continue to act as a focus for the community.  
 
The Council has some existing capital projects that will be ongoing in 2021/22 including 
work on the renovation at Blakey Moor and Blackburn town centre redevelopment of the 
former Thwaites site. 
 

 Climate Change and the Natural Environment 
The Council has set an ambitious target to become carbon neutral by 2030. Development 
and transport are major contributors to greenhouse gas emissions thus, if the Borough is 

Page 18



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

5 | P a g e  
 

to achieve carbon neutrality, energy demand from existing buildings, new development 
and transport must be minimised and generation of energy from low carbon and 
renewable sources increased. 
 
In February 2020 the Executive Board approved a Climate Emergency Action Plan, which 
set out the main proposals and initial actions that the Council intends to take, underpinned 
by the following objectives: 

o Sound decisions – To use resources sustainably so as not to add to the burden 
of climate change emissions in Blackburn with Darwen or elsewhere. 

o Resilient & attractive borough – To align policy to climate change mitigation and 
adaptation objectives to create sustainable places where people want to live, work 
and visit and capture the benefits to health and the economy from the move to a 
climate friendly borough. 

o Lean and clean – To use energy more efficiently and generate more locally from 
renewable sources; cut waste and improve recycling. 

o Travelling lightly – To make and facilitate the transition to cleaner, greener fuels 
and more active travel. 

o Capturing more carbon – To store carbon naturally by increasing tree cover, 
protecting soils and enhancing natural habitats. 

 
Work is ongoing to produce business plans for each action, which may result in new 
capital schemes over the coming years. 
 

 Health and Well-being 
Blackburn with Darwen experiences significantly higher than average levels of poor 
health among its population. 
 
This core policy seeks to ensure that specific development proposals that come forward 
over the life of the Local Plan consider health and well-being in its full context.  
 

 Design and Heritage 
Design quality and heritage are closely linked and important as they contribute towards 
a sense of place and making our settlements and rural areas distinctive.  
 
Blackburn with Darwen has a rich and varied history that is reflected in its built 
environment and should be protected and taken into account when considering new 
development. It is essential that the most important elements of the Borough’s historic 
environment are protected as positive assets that will promote ongoing growth. 
 

 Transport and Accessibility 
A number of Connectivity Studies have been prepared to support the Local Plan which 
appraise the potential impact of proposed growth sites on the local pedestrian and cycling 
networks. They identify a number of potential gaps in the existing highway and 
sustainable travel provision and recommend improvements that may be necessary in 
order to adequately support developments. 

Page 19



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

6 | P a g e  
 

The Blackburn with Darwen Local Transport Plan (LTP3) provides a long-term strategy 
and delivery programme of transport investment and service improvements for the period 
2011-2021. 
 
Work is now progressing between the three Transport Authorities of Blackburn with 
Darwen, Blackpool and Lancashire to prepare a Joint Lancashire Local Transport Plan 4 
(LTP4) covering the period 2021-2046. Emerging key themes are: 
o Improving access into, between and within areas of economic growth and 

regeneration 
o Improving people’s health, safety, quality of life and wellbeing 
o Reducing the environmental impact of transport 
o Maintaining our assets. 
 
LTP4 is programmed for adoption by March 2021. 
 
Initial projects identified in the emerging LTP4 include electric charging vehicle points in 
the town centres, Blackburn Railway Station redevelopment and the development of new 
Public Rights of Way in and around Darwen. 
 

 Infrastructure and Delivery 
The new housing, employment and other development proposed in the Local Plan will 
increase demands on physical infrastructure such as roads, social infrastructure such as 
health and education facilities, and green infrastructure such as open spaces. 
 
Development proposals will be expected to include or contribute to the provision, 
improvement or replacement of infrastructure that is required to meet needs arising from 
the development proposal and/or to serve the needs of the wider area. The types of 
infrastructure required to support developments may include: 

o Transport and Highways 
o Flood Risk Management 
o Education Provision 
o Health Services 
o Community and Leisure Facilities 
o Green Infrastructure and Natural Environment 
o Decentralised Energy. 

 
The Council has a number of ongoing capital schemes in respect of the creation of new 
school places across the Borough, as well as the various Local Transport Plan projects 
mentioned above. 
 

Darwen Town Fund Deal 
The Darwen Town Deal is an opportunity to kick-start the transformation of Darwen and the 
surrounding areas. 
 
Up to £25 million of Government funding is available for projects which could improve the 
lives of residents and their life chances. As the full £25 million is not guaranteed, a Darwen 

Page 20



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

7 | P a g e  
 

Town Deal board has been created – bringing together experts who all have close links to 
the area. There are rules about how the money must be spent with a strategic focus on 
projects that will enhance and improve Darwen for future generations to come. The bid was 
submitted to Government in January 2021, and we await their decision on the funding 
allocation.  
 
The Government has already made £750,000 of Town Deal funding available to help bring 
projects forward quickly. Four schemes have been chosen by the Board to benefit, including 
Darwen Tower, AFC Darwen, Junction 4 Skatepark and funding to look at the feasibility of an 
elite cricket academy in the town.  
 
Capital Schemes 

There is a requirement for the continued funding of existing programmes of work on: 

 Social Care (including an ongoing programme to provide aids and adaptations)  

 School Investment/ Pupil Places Pressures 

 Environmental Services (Land Remediation Scheme) 

 Growth and Development Projects (including Blakey Moor Renovation, Local Transport 
Plan) 

 Development of the ICT Strategy  

 Progression of the Corporate Accommodation Strategy 
 

In addition to the projects referred to above, funding may be required in respect of further/new 
projects including: 

 Low Carbon and Energy Efficiency Initiatives 

 Housing Initiatives 

 A potential new Household Waste Recycling Centre 

 Transport and Highways  

 Fleet Management 
 

Further details of the Council’s Capital Programme are included within the Revenue Budget 
2021/22, Medium Term Financial Strategy and Capital Programme 2021-2024 Report which 
is on the agenda of this meeting.  
 

 Capital Expenditure 

Capital expenditure is spending on assets such as property or vehicles that will be used for 
more than one year. In local government this includes spending by the Local Authority on 
assets owned by other bodies, and loans and grants made by the Local Authority to other 
bodies enabling them to buy assets. The Council has some limited discretion on what is 
deemed to be capital expenditure, for example assets costing below £10,000 are not 
capitalised and are instead charged to revenue in the year the expenditure is incurred.  
 

For details of the Council’s Capitalisation Policy, see Appendix 2. 
 

Page 21



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

8 | P a g e  
 

In 2021/22, the Council is planning capital expenditure of £25.5 million, as summarised below: 
 
Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure in £ millions 
 

 
2019/20 
Actual 

£m 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£m 

2021/22 
Budget 

£m 

2022/23 
Budget 

£m 

2023/24 
Budget 

£m 

Portfolio spending 26.1 25.1 18.5 2.5 3.8 

Earmarked schemes - 0.5 5.5 2.0 2.0 

Contingent schemes - - 1.5 1.5 1.5 

Total Capital Programme 26.1 25.6 25.5 6.0 7.3 

 

Further analysis of planned capital expenditure by portfolio can be found in Appendix 3.  
 

 Capital Financing (Including MRP) 

 

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants 
and other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) 
or debt (borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The planned financing of the above 
expenditure is as follows: 

Table 2: Capital financing in £ millions 
 

 
2019/20 
Actual 

£m 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£m 

2021/22 
Budget 

£m 

2022/23 
Budget 

£m 

2023/24 
Budget 

£m 

External sources 13.3 16.8 8.8 1.9 1.9 

Own resources 1.1 1.0 3.4 0.8 1.8 

Debt 11.8 7.8 13.3 3.3 3.6 

Total Capital Financing 26.1 25.6 25.5 6.0 7.3 

 

 

Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be repaid, and this 
is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from revenue which is known as 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital assets 
(known as capital receipts) may be used to replace debt finance. The Council’s planned MRP 
and use of capital receipts is as follows: 
 

Page 22



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

9 | P a g e  
 

Table 3: Forecast MRP and Use of Capital Receipts To Repay Debt in £ millions 
 

 
2019/20 
Actual 

£m 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£m 

2021/22 
Budget 

£m 

2022/23 
Budget 

£m 

2023/24 
Budget 

£m 

Capital Receipts To Repay 
Debt 

2.1 3.4 5.1 3.3 - 

MRP 6.5 5.7 6.0 6.6 6.8 

 

The Council’s policy for setting a “prudent” level of Minimum Revenue Provision for the 
repayment of debt, must be consistent with the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
and can be found at Appendix 4. 
 

The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR). This increases as new debt-financed capital expenditure is 
incurred and reduces with MRP, and as capital receipts are used to replace debt.  

 

The table below shows that the CFR is expected to increase by £2.3 million during 2021/22. 
Based on the above figures for expenditure and financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is as 
follows: 
 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement in £ millions 
 

 
2019/20 
Actual 

£m 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£m 

2021/22 
Budget 

£m 

2022/23 
Budget 

£m 

2023/24 
Budget 

£m 

General Fund services 215.9 214.8 217.4 211.3 208.5 

Debt managed by LCC 15.3 15.2 15.1 14.9 14.7 

PFI projects 69.5 69.3 69.1 68.9 68.7 

Total CFR 300.7 299.3 301.6 295.1 291.9 

 
 

 Asset management 

 

To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Council has an Asset 
Management Plan in place. This ensures that land and property assets support the aims 
and objectives of the Council and its key services. In particular, the plan aims to: 

 Enable the Council to understand the scope of its property and land assets portfolio i.e. 
location, suitability, condition and value. 

 Maximise the beneficial and efficient use of property and land assets. 

Page 23



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

10 | P a g e  
 

 Encourage the regular review and challenge of the continued use and ownership of 
property and land assets to ensure they are still delivering a rate of return and are fit for 
purpose. 

 Ensure that buildings are properly maintained. 
 
Asset Management Plans are normally produced every 3 to 5 years; the plan produced in 
2015/16 is now in the process of review and development and is expected to be published 
shortly. 
 

The Council’s Asset Management Group acts as a strategic steering group, which 
formulates and reviews the aims and objectives of the Asset Management Plan. The group 
works with the Corporate Finance team in overseeing the Capital Expenditure and Capital 
Receipts programmes. 

 

In line with the Council’s Corporate Plan and Growth Agenda, a Development Growth Board 
has been developed to run alongside and support the Asset Management Plan. 
 
The Council’s current Asset Management Plan can be found at Appendix 7. 
 
The Council’s Highways Asset Management Strategy was revised in July 2019. This 
document describes the Council’s strategy for the management of its highway assets, 
considering long-term needs as well as the short-term position to address maintenance 
requirements. The objectives of this strategy are: 

 To direct investment in the highway related assets on the basis of ‘prevention is better 
than cure’, having consideration to the Council’s priorities, risk and the current 
condition of the assets. 

 To improve the overall condition and explore the most cost effective maintenance 
treatments, based on the whole life of the assets. 

 To facilitate the development of cost-effective forward works programmes over a 
number of years based upon the principles of life cycle planning. 

 To ensure the Council adheres to its duty of care under the Highways Act 1980. 
 

The Council’s current Highways Asset Management Strategy can be found at 
https://blackburn.gov.uk/roads-and-highways/highways-asset-management. 
 
 

 Asset disposals 

When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds, known as 
capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or may be used to repay debt. At present the 
Council also has the authority to spend capital receipts on the revenue costs of service 
transformation projects until 2021/22, following a Government capitalisation direction giving 
all councils more flexibility in their use of capital receipts.  
 

Page 24

https://blackburn.gov.uk/roads-and-highways/highways-asset-management


 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

11 | P a g e  
 

Repayments of capital grants, loans and investments also generate capital receipts. The 
Council plans to receive £5.1 million of capital receipts in the coming financial year as follows: 

 
Table 5: Capital receipts in £ millions 
 

 
2019/20 
Actual 

£m 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£m 

2021/22 
Budget 

£m 

2022/23 
Budget 

£m 

Future 
Years 

Budget 
£m 

Asset Sales 2.1 2.4 5.1 3.3 33.5 

Loans Repaid - - - - - 

Sale of Investments - 1.1 - - - 

Total Capital Receipts 2.1 3.5 5.1 3.3 33.5 

 

The Council plans to continue to utilise all of the capital receipts generated from the disposal 
of land and property in support of the Minimum Revenue Provision i.e. to repay debt.   

Further details of planned asset disposals, together with the Council’s Flexible Use of Capital 
Receipts Policy are detailed in Appendix 3. 
 

 Treasury management 

 

The Council produces a Treasury Management Strategy, which is approved annually by the 
Executive Board. 
 

The Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy are closely linked as the capital 
programme determines the borrowing need for the Council. This is part of the long-term cash 
flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending requirements. 
 

Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash available 
to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved. Surplus cash is 
invested until required, while a shortage of cash is met through borrowing, to avoid excessive 
credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current account. 
 

Borrowing strategy: The Council’s main objectives when borrowing are to achieve a low but 
certain cost of finance while retaining flexibility should plans change in future. These 
objectives are often conflicting and the Council therefore seeks to strike a balance between 
low-cost short-term loans and long-term fixed rate loans, where the future cost is known but 
is higher. 
 

Page 25



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

12 | P a g e  
 

Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt (which comprises borrowing, PFI 
liabilities, leases and transferred debt from local government reorganisation) are shown 
below, compared with the capital financing requirement (see above). 
 

Table 6: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement in £ millions 
 

 2019/20 
Actual 

£m 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£m 

2021/22 
Budget 

£m 

2022/23 
Budget 

£m 

Future 
Years 

Budget 
£m 

Debt (including PFI and 
LCC debt) 

311.5 299.1 293.6 278.3 276.1 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

300.7 299.3 301.6 295.1 291.9 

 
Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except 
in the short-term. The Council’s debt was in excess of the capital financing requirement 
temporarily at the end of 2019/20, this was due to slippage on some capital schemes, and 
additional borrowing required for the advance payment of pension costs made in April 2020. 
The effects of the advance payment of pension costs will cease by the end of 2022/23, at 
which point debt is anticipated to return to normal levels, when compared to the capital 
financing requirement. As can be seen from Table 6, the Council expects to comply with this 
guidance from 2020/21 and over the medium term.  

  
The authorised limit and operational boundary are calculated based on the projected capital 
financing requirement of the Council and an allowance for other short-term borrowing 
needs. 
 

Affordable borrowing limit: The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing 
limit (also termed the authorised limit for external debt) each year and to keep it under review. 
In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level 
should debt approach the limit. 
 

Table 7: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in 
£ millions 
 

 
2020/21 

Limit 
£m 

2021/22 
Limit 
£m 

2022/23 
Limit 
£m 

Future 
Limit 
£m 

Authorised Limit – Borrowing 286.0 263.1 244.2 228.7 

Authorised Limit – PFI and LCC Debt 84.8 84.5 84.2 83.8 

Authorised Limit – Total External Debt 370.8 347.6 328.4 312.5 

Operational Boundary – Borrowing 276.0 253.1 234.2 218.7 

Page 26



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

13 | P a g e  
 

Operational Boundary – PFI and LCC 
Debt 

84.8 84.5 84.2 83.8 

Operational Boundary – Total External 
Debt 

360.8 337.6 318.4 302.5 

 
 

The authorised limit and operational boundary are calculated based on the projected capital 
financing requirement of the Council and an allowance for other short-term borrowing needs. 
 

Treasury investment strategy: Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is 
required to be paid out again. Investments made for service reasons, or for pure financial 
gain, are not generally considered to be part of treasury management. 
 

The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity over yield, 
i.e. to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns. Cash that is likely to be spent 
in the near term is invested securely, for example with the government, other local authorities 
or selected high-quality banks, to minimise the risk of loss. Money that will be held for longer 
terms could be invested more widely, including in bonds, shares and property, to balance the 
risk of loss against the risk of receiving returns below inflation. Both near-term and longer-
term investments may be held in pooled funds, where an external fund manager makes 
decisions on which particular investments to buy and the Council may request its money back 
if required at short notice. 
 
Risk management: The effective management and control of risk are prime objectives of the 
Authority’s treasury management activities. The treasury management strategy therefore 
sets out various indicators and limits to mitigate the risk of unexpected losses and details the 
extent to which financial derivatives may be used to manage treasury risks. 
 

Governance: Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are made daily 
and are therefore delegated to the Director of Finance and staff within the Finance Team, 
who must act in line with the Treasury Management Strategy approved by Executive Board 
each year. A regular officer group (Treasury Management Group) also review treasury 
management activity and operational decisions. Quarterly reports on treasury management 
activity are presented to the Audit and Governance Committee, which is responsible for 
scrutinising treasury management decisions. Treasury management activities are also 
reported on each quarter to the Executive Board within the quarterly Corporate Budget 
Monitoring reports. 
 
Further details of the Council’s borrowing and treasury investments can be found in the 
Treasury Management Strategy which is to be presented to Executive Board for approval on 
11 March 2021. 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

14 | P a g e  
 

 Other investment and long term liabilities 

 

In addition to the treasury investments referred to in the section above, the Council may also 
make loans and investments for service purposes, and may purchase and maintain property 
for investment purposes. The Investment Strategy included at Appendix 6 focuses on these 
other, non-treasury investments. 
 

Service investments  
These investments, including loans and shareholdings, are made for their contribution toward 
service delivery objectives. For example, the Council could advance relatively small loans to 
local businesses and local residents for community and economic benefits. In light of the 
public service objective, the Council is willing to take more risk in making service investments 
than it is with treasury investments, however it still aims for such investments to contribute to 
its corporate priorities. 
 

The Council has entered into joint ventures and partnerships previously, which have resulted 
in ownership of shares in the companies set up to deliver the objectives of these projects. 
These have included Building Schools for the Future – Private Finance Initiatives and joint 
ventures with development companies. These are held as long-term investments for the 
Council, but with the primary objective being their contribution towards service delivery. 
 
Governance: Decisions on service investments are made by the Director of Finance, the 
Executive Member for Finance and Governance or the Executive Board, in line with the 
Council’s constitution. Most loans and shares are capital expenditure and purchases will 
therefore be approved as part of the capital programme. 
 

Commercial investments  
Historically, the Council has invested in commercial property, largely for regeneration 
purposes, but has also received financial gain in the form of rental income.  

As there are financial and wider economic returns, the Council accepts higher risk on 
commercial investment than on treasury investments. The principal risk exposures include: 
vacancies, rent arrears and a fall in capital value. These risks are managed by the Council’s 
Asset Management Group as part of their regular review of the continued ownership of 
property and land assets to ensure they are still delivering a rate of return and are fit for 
purpose. 

 
Governance: Decisions on commercial investments are made by the Strategic Director 
(Place), the Executive Member for Finance and Governance or the Executive Board in line 
with the Council’s constitution. Property and most other commercial investments are also 
capital expenditure and purchases will therefore also be approved as part of the capital 
programme. 

Further details on service and commercial investments are included in the Investment 
Strategy in Appendix 6. 

 

Page 28



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

15 | P a g e  
 

Liabilities 

In addition to the debt detailed in Table 6 above, the Council is committed to making future 
payments to cover its pension fund deficit (valued at £253.074 million at 31st March 2020), 
and other liabilities arising from the Council’s PFI contracts under the Building Schools for the 
Future programme (£63.414 million at 31st March 2020). It has also set aside £2.547 million 
to cover risks in relation to: 

 Backdated appeals against the rateable value of business ratepayers (£1.600 million) 

 Injury and damage compensation claims (£0.947 million) 
 

The Council is also at risk of having to settle additional insurance claims, not provided for in 
the list above, in relation to the “Scheme of Arrangement” between local authorities and the 
administrators of Municipal Mutual Insurance. The Council has not put aside any funds for 
this purpose because the potential liability is less certain and the amount cannot be measured 
reliably. It does, however, disclose this item as a “contingent liability” in the Statement of 
Accounts. 

Governance: Decisions on incurring new discretional liabilities are taken by service 
managers in consultation with the Director of Finance. The risk of liabilities crystallising and 
requiring payment is monitored by the Finance Team together with budget holders, and 
significant potential liabilities are reported quarterly to Executive Board within the quarterly 
Corporate Budget Monitoring reports. 

 Revenue budget implications 

 

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable 
on loans and MRP repayments are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income 
receivable. The net annual charge is known as the Financing Cost; within the Prudential 
Indicators, this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. the amount funded from Council 
Tax, business rates and general government grants. 
 

Table 8: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 
 2020/21 

Forecast 
2021/22 
Budget 

2022/23 
Budget 

2023/24 
Budget 

Main Programme capital financing costs 
as a proportion of Net Revenue Stream 

7.03% 8.50% 9.06% 8.91% 

BSF PFI capital financing costs as a 
proportion of Net Revenue Stream 

3.53% 4.10% 4.30% 4.25% 

Prudential Indicator for ratio of 
financing costs to Net Revenue Stream 

10.56% 12.60% 13.36% 13.16% 

 
Further details on the revenue implications of capital expenditure can be found within the 
Revenue Budget 2021/22, Medium Term financial Strategy and Capital Programme 2021-
2024 report which is on the agenda of this meeting  

 

Page 29



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

16 | P a g e  
 

Sustainability: Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the 
revenue budget implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for up 
to 50 years into the future. The Director of Finance is satisfied that the proposed capital 
programme is prudent, affordable and sustainable as set out in the Robustness of the 
2021/22 Budget and the Recommended Level of Reserves report which is on the agenda of 
this meeting.  
 

 

 Knowledge and skills  
 

The Council’s approach to ensuring that the requisite knowledge and skills are held and 
demonstrated when making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions, 
includes: 

 Employment of professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior positions with 
responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions.  

 Training for council members to aid informed decision-making and effective scrutiny. 

 Engagement of external advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field. The 
Council currently employs Arlingclose Limited as treasury management advisers, and 
other appropriate advisors as required.  

 

The intention is that by building a solid knowledge base for both Officers and Members, they 
are fully informed when taking decisions to realise corporate objectives. Specialist support 
from external advisors strengthens the decision making process and ensures that the Council 
has access to knowledge and skills commensurate with its risk appetite. 
 

 

 Prudential indicators 

 

The Prudential Code provides a framework to ensure that the capital investment plans of the 
Council are affordable, prudent and sustainable. The Prudential Indicators required by the 
Prudential Code are designed to support and record local decision making in a manner that 
is publicly accountable. They are not designed to be comparative performance indicators, 
and should be considered in parallel with the Treasury Management Indicators required by 
the CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-
Sectoral Guidance Notes. 
 

In setting or revising its Prudential Indicators, the Council must have regard to the following 
matters: 

 service objectives – alignment with the Council’s strategic plan 

 stewardship of assets – asset management planning 

 value for money – option appraisal 

 prudence and sustainability – risk and implications for external debt and whole life costing 

 affordability – the amount of money the Council can afford to borrow and the impact on 
revenue budgets 

Page 30



 Capital Strategy 
2021/22 to 2023/24 

Appendix 1 

 

17 | P a g e  
 

 
Although a number of Prudential Indicators have been referred to already in the body of this 
report, the full list of indicators is detailed in Appendix 5. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



Appendix 2 

BLACKBURN WITH DARWEN BOROUGH COUNCIL - CAPITALISATION POLICY 

Unless expenditure qualifies as capital it will normally fall outside the scope of the Prudential 
Framework and will be charged to revenue in the period that the expenditure is incurred. If 
expenditure meets the definition of capital, there may be opportunities to finance the outlay 
from capital receipts or by spreading the cost over future years’ revenues. 

There are three routes by which expenditure can qualify as capital under the Prudential 
Framework: 

 The expenditure results in the acquisition, construction or enhancement of non-current 
assets (tangible and intangible) in accordance with “proper practices”  

 The expenditure meets one of the definitions specified in regulations made under the 
2003 Local Government Act. 

 The Secretary of State makes a direction that the expenditure can be treated as capital 
expenditure. 

Capitalisation under proper practices 

Proper practices are defined to include the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom (the Code). The Code is published annually and its provisions relating to 
capitalisation are based on IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Expenditure on acquisitions and construction work is analysed to decide whether it satisfies 
the accounting rules for recognising a non-current asset in the Council’s Balance Sheet. The 
amount capitalised generally comprises the purchase price plus any expense directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. Examples include: 

 acquisition of land and site preparation. 

 acquisition, construction, preparation or replacement of roads, buildings and other 
structures. 

 acquisition, installation or replacement of movable or immovable plant, machinery, 
apparatus and vehicles. 

 acquisition of non-current assets that do not have physical substance but are 
identifiable and are controlled by the Council as a result of past events i.e. the Council 
will receive future economic benefits or service potential as a result of enforceable 
rights, such as a legal title or licence (intangible assets) 

Capitalisation can include subsequent expenditure on existing assets, where the value of the 
asset is enhanced by: 

 lengthening substantially the life of the asset. 

 increasing substantially the open market value of the asset. 

 increasing substantially the extent to which the asset can be used for a function of the 
Council. 

Assets may also be recognised (at fair value) under leases, PFI contracts and similar 
agreements. 

Page 32



Appendix 2 

The Council has some limited discretion on what is deemed capital expenditure, for example 
assets costing below £10,000 (the de-minimis amount) are not capitalised and are charged 
to revenue in the year the expenditure is incurred. 

Regulations made under the Local Government Act 2003 

Special arrangements exist in local government for the extension of the accounting definition 
of capital expenditure. Regulation 25 of the 2003 regulations (as amended) allows certain 
expenditure to be classified as capital for funding purposes when it does not result in the 
expenditure being carried on the Balance Sheet as a non-current asset. The purpose of this 
provision is to enable payments to be funded from capital resources rather than charged to 
the General fund and impact on that year’s council tax. 

Capital expenditure within the 2003 regulations includes: 

 The giving of a loan, grant or other financial assistance to any person, whether for use 
by that person or by a third party, towards expenditure which would, if incurred by the 
Council, be capital expenditure (except for advances made to officers as part of their 
terms or conditions of employment or in connection with their appointment). 

 The repayment of any grant or other financial assistance given to the Council for the 
purposes of expenditure which is capital expenditure. 

 The acquisition of share capital in any body corporate (except for investments in 
Money Market Funds or an investment in a real estate investment trust). 

 Expenditure incurred on works to any land or building in which the Council does not 
have an interest, which would be capital expenditure if the Council had an interest in 
that land or building. 

 Expenditure incurred on the acquisition, production or construction of assets for use 
by or disposal to a person other than the Council which would be capital expenditure 
if those assets were acquired, produced or constructed for use by the council. 

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute (REFCUS) 

This term relates to payments that would otherwise be revenue expenditure but are treated 
as capital expenditure for the reasons above, and are financed from capital resources.  

The underlying revenue nature of the expenditure means that it is debited or charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure account when it is incurred. The statutory 
provision to treat the expenditure as capital allows the debit against the General Fund to 
be reversed and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account, so that there is no impact on 
the Council’s “bottom line”. 

The adjustment that is made between the accounting basis and the funding basis is 
reflected in the Movement in Reserves Statement within the Council’s statutory accounts. 

Capitalisation directions 

The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government has powers to direct 
that expenditure that would not otherwise be capital, should be treated as such. As the 
treatment of revenue expenditure as capital is contrary to the normal accounting requirement 
that long-term borrowing or capital receipts should only be used for capital investment, the 

Page 33



Appendix 2 

Secretary of State advises authorities that they must meet strict criteria before a direction will 
be given. These criteria are set out each year in a guidance note. 

In December 2015, the Government issued a capitalisation direction allowing councils to use 
capital receipts more flexibly by using such receipts to fund “qualifying expenditure” on a 
project where incurring up-front costs would generate ongoing savings. In February 2021 
government announced the continuation of the capital receipts flexibility programme until 
2024/25. 

The capitalisation directions permit local authorities to treat revenue expenditure “incurred on 
projects designed to reduce future revenue costs and/or transform service delivery” as capital 
expenditure during the six financial years from 2016/17 to 2021/22. This capital expenditure 
may only be funded from new capital receipts arising from asset sales after 31st March 2016. 

The statutory guidance (published in 2016) includes examples of eligible projects to transform 
service delivery or deliver efficiency savings, including: 

 Integrated services across different functions 

 Shared services across different authorities 

 New ways of working such as digital service delivery 

 Joint working such as joint procurement or selling services to other authorities 

Examples of the revenue costs that might be incurred on these projects might include: 

 Sharing back-office and administrative services with one or more other council or 
public sector bodies;  

 Investment in service reform feasibility work, e.g. setting up pilot schemes;  

 Collaboration between local authorities and central government departments to free 
up land for economic use;  

 Funding the cost of service reconfiguration, restructuring or rationalisation (staff or 
non-staff), where this leads to ongoing efficiency savings or service transformation;  

 Sharing Chief-Executives, management teams or staffing structures;  

 Driving a digital approach to the delivery of more efficient public services and how the 
public interacts with constituent authorities where possible;  

 Aggregating procurement on common goods and services where possible, either as 
part of local arrangements or using Crown Commercial Services or regional 
procurement hubs or Professional Buying Organisations;  

 Improving systems and processes to tackle fraud and corruption in line with the Local 
Government Fraud and Corruption Strategy – this could include an element of staff 
training;  

 Setting up commercial or alternative delivery models to deliver services more 
efficiently and bring in revenue (for example, through selling services to others).  

The guidance is clear that only initial set-up costs may be capitalised, not on-going running 

costs. 

 

Page 34



Appendix 3 

 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-2024 

Capital expenditure 

In 2021/22, the Council is planning capital expenditure of £25.493 million as 
summarised below: 

Table 1: Estimates of Capital Expenditure in £ thousands 

 
2019/20 
Actual 
£’000 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£‘000 

2021/22 
Budget 
£’000 

2022/23 
Budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
Budget 
£’000 

Health and Adult Social 
Care 

1,941 1,164 2,594 1,614 1,614 

Children, Young People 
and Education 

2,387 5,282 5,800 763 2,013 

Environment 106 1,687 333 - - 

Public Health and 
Wellbeing 

1,145 - - - - 

Growth and Development 18,672 14,781 6,133 150 150 

Digital and Customer 
Services 

1,403 728 1,254 - - 

Finance and Governance 482 1,475 2,347 - - 

Portfolio Spending 26,136 25,117 18,461 2,527 3,777 

Corporate ICT - 122 2,000 - - 

Vehicles - 352 532 - - 

Corporate Property 
Investment 

- - 3,000 2,000 2,000 

Earmarked Schemes* - 474 5,532 2,000 2,000 

Asset Management - - 1,500 1,500 1,500 

Contingent Schemes** - - 1,500 1,500 1,500 

Total Capital 
Expenditure 

26,136 25,591 25,493 6,027 7,277 

* Earmarked schemes – These are programmes that the Council is committed to 
undertaking. As specific schemes are identified, reports are prepared to obtain 
appropriate approvals and budgets are allocated to portfolios. 
 

Page 35



  Appendix 3 
 

 

** Contingent schemes – These are schemes or programmes the Council may wish 
to undertake in future years if proposals are affordable. Detailed proposals and 
business cases will be required. 

The programme is predominantly comprised of existing commitments including 
investment in: 

 our local transport plan 

 aids and adaptations through provision of disabled facilities grants 

 regeneration of the borough, including our scheme at Blakey Moor to enhance 
the town centre in Blackburn and support the improvement of leisure facilities 
and a night time economy and Blackburn town centre redevelopment of the 
former Thwaites site 

 facilitating housing and business growth 

 support of continued investment in IT services to underpin our ‘digital first’ 
approach to delivering efficiencies and in turn, cash savings 

 support of our accommodation review which again will drive efficiencies and 
savings through rationalisation and a more cost effective use of space. 

 schools capital programme existing schemes and creation of additional school 
places required within the Borough 

Allocations are included for: 

 potential investment in existing assets  

Within the capital programme there is also a Property Investment Fund, which enables 
the Council to invest in land and property should the opportunity arise.  

Further details of individual capital schemes included within the Council’s capital 
programme are included as an appendix to the Revenue Budget 2021/22 report, 
elsewhere on this agenda. 

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government 
grants and other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and 
capital receipts) or debt (borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The 
planned financing of the above expenditure is as follows: 

Table 2: Capital financing in £ thousands 

 
2019/20 
Actual 
£’000 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£‘000 

2021/22 
Budget 
£’000 

2022/23 
Budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
Budget 
£’000 

Government Grants 10,076 10,774 8,574 1,877 1,877 

External Contributions 3,196 6,028 231 - - 

Revenue Contribution 1,073 1,040 3,381 750 1,750 

Borrowing 11,791 7,749 13,307 3,400 3,650 

Total Capital Financing 26,136 25,591 25,493 6,027 7,277 

Page 36



  Appendix 3 
 

 

Planned asset disposals 

The Asset Management Group monitors asset disposals and generation of capital 
receipts throughout the year. Capital receipts are generated through the sale of land 
and property no longer used by the Council and / or in order to facilitate commercial 
or housing development. 

The MRP estimates that are included within the Council’s 2021/22 Budget and MTFS 
are based on the following estimates of capital receipts: 

 
2019/20 
Actual 
£’000 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£‘000 

2021/22 
Budget 
£’000 

2022/23 
Budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
Budget 
£’000 

Disposal of Land and 
Property 

2,116 2,358 5,052 3,259 33,501 

Sale of Investments - 1,081 - - - 

Total Capital Receipts 2,116 3,439 5,052 3,259 33,501 

 
The Council plans to continue to utilise the majority of any capital receipts generated 
from the disposal of land and property in support of the Minimum Revenue Provision 
i.e. to repay debt.   

 

Flexible use of capital receipts strategy 

The statutory guidance (published in 2016) states that for each financial year, a local 
authority should ensure it prepares a Flexible use of Capital Receipts Strategy. The 
guidance states that as a minimum, the Strategy should list each project for which the 
Council plans to make use of the flexibility and on a project by project basis, it should 
detail the expected savings/service transformation that it is expected to deliver. It also 
states that the Strategy should report the impact on the local authority’s Prudential 
Indicators for the forthcoming year and subsequent years. The Strategy should be 
presented to Full Council for approval. The flexibility originally only applied to new 
capital receipts arising from 1st April 2016 until 31st March 2022. In the Local 
Government Finance Settlement, approved in February 2021, the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government announced an extension of 3 years to 
2025.  

The Council has no specific plans to use capital receipts flexibly for 2021/22 at this 
point in time. Should these plans change, an updated strategy will be presented to 
Full Council for approval as required. 

 

Page 37



Appendix 4 

MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) STATEMENT 

Introduction      

Where the Council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside resources to 
repay that debt in later years. The amount charged to the revenue budget for the 
repayment of debt is known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), although there has 
been no statutory minimum since 2008. The Local Government Act 2003 requires the 
Council to have regard to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’s 
Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision (the MHCLG Guidance) most recently issued 
in 2018. 

The broad aim of the MHCLG Guidance is to ensure that capital expenditure is financed 
over a period that is either reasonably commensurate with that over which the capital 
expenditure provides benefits, or, in the case of borrowing supported by Government 
Revenue Support Grant, reasonably commensurate with the period implicit in the 
determination of that grant. 

The MHCLG Guidance requires the Council to approve an Annual MRP Statement each 
year and recommends a number of options for calculating a prudent amount of MRP, 
but authorities retain flexibility over their determination of what is prudent.   

The proposed methodologies for use within Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council 
are set out below and reflect the basic principles set out in the guidance, along with 
some locally determined and prudent modifications to make the MRP more 
straightforward to calculate. 

 

Proposed MRP Policy Statement for 2021/22     

The following MRP Policy is proposed, under guidance issued by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is as follows:    

(a) For capital expenditure financed from debt arising up to 2007/08 and all new 
Government-supported borrowing arising from 2007/08 and thereafter - to spread 
the cost outstanding at the end of 2014/15 over 50 years (from 2015/16 through 
to 2064/65), but to use the annuity variant, based on the average Public Works 
Loan Board (PWLB) annuity rates prevailing in 2014/15. 

(b) For capital expenditure that is self-financed from debt arising in 2007/08 and 
thereafter - to charge the expenditure over the expected useful life of the relevant 
asset (“the Asset Life Method”), but to use the annuity variant, based on the 
average PWLB annuity rates prevailing in the year of the expenditure (rather than 
charging on a straight line basis over the asset life). 

(c) For ‘on-balance sheet’ Private Finance Initiative (PFI) contracts - to use the 
annuity variant of the Asset Life Method, using the annuity rates built into the 
financing arrangements for the contracts. This means that the MRP will relate to 
the estimated asset life and may not match the value written down each year 
against the balance sheet liability of the respective lease or PFI contract. 

(d) For assets acquired by leases – MRP will be determined as being equal to the 
principal element of the rent or charge that goes to write down the balance sheet 
liability. 

Page 38



Appendix 4 

(e) For historic debt that was entered into prior to unitary authority status and is 
managed by Lancashire County Council (LCC) - to spread the cost using an 
annuity variant, based on the average PWLB annuity rates prevailing in 2014/15, 
over 50 years (up to 2064/65), in alignment with the profile for historic supported 
borrowing.    

(f) In those cases where asset lives cannot be readily determined - to use a default 
period of 20 or 25 years in line with government guidance. However the Council 
may make its own determination in exceptional circumstances, if the 
recommendation of the guidance would not be appropriate. 

(g) Where loans are made to other bodies for their capital expenditure – to charge 
no MRP. However, the capital receipts generated by the repayments on those 
loans will be put aside to repay debt instead. 

 

Change in Policy from Previous Years 

The above policies in respect of capital expenditure financed from debt arising up to 
2007/08 and all new Government-supported borrowing arising from 2007/08 and 
thereafter and historic debt that was entered into prior to unitary authority status and is 
managed by Lancashire County Council (LCC) represent a change from those reported 
in the MRP statement presented for 2020/21. The proposed policies for 2021/22 are for 
MRP to be charged over 50 years from 2015/16 using an annuity variant, based on the 
PWLB rate prevailing in 2014/15. Previously MRP has been charged over the same 
period but on a straight-line basis.  

The annuity method makes provision for an annual charge to the General Fund which, 
unlike the current straight-line method, takes account of the time value of money. The 
annual MRP charges made by using the annuity method results in a consistent charge 
over an asset’s life, taking into account the real value of the annual charges when they 
fall due. 

It is proposed that these changes in policy are implemented for 2020/21 and subsequent 
years. 

As some types of capital expenditure incurred by the Council are not capable of being 
related to an individual asset, asset lives will be assessed on a basis which most 
reasonably reflects the anticipated period of benefit that arises from the expenditure.  

Also, whatever type of expenditure is involved, it will be grouped together in a manner 
which reflects the nature of the main component of expenditure and will only be divided 
up in cases where there are two or more major components with substantially different 
useful economic lives. 

Capital expenditure incurred during 2021/22 will not be subject to a MRP charge until 
2022/23. 

Therefore, in the determination of MRP, the Council will be both: 

(a) prudent - working within the principle that debt be repaid over a period reasonably 
commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits, and 

(b) practical - making detailed determinations where the impact of the calculation 

will be material, but allowing a more general approach if that would be 

reasonable. 

Page 39



Appendix 5 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS FOR 2021/22 
 
Introduction 
 
Local authorities determine their own programmes for capital investment in fixed assets 
that are central to the delivery of quality public services. The Chartered Institute of 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code provides a framework to ensure 
that the capital investment plans of the Council are affordable, prudent and sustainable.  
 
The Prudential Indicators recommended in the Prudential Code are designed to support 
and record local decision making in a manner that is publicly accountable. They are not 
designed to be comparative performance indicators, and should be considered in 
parallel with the Treasury Management Indicators required by the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management in the Public Services. 
 
The Prudential Indicators provide a broad framework to be considered alongside robust 
forecasting procedures embedded into the budget process of the Council. Forecasts 
should be regularly updated as the capital programme develops, and proposals should 
be considered in terms of their impact on the overall corporate position, ensuring that 
prudence and affordability are taken into account. 
 
Prudential Indicators in relation to previous years’ actuals are taken directly from 
information in the Council’s statement of accounts. The Prudential Indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years must be set before the beginning of the forthcoming 
year. The forward-looking Prudential Indicators include indicative figures for years two 
and three to allow decisions to be made with an appreciation of future trends. It is 
recognised that these will be subject to change but exist to promote a move away from 
the focus on annual decision making towards longer-term strategies. 
 
Procedures are in place to monitor performance against the forward-looking indicators 
in order to highlight significant deviations from expectations. 
 
Prudential Indicators for prudence 
 
Estimates of Capital Expenditure in £ millions 
 

 
2019/20 
Actual 

£m 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£m 

2021/22 
Budget 

£m 

2022/23 
Budget 

£m 

2023/24 
Budget 

£m 

Portfolio Spending 26.1 25.1 18.5 2.5 3.8 

Earmarked Schemes - 0.5 5.5 2.0 2.0 

Contingent Schemes - - 1.5 1.5 1.5 

General Fund Services 26.1 25.6 25.5 6.0 7.3 

 

Total capital spend in later years may be higher than currently forecast – however only 
spend funded from borrowing will impact on the Council’s CFR. 
 

Page 40



Appendix 5 

 
Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement in £ millions 
 

 
2019/20 
Actual 

£m 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£m 

2021/22 
Budget 

£m 

2022/23 
Budget 

£m 

2023/24 
Budget 

£m 

General Fund Services 215.9 214.8 217.4 211.3 208.5 

Debt Managed by LCC 15.3 15.2 15.1 14.9 14.7 

PFI Projects 69.5 69.3 69.1 68.9 68.7 

Total CFR 300.7 299.3 301.6 295.1 291.9 

 

The Council must make reasonable estimates of the “total Capital Financing 
Requirement” – that is an estimate of the debt outstanding in respect of capital 
expenditure, including LCC debt and that relating to the recognition of assets acquired 
under PFI projects, at the end of each of the next three financial years. The LCC element 
relates to debt still managed by the County Council in respect of services transferred 
when Blackburn with Darwen became a Unitary Authority. The Other Long Term 
Liabilities in relation to PFI schemes are in respect of schools built under the Building 
Schools for the Future programme. 
 
Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £ millions 
 

 
2020/21 

Limit 
£m 

2021/22 
Limit 
£m 

2022/23 
Limit 
£m 

Future 
Limit 
£m 

Authorised Limit – Borrowing 286.0 263.1 244.2 228.7 

Authorised Limit – PFI and LCC Debt 84.8 84.5 84.2 83.8 

Authorised Limit – Total External Debt 370.8 347.6 328.4 312.5 

Operational Boundary – Borrowing 276.0 253.1 234.2 218.7 

Operational Boundary – PFI and LCC 
Debt 

84.8 84.5 84.2 83.8 

Operational Boundary – Total External 
Debt 

360.8 337.6 318.4 302.5 

 
Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement in £ millions 
 

 
2019/20 
Actual 

£m 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£m 

2021/22 
Budget 

£m 

2022/23 
Budget 

£m 

2023/24 
Budget 

£m 

Debt (including PFI and 
LCC debt) 

311.5 299.1 293.6 278.3 276.1 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

300.7 299.3 301.6 295.1 291.9 

Page 41



Appendix 5 

 

Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, 

except in the short-term. The Council’s debt was in excess of the capital financing 

requirement temporarily at the end of 2019/20, this was due to slippage on some capital 

schemes, and additional borrowing required for the advance payment of pension costs 

made in April 2020. The effects of the advance payment of pension costs will cease by 

the end of 2022/23, at which point debt is anticipated to return to normal levels, when 

compared to the capital financing requirement. As can be seen from the table above, 

the Council expects to comply with this guidance in 2020/21 and onwards in the medium 

term. 

 

Prudential Indicators for affordability 
 
Estimates of the Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions on the Council Tax 
 

The incremental cost of any additional, unsupported borrowing required for new 
schemes to be added to the programme is not expected to be material on the 2021/22 
budgets and as such has will have negligible impact on Council Tax. All new proposals 
are subject to the Council’s governance and financial regulations and are reported 
accordingly, identifying the revenue costs associated with such schemes as applicable. 
 
Estimates of proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 
 

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, there are 
revenue budget implications i.e. interest payable on loans and MRP repayments, offset 
by any investment income receivable. The net annual charge is known as financing 
costs i.e. the cost of financing capital expenditure.  
 
The Council must estimate the proportion of the revenue budget taken up in financing 
costs, by comparing financing costs to the net revenue stream i.e. the amount available 
to fund the Council’s revenue budget from Council Tax, business rates and general 
government grants. 
 
The Indicator below is calculated on the basis that all of the Capital Programme, 
including Contingent elements, is delivered and assumes no reduction in SFA when 
projecting the future Net Revenue Stream beyond 2021/22. 
 

 2020/21 
Forecast 

£m 

2021/22 
Budget 

£m 

2022/23 
Budget 

£m 

2023/24 
Budget 

£m 

Main Programme capital financing costs 
as a proportion of Net Revenue Stream 

7.03% 8.50% 9.06% 8.91% 

BSF PFI capital financing costs as a 
proportion of Net Revenue Stream 

3.53% 4.10% 4.30% 4.25% 

Prudential Indicator for ratio of 
financing costs to Net Revenue Stream 

10.56% 12.60% 13.36% 13.16% 

 

Page 42



Appendix 5 

The Council’s capital financing costs in respect of BSF PFI schemes – both MRP and 
financing charges (interest elements) – are included, but this cost is largely covered by 
central government grant and does not put a pressure on Council resources. 
 

It remains the case that a significant proportion of the net revenue budget is taken up 

in supporting the Main Programme part of the Capital Programme. 

Page 43



Appendix 6 

INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2021/22 

 

Introduction 

This investment strategy focuses on the Council’s strategy in respect of non-treasury 
management investments. 
 
The Authority invests its money for three broad purposes: 

 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for example 
when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as treasury 
management investments), 

 to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other 
organisations (service investments), and 

 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this is 
the main purpose). 

 

This investment strategy meets the requirements of statutory guidance issued by the 
government in January 2018, and focuses on the second and third of these categories. 

Treasury Management investments  

The Authority typically receives its income in cash (e.g. from taxes and grants) before it 
pays for its expenditure in cash (e.g. through payroll and invoices). It also holds reserves 
for future expenditure and collects local taxes on behalf of other authorities and central 
government. These activities, plus the timing of borrowing decisions, lead to a cash 
surplus which is invested in accordance with guidance from the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).  

Contribution: The contribution that these investments make to the objectives of the 
Authority is to support effective treasury management activities.  

Further details: Full details of the Authority’s policies and its plan for 2021/22 for 
treasury management investments are covered in a separate document, the Treasury 
Management Strategy, to be presented to Executive Board on 11th March 2021 for 
consideration and approval. 

Non-Treasury Management investments 

The Council may also make loans and investments for service purposes, and may 
purchase property for investment purposes. The investment strategy focuses on these 
other investments, which are included within the second and third categories above. 

 Service Investments: Loans 

Contribution: The Council could advance relatively small loans to local businesses and 
local residents for community and economic benefits. For example, the capital 
programme includes a number of schemes where loans are given to support home 
owners unable to fund essential property repairs to bring properties back into use.  

Security: The risk when making service loans is that the borrower will be unable to 
repay the principal lent and/or the interest due. In order to limit this risk, the loans to 

Page 44



Appendix 6 

home owners are registered as a charge against the property at the Land Registry which 
will be removed by the Council once full repayment of the loan has been made. 

Risk assessment: The main purpose of these service loans is not to make a financial 
rate of return for the Council; it is to support the key priorities in the Council’s Corporate 
Plan and the Empty Property Strategy. Bringing empty homes back into use will support 
the sustainability of the neighbourhood and provide much needed housing for people in 
housing need. It also contributes to reducing the potential for anti-social behaviour by 
re-occupying long-term empty homes. 

 Service Investments: Shares 

Contribution: The Council may invest in the shares of its partners to support local 
public services and stimulate local economic growth.  

The Council had a 5% shareholding in Blackburn with Darwen and Bolton Local 
Education Partnership Limited, which was formed in order to deliver the capital 
investment elements of the Building Schools for the Future programme.  The Council 
had also invested in Blackburn with Darwen and Bolton Phase 1 Holdings Limited, 
Blackburn with Darwen and Bolton Phase 1 Limited, Blackburn with Darwen and Bolton 
Phase 2 Holdings Limited, Blackburn with Darwen and Bolton Phase 2 Limited, which 
are special purpose companies established solely to deliver the new schools at 
Pleckgate, Witton Park and Blackburn Central with Crosshill under the Private Finance 
Initiative. All of these investments have been sold during 2020/21. 

The Council has also a minority shareholding in a Special Purpose Vehicle together with 
a local developer for the purposes of acquiring a specific vacant site, which has had a 
history of stalled development activity and incidents of anti-social behaviour, vandalism 
and trespass, the SPV will prepare the site for future development by 3rd parties. The 
proposed development will contain a mix of employment and residential end uses, which 
will directly support growth in jobs and housing. 

Security: One of the risks of investing in shares is that they fall in value, meaning that 
the initial outlay may not be recovered. In order to limit this risk, an upper limit of 
£100,000 has been set in relation to investment in company shares where there is no 
direct service benefit arising. 

Risk assessment: The Authority assesses the risk of loss before entering into such 
shareholdings by ensuring the Council’s risk exposure is quantified and capped at the 
proposed initial investment. The main purpose of these shareholdings is not to make a 
financial rate of return for the Council; it is to support the key priorities in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan and the service delivery objectives of its Growth agenda. 

Non-specified Investments: Shares are the only investment type that the Authority 
has identified that meets the definition of a non-specified investment in the government 
guidance. The limits above on share investments are therefore also the Authority’s 
upper limits on non-specified investments. The Authority has not adopted any 
procedures for determining further categories of non-specified investment since none 
are likely to meet the definition.   

Page 45



Appendix 6 

 Commercial Investments: Property 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) define investment 
property as property held solely to earn rentals or capital appreciation or both. 
Commercial properties owned by the Council are held for regeneration, planning 
reasons and estate management purposes in addition to earning rental income,
therefore, they have been classified as property, plant and equipment within the 
accounting statements. 

Government guidance in the context of this investment strategy has a different view and 
defines property to be an investment if it is held primarily or partially to generate a 
profit.  

Contribution: The Council invests in local commercial property with the dual purpose 
of supporting the local economy and generating rental income to support expenditure 
spent on local public services. The main categories of property investments held are as 
follows: 

 Industrial estates 

 Business centres 

 Sundry commercial property 

 Sundry shops 

 Agricultural tenancy 

 Industrial/ commercial development sites 

 Residential development sites 

 Vacant land 
 

 

Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees 

Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged hands 
yet, loan commitments and financial guarantees carry similar risks to the Council, and 
would be included here for completeness.  

 
The Council does not have any such liabilities at present. 

Page 46



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

BLACKBURN WITH DARWEN BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 

 

ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 2015/16 

 

 

 
 

Page 47



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 2 of 33 

 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 
 
WHY HAVE AN ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
A documented, approved and implemented Asset Management Plan supports the 
corporate objectives of the Council, helps to improve service delivery and 
productivity, achieves beneficial and efficient use of land and property assets, 
reduces waste and surplus property and promotes customer and user satisfaction, 
comfort and health. 
 
 
WHAT HAS BEEN ACHIEVED 
 
Since the last Asset Management Plan of 2010/11, the Council has made progress 
in a number of areas of good practice and delivery. Some of these have been 
generated by the Action Plan, brought to the Asset Management Group for regular 
review and monitoring and some in response to external factors and pressures. Key 
areas are: 
 
Corporate Asset Review Programme 

 Closure of a number of operational assets following service review 

 Disposal of surplus assets 

 Transfer to new service providers 
 
Property Review Programme 

 Disposal of surplus/development land 

 Restructuring of industrial/commercial leases linked to investment 

 Costs savings from Residential Ground Rents review 
 
Accommodation Strategy 

 Move away from expensive rented accommodation 

 Opening of 10 Duke St 

 Improvement in space utilisation 
 
Community Asset Transfers 

 Transfer of all Community Centres 

 Implementation of other asset transfers such as football pitches 
 
Investment Portfolio 

 Improvement in occupation rates across all sectors 

Page 48



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 3 of 33 

 

 Targeted planned maintenance resulting in new lettings 

 Ongoing turnover of income producing assets. 
 
Capital Receipts 

 Fettered by economic conditions 

 Some successful and productive transactions  

 Sites readied for upturn in the economy. 
 
HORIZON SCANNING - KEY THEMES 
 
Circumstances are ever changing and pressures mounting in key areas of asset 
management particularly as efforts continue towards achieving full economic 
recovery combined with innovative ways of maintaining desired public services and 
improving customer care. Key themes and actions emerging in this context are:  
 

 Prospect of economic recovery and increase in confidence – we need to be 

ready to benefit from this. 

 Identification, assembly and release of Employment Land 

 Major Regeneration Projects and Strategic Acquisitions 

 Housing Growth Delivery 

 One Public Estate – Public Sector Corporate Working 

 Community Engagement – Assets of Community Value 

 Further implementation of the Corporate Landlord Approach 

 Increased Provision for Extra Care facilities reflecting changing demographics 

 Refresh of Corporate Asset Review Programme 

 Review of the Investment Portfolio and Options: maintain; reduce; expand 

 Further development of Accommodation Strategy – Agile Working 

 Transparency Agenda regarding Property data  

 Performance Management – revival of Benchmarking with other LA’s as well 

as development of internal property performance data  

 
 
WHAT NEEDS TO BE IN PLACE TO MEET THE CHALLENGES 
 

 A vision aligned to Corporate Objectives 

 Raise the profile of Asset Management Planning 

Page 49



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 4 of 33 

 

 A robust, realistic and deliverable Action Plan 

 Adequate Resources: Staff; Finance 

 Commitment from all service departments 

 Elected Member support and engagement.  

Page 50



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 5 of 33 

 

1. CONTEXT AND SCENE SETTING 
 
 
Introduction 
 
The corporate Asset Management Plan assists the Council in using its property 
assets to improve the delivery of key services, ensure optimum accessibility to 
services and generally drive down corporate costs. Its potential benefits if applied 
corporately and consistently include: 
 

 deliver excellent services for citizens, aligned with locally agreed priorities, 

whilst focusing investment clearly on need; 

 empower communities; 

 improve the economic well-being of an area; 

 ensure that, once built, assets are correctly maintained; 

 Efficient management and use of energy and reduced carbon emissions; 

 increase co-location, partnership working and sharing of knowledge; 

 improve the accessibility of services; 

 generate efficiency gains, capital receipts, or an income stream; and 

 improve the quality of the public realm. 

 

The table below presents a brief summary of the land and property assets held by 

the Council. 

 

Summary of Land and Property Assets 

Category Description 
Number of 

Assets 
Asset Value 

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 
  01A Markets 2 £2,910,500 

01B Blackburn Shopping Centre Equity (Est.) 1 £16,000,000 

01C Sundry Shops 39 £3,000,000 

02A Industrial Estates (Sites) 82 £6,447,250 

02C Sundry Commercial Property 108 £7,721,850 

02D Industrial Estates (Units) 94 £5,656,300 

03A Agricultural Tenancy 23 £3,364,900 

03B Grazing Licence 3 £136,500 

05A Industrial Dev Sites 8 £2,487,500 

05B Commercial Dev Sites 8 £4,375,000 

05C Residential Dev Sites 26 £9,768,290 

06A Open Space/Amenity Land 156 £603,500 

Page 51



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 6 of 33 

 

06B Vacant Land 154 £3,144,000 

07A Domestic Garage Sites 768 £213,000 

07B Garden Plots 438   

07C Miscellaneous land agreements 37   

07E Statutory Allotments 10   

08AB&C Freehold Reversions 67   

OPERATIONAL PORTFOLIO 
  09B Sports Centres 6 £22,056,057 

09C Museum/Public Halls 4 £18,245,415 

09D Public Parks & Facilities 33 £1,427,501 

09E Outdoor Sports Amenity 19 £2,424,500 

09F Cemetery/Crematoria 4 £2,100,000 

09H Libraries 5 £3,810,257 

09J Youth Centres 5 £2,876,725 

10F Itinerant Sites 1 £150,000 

10H Community Centres 9 £1,480,000 

11B Business Centre 3 £2,375,000 

11C Access Points 2 £775,000 

12A Formal Car Park 29 £1,754,502 

12B Informal Car Park 37 £8,000 

12E Infrastructure 31 £435,000 

13A Depot/Store 15 £3,600,639 

14A Town Hall Office 4 £11,530,000 

15A Schools 43 £113,027,205 

15B Playing Fields 26 £1,978,000 

15C Miscellaneous Childrens Services 15 £7,939,314 

15D Childrens Centres 9 £11,357,397 

16A Adult Social Care 17 £6,530,000 

90P Private Leases 22 £1,970,000 

  
TOTAL ASSETS 2296 £284,000,000 

Based on quinquennial rolling valuations to April 2014 

  Not all assets are valued where de minimus 

   

 

The Asset Management Plan for 2015/16 will: 

 

 Set out the context for corporate asset management across all services and 

assets within Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council. 

 Describe the Council’s asset Objectives to be achieved in the next few years. 

 Identify the current position and carry out a gap analysis. 

 Show how the asset stock will be developed. 

Page 52



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 7 of 33 

 

 Describe the performance indicators to be applied and how progress will be 

monitored. 

 Assist the Council in adapting to the current economic situation. 

  

Page 53



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 8 of 33 

 

1. Purpose and Expectation of the AMP 
 
1.1. Why have an Asset Strategy? 
 

An asset strategy: 

 

 Is a key tool in achieving corporate objectives and improving service delivery. 

 Ensures that land and property assets support the aims and objectives of the 

Council and its key services. 

 Enables the Council to understand the scope of its property assets portfolio 

and in particular where it is located, its suitability and sufficiency, condition 

and value. 

 Assists in maximising the beneficial use of property assets. 

 Promotes service benefits such as accessibility, user satisfaction and comfort. 

 Generates efficiencies and cost savings. 

 Encourages continuous review and challenge of the use and ownership of 

property assets. 

 Ensures that buildings are appropriately maintained. 

 

 

1.2. How does the AMP fit in with other Planning Documents and the Business 

Process? 

 

The Asset Management Plan is a key part of the Council’s Corporate Business 

Planning Framework and is inextricably linked to the Capital Strategy. Effective 

business planning helps the Council to: 

 

 Deliver its main aims and priority themes 

 Match resources to priorities 

 Effectively plan at all levels throughout the Council 

 

The Council’s framework for business planning and performance management has a 

number of key features: 

 

 It is an integrated framework for financial and service planning at corporate, 

departmental and service level. 

 There is a simple, annual cycle of activity, which has been embedded for a 

number of years. 

Page 54



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 9 of 33 

 

 It is a process that starts early in the year to ensure decision-making around 

resources and priorities are inclusive. 

 

The AMP specifically supports and interacts with other policies, strategies and 

programmes including: 

 

 Departmental (Education etc.) Asset Management Plans 

 Land and Property Disposal Policy 

 Accommodation Strategy 

 Blackburn Town Centre 12 Point Plan 

 Planned Maintenance Programme 

 Energy Policy 

 Highways Asset Management Plan 

 Housing Growth Delivery Programme 

 Primary Capital Strategy for Change 

 Health and Safety Policy 

 

 

 

  

Page 55



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 10 of 33 

 

2. CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 
 

2. The Council’s Objectives and Corporate Priorities 

2.1. What is the Council seeking to do 

 

The Council’s corporate vision, objectives and corporate priorities are set out in the 

Corporate Plan Diagram attached as Appendix 1. 

 

The following is taken from the Corporate Plan 2013-15: 

 

The Corporate Plan sets out six priority objectives. These are informed by public 

consultation, focusing on what the Council needs to achieve locally over the period 

of the plan. The priorities are: 

 

 Creating more jobs and supporting business growth 

 Improving housing quality and building more houses 

 Improving health and well-being 

 Improving outcomes for our young people – education and skills 

 Safeguarding the most vulnerable people 

 Making your money go further - supporting households in difficult financial 

times through efficient and effective use of council tax 

 

The Council is confident that, despite the difficult challenges it faces, it can continue 

to work with staff, residents and partners to deliver excellent services for and with the 

people of Blackburn with Darwen. In delivering the priorities The Council is 

committed to: 

 

 Working together with residents; businesses and our partners - developing 

local solutions via local problem solving 

 Managing the impact of national reforms on residents and the Council –

particularly around the welfare system, health services and educational 

provision 

 Delivering high quality services – a well-managed authority which is fit for the 

future; efficient and effective; and continuing to use the best possible business 

models to deliver excellent services. 

 

In summary, the ambition for a brighter future for the people of Blackburn with 

Darwen is based on making sure the Council is fit for the challenge ahead, building 

Page 56



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 11 of 33 

 

on its strengths and always remembering that what’s important to our communities is 

important to the Council. 

 

 

  

Page 57



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 12 of 33 

 

3. OVERVIEW OF COUNCIL’S FINANCIAL HEALTH AND FUTURE FINANCIAL 
CHALLENGES 
 

3. The Council’s Financial Context 

3.1. Overall Financial Position of the Council 

 

The Council is a unitary authority that carries out the whole range of functions 

required of a statutory authority, delivers major services including education, social 

care, leisure culture and sport, regeneration and housing. As a result of this, the 

Council holds a diverse portfolio of land and building assets. 

 

As at the 31st March 2014 the Council has property, plant and equipment assets of 

£458m as scheduled in Table 1 below: 

 

Property, plant & equipment assets 2013/14  
£m 

    
Operational Assets  

Land and Buildings 322 
Infrastructure Assets 81 
Vehicles Plant & Equipment 21 
Community Assets 7 

  
Assets under construction 27 
TOTAL £458 

  Table 1 - Schedule of Property, plant and equipment assets at 31/03/14 

 

 

At the same date the Council had reserves and balances of £61m of which: 

£19m were earmarked for non-discretionary purposes mainly in relation to 

schools. 

£29m were earmarked for specific purposes 

£13m were General Fund balances 

 

3.2. Financial Outlook 

 

The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy currently covers 2014 to 2017 and is 

refreshed annually. The latest MTFS is being prepared against the backdrop of 

continuing restrictions on financial resources. The general economic difficulties 

Page 58



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 13 of 33 

 

already bring additional demands on the Council’s resources exacerbated by falling 

income levels and lower proceeds from asset sales. 

 

3.3. Financial Context for Asset Decision Making 

 

The Council has a track record of robust financial management and a strong finance 

function. The Council operates a three year business planning process of which the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy is an integral part.  

 

The Council’s budget, which should be viewed in conjunction with the AMP, includes 

details of revenue estimates and the capital programme. The following financial 

resources are committed to asset management priorities. 

 

Table 2 2014/15 

£000s 

2015/16 

£000s 

2016/17 

£000s 

    

Revenue    

Corporate repairs & maintenance 1,868 1,965 TBC 

    

Corporate Resources    

Corporate property investment    

Carbon management plan 19 204 0 

Town Hall stonework 219 1,986 0 

Accommodation strategy 26 614 0 

Corporate DDA improvements work 49 200 0 

Velvet lounge 777 0 0 

Tower block air conditioning 285 71 0 

Baroque 179 0 0 

Griffin lodge 0 300 0 

Town centre property regeneration 0 500 3,000 

Total Corporate Resources 1,554 3,875 3,000 

    

Leisure, Culture & Young People    

Leisure strategy 0 325 2,121 

    

Schools & Education    

Intack 875 0 0 

Roe Lee 400 350 0 

Lower Darwen 1,321 300 0 

Other schools 1,737 6,344 5,333 

Total Schools & Education 4,333 7,094 5,333 

Note: all Schools & Education schemes are funded entirely by government grants 

 

Page 59



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 14 of 33 

 

In addition to mainstream capital and revenue funds the Council has access to other 

resources via for example, external funding. Alternative delivery mechanisms 

including partnerships with other public sector bodies and the private sector are also 

used as a means of achieving strategic objectives. 

 

In summary the Council seeks to: 

 

 Continue to maximise revenue income and control costs. 

 Continue to manage the maintenance backlog subject to available funding. 

 Continue to develop and implement a programme of asset release to realise 

capital receipts to support the capital programme where it is in the Council’s 

best interest to do so. 

 Promote development through asset release in the Borough to provide wider 

benefits to residents through construction  in terms of local employment and 

training opportunities 

 Implement a property rationalisation programme that aligns with outcomes of 

the operational service review and supports co-location opportunities. 

 Promote energy efficiency measures in order to reduce carbon emissions and 

costs concentrating on those assets that the Council is clear will be retained 

for the long term. 

 

Page 60



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 15 of 33 

 

4. OVERVIEW OF CURRENT PORTFOLIO 

 

4. The Current Position and Asset Gap Analysis 

 

4.1. What the Business Drivers mean for the Asset Base 

 

Education/Children’s Services 

BSF – The programme completed in November 2014 with a significant improvement 

in the quality of the Asset Base. A total of 8 schools received investment, (3 PFI new 

builds, 3 D&B new builds and 2 significant remodels). 

 

The Extended Schools agenda, e.g. promoting more community use of assets, is 

now embedded in schools and funding has been removed but shared use of assets 

will continue to be expanded under the community use agreements in place. 

  

Basic Need Funding – the Council is in receipt of significant funding starting in 2014 

and continuing through to 2017 to ensure there is adequate provision of pupil places 

within the Borough. This will result in the expansion of existing schools, and or the 

development of new schools in the areas of need within the Borough. 

 

Academies Programme – The national programme of converting under performing 

schools into Academies continues with schools in both the community and voluntary 

aided sector converting. This has resulted in a number of assets being transferred 

under either 125 year leases or by freehold to external educational providers. 

 

Social Care 

The Adult Services department is seeking to review its current assets in order to take 

a view on which establishments it would seek to retain and which may no longer be 

suitable linked to the business plan for the department. 

 

The planned closure of the council’s four in-house residential homes is due for 

completion in March 2015; the sites at Greenways and Feniscliffe Bank are no 

longer in use and future plans are documented in 6.1 below.  Longshaw House is no 

longer in use and has been declared surplus, and is being offered internally to the 

council and its partners before a decision is made on its future. Blakewater Lodge 

has also now been declared surplus along with Swallow Drive Resource Centre. 

 

Page 61



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 16 of 33 

 

In terms of day service resources, extensive investment has been made in the 

remaining establishments, Stansfeld Centre and Hopwood Court which remain part 

of the department’s portfolio along with St Aidens. 

 

Work is underway to develop a management partnership with Age UK to co-locate 

third sector and local authority day services at Hopwood Court to expand the range 

and scope of services and ensure the most effective use of the asset base at this 

facility. 

 

The independent living centre is now closed and will be vacated shortly. 

 

 

Culture Leisure, Sport & Young People Department 

Priorities for Leisure and Culture facilities/assets aim to: 

 Improve health & wellbeing 

 Increase engagement and participation in wider cultural opportunities 

 Improve outcomes for young people 

 

Review of leisure facilities will be required in 2015/16; the priority will be to retain 

major services in the two town centres. For example in Blackburn the new Sports-

Leisure scheme on the College Campus will be completed, releasing the old Waves 

site for redevelopment. 

 

Libraries as a statutory service will continue to operate within Council assets with the 

focus on implementing a community-led management approach of the three branch 

libraries.  

 

Review of the community assets is complete with nine assets no longer under 

Council operational control, although buildings remain Council assets. 

 

Other assets with the department include: Blackburn Museum, Turton Tower, King 

Georges Hall, Darwen Library Theatre, Witton Park Pavilion Café, and youth 

provision. 

 

The Play and Pitch Strategy is now complete, with a recommendation to improve the 

quality of existing grass pitches and increase new junior pitches to meet demand. 

The strategy identifies that there are sufficient ‘all weather pitches’ in the borough, 

however too many sand pitches and not enough 3G pitches. 

 

Page 62



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 17 of 33 

 

 

Regeneration Portfolio 

 

A strategic acquisitions programme has built up opportunities over the years but this 

needs continuing resource input and funding. 

 

Current preference is to continue to hold onto land and property assets in strategic 

locations in order to support and facilitate the future regeneration and employment 

growth agenda, although there are cost implications of holding property assets in this 

way. They tend to be assets ripe for development and therefore usually not readily 

let so holding costs such as insurance, empty rates and security often follow. 

 

Key regeneration projects include the Blackburn Markets site redevelopment; 

Cathedral Quarter; Pennine Reach/New Bus Station. 

 

Accommodation Strategy  

 

In October 2013 the Council successfully relocated 450 staff to the refurbished 

number 10 Duke Street in the town centre, that allowed the Council to vacate 3 

leased properties. This strategy has allowed the Council to make ongoing revenue 

savings from rental payments ceasing. 

  

The staff office accommodation strategy aims to deliver the following objectives:- 

  

 Consolidation of office based staff in Blackburn and Darwen Town Centres 

wherever practicable 

 To maximise space utilisation and work towards a best practice space 

standard of 6 square metres per person per full time equivalent, where the 

physical nature of the accommodation permits 

 This target space standard will be reviewed against changes in future working 

patterns which enables more flexible, mobile and remote office working 

arrangements and how information technology supports this 

 Reviewing existing office furniture and replacing with modern office furniture 

where there is an agreed business case and occupancy levels can be 

improved 

 Further implementation of open plan working and reviewing how more 

traditionally constructed buildings can be modified to improve space utilisation 

 Implementing fit for purpose office accommodation that contributes to the 

Council’s carbon reduction targets. 

Page 63



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 18 of 33 

 

 Ongoing review of space occupancy to ensure buildings/rooms are used to 

their full potential. 

 

 

Shared Services with Strategic Partners 

 

Notably, this has been happening in small measures with the local NHS (CCG) 

where there is co-location taking place on some office sites. 

In line with the government’s “One Public Estate” initiative, the Council needs to 

have in place a more strategic and coherent plan for delivery. 

 

 

4.2. Gap Analysis 

 

Examination of the key drivers and priorities have explored potential gaps between 

the current asset portfolio base and what is needed in the future to maintain high 

quality service delivery. Areas to be addressed are: 

 

Education facilities – The provision of fit for purpose and high quality schools in the 

Borough will continue to be comprehensively addressed. The BSF programme met 

the requirements for high schools. This will help address the risk of the condition of 

high schools falling below standard and consequently affecting teaching services. 

Primary Schools were partially addressed by the Primary Capital initiative; further 

investment via the Basic Need Funding and the annual capital programme will assist 

in maintaining the quality of the assets. 

 

Education and Children’s Services function has historically benefitted from significant 

external funding. This enabled investment in new assets, extensions and 

improvements, subsequent reductions in revenue funding have resulted in a number 

of Children’s Services assets becoming surplus, while there is a need to add 

capacity in the education sector. 

 

Adult Social Care – The delivery of this service for older people and adults with 

disabilities is increasingly provided through commissioning and partnerships 

including Residential Homes and Day Centres. The portfolio has reduced over the 

years through greater efficiencies, disposal of unsuitable assets, greater use of 

home adaptations and continuation of the reablement agenda.  

 

Page 64



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 19 of 33 

 

Further commissioned development modern residential homes, intermediate and 

extra care housing will be required to meet demographic pressures and priorities to 

sustain independent living for older people.    

 

Some of the Day Centres are no longer fit for purpose as standards improve and will 

still require significant refurbishment or relocation and disposal. At the same time, 

there is further scope to develop and improve services in the areas of mobility, 

dementia services and respite care, and suitable assets will need to be retained and 

improved to accommodate these growth areas. 

 

Culture Leisure, Sport & Young People Facilities  

2015-18 will see a review of all assets as part of budget efficiencies with particular 

emphasis on major assets such as Shadsworth and Daisyfield Pools. Although 

increasing the number of assets is unlikely in the future. 

 

There is generally still a high maintenance backlog because of the age and poor 

condition of much of the stock.  

 

New facilities added to the portfolio since 2014: 

 Witton Park Arena 

 Change of use for BRSA at Darwen Vale – to Junction 4 Skatepark 

 Blackburn Sports & Leisure Centre (Opens March 2015) 

 

There are currently sufficient statutory allotments but garden areas have a waiting 

list with majority waiting for plots in Darwen.  

 

Joint Service delivery – current stock inadequate in some areas to support 

development of this. 

 

Maintenance backlog – whilst a lot of improvement has been achieved following the 

centralisation of corporate planned maintenance and establishment of a dedicated 

resource, current levels are still below what is acceptable and further investment in 

major assets to be retained for the long term is required. 

 

 

4.3. Approach to Closing/Eradicating the Gap 

 

Operational Property Service Review Process – A refresh of the Corporate Asset 

Review Programme will be undertaken and reported to Members. This will run 

Page 65



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 20 of 33 

 

alongside service transformation and cost saving initiatives arising from budget 

pressures. The aim is to review all operational property assets as opposed to a “wish 

list”. A more detailed performance measurement process will be introduced to assist 

scoring and decision making.   

 

Property Review Programme (PRP) – There will continue to be a challenge of the 

rationale for owning property assets. The aim will be to reduce the number of assets 

held by identifying surplus and under used assets and disposing of them. The PRP 

will identify opportunities for release of assets for disposal either now or in the future 

when market conditions improve. The PRP will also explore measures for 

performance improvement of retained assets through, for example, change of use or 

development, as well as measures for improved income generation.  

 

Realisation of Capital Receipts Programme – This naturally follows the Property 

Review Programme where disposal options are recommended and approved.  The 

programme is well established as a medium term capital receipts forecast which 

informs its contribution to the Capital Programme. Monitoring and reporting of capital 

receipts forecasts will continue to be developed and improved and realistic targets 

set reflecting the state of the portfolio and market conditions. 

 

External Funding – We will continue to put appropriate resources into identifying 

and securing external funding, albeit declining, for property projects and more 

creative ways of resourcing new provision exploring, for example:- 

 Joint Ventures 

 Pension funds (Eg Greater Manchester Pension Venture Fund) 

 BPRA (Business Premises Renovation Allowance) ? 

 Development Company Approach ? 

 Heritage and grant funding eg ERDF 

 

Growth  - We will continue to identify land and property assets that can be used as a 

driver/enabler of regeneration or development projects.Our emphasis will be on key 

strategic town centre/gateway sites, potential employment land and housing sites. 

We will take a flexible and creative approach to drive change and ensure delivery of 

new buildings and areas for a variety of uses. Assets do not have to be looked at in 

isolation but as part of the Council’s wider aspirations and corporate objectives. 

Highways, infrastructure and opportunistic acquisitions will all be considered if they 

will enable delivery. 

 

Page 66



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 21 of 33 

 

Employment Strategy - Employment sites in the Borough vary in quality and in the 

roles they play. Existing employment sites need investment to enable them to adapt 

to the changing needs of new business. 

 

In 2012 the Council commissioned consultants Jones Lang LaSalle to review the site 

allocations and development management policies of the Council in the context of 

the emerging Local Plan Part 2. In terms of employment land it identified Whitebirk 

Strategic site which is outside the borough as one of the best employment sites 

available to serve the needs of the borough. 

 

The report identified a healthy demand for small and medium sized businesses 

however, the supply was not being met due in part to high cost of remediation of 

sites, banks being unwilling to lend to developers without pre-lets being in place and 

lack of available land.  

 

There is an expected requirement of at least 66 hectares of employment land 

between 2011 and 2026, which needs to be brought forward for development (Use 

Classes B1, B2 and B8). Of this approximately 28 ha are under the Council’s 

ownership with sites becoming available through land acquisition and infrastructure 

improvements. A large number of these sites are brownfield and prove to be 

challenging to bring to the market in view of associated costs of development, many 

requiring significant investment in transport links and infrastructure before they can 

be classed as readily available for business development. This may not be cost-

effective for some of the poorer quality sites so it is unlikely without gap funding 

these will be improved and redeveloped. 

 

The Council holds several large parcels of land which it intends to bring to the 

market once access and infrastructure issues have been resolved and is currently 

working on those issues. For example, in terms of meeting the gap, the report noted 

that the Council were already looking to promote sites around the new Freckleton St 

link road close to the centre of Blackburn on the town’s inner orbital route and whilst 

there was a Masterplan in place this needed simplifying to factor in changes in the 

market. In addition to this area further land will be made available along the line of 

the new Pennine Reach funded road at Furthergate, which links that area directly to 

Junction 6 of the M65 (close to the Whitebirk Strategic Site). The majority of 

employment land in these areas is constrained currently due to the road building 

programme and is not necessarily ready for occupation.  

 

Page 67



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 22 of 33 

 

Where the Council and developers have been tied into development agreements 

linked to land values at the height of the last economic property boom and these 

have resulted in stagnated development of the site, the agreements have been 

terminated in order to bring land back to the market at current day values. 

 

The Council will need to look for ways of: -  

 

 stimulating development including considering alternative ways of structuring 

disposals and the financing of schemes in particular where marginal returns 

are expected.  

 maximising the availability of this land by ensuring the gaps identified in the 

employment land review are acknowledged and filled to ensure the targets for 

employment land are met. 

 

The goals for the Council and its partners are: 

 

 to facilitate the development of high quality strategic employment sites at 

Whitebirk Strategic Site, complete the final phase of Whitebirk Industrial 

Estate and the sale of the final plot at Shadsworth Business Park. 

 that these sites will provide the great majority of employment opportunities in 

the Borough over the next few years; 

 to re-engineer sites to maximise their attractiveness as business locations; 

 to encourage the development of sustainable alternative uses for vacant 

brown field sites and derelict properties; 

 to provide a greater level of co-ordination, business support and networking 

on employment sites:  

 to support environmental improvements by businesses and encourage the 

adoption of environmental good practice including the development of 

sustainable travel planning; and 

 to manage BwDBC property assets to support wider regeneration. 

 

A new Development Sites Board is to be developed with particular focus on the 

efficient co-ordination of employment support programmes and regeneration of 

employment sites. 

 

Partnership Working - Deliver services wherever possible from assets that are 

shared by services and with our partners. A combination of horizon scanning, the 

accommodation strategy, use of the property dashboard, Corporate Landlord 

Page 68



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 23 of 33 

 

approach and more pro-active engagement with all partners will be used to ensure 

aspirations for a true One Public Estate approach are pursued. 

 

Housing Strategy – Housing growth is recognised as being a key priority for the 

Council and delivery will be through a number of existing and new approaches:- 

 

 Housing Growth Board 

 Housing Growth Delivery Meetings 

 Housing Tool Kit 

 Housing Zone application 

 Development Board 

 Project Team approach to priority sites 

 

As with other key strategic sites opportunities to use infrastructure, external funding 

and land swaps to encourage development will be actively investigated. A more 

challenging and scientific approach is required particularly when considering 

developer’s viability assessments. This will allow a detailed negotiation and ensure 

an objective assessment and recommendation can be made where the Council is 

being asked to consider a reduced capital receipt, but where the objective of housing 

delivery is still a possible positive outcome. Whilst the focus will be on those sites 

where the Council can most directly influence delivery i.e. Council owned, there is 

also a clear need to be proactive in engaging with the owners of private sites to 

encourage delivery and be creative in providing potential enabling solutions egg 

infrastructure improvements. 

 

Implementation of true Corporate Landlord approach to asset management - 

The corporate landlord role involves a corporate overview of the acquisition, 

management, maintenance, improvement, review and rationalisation of property 

assets. The concept involves holding all property in a single central support service 

which becomes a notional landlord. Occupying departments no longer “own” their 

assets and become notional tenants. The role of the corporate landlord is to provide 

occupying services with the right accommodation for their needs in the right location. 

Property decisions are taken away from service providers and handled by 

professionals with the skills and abilities to drive out efficiencies and cost savings 

from assets but in consultation with service providers to ensure key services are not 

compromised. This concept which is now the preferred model in a number of local 

authorities is not fully implemented in the Council and will be developed to assist and 

accelerate the overall process of any gap eradication.  

 

Page 69



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 24 of 33 

 

 

Getting the best from the Investment Property Portfolio - The model Strategy 
Review and Action Plan (attached as appendix 3) will be used as a basis for further 
development of a policy for the Council on this area of work.  
 
As there are signs of improvement in the market and strong demand for 
accommodation types and sizes which cannot be satisfied by the existing portfolio it 
is an appropriate time to review the strategy and direction. 
 
There needs to be an assessment of fitness for purpose of the existing properties 
and the capacity of the portfolio to be maintained and reshaped to satisfy current and 
future requirements whilst maintaining a reliable revenue stream. A radical approach 
may be required if the portfolio is not to risk increasing obsolescence. 
 
This strategy will of course need to be considered in tandem with other corporate 
property objectives including regeneration schemes 
 
Community Asset Transfers – The Community Centres transfer programme was 
successfully completed in 2013/14. The concept is now being extended into other 
areas community playing fields. Further development of asset transfer initiatives 
across all portfolios will take place. 
 
Planned Maintenance Programme - The key requirements and aims of the 
Planned Maintenance Programme will continue to comprise: 

 Ensuring that maintenance solutions will be cost effective in whole-life terms, 
and reflect the Council’s sustainability policies. 

 Achieving a 30% reactive and 70% planned split in revenue expenditure. 

 A reduction in backlog maintenance. 

 Undertaking planned preventative maintenance where performance or service 
could be seriously affected if repair work is not carried out. 

 Reducing the running costs of facilities. 

 Compliance with Statutory Legislation. 
 
Management of Increased Statutory Regulations - Additional pressures for 
statutory compliance have been introduced over the last few years around asbestos, 
legionella, DDA and Fire Risk Assessments. The Council will need to maintain 
investment in its property assets to minimise risks.  
 
Energy and Carbon Management – The objectives of the Council’s energy policy 
and carbon management programme are to reduce energy consumption and use 
energy as economically as possible to save money and reduce carbon emissions.  
The Corporate Plan emissions reduction target is 10% year on year. 
 
There are no longer any dedicated resources for energy efficiency or carbon 
reduction measures.  

Page 70



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 25 of 33 

 

5. Asset Goals and Objectives and Vision for Asset Base 

 

5.1. Asset Goals and Objectives 

 

The Council’s vision for its asset base is set out in Section 2.1. The priority goals and 
objectives over the next few years, subject to funding, together with performance 
measures and targets are set out in APPENDIX 1a. 
 
5.2. The Overall Approach to the Use of Assets 

 

 Develop a more robust and transparent Corporate Landlord preferred model 

approach to the management of assets and strengthen the central control of 

funding and budgets. 

 Continuously review the suitability and sufficiency of assets and explore 

alternative means of accommodating key services including shared 

occupation. 

 Ensure the asset base remains flexible in terms of the type, location, tenure 

etc., in order to quickly respond to service changes in the next 2-5 years. 

 Utilise land and property assets as a key facilitator of Regeneration 

programmes and projects and as a driver for transformational change in 

service delivery and culture. 

 Maintain and develop centralisation of planned maintenance to ensure 

efficiencies in the procurement and maintenance of buildings; improved 

compliance with statutory requirements; improved financial planning; Capital 

Investment targeted to approved Service Departmental priorities; and 

managing assets in a more sustainable way. 

 

5.3. Key Themes 

 Rationalisation of property assets and cost savings combined with a 

Structured Property Review Programme. 

 Asset Release Strategy and Asset Transfer/Community Engagement. 

 Regeneration and Development including Acquisition Strategy 

 Accommodation Strategy to improve efficiency of space utilisation and the 

working environment; Co-location of Services 

 Housing Growth 

 Planned Maintenance Programme 

 Value for Money 

 Compliance with statutory requirements 

 

Page 71



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 26 of 33 

 

5.4. How the Asset Base will help Delivery of Objectives 

 Buildings in the right location being accessible to all users 

 Assets that are suitable and sufficient e.g. size, functionality, condition etc, for 

the services being delivered from them. 

 Compliant with all relevant legislation to ensure occupier and visitor health 

and safety (DDA, Fire, Asbestos, Legionella etc.). 

 Effectively maintained assets to put and keep them in good and sound 

condition internally and externally both structural and fabric. 

 Better physical accessibility to public buildings, improving customer 

experience and satisfaction levels. 

 Environmentally sound to achieve sustainability and carbon reduction targets. 

 Capable of multiple uses by better integration of services and use of 

technology with minimal need for adaptation. 

 Working with key partners to provide a joined-up approach to service delivery 

including the sharing of buildings and facilities. 

Page 72



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 27 of 33 

 

6. The Approach to Each Category of the Asset Base 

This section builds on the gap analysis and the way the gap will be closed or 

narrowed – in effect, this charts out the strategy behind the AMP itself. It describes 

the way in which the organisation will approach and decide upon the future of each 

part of the asset base by category. 

 

6.1 Operational Portfolio 

 

Education and Children’s Services 

The continued provision of high quality schools in the Borough is a corporate priority 

and the principal aim will be to continue to seek additional funding to support the 

Capital Investment Strategies. 

 

All assets need to be maintained and whilst future budget cuts are inevitable in the 

next few years, good planned maintenance must not be compromised. 

There is scope for improvements to the training of building mangers and occupiers 

particularly to enhance awareness of building management issues including health 

and safety. 

 

Adult Social Care 

A framework has been established to procure new modern residential home 

provision and extra care housing. The first mini-competition drawn from the 

framework has been run for the Greenways site and a provider selected to develop a 

new residential home. The Fenniscliffe Bank site is being retained by the Portfolio 

and a mini-competition will be run as and when planning issues are resolved as part 

of the new Local Plan. Beyond programmed developments including Greenways 

further sites will be required for new residential places and extra care housing. 

However the scale of this further requirement will depend on availability of 

Fenniscliffe Bank and viability of a proposed extra care development at Albion Mill.   

    

It is anticipated that day services delivered from Day Centres will continue to shrink. 

This arises from improved technological developments such as “Telecare”, and 

further investment in aids and adaptations to sustain people at home. As a result of 

this, a number of the current Day Centres have already been identified for release 

where they are no longer fit for purpose. However, those to be retained will benefit 

from further investment particularly where there is currently an under provision of 

personal care facilities. An extensive asset management capital programme has 

been completed for the two remaining Council day centres at Hopwood Court and 

Stansfeld Centre, providing modern facilities adaptable to the changing needs and 

Page 73



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 28 of 33 

 

aspirations of the public. There is clear scope to extend the range and quality of 

services from these facilities and a number of emerging partnerships are being 

developed. 

 

Shared use of assets is also an area that works well within the care services and a 

number of the Council’s assets are used in this way. This helps to ensure that 

occupation levels of assets are maximised and the overall running costs across the 

whole portfolio are minimised. Proposals will be developed to further push forward 

this agenda both in terms of enabling multi use of the retained Day Centres and 

relocation of services into other assets such as Community Centres. 

 

 

Culture Leisure, Sport & Young People Department 

The health and well being of the community remains high priority and key services 

will continue to be provided with emphasis on town centre locations. 

 

For retained properties, the greater use of effective business planning will play a 

pivotal role in reducing costs and maximising income generation opportunities. In 

view of the typically high consumption levels in many leisure premises, energy costs 

will continue to be high profile and effective energy management will continue to be a 

priority. 

 

The department will be working closely with voluntary organisations and local 

community groups to attract external funding to manage and improve current assets. 

To increase outdoor pitches, external funding is being sought to fulfil demand in the 

borough.  

 

 

6.2 Office Accommodation Portfolio 

Further consideration will be given to implementing a more formal Corporate 

Landlord approach to asset management but in particular to the Accommodation 

Strategy, to ensure, inter alia, that departments are fully aware of the true costs of 

occupying valuable office space. 

 

6.3 Investment Portfolio 

 Continue to implement the Property Review Programme to build on work 

carried out on the Industrial Estates Portfolio and develop a better 

understanding of the financial implications of releasing tenanted estate and 

options for re-investment. 

Page 74



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 29 of 33 

 

 Preparation and implementation of a new strategy in line with the strategies 

and guidance developed by ACES/RICS. 

 Review of funding for repair and maintenance of buildings. 

 

6.4 Non-Tenanted/Vacant Land 

 Simplify dealing with maintenance issues particularly through central pooling 

of budgets. 

 Review of funding for maintenance of land 

 Capital Receipts/Asset Release Programme. 

 

6.5 Growth Agenda 

 

Key Major Projects will continue as high priority to further improve the economy of 

the Borough and reduce deprivation. However, this will be influenced largely by the 

level of internal and external capital funding. We are also exploring new ways of 

working with the private sector to release alternative forms of investment funding. 

Key major projects include: 

 

 Blackburn Town Centre: 

o Blackburn former Market Redevelopment site 

o Waves redevelopment site and Northgate THI 

o Simmons Street/Duke St redevelopment site 

o Tontine Street 

 Strategic Sites: 

o Freckleton St Development Area 

o Furthergate Link Road 

o Whitebirk Strip 

o Ewood 

o Shadsworth Industrial Park 

o Pennine Reach 

 Major Housing Sites: 

o Roe Lee 

o Griffin 

o Whinney Heights 

o Blackamoor Road 

o Moorland High School 

 

 

  

Page 75



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 30 of 33 

 

7. Resources Implications of the AMP 

 

7.1. Capital implications 

Where it aligns with corporate asset objectives, capital provision has been made in 

the Council’s 3 year Capital Programme for approved programmes and projects 

(subject to detailed business cases) to deliver asset change identified in the Capital 

Programme and AMP. 

 

7.2. Recurring (resource/revenue/current) expenditure implications 

Revenue funding necessary to enable delivery of asset management plan objectives 

is identified in directorate business plans and provided through the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy. 

 

7.3. ICT implications 

The purpose of both the Asset Management Plan and the ITC Strategy is to support 

the Council’s corporate objectives and priorities and there are strong corporate links 

between the two. 

 

7.4. Broad investment and divestment strategy for assets 

The Council carries out reviews on an asset category basis and individual reviews 

carried out inform policy decisions on how services wish to base staff for service 

delivery. Progressing investments and disposals will be based on robust business 

cases assessed through the Council’s agreed Property Review Programme.  

 

 

7.5. The overall approach to sourcing and procurement 

The Council adopts the commissioning of projects by the most suitable method using 

partnership support from Capita, individual Consultants, regional and national 

frameworks of consultants and public sector organisations (RICS, OGC). It has 

actively pursued the adoption of framework arrangements for larger construction 

projects by the appointment of key contractors for example in the BSF Programme. 

Use of these will ensure that best practice is adopted in design and construction, 

considering issues of sustainability, energy efficiency and innovative design to 

provide suitable and flexible designs for future use. 

 

 

  

Page 76



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 31 of 33 

 

8. Performance Management for Assets 

 

8.1. Performance measures to be used 

 

 More effective procurement 

 Cost Savings 

 Improved Income Return 

 Reduced office floorspace 

 Reduced responsive maintenance 

 Reduced carbon emissions 

 Customer satisfaction 

 

8.2. The performance management system 

 

The Council is a member of the Investment Property Forum Asset Management 

Planning Forum and the Association of Chief Estates Surveyors Benchmarking Club 

which assist in the production and comparison of national and local indicators. It is 

proposed that the Council continues its membership of such organisations and 

collects relevant property information to enable continued best value comparison, 

particularly with similar local authorities in the North West. This club will also be 

tasked with developing better measurement and assessment techniques and there 

will be a review of local indicators to ensure more meaningful comparisons are 

developed. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 77



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 32 of 33 

 

9. Organisational Arrangements for Asset Management 

 

Governance, Responsibilities and Decision Making 
 
Delivery of the Council’s asset management process fully embodies good practice 
principles: 
 

 Link between corporate and property objectives/priorities. 

 Clear asset related performance measures 

 Full involvement of all key service areas. 

 Working towards One Public Estate, and collaboration and sharing good 
practice with public sector partners 

 Clear distinction between strategic and operational decision making. 

 Clear reporting lines to the corporate centre. 

 Integration of capital strategy and Asset Management plan. 
 
The governance structure to facilitate good asset management is identified on the 
attached document (Appendix 4) entitled “Asset Management Governance”: 
 
The Executive Board:  This is the executive decision making body responsible for 
key decisions made by the Authority. This includes any delegated decisions taken by 
officers following considerations by the AMG. 
 
Asset Management Group:  The Council’s Asset Management Group acts as a 
strategic steering group to ensure the Council reviews all of its land and property 
holdings, and supports the aims and objectives set down in its Terms of Reference. 
The group is chaired by the Head of Property & Development reporting to the 
Director of Regeneration. The AMG’s detailed Terms of Reference are described in 
Appendix 5. 
 
Property and Construction SOG 
The group reviews the current Capita workplans for both Property Management & 

Building Services, which provides the opportunity for work volumes to be adjusted to 

reflect current operational priorities. The group also discusses routine service 

delivery matters, resourcing, performance management, KPI’s, Health & Safety/ 

statutory compliance matters, service improvement and partnership working.  

 
 

Development Growth Board 

In line with the Council’s Corporate Objectives and emerging growth agenda, a 

Development Growth Board has been has been developed to run alongside and 

support the Asset Management Plan.  

 

Page 78



 Asset Management Plan 2015/16 

Page 33 of 33 

 

This has been set up to promote major regeneration and property development 

projects throughout the Borough with a view to contributing to economic growth, 

employment generation and enhanced income from business rates, Council Tax etc. 

The Board comprises elected Members, Chief Officers from the Council and Capita 

Directors. The Board receives reports from an Officer led Pre-Development Board, 

which gives direction to three themed development groups on development priorities 

and implementation of projects: 

 

 Industry and Gateways task group 

 Housing Growth task group, and 

 Town Centres development group 

 

 

10. Strategic Action and Milestones 

 

The main actions that will be taken over the next few years to deliver the AMP are 

described in the Action Plan attached as appendix 2. Some of these will further 

develop the strategy behind the AMP, some will implement asset change and some 

will implement organisational change. 

 

 

Page 79



 

 1  
 

 

 
 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF FINANCE   
 
TO: FINANCE COUNCIL 
 
DATE: 1st March 2021 
 

 

 
SUBJECT:   The Robustness of the 2021/22 Budget and the Recommended 

Level of Reserves 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 places a statutory requirement on the 
Council’s Chief Financial Officer to report on: 
 

a) the robustness of the estimates within the overall budget, and 
b) the adequacy of the proposed level of financial reserves 

 
In setting the Budget for 2021/22, Council is required to have regard to this report when 
making its budget decisions. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
An overall assessment of the proposed 2021/22 budget, and the assumptions on which 
this is based, including assumptions regarding demand for services, cost pressures, 
income collection, inflation and the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, has identified that whilst 
there are risks, the overall budget provisions for the year are considered sufficient to meet 
the Council’s legal responsibilities and obligations.  
 
A review of risks, mitigations and contingencies has also been undertaken alongside the 
review of reserves and provisions.  
 
Finance Council is recommended to consider the assessment by the Director of Finance 
of; 
 

 the robustness of the Revenue Budget and Capital Programme for 2021/22 (as 
outlined in the report of the Executive Member for Finance and Governance) and 
 

 the adequacy and recommended level of proposed financial reserves (detailed in 
Section 5.2 below). 

 
3. RATIONALE 
 

The information provided below is to assist Members in their review of the overall 
Revenue Budget and Capital Programme, and to provide assurance to them that financial 
advice has been provided throughout the budget setting process. 

Page 80

Agenda Item 7



 

 2  
 

 

 
4. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 

The Budget Strategy reflects the corporate priorities of the Council and policy 
requirements at both a corporate and departmental level. 
 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Robustness of the 2021/22 Budget 

 
5.1.1. Budget Strategy 
 
The Council’s overall framework for its medium term budget is contained within the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).  
 
Development of the medium term strategy has been frustrated, as due to the pressures 
of the pandemic, little movement has been made by the Government to progress their 
intention to significantly change the way in which Councils are funded. Once again, local 
government has only been provided with a one year settlement for 2021/22, with 
significant uncertainty regarding the income streams in future years.  
 
Although the Government announced back in 2017/18 that consultations would be 
undertaken to progress local government funding reform, these have been slow to 
advance. The areas they have specifically stated will be subject to consultation and 
review include;  
 

 a Fair Funding Review – resulting in the redistribution of funding across local 
government 

 a review of a future Business Rates Retention mechanism  

 a review of the provision and funding of Social Care  

To date, all of these reviews remain outstanding. 

As such, whilst the MTFS would normally cover the 3 year period beyond the end of the 
budget year, i.e. providing a strategy through to 2024/25, as for the MTFS reports 
presented to Finance Council since 2017, this MTFS is limited to 2 rather than 3 additional 
years, i.e. to 2023/24, given the lack of certainty over future funding and funding 
mechanisms; we must now wait until clarity is provided on the changes to the funding 
framework in order to provide more meaningful forecasts.  

The strategy presented reflects Council-wide involvement across the portfolios and 
departments from both Members and Officers, as it is based on an integrated approach 
to the preparation of capital and revenue plans and the associated strategies of managing 
risk and maintaining effective internal control; this approach ensures strong financial 
management and governance. 
 
 
5.1.2 Budget and Tax Setting Process 
 
The annual budget preparation and tax setting process involves the development of 
robust medium term revenue forecasts and capital plans. In any financial year, the level 
of Government funding, additional cost pressures (including inflation, service specific 

Page 81



 

 3  
 

pressures and areas of investment and growth), together with an increasing demand for 
services, necessitates a re-appraisal of service delivery and identification of efficiency 
savings to address any funding shortfall in order to deliver a balanced budget.  The 
Budget Strategy and proposals submitted have been formulated to reflect these issues. 
This year we also have to consider the ongoing response to and future recovery from the 
effects of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Throughout the formulation of the Budget Strategy, Portfolio Executive Members have 
been advised by the Chief Executive and Directors in relation to the operational 
requirements around policy and legislative initiatives.  Likewise, the Director of Finance 
and senior finance representatives have advised on financial implications, and provided 
comprehensive input to demonstrate financial viability throughout the process. In doing 
so, and to ensure the robustness of the budget and the budget setting process, we have 
been mindful of; 
 

 Availability of reliable information;  
 we have sought to ensure that the budget is based on the most up-to-date and 

realistic assumptions (for example Government and Bank of England forecasts 
for pay and price increases and interest rate movements);  

 we have incorporated information provided by Government on funding, as 
detailed within the one-year, 2021/22 Final Local Government Finance 
Settlement, which was laid before Parliament on 10th February 2021;  

 we have utilised demographic and trend data to project future levels of demand, 
given that demand in respect of adult social care and children’s services are 
the biggest cost pressures and present the greatest financial risk to the Council 
at present; 

 we have reviewed and realigned portfolio budgets at the lowest transactional 
level within overall portfolio cash limits, to reflect changes over time to ensure 
budgets are broadly in line with current levels of income and expenditure; 

 we have considered the financial consequences of the ongoing Covid-19 
pandemic and the additional funding currently made available by government.  
 

 Council’s guidance and strategy;  
 the Council’s Constitution which contains a clear Budget and Policy framework 
 the Council’s Budget Strategy and approach to budget setting which is clearly 

defined and communicated 
 consultation with residents, partners and businesses within the Borough and 

targeted engagement with service users. Over the year this has included 
consultation on; 

 support for community resilience activities and feedback on the Help 
Hub and feedback on our ‘Picture This’ communications campaign; 

 a Staff Security Awareness Questionnaire;  
 a National Highways and Transport Survey;  
 a Waste and Recycling Customer Panel Survey and  
 the Local Plan - Residents Survey  

 Corporate approach and integration;  
 service departments have identified budget pressures and risks throughout the 

course of the year, not only in relation to their continued response to Covid-19 
in 2021/22 and beyond, but also in respect of delivering their ‘business as 
usual’ service plans. These have been developed throughout the course of 
2020/21 in readiness for 2021/22, with regular monitoring and progress 

Page 82



 

 4  
 

reporting by Officers at Management Board, and at Policy Development 
Sessions (PDS) with Portfolio Executive Members  

 the system of controllable budgets for each Portfolio provides a transparent and 
accountable arrangement to budget setting; consideration is given to both 
service specific and corporate cost pressures when determining the allocated 
cash limit and each Portfolio is required to formulate a strategy to deliver 
savings and ensure a balanced budget 

 the Council continues to closely monitor and instigate early action to meet both 
its immediate and medium term financial challenges. This method has been 
effective in providing a level of resilience to address the Government’s funding 
reductions over the period to date. Despite the redirection of resources and 
efforts to focus on the council’s response to the pandemic, the approach has 
been no different in addressing the forecast budget gap for 2021/22 of £2.784 
million that was presented to Finance Council in February 2020; through a 
combination of increases in income and cost reductions, that are contained 
within the proposals presented to Finance Council tonight, the forecast gap has 
been closed. 

 

 Flexibility;  
 mechanisms to review options for service delivery are linked into the budget 

process  
 flexibility to free up resources to deliver service improvement and to deliver the 

Council’s priorities 
 flexibility in budget management as included within the Council’s Constitution 

 
5.1.3 Capital Programme  
 
Affordability of capital expenditure plans is important in determining the overall robustness 
of the budget and adequacy of reserves to deal with potential variations.  
 
The proposed Capital Programme for 2021 to 2024 of £38.797 million is included within 
the report from the Executive Member for Finance and Governance. This predominantly 
comprises of existing commitments including investment in: 

 our local transport plan 

 aids and adaptations through provision of disabled facilities grants 

 regeneration of the borough, including our scheme at Blakey Moor to enhance the 
town centre in Blackburn and support the improvement of leisure facilities and a 
night time economy and Blackburn town centre redevelopment of the former 
Thwaites site 

 facilitating housing and business growth 

 support of continued investment in IT services to underpin our ‘digital first’ 
approach to delivering efficiencies and in turn, cash savings 

 support of our accommodation review which again will drive efficiencies and 
savings through rationalisation and a more cost effective use of space. 

 the existing schemes within the schools capital programme and creation of 
additional school places required within the Borough 

Allocations are included for potential investment in existing assets.  

Page 83



 

 5  
 

Before projects are allocated funding however, they are subject to a rigorous business 
case approval process and detailed Member reports are produced in line with the 
Council’s financial procedures as required.  
 
These schemes will require strong project management and effective monitoring to 
ensure they are achieved on time and within budget. Failure to deliver against budget on 
such large schemes could lead to potential overspends which could impact on the overall 
future capital programme, as additional costs could put pressure on the funding available 
for delivery of other schemes within the programme. To mitigate this risk, sound systems 
of internal control are in place with project boards established to provide the necessary 
governance structure, ensuring appropriate and timely reporting mechanisms. 
 
5.1.4 In year financial Monitoring Process 
 
The Council continuously seeks to strengthen its financial processes and controls. This 
approach, combined with existing effective arrangements, will provide a strong foundation 
enabling Members and Officers to continue to deliver the demanding targets and plans 
set within the Budget Strategy and the challenges identified for future years. In any budget 
however there are likely to be risks. In year financial monitoring processes are in place to 
mitigate these; 
 

 overall budget monitoring takes place throughout the year at both Portfolio and 
Executive Board level to identify potential areas of pressure and to develop and 
implement corrective action. This in itself provides a strong control environment and 
is commensurate with sound corporate governance.  

 

 at the Management Board meetings, the Chief Executive and Directors review the 
Councils’ overall financial position alongside progress made in delivering savings, 
identification of new and emerging financial pressures, as well as considering the 
impact of changes in the local government financial landscape 

 

 the Policy & Corporate Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee meets regularly 
with the Executive Member for Finance and Governance, along with the Director of 
Finance, to review the Council’s budget position and to challenge delivery and 
performance across the portfolio and corporate budgets. 

 

 other specific Boards and Groups such as the Growth Board, the Modern Working 
Design Authority, the Children's Corporate Support & Challenge Board and the 
Treasury Management Group, who each meet regularly to oversee the activities within 
their specific remit.  

 

 the financial model that underpins the MTFS is subject to continuous review 
throughout the year to enhance forward planning, policy prioritisation, resource 
allocation and assess opportunities to invest in achieving future efficiency savings. 
The assumptions, variables and information within the model are regularly updated to 
ascertain the impact of known changes (e.g. legislative changes such as the National 
Living Wage), potential changes (such as adjustments to government funding and 
precept levels), and also for the refinement of variables (such as inflation, interest 
rates and employers pension rates) in light of emerging information. 

 

 the Council adopts a risk based approach to financial management which provides 
added value to the governance process and identifies risks associated with both the 
revenue and capital programme. The provision of sufficient levels of Unallocated 

Page 84



 

 6  
 

Reserves, and for specific contingencies within the budget, mitigates against the 
financial risks from unforeseen financial issues so that these can be addressed in a 
responsive and controlled manner. As part of its approach to risk management the 
Council also makes provision for Earmarked Reserves, i.e. funding reserved to 
address specific future needs. 

 
5.1.5 Risk 
 
Ultimately the robustness of the budget is dependent on the strength of the arrangements 
in place to deliver the component parts and to manage the associated risks of these.  
 
It must be recognised that given: 

1. the significant reduction in resources over the past decade of austerity, and the 
resulting contraction and reconfiguration of the organisation and its services, 
together with  

2. the public health, social, economic and financial impact of the global Covid-19 
pandemic, both now and in the future,  

 
the Council faces significant risks which impact upon the financial estimates included in 
this budget.  
 
These risks, many of which have been exacerbated by the effects of the Covid-19 
pandemic, include:  
 

 potential increase in demand for services from residents, particularly social care 
services for the most vulnerable, which have been exacerbated by reductions in 
public sector expenditure in other areas such as the NHS and as a result of Welfare 
Reform,  

 the ability to raise and collect revenue from taxes (both Business Rates and 
Council Tax), and from sales, fees and charges  

 increases in the number of residents claiming Council Tax Support 

 under-achievement against income targets given the exposure to external factors, 
principally stemming from the Covid-19 crisis, the impact of any resulting economic 
downturn and in any resulting change in consumer demand 

 changes in statutory and legislative requirements, including employment law 

 changes by government in funding  

 contractual obligations 

 the challenging timescales in which to deliver the reductions required 

 potential loss of skilled and experienced staff 

 the development of free schools and academies and further education reforms 

Whilst the 4 year settlement, which covered the period 2016/17 to 2019/20, provided 
some stability to assist in financial planning, uncertainty has prevailed since 2020/21 with 
regards to the Government’s plans for, and impact of; 

 the development and implementation of a Business Rates Retention Scheme,  

 the development and implementation of a new Fair Funding formula,  

 the future of Government grant funding including Public Health Grant, Improved 
Better Care Fund and Social Care Grant 

 plans for integration of the NHS and adult social care  

Page 85



 

 7  
 

 the impact of Brexit, including the potential change to former EU funding streams 
linked to the government’s ‘levelling up’ agenda and proposed future shared 
prosperity funds 

 devolution and potential local government reorganisation  
 

The fact we have only received a one year settlement has exacerbated the uncertainty 
and the risk in our financial planning beyond 2021/22, and indeed in the absence of any 
figures, assumptions or framework, it has been almost impossible to prepare a credible 
financial strategy for the medium term with any degree of confidence in the underlying 
assumptions.  
 
However, the approaches outlined in this paper in relation to risk management, scrutiny, 
continuous monitoring of both the current and forecast financial position, as well as 
regular modelling through the MTFS of the financial impact of changes in the external 
environment, should mitigate these risks; by identifying the risks and providing an 
assessment of exposure, magnitude and potential financial impact, plans can be 
developed and implemented to address them. Therefore this Budget Strategy, whilst 
undoubtedly challenging, is achievable with strong project and risk management and with 
effective financial control.  

5.2 Adequacy of Proposed Financial Reserves 

 
Reserves are an essential part of good financial management; they help the Council to 
cope with unpredictable financial pressures, help to smooth the impact of known spending 
requirements over time and help to fund any in-year overspends.  
 
There is no set formula for deciding an appropriate, or required, level of reserves and 
every Council is free to determine the level they hold; holding a low level of reserves offers 
little resilience to financial shocks and sustained financial challenges, however if reserves 
are too high, there may be opportunity costs of holding these, resulting in a lack of 
investment in services that could provide better outcomes for residents, and/or increased 
savings, and/or revenue generation. 
 
The diminishing level of reserves, and the risks associated with this, have been widely 
reported across the Council over the past few years, a position that has arisen due to the 
ongoing impact of the Government’s austerity programme since 2010/11.  As funding 
levels have continued to reduce, the Council has had to utilise reserves to cover any 
shortfalls in-year to bridge the gap whilst cost and service reductions have been 
implemented to address the imbalance. 
 
This position was clear in the recent publication of the CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy) Resilience Indicators, released on 19th February 2021. These 
indicators aim to show the level of financial resilience of each local authority across 
England, of which several of the measures relate to the level of reserves. As at 31st March 
2020, when compared to all other 55 Unitary Authorities, Blackburn with Darwen had the 
13th lowest level of reserves as a percentage net of revenue expenditure. Whilst this is 
an improvement in the ranking, compared to 5th position in the figures published in the 
previous year, these are still low compared to most other authorities delivering the same 
services. Reductions in funding, coupled with rising demand for services due to high 
levels of deprivation, have meant that reserves have been utilised in order to deliver 
services.   
  

Page 86



 

 8  
 

As such the level, purpose and planned use of reserves has been considered very 
carefully in developing the MTFS and the annual budget, however the conclusion reached 
is that the additional funding provided in 2020/21 and Government’s ongoing support to 
assist in meeting the costs and losses of income due to Covid-19, gives reassurance that 
the authority will able to maintain its reserves going forward. In addition, the Government’s 
repeated commitments to implementing a Fair Funding formula, a new Business Rates 
Retention system, to review the provision and funding of social care, and importantly for 
Blackburn with Darwen, to ensure a ‘levelling up’ across the country for future years, also 
provides some comfort that the pressures on reserves that have been felt over the last 
10 years will ease.    

5.2.1 Unallocated Reserve 

 
A General or Unallocated Reserve has been established within the budget to provide a 
contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies and to meet 
potential, future liabilities. 
 
The calculation to support the 2021/22 budget is detailed at Appendix A. This is based 
on a framework that has been developed to identify areas of risk, an estimate of their 
financial value and an assessed level of that risk coming to fruition. This process produces 
a value from which a risk assessed, minimum level of Unallocated Reserves can be 
determined. The calculation also allows for a further escalation of the current pressures 
on the Council’s finances e.g. from additional costs and income losses in respect of Covid-
19, both in the short and medium term, pressures in demand for social care, above and 
beyond those included within the portfolio cash limited budgets, and those included within 
Earmarked Reserves, e.g. the Earmarked Demand Reserve.  
 
The sensitivity and risk analysis undertaken has identified that the minimum level of 
General Reserves required should be increased from the current level of £4.0million to 
£6.0million, to provide financial resilience in the event of unexpected spending 
pressures, particularly in light of the unknown financial consequences of Covid-19.  

5.2.2 Earmarked Reserves and Provisions 

 
Earmarked Reserves are established to meet known or expected future liabilities where 
it is difficult to be specific about the exact financial amount of liability.  
 
There are several categories of Earmarked reserves that the Council holds; 

 sums set aside for specific significant schemes or projects such as the revenue 
costs of implementation of the digital programme and those to support business 
growth 

 reserves to fund the cost of workforce reviews, reorganisation and the part year 
effect of delivering savings 

 reserves specifically retained for service departments for example the Future 
Demand Reserve in respect of adult social care and children’s services 

 School balances 
 
In 2021/22 we have introduced a further category of Earmarked reserves to hold the 
Government funding provided in both 2020/21 and 2021/22 to assist in addressing the 
additional costs and losses of income incurred in responding to the current and ongoing 
pressures of Covid-19, including planning for eventual recovery for our residents, 
communities and economy in the coming years; these reserves will be drawn down, as 

Page 87



 

 9  
 

required, to meet the ongoing direct and indirect costs of the pandemic over the short and 
medium term. 
  
The current forecast for Earmarked reserves at 31st March 2021 comprises; 

 
£36.325 million - total reserves of Council Use 
 
£9.448 million – Other reserves (including Schools) 

 
A full breakdown of the Earmarked Reserves is attached at Appendix B  
 
A review of the Earmarked Reserves held by the Council has also been undertaken to 
establish the purpose of the reserves and the likely timescale for their use. 
 

 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

This report is a requirement under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 
7. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

There are no resource implications as a direct consequence of this report 
 

8. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

There are no equality implications as a direct consequence of this report 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 

None applicable to this report 
 

 

Contact Officer:  Louise Mattinson, Director of Finance   
 
Date:     1st March 2021 
 
Background Papers: Budget Papers elsewhere on this agenda 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



 

 10  
 

APPENDIX A 
 

GENERAL FUND UNALLOCATED RESERVES 
 

General reserves are available to assist as working balances to help cushion the impact of uneven 
cash flows, and as a contingency against unexpected events or emergencies.  They can also 
serve to provide short term funding in advance of funding allocations. The table below identifies 
a number of issues that pose risks against the budget.  These figures have then been scaled back 
by a factor of 50% as it is unlikely that all these events would occur, or indeed happen at the same 
time. 
 
 

Risk Event  £ 000’s 
 

General budget risks 

 Demand pressures – significant parts of the Council’s budget, particularly in 
Adults and Children’s Social Care, are ‘demand led’ and can create 
significant demands for increased expenditure during the year 

 Overspend of budgets within service areas 

 Service specific cost increases e.g. large scale increases in gas and 
electricity, waste disposal, social care  

 Inflationary increases above those forecast which may arise due to the 
uncertainty of Brexit  

 Inflation cannot be contained within existing budgets 
 

3,000 

Savings  
Whilst the Council holds a ‘Savings - Part Year Effect Reserve’ to mitigate against 
the adverse financial impact arising from potential slippage in the delivery of any 
required savings programmes, and monitors and manages achievement of the these 
programmes through budget management at Director, Executive Member and 
Executive Board level, non-delivery or significant slippage presents a risk  

1,250 

 
Risk of reduced revenues from rents, fees and charges  
In addressing the reductions in funding, the Council has sought to maximise all 
available income streams to reduce the budget gap. Given the economic climate and 
residents and/or businesses may choose not to use council income generating 
services, along with the risk that as schools convert to Academies they will not 
require support from the Council, income streams could be at risk.    

 
500 

 
Interest rates  
Although interest rates have been historically low for several years, the difficulties in 
the global economy expose the UK to potential, but unexpected, interest rate 
changes. As such there is a risk that in relation to borrowing, rates are understated 
and interest receivable estimates are overstated.  
 

 
100 

Emergencies 
The Council is required to maintain provision to meet the cost of emergencies that 
cannot be met from budgets or by insurance cover. Significant costs on emergencies 
are met by Central Government under the “Bellwin” scheme but these are only 
triggered once the Council’s expenditure has exceeded a pre-determined limit (0.1% 
of the revenue budget). Only 85% of the costs above this limit are then covered. 
  
 
 

250 

  

Page 89



 

 11  
 

Risk Event 
 
Contingent liabilities 
The Council does not maintain a ‘general’ contingency within its revenue budget but 
relies on in-year savings and balances to meet any unexpected demands. 
Unexpected demands, particularly those that result from a legal decision, a change 
in government legislation or a determination in government legislation, could present 
a risk to the Council’s finances. 
 

£ 000’s 
 

1,500 

Welfare Reform and Universal Credit 
The impact of the changes on the Council’s financial position are difficult to predict 
and therefore as the reforms and changes are rolled out, there is a risk of increase 
in demand for services from those hardest hit financially. The Council may well feel 
further impact from the Universal Credit reforms, as the number in receipt of this 
benefit is expected to increase over time, not just in line with the flow of residents 
moving on to UC from other legacy benefits, but due to the increase in the number 
of residents claiming UC as the economy recovers from the pandemic.  
 

500 

Litigation Claims 
As the Council faces reductions in resources for future provision of services there is 
an increased risk of litigation, albeit that robust risk assessment procedures and 
sufficient insurance policies are in place.   
 

400 

Risk of  Business Rates and Council Tax collection shortfalls 
The risk of a reduction in collection rates;  

 in Business Rates - due to outstanding and potential future rating appeals 
and due to the economic climate 

 in Council Tax – due to the economic climate and the impact of Universal 
Credit on claimants who may not as readily claim Council Tax Support, as 
the usual referral route to this, i.e. through Housing Benefit claims, is no 
longer applicable to this group of individuals  

 
Impact of Covid-19 
Additional costs, income losses and increases in demand for services over the short 
to medium term – financial risks may emanate from a further spike, if vaccinations 
are unable to address mutations in the virus and the current epidemic continues, the 
unknown impacts of long-Covid. 
 

500 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4,000 

SUBTOTAL 12,000 

Adjustment to reflect the unlikely probability that all of these events take place 
simultaneously (50% likelihood) 

- 6,000 

 
Recommended minimum level of Balances 

 
6,000 

 

 2021/22 
£’000 

2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

Projected level of balances at start of each year 
 
Budget proposals – contributions from (-) or to (+) 
balances 
 
Balances estimated at end of each year 

8,042 
 

52 
 
 

8,094 
 

*8,094 
 
0 
 
 

*8,094 
 

*8,094 
 
0 
 
 

*8,094 
 

 
* as noted in Appendix D of the Revenue Budget 2021/22, Medium Term Financial Strategy and 
Capital Programme 2021-2024 Report, the budget gaps of £5.6m in 2022/23 and £8.3m in 

Page 90



 

 12  
 

2023/24 do not reflect the impact the Government’s intention to change how local government is 
funded, and the distribution of this funding, specifically, Business Rates Retention and the future 
tariff and top-up system, the implementation of the Fair Funding Review, the future funding of 
adult social care and the potential integration of social care with health. Nor do they include any 
resultant savings required to ensure expenditure is commensurate with the funding available to 
the Council. 
 
Until more detail is available on these proposals, and until this can be modelled to ascertain the 
impact on Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council, income and expenditure streams included in 
the MTFS are based on the best information available, and on a suite of conservative 
assumptions; it is assumed that any short term shortfalls with be addressed through the 
application of both ear-marked reserves and through the unallocated, general reserve, the 
allocation of which will be determined over the course of 2021/22 and will be reported to Council.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



 

 13  
 

APPENDIX B 
EARMARKED RESERVES  

The Council has a number of reserves which have been earmarked for specific purposes.  These 
reserves are listed below, together with the purpose of the reserve and the amounts. 
 

Name Purpose Balances 
estimated at 31 

March 2021 

 
£ 000’s 

Budget 
proposals – 

contributions 
from (-) or to 
(+) reserves 

£ 000’s 

Balances 
estimated at 
31 Mar 2022 

 
£ 000’s 

Reserves held for discretionary use by the Council    

Specific project/ 
expenditure 
reserves 

Revenue savings that have been 
earmarked for specific projects or 
purposes in future years 

10,700 2,126 12,826 

Business Rates 
Section 31 Grant  

Compensation for lost Business 
Rates income 

8,413 (8,413) 0 

Covid-19 Grant Support for the additional costs / 
loss of income due to the 
pandemic 

8,354 5,125 13,479 

Support for 
Future 
Redundancy 
Costs  

This reserve is to support future 
remodelling of services 

279 0 279 

Part Year Effect 
of Future Savings 
Plans 

This reserve is to support the 
delivery of future budget 
reductions 

2,187 0 2,187 

Support for 
Future Cost 
Pressures 

This reserve is to support 
unexpected cost pressures and/or 
income losses  

1,000 0 1,000 

Digital 
Programme 

This reserve is to meet the costs 
and requirements of the Digital 
Programme  

868 0 868 

Reserves held for specified (non-discretionary) 
purposes 

31,801 (1,162) 30,639 

Maintenance of 
Wainwright 
Bridge 

This reserve is the result of a 
contribution from Network Rail as 
maintenance of the Wainwright 
Bridge is the responsibility of the 
Council – the reserve will support 
the costs of once ongoing 
maintenance liabilities as they 
arise 

268 (240) 28 

Maintenance of 
Witton Park 3G 
Pitches 

The reserve has been set aside 
as a result of  conditions imposed 
by the grant funding body in 
respect of the associated capital 
scheme  

75 50 125 

Leisure 
Equipment 

The reserve has been set aside to 
fund future equipment 
maintenance 

30 30 60 

S106 income 
(under the 1990 
Town and 
Country Planning 
Act) 

Developers’ contributions to be 
applied to enhance or maintain 
infrastructure and facilities 3,163 (3,141) 22 

Highways Claims This reserve is required to support 
anticipated future highway claims 
in respect of current and previous 
years 

300 0 300 

Page 92



 

 14  
 

Name Purpose Balances 
estimated at 31 

March 2021 

 
£ 000’s 

Budget 
proposals – 

contributions 
from (-) or to 
(+) reserves 

£ 000’s 

Balances 
estimated at 
31 Mar 2022 

 
£ 000’s 

Contingent 
liabilities – MMI 
scheme of 
arrangement 

Following the liquidation of 
Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) 
in 1992, the Council will be liable 
for a share of claim liabilities in the 
event of an insolvent run-off. 

250 0 250 

Landfill Sites 
Remediation 
Costs 

This reserve was established 
using funds from a former 
provision in order to supplement 
ongoing capital expenditure 
resources 

400 0 400 

Arts Acquisition 
Fund 

This fund was established so that 
new pieces of art can be 
purchased as and when they 
become available 

17 0 17 

Winifred Ferrier 
Bequest 

The money was bequeathed to 
the Council to enable the 
purchase and exhibiting of items 
associated with the life of 
Kathleen Ferrier 

21 0 21 

 
TOTAL RESERVES FOR COUNCIL USE 
 

 
36,325 

 

 
(4,463) 

 

 
31,862 

 

Reserves held in respect of joint arrangements and 
charitable bodies 

   

Darwen Market 
Traders 

Funds held by the Council on 
behalf of Darwen Market Traders’ 
Association 

2 0 2 

Joint Building 
Control Account 

Accumulated surpluses in relation 
to the Joint Building Control 
agreement 

131 0 131 

Turton Tower 
Charity 

Funds held by the Council in its 
role as trustee for the charity 

66 0 66 

Local 
Safeguarding 
Children’s Board 
Fund 

This fund was established from 
specific contributions to be used 
to support the LSCB 

135 0 135 

Reserves held in relation to schools    

Dedicated 
Schools Grant - 
surplus 

DSG received but not yet 
deployed to meet eligible 
expenditure  

3,840 0 3,840 

LMS Schools 
balances 

Funds held by schools under a 
scheme of delegation 

*5,274 0 *5,274 

TOTAL OTHER RESERVES 9,448 0 9,448 

 
 
*use of reserves to be determined through the Schools’ Forum  
 

 

Page 93



 

1 

 

 

 

 
REPORT OF:  EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND 

GOVERNANCE,  
 ON BEHALF OF THE LABOUR GROUP  

 
TO: FINANCE COUNCIL  
 
DATE: 1st March 2021  
 

 
PORTFOLIOS AFFECTED:  ALL  
 
WARDS AFFECTED:   ALL  
 
 

SUBJECT: Revenue Budget 2021/22, Medium Term Financial Strategy and 
                  Capital Programme 2021-2024 
 
 

1. PURPOSE 
 

To recommend to Finance Council the Budget Strategy and proposals for the Revenue 
Budget 2021/22, together with the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and Capital 
Programme for 2021-2024.  
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

To approve the proposals for the Revenue Budget for the financial year 2021/22 as 
outlined in this report and specifically; 

2.1 To approve an increase in Council Tax rates of 1.99% (i.e. a weekly increase of 
£0.60 for Band D Council Tax payers and of £0.40 for Band A Council Tax payers); 

2.2  To approve an additional increase in Council Tax rates of 2.0% to meet the costs of 
Adult Social Care, as provided for in central government guidance and the 
associated calculation of Local Authority Core Spending Power, (i.e. a weekly 
increase of £0.60 for Band D Council Tax payers and of £0.40 for Band A Council 
Tax payers); 

 
2.3 To note the individual portfolio controllable budgets for 2021/22 as set out in 

Appendix A; 

2.4 To note the financial risks and uncertainty arising from the ongoing impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic both within the 2021/22 budget presented, and the MTFS 
covering the period through to 2024; 

2.5 To note the significant risks and uncertainty that underpin the assumptions 
contained within the MTFS for the financial years 2022/23 and 2023/24, due to the 
lack of information that is yet to be provided by central Government including;  

 the future mechanism for Business Rates Retention,  

 the Fair Funding Review and any resulting redistribution of resource that 
may follow,  

Page 94

Agenda Item 8



 

2 

 

 the Government’s much delayed plans to address the future of social care, 
which are intrinsically linked to the future plans for the integration of health 
and adult social care and the potential changes in associated funding 
streams 

 
2.6 To approve the utilisation of the Earmarked Reserves, as detailed in the 

Robustness of the 2021/22 Budget and the Recommended Level of Reserves 
Report;  

2.7 To delegate authority for the agreement of hourly rates and contract changes for 
social care providers for 2021/22, arising from the impact of the increase in the 
National Living Wage, to the Executive Member for Adult Services and Prevention, 
in consultation with the Executive Member for Finance and Governance, the 
Director of Finance and the Strategic Director for Adults and Health;  

 
2.8 To approve the proposals for the Capital Programme for the period 2021-2024 as 

outlined in Appendix C and Section 8 of this report;   

2.9 To approve the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-2024, as per Appendix 
D of this report;  

2.10 To approve, subject to recommendation 2.1 and 2.2 outlined above, the consequent 
Council Tax levels detailed in the formal resolution within the report from the 
Director of Finance;  

2.11 To agree that the current Local Council Tax Support Scheme remains unchanged 
for 2021/22 as per section 5.4.3;  

2.12 In exercising the flexibility given by central government to increase the premium 
charge on empty properties, to note the decision taken at Finance Council in 
February 2019 to increase the premium charge on empty properties for those 
which have been vacant for ten years or more to 300% with effect from 1st April 
2021;  

 
2.13 To approve the Pay Policy Statement prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011, to have effect for the year 
2021/22 unless replaced or varied by the Council, as set out in Appendix E. 

 
 

3. BACKGROUND 
 

The programme of austerity that began in 2010/11, signalled the start of an 
unprecedented level of financial challenges across the public sector which has led to 
significant cuts across many areas. As previously reported, the borough has experienced 
one of the largest funding reductions of all authorities in the country in the period since 
then, despite being ranked as 9th in a list of the most deprived local authorities in the 
country. 
 
Over the past year the position has become even more challenging in having to respond 
from a difficult financial base to the Covid-19 pandemic. In the early stages of the 
pandemic, as costs spiralled and losses of income escalated, it appeared highly likely 
that without additional Government support the Council would be unable to manage 
within the existing resources available, and as such a Section 114 notice was a very real 
prospect. However over the course of 2020/21, additional funding was provided to assist 

Page 95



 

3 

 

in meeting the costs of Covid-19 and some of the losses incurred in sales, fees and 
charges, albeit drip fed through, which alleviated the financial risk as the year 
progressed. 
 
One of the key reasons that a Section 114 seemed likely was due to the low level of 
reserves that the Council holds; the extreme financial challenges throughout the period of 
austerity, coupled with the rising demand for services due to high levels of deprivation, 
have meant that reserves have been utilised in order to deliver services.  As at 31st 
March 2020, when compared to all other 55 Unitary Authorities, Blackburn with Darwen 
had the 13th lowest level of reserves as a percentage net of revenue expenditure. 
 
Since 2010, in balancing the Council’s finances to meet the financial challenges, difficult 
decisions have had to be made;  

 some services have been curtailed, and in some instances have had to cease,  

 staff have been made redundant and  

 contributions to partnership and contract working have had to be scaled back. 

Whilst Finance Council approved a balanced budget for 2020/21 and a Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the period through to 2022/23 back in February 2020, this 
was predicated on some very challenging assumptions including; 

 delivery of the remaining savings projects in scope and agreed at that date 

 development of a further savings programme in order to address the projected 
budget gap for 2021/22 

 a general increase in Council Tax in each year covered by the strategy 

 absorption of inflationary, non-pay increases, across all budgets 

The MTFS approved by Finance Council in February 2020 identified a budget gap of 
£2.784 million for 2021/22 based on the financial data and demand information available 
at that time. However as 2020/21 has progressed, the position has developed and the 
assumptions have been updated due to the impact of the pandemic locally, nationally 
and globally, and following the release of the Final Local Government Financial 
Settlement on 10th February 2021. 

Details of the movement in the Budget Gap for 2021/22 are set out in Appendix B; this 
reflects changes in funding and income, in cost pressures and key assumptions around 
inflation and collection rates for Business Rates and Council Tax for example. Some of 
these variations are recurring and have been carried forward into the baseline of the 
MTFS for 2022/23 and beyond, however some these are non-recurring, particularly in 
respect of additional funding, resulting in ‘one-off’ improvements in the 2021/22 position 
which will have to be addressed over the course of the financial year to balance the 
MTFS going forward through further savings, re-prioritisation of resources and from 
additional income.  

The assumptions for 2021/22 contained within the MTFS back in February 2020 were 
heavily caveated given the uncertainty of the future Local Government funding regime. 
The Government has for several years continued to state its intention to fundamentally 
change the way in which Councils are funded through; 

 a complete review and reset of the funding requirements of each council area 
through a “Fair Funding” review,  

 a move to 75% Business Rates Retention,  
 the withdrawal of Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 
 the withdrawal of some other government grants (as yet to be determined) and  

Page 96



 

4 

 

 a review of the funding of Adult Social Care.  

Whilst the demands of Brexit, a change in Prime Minister in July 2019, and a ‘snap’ 
general election in December 2019, brought a halt to the development of any of these 
changes in 2019/20, Covid-19 has likewise stalled their progression in 2020/21 and the 
future structure of local government finance remains as uncertain as ever.  

As reported to Finance Council in each of the past 3 years, our MTFS would normally 
extend for a period of 3 years beyond the end of the budget year, i.e. in this case, 
through to 2024/25, however given that the Government has only provided a 1 year 
settlement, and has still not shared proposals for their intended approach for calculating 
any future local government finance settlements, the future funding arrangements 
beyond 2021/22 are impossible to plan for with any certainty. Therefore in preparing this 
MTFS we have focused on the year 2021/22 until more clarity is provided over the next 
12 months.  

Whilst we have included figures for 2022/23 and 2023/24 within this report, these are 
largely based on the continuation of current, recurring funding streams, together with 
estimates of the future cost of existing services and the financial impact of emerging cost 
pressures, all of which are detailed in Appendix D. We will therefore update Council on 
any changes to these assumptions as further information is provided to us over the 
course of 2021/22. 

This paper sets out the Labour Group’s proposed Revenue Budget, Capital Programme 
and associated Council Tax level for 2021/22 together with the MTFS for the period 
2021-2024, based on a review of the existing assumptions and data to reflect the most 
current information available. 

4. RATIONALE 
 
It is a statutory obligation for the Council to set a balanced Revenue Budget for the 
financial year 2021/22. 
 
The key principles upon which both the Budget and the MTFS are based are: 

 to balance the Council’s budgets in each year of the MTFS period, ensuring 
that the Council has a sustainable and robust financial position in future years 

 resourcing of services in line with statutory requirements and Council priorities, 
focusing on customer care and quality services against a backdrop of reducing 
resources 

 planning for and managing change, whether related to need, demand for 
services, technological advances, legislation, local aspirations or resource 
allocation 

 introducing a digital first approach to services whilst providing assistance and 
signposting to those who need it 

 embedding a culture of value for money and efficiency savings (cashable and 
non-cashable) in all activities 

 devolved budget management to Executive Members (with portfolio) and 
Directors  

 balancing Council Tax increases with funding cuts and budget pressures  

 maximising resources whether through grants, creating additional income or 
partnering opportunities 

 ensuring significant risks are identified and mitigated where possible 

 ensuring financial reserves reflect levels of business risk 

 optimising capital spending freedoms 
Page 97



 

5 

 

 

 

5. KEY ISSUES – RESOURCES 
 

5.1    Local Government Finance Settlement. 
 
The Local Government Finance Settlement sets out the amount of central Government 
funding that is available to each Council; the Provisional Local Government Finance 
settlement was issued on 17th December 2020 and the Final Settlement, was laid before 
Parliament on 10th February 2021. 

 
5.2  Core Spending Power 
 
The Core Spending Power figure is provided to us by the Government as part of the 
Finance Settlement; it is a Government calculation and is an estimate of the core 
revenue funding available for local authority services, including Council Tax and locally 
retained Business Rates, with estimates of Council Tax income based on the 
Government’s assumption that councils will apply the maximum increases available to 
them for the year ahead;  
 

Core Spending Power 2020/21 2021/22 Change Who Pays 

 £’m £’m £’m 
Incr/(Decr)  

 

Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) 
(predominantly business rates funding) 

58.1 58.2 0.1 Govt 

Council Tax Requirement 55.9 59.6 3.7 CT Payers 

Improved Better Care Fund  8.1 8.1 - Govt 

Social Care Support Grant 4.9 6.6 1.7 Govt 

New Homes Bonus 1.0 0.8 (0.2) Govt 

Lower Tier Services Grant - 0.3 0.3 Govt 

Compensation for under-indexing the business 
rates multiplier 

1.8 2.3 0.5  
Govt 

Total 129.8 135.9 6.1  

 
The Government’s calculation does not make any allowances for inflation, demand or 
cost pressures which are expected to be self-funded by the Council. The figure shows 
that whilst Government support has increased by £6.1m, with some additional funding to 
provide support for both adults and children’s social care pressures and through 
increased business rates income, £3.7m must still be raised from Council Tax Payers to 
meet the Government’s published spending power figure for Blackburn with Darwen. 
 
The figures above assume the Council will apply both a general council tax increase of 
1.99% and the maximum permissible 3% precept in respect of adult social care; however 
the recommendation made to Finance Council is to approve a general increase of 1.99% 
and an adult social care precept of 2%, in recognition of the financial challenges that our 
residents face in these difficult economic climate. 
 
As such, the Council will not achieve the Core Spending Power outlined above.  
 
5.3  Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) 

 
Every year a Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) is announced for each authority by 
the Secretary of State; this represents an assessment of the level of resources required 
by the authority which will be met from Business Rates and Revenue Support Grant in 
the year.  
 
 

Page 98



 

6 

 

SFA is defined as the sum of a local authority’s; 

 Baseline Funding Level (BFL) and  

 Revenue Support Grant (RSG)  
(see Section 5.3.2 below). 
 
The BFL is split between resources received via: 

 an assessment of what the Government believes the Business Rates will be for 
the borough, and the Council’s share of this, plus  

 a top-up element provided by central Government, as detailed below   

 2020/21 
£m 

2021/22 
£m 

   

Settlement Funding assessment (SFA) 58.1 58.2 

Funded by:   

Revenue Support Grant 13.5 13.6 

Business Rate Baseline Funding Level (BFL) 
 
Comprising 
 - notional level of Business Rates retained by BwD (the 
Business Rates Baseline) 
 - Top-up funding provided by Government 

44.6 
 
 

20.3 
 

24.3 

44.6 
 
 

20.3 
 

24.3 

   

Increase in SFA  0.1 
 

 
 
5.3.1  Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 
 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) is the main central Government grant given to local 
authorities and can be used to finance revenue expenditure on any service.  

The reduction in the grant to date has been significant, from a figure of £49.6m in 
2015/16 down to £13.6m in 2021/22.  

5.3.2  Local share of Business Rates 

Under the current 50% business rates retention system, at an individual authority level, 
the amount of business rates income retained is determined by the relationship between 
its Baseline Funding Level (BFL) and Business Rates Baseline (BRB) where; 

 the BFL is the level of business rates income that the government determines that 
the authority needs to meet its ‘Relative Need’ (as determined following the 
national Relative Needs Assessment’ exercise undertaken in 2011) and 
dependant on the total resources available within the national Local Government 
Finance Settlement and 

 the Business Rates Baseline is the amount of business rates income an authority 
is predicted to raise.  

Where a local authority’s Business Rates Baseline is greater than its Baseline Funding 
Level, then the authority pays the difference as a ‘tariff’ which is then redistributed to 
those authorities where their Business Rates Baseline is less than their Baseline 
Funding Level; the latter is the case in Blackburn with Darwen and the payment received 
is known as the ‘Top-Up’.  
 

Page 99



 

7 

 

The system now requires resetting in order to ensure that the distribution of resource 
remains aligned with changes in ‘Relative Need’ over the past 10 years. 

Within the current system the mechanism for redistribution of funding is as follows; 
 

 the Council is able to retain 49%  

 1% is passed to the Fire Authority and  

 50% (the central share) is paid over to the Government.  

The Business Rates multiplier (unit charge) is subject to an inflationary uplift each year, 
at a rate determined by the government and applied nationally for all businesses to pay.  

Any gain or reduction in Business Rates, above or below the Government’s figure of what 
they estimate the authority will receive (as detailed in the table above) is also passed on 
to the three parties in the same percentage shares. 

 
A “safety net” mechanism provides additional funding for any Council that suffers a 
reduction in their total Business Rates income of more than 7.5%; i.e. the loss to the 
Council is capped at 7.5%. 
  
Future scheme  

A commitment to implement a new BRR model has been given for several years; at the 
Spending Review in September 2019 the Government confirmed that it would aim to 
implement a 75% BRR model in 2021/22 to provide further time to work with the sector 
on options for delivering the review of relative needs and resources, and in reforming and 
improving the business rates retention system, including addressing such issues as 
backdated appeals on local authority income. Due to the impact of Covid-19, this target 
date has slipped again and we are still unsure as to what the model will look like, how it 
will operate and from what date it will be effective. 

Articles in the recent press have indicated that the government may indeed rethink the 
use of Business Rates as a funding model for local government, with suggestions that 
alternative property related taxes, the introduction of an online sales tax and an ‘excess 
profit’ tax could be considered as potential options. Although uncertain, we expect further 
information to be provided on the future direction of travel in this area as the new 
financial year progresses.  

For the purposes of preparing the MTFS for 2022/23 and 2023/24, we have assumed 
that the mechanics of the 50% BRR scheme currently in operation, will continue to apply.  

The associated income from this is included in Appendix D - Section 5.0 
 
5.4  Council Tax  
 
5.4.1  Council Tax – general  
 
Blackburn with Darwen has the lowest Council Tax in Lancashire in 2020/21. 
 
Council Tax levels had remained frozen at their 2010/11 levels for 5 years until 2016/17 
when, given the scale of the budget gap, the Council adopted a 1.99% increase (i.e. the 
maximum general increase permitted under the Government’s referendum cap), 
alongside reductions in expenditure and increases in other available income streams. 
 

Page 100



 

8 

 

The referendum cap, set by Government, remains at 2.0% for 2021/22 and an increase 
of 1.99% has been included in the Budget recommended for approval to Finance Council 
this year; this is in line with Recommendation 2.1 above and was assumed within the 
MTFS presented to Finance Council last year.  
 
The MTFS also assumes increases in Council Tax of 1.99% for 2022/23 and 2023/24. 

The Government has repeatedly stated its wish for Councils to progress quickly towards 
becoming self-sufficient through the income that they generate, of which Council Tax is 
the most significant source of income. This is difficult to achieve in the borough given the 
profile of the properties that are chargeable to Council Tax; despite the impact of the 
increase in the number, type and size of properties built through the Housing Growth 
Programme, the profile of our housing stock is significantly weighted towards those which 
generate a lower yield in Council Tax as the table below illustrates; 
 

Number of Properties Chargeable to Council Tax 
 

Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H TOTAL 
 

As at 30th November 2020 

34,789 9,309 8,423 4,674 2,173 805 571 69 60,813 

57.2% 15.3% 13.8% 7.7% 3.6% 1.3% 1.0% 0.1% 100.0% 

As at 30th November 2019 

34,673 9,259 8,354 4,673 2,111 794 573 69 60,506 

57.3% 15.3% 13.8% 7.7% 3.5% 1.3% 1.0% 0.1% 100.0% 

 
 
5.4.2  Council Tax - Adult Social Care Precept  
 
The Core Spending Power within the Financial Settlement for 2016/17 included an 
assumption that all authorities with responsibility for Adult Social Care would utilise the 
flexibility offered by Government to increase Council Tax in 2016/17 by an additional 2% 
without holding a referendum. This additional precept would be used specifically to assist 
in meeting expenditure on Adult Social Care functions. The Government has continued 
with this approach in providing continuation of this flexibility; 

 in 2017/18, offering councils the flexibility to apply a precept of up to 6% over the 
period 2017/18 to 2019/20, subject to a maximum increase of 3% in any one year, 
and a total cap of 6% over the period;  

 in 2020/21, offering councils the flexibility to apply a precept of up to 2%. 
  
In each year, the assumption was made within the Core Spending Power calculation, 
produced by the Government, that Councils would apply the maximum amount. Given 
the scale of the mounting financial and demand pressures on adult social care services, 
the Council has utilised these flexibilities from 2016/17 through to 2020/21.  
 
In the Financial Settlement for 2021/22, and assumed within their calculations of Core 
Spending Power, the Government has again introduced the flexibility to apply a further 
precept of up to 3% in 2021/22 for every authority providing social care.  
 
This approach has been widely criticised across local government and the national 
media, as it is seen as regressive and running counter to the notion of ‘levelling up’; in 
essence, the Government is forcing councils to increase Council Tax rather than offering 
more grant. Lower house prices mean that less affluent areas raise less income from 

Page 101



 

9 

 

these rises, while lower income families face contributing a higher proportion of their 
income than their more wealthier counterparts.  
 
The issue is a very difficult one for the Council, in trying to balance the persisting cost 
pressures and demands alongside the ability of our residents to afford this in these 
difficult economic times; as such, the recommendation contained within the report is to 
limit the precept to 2% in 2021/22, rather than applying the full 3% that the Government 
has assumed in our notification of Core Spending Power. The MTFS assumes that the 
balance of 1% will be applied the following financial year, i.e. in 2022/23. 
 

5.4.3 Local Council Tax Support Scheme 

Since the start of the pandemic, the number of residents claiming Council Tax Support 
has increased from 10,196 in March 2020 to 11,561 in January 2021; an increase of 
13.4%. 

Within the Settlement, funding has been provided for an additional £2.126 million to 
support the Council in meeting the increase in costs in this area, and in supporting those 
residents in financial difficulties over the course of the pandemic and through the 
recovery thereafter. Given the economic uncertainties, we expect to see the number of 
claimants continue to rise as increasing unemployment will be a significant post-Covid 
risk. The additional funding has therefore been held within an Ear-marked Reserve to 
support our most financially vulnerable and will be fed through into the budget, to meet 
additional costs in this area as required, over the course of 2021/22.    

We continue to work in partnership with the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) 
and Shelter, having contracted with the latter to provide additional support in this area 
and to support residents in their transition to Universal Credit and in ensuring, where 
eligible, that they claim Council Tax Support. This is to help minimise the adverse 
financial impact that Universal Credit may have on our residents and to ensure that as far 
as possible, this doesn’t add further burden to those in dire financial difficulty. 

If the Council wishes to make any changes to the Local Council Tax Support scheme for 
2021/22, it is legally obliged to do so prior to 31st March 2021; in light of the current 
economic circumstances, no changes are proposed and the recommendation is to 
continue with the existing scheme for the new financial year.  

 
5.5  Funding for Social Care 
 
In March 2017 the Government announced that it would issue a Green Paper on Social 
Care for public consultation. Although the Prime Minister said in January 2020 that he 
would bring forward a plan for social care ‘within the year’, for implementation within this 
parliament, i.e. over the next 5 years, the pandemic has meant that this has been further 
delayed. 

The Government has widely acknowledged that the increase in demand in this area, 
over the years is unsustainable and that greater integration between health and social 
care is essential to addressing this; the Covid-19 crisis has only served to lay bare the 
magnitude of the problem and it remains one of the most pressing issues for 
Government to address over the coming year.  

The detail below outlines the short term measures that have been introduced to assist in 
trying to address the funding shortfall in the interim; 

Page 102



 

10 

 

5.5.1  Improved Better Care Fund  
 
The Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) was introduced in the Financial Settlement of 
2017/18, funded in part through reductions in the New Homes Bonus allocation, to 
provide specific funding for adult social care. In 2021/22, as part of this year’s one year 
settlement, the iBCF has been maintained at the same level as in 2020/21; £8.1million. 
  

The fund is allocated directly to Local Authorities through a separate Section 31 grant 
with the NHS and it is a requirement of the funding that the iBCF is pooled and 
monitored, together with the existing Better Care Fund.   
 
Beyond 2021/22 there is no certainty for the future of the iBCF funding but in the 
absence of any further information, for the purposes of the MTFS it has been assumed 
that this will continue into 2022/23 and 2023/24 at the same level as in 2021/22; given 
the magnitude of the financial pressures on adult social care it is difficult to see how this 
can be addressed without a similar level of government funding being provided as an 
absolute minimum. 
 
5.5.2  Adults and Children’s Social Care  
 

In light of the persistent and significant social care pressures that local authorities have 
continued to face, the government provided additional resources in the form of the 
Social Care Support Grant for 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21 to support both adults and 
children’s social care.  

In the one year funding settlement for 2021/22, this has continued with an additional 
£300 million made available nationally resulting in funding for BwD as follows: 

 2020/21 
£m 

2021/22 
£m 

Social Care Support Grant 4.93 6.55 

 
It has been assumed that the funding will continue beyond 2021/22, given the pressures 
on social care, but that the amount will revert to the level in 2020/21 for both 2022/23 
and 2023/24. 
 
5.6  Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)   
 

DSG is paid in support of the local authority’s schools budgets and funding is now 
allocated in four notional blocks: 

 Schools Block 

 High Needs Block 

 Early Years Block 

 Central School Services Block 

Funding within the Schools Block, subject to certain prescribed exceptions, cannot be 
transferred to other DSG blocks. The other notional blocks are not individually ring-
fenced, but the overall DSG grant is ring-fenced in total, and local authorities are 
responsible, in conjunction with their local Schools Forum, for determining the split of the 
funding between their own central expenditure and the Individual Schools Budget.  

The funding in the Schools Block is allocated through the national school funding formula 
(NFF), which seeks to ensure that all schools are allocated funding fairly to meet their 
pupils’ needs.  

Page 103



 

11 

 

Although local authorities still have some autonomy to allocate their Schools Block 
funding using a local formula, data suggests that a significant proportion of local 
authorities have now moved towards allocating their funding for schools based on the 
national funding formula, and it is likely that application of the full NFF methodology will 
become compulsory (a “hard” NFF will be introduced) by financial year 2025/26. 

In anticipation of this, the factors used in the Blackburn with Darwen (BwD) schools 
funding formula mirror the NFF in 2021/22. 

Significant changes across the remaining DSG blocks are as follows: 

- The High Needs Block will provide an underlying increase of at least 8% per head 
of population for every local authority, with maximum gains of 12%.  
 
The Government has increased High Needs funding for the second year in a row 
in recognition of the increased pressures experienced by many local authorities 
across the country arising from the growth in the number of pupils with special 
educational needs. For BwD the High Needs Block is expected to increase by 
11.35%, which equates to £2.341m in cash terms. This funding will support the 
ongoing pressures within our High Needs Block. 
 

- The Early Years Block includes an increase in the hourly rate of 6p for three and 
four year-olds entitlements, and 8p for two year-old entitlements. BwD will pass 
this increase directly onto our early years providers. 
 

- The Central School Services Block will continue to fund all local authorities for the 
ongoing responsibilities that they hold for all schools. For the second year in a row 
however, there will be a 20% reduction in the element of funding that some 
authorities receive for “historical commitments” made prior to 2013/14. This is in 
line with the Government’s policy to fully unwind this funding over time.  
 

Changes to the blocks of funding within DSG which impact directly on the Council have 
been included within the MTFS. All other funding changes are included within the DSG 
allocations, which are calculated within each block and agreed with Schools Forum 
where required. All funding decisions taken by Schools Forum are published in 
accordance with legislation. 

 
5.7  Public Health  
 
At the time of writing this report, we are still awaiting an announcement on the Public 
Health Grant allocation for 2021/22. In 2020/21, as in previous years, this was a ring-
fenced grant to the Authority and as such, any increase or reduction in funding was 
offset by a corresponding increase/decrease in expenditure. It has been assumed this 
mechanism will remain in place for 2021/22.  
 
In 2020/2021 the grant increased by £0.504 million to £14.9 million to reflect the costs of 
the NHS Agenda for Change; it is assumed that the amount of grant to be given to 
Blackburn with Darwen in 2021/22 will remain at the 2020/21 level. 
 
5.8  New Homes Bonus and Growth 

5.8.1  New Homes Bonus  

New Homes Bonus was introduced in 2011 as a “stimulus” for the provision of new 
homes and is a non-ring-fenced grant distributed between local authorities based upon 

Page 104



 

12 

 

new growth in housing provision in their area. The bonus covers new-build homes, 
conversions and long-term empty homes brought back into use, with an extra payment 
for providing affordable homes. The annual amount of the grant is based on one years’ 
average Council Tax for the tax band in which the new home is expected to fall. 
Payment of the bonus is only paid on housing growth above a baseline of 0.4%; growth 
below this level does not qualify for a bonus allocation. 

The length of time that the bonus is paid for, for each new home built, has reduced from 
6 years when it was first introduced in 2011/12, down to 5 years with effect from 2012/13 
and then down to 4 years from 2014/15; for new homes completed in 2020/21 and in 
2021/22, the bonus is only paid for one year, i.e. only for the year in which the build was 
completed.  
 
The Government has set out its intention to hold a consultation on the future of the New 
Homes Bonus, with a view to implementing reform in 2022/23. Given the uncertainties 
around this funding, the MTFS assumes we have no new NHB in future years beyond 
that already awarded for 2021/22 and previous years. 
 

The figures released within the Finance Settlement have been incorporated into the 
2021/22 budget as follows, with the figure for 2022/23 being the final year of the bonus 
‘earned’ in 2019/20; 

 2020/21 
£m 

2021/22 
£m 

2022/23 
£m 

2023/24 
£m 

New Homes Bonus 0.999 0.825 0.185 - 

 
 
5.8.2  Growth Agenda 

 
The Council remains committed to delivering a more prosperous Borough and as such, 
has invested in a Growth Team to bring focus to all development activities within the 
area, and to work with all landowners, private developers and funding agencies to bring 
forward residential, commercial, town centre and infrastructure projects; these projects 
support the MTFS through increases in Business Rates, Council Tax and New Homes 
Bonus.  

The Council has welcomed the announcement that Darwen is one of 101 towns across 
the country invited to apply for £3.6 billion of Government funding. The new Towns Fund 
is earmarked for regeneration, skills and enterprise infrastructure and for improving 
connectivity and would build on our investment to date to unlock new regeneration 
opportunities. A Board has been established to help shape plans and develop a bid for 
over £25 million of funding to be spent transforming Darwen, the progress of which will 
be reported as this work develops. 
 
5.9 Fees and Charges 

Executive Members, in conjunction with Chief Officers, regularly review all fees and 
charges for their portfolios. The Council has delegated authority to Chief Officers, in 
consultation with the relevant Executive Members and the Director of Finance, to agree 
changes where required.  
 
Increases in fees and charges for existing services, together with the expansion of 
existing and the development of new services, have all contributed to addressing the 
budget pressures over the last few years, although it is recognised that many of these 

Page 105



 

13 

 

services have been significantly impacted by the pandemic over the last 12 months and 
will take some time to recover and revert back to their pre-Covid activity levels. 

 
 

6. KEY ISSUES - EXPENDITURE 
 
The MTFS for 2021/22, as presented to Finance Council in February 2020, identified a 
budget gap of £2.784 million, based on the financial data and demand information 
available at that time. However as 2020/21 has progressed, the position has developed 
and the assumptions have been updated due to the impact of the pandemic, and 
following the Final Local Government Financial Settlement confirmed on 10th February 
2021. 

Details of the movement in the Budget Gap for 2020/21 are detailed in Appendix B to 
this report. 
 
6.1 Portfolio Budget Pressures  

 
In preparing the budget for 2021/22, and in trying to develop the MTFS across 2022/23 
and 2023/24, despite the significant uncertainties regarding future funding mechanisms 
and the impact of this on the Council’s level of resources, we have reviewed the budget 
pressures faced across all of the portfolios and modelled the impact of actual and 
potential reductions in funding noted above.  

 
Over the course of 2020/21, work has continued to re-align budgets, by reviewing income 
and expenditure within each portfolio, identifying cost pressures and shortfalls against 
income targets, and conversely identifying any areas where budget could be reallocated, 
i.e. due to recurring reductions in expenditure. 
 
Whilst the Council is recommended to approve a balanced budget for 2021/22, this is 
predicated on a set of challenging assumptions, including the containment of all 
emerging, non-budgeted cost pressures over the course of the year within each portfolio. 
 
An overview of some of the most significant cost pressures and risks within the portfolios 
are outlined below.  
 
6.1.1 Adult Services and Prevention  
 
2020/21 has seen an increase in demand for adult social care services, along with an 
increase in the complexity of cases and an increase in the costs within the care sector. 
However due to the impact of the pandemic, and the Government’s response, the 
portfolio has seen significant fluctuations in spending due to several factors including;  
 

 changes in the hospital discharge guidance for the discharge of patients into 
residential and nursing care, together with hospital admission avoidance costs, 
have been paid directly by the NHS for periods of time during the crisis; 

 Continuing Health Care, Joint Funding Frameworks, along with financial 
assessment and charging policies, have also been suspended for certain periods 
of time.  

 
As each process has been restarted, the adult social care department has seen an 
increase in referrals, assessment and care costs, together with usual winter pressures; 
these costs are expected to continue into 2021/22.  
 

Page 106



 

14 

 

During the year the portfolio has also incurred significant cost pressures in supporting 
the care sector to manage the pandemic. These have included provision of PPE and 
additional staffing, infection prevention control and occupancy payments. Whilst some 
costs have been funded through specific Covid-19 grants from Government, other costs 
and issues faced by providers during the pandemic will have an enduring impact on the 
care market and the price of care in the future. Covid-19 his resulted in a change to the 
care economy and a general increase in the acuity of care needs. As such, the Council 
is beginning to see an increase general care costs that is much higher than in previous 
years.  
 
Given this position, the costs of social care provider fee uplifts in 2021/22 are expected 
to be significant. Whilst the announcement of the increase in the National Living Wage to 
£8.91 in 2021/22, an increase of 2.2% on the previous financial year, is lower than in 
previous years, given the lack of parity in provider rates across the Lancashire and 
South Cumbria Health and Social Care system, additional costs are expected in 
Blackburn with Darwen. We are working to narrow the gap with our near neighbours so 
that we can reduce the risks given the potential for some providers to exit the market 
thereby impacting on our ability to meet our statutory duties. It will therefore be 
necessary to provide an uplift in 2021/22 which narrows the gap in fees paid across the 
system, the cost of which has been included in the MTFS.  
 
A comprehensive range of demand management strategies and alternative ways of 
delivering services remain in situ within the portfolio to contain ongoing financial 
pressures from increased demand and demographic change. Every effort will be made 
to contain demand over the course of 2021/22, and to progress our partnership working 
across the Health and Social Care system to maximise efficiencies. 

 
6.1.2 Children, Young People and Education  
 
The financial position during 2020/21 for the Children, Young People and Education 
portfolio has seen a significant improvement compared to that reported in 2019/20. The 
new Duty and Advice Service has continued to perform well and has resulted in a 
sustained reduction in the number of cases being referred into the service. This in turn 
has seen more manageable caseloads for social care staff within the assessment and 
safeguarding teams, with the result being a reduction in both sickness absence and 
turnover of staff, as well as enabling improved quality of social work throughout the 
service.  
 
Placement costs for children in care have also significantly reduced in 2020/21, with 
forecasted expenditure against the externally commissioned placements budget being 
£2.2 million less than in 2019/20. The 2020/21 outturn position is expected to improve 
further still due to the part year introduction of a tri-partite agreement with the NHS to 
fund a proportion of costs incurred in relation to children with complex health needs. 
This follows a piece of work undertaken by the NHS in collaboration with local 
authorities  across Blackburn with Darwen, Blackpool, Lancashire County Council and 
Cumbria County Council, due to a recognition from SEND inspections that there has 
been very little joint commissioning around placements for young people with complex 
needs. This agreement is expected to continue into 2021/22 where the impact on our 
budgets will be greater as the agreement will cover the full financial year. 
 
There remain however continuing pressures against the Special Guardianship Order 
(SGO) budget and these will only increase in 2021/22 as the number of children placed 
on an SGO is expected to increase, given current demand pressures. As in previous 

Page 107



 

15 

 

years, the portfolio will look to reallocate its existing resources wherever possible in 
order to bolster the SGO budget, however it is expected that this will remain an area of 
concern going forward. 
 
During the year the portfolio has incurred substantial cost pressures in relation to Covid-
19 and there remains uncertainty around how the pandemic will affect both the numbers 
of children coming into care, along with any ongoing related expenditure. Whilst the 
numbers of children in care have reduced in 2020/21, it remains to be seen if the 
number of referrals will increase as we return to a state of ‘normality’. The financial 
impact of Covid-19 will continue to be closely monitored over the course of 2021/22.  
 

6.1.3 Environmental Services  

The Environment team has faced significant challenges during the pandemic, with fly-
tipping increasing by approximately 60% during this period, resulting in an increase in 
complaints. This has also posed difficulties for the waste and recycling teams accessing 
back streets due to the amount of waste left in back streets obstructing access. Progress 
to address the issues has been frustrated by the closure of the courts which has created 
a backlog in prosecutions. Due to the pandemic and the resulting increase in home 
working and school closures, we have seen an 8% increase in the amount of residual 
waste generated across the borough from household waste collections, fly-tipping and 
street cleansing waste, compared to the tonnages collected the previous year.  

We expect this to be a pressure that will carry over into 2021/22 and whilst all efforts 
have been made to tackle the increase within existing resources, this continues to prove 
a challenge and so additional provision has been made within contingency to provide 
support for this if or when required. 

6.1.4 Growth and Development  

The portfolio faces significant pressures in relation to the Markets and Highways 
services.  The pressures on Highways are being managed in 2020/21 through a 
realignment of budgets and the pressures on Markets are largely income losses as a 
result of Covid-19 for which the Council can claim back from Government 75% of the 
losses incurred. The pressures are expected to persist into 2021/22. 

6.1.5 Leisure, Health and Wellbeing  

Leisure centres and venues have been significantly impacted by the pandemic, having 
had to close at the end of March 2020, only to reopen and then be closed again to 
comply with national & local restrictions and then due to a second and a third national 
lockdown.  

For the short periods time that the facilities were allowed to open, they have all operated 
at well below normal capacity levels, in order to comply with the Covid-19 regulations. 
This has had a hugely detrimental impact on income levels for 2020/21, and it is widely 
acknowledged that these pressures will continue into 2021/22. Once the current 
lockdown is eased, and facilities are able to re-open again to the public, it is anticipated 
that it will take a significant period of time before attendance/occupancy is back to pre-
Covid levels. This presents a significant risk to the portfolio for the coming year and will 
be tracked as we move though 2021/22. 

 

Page 108



 

16 

 

 

6.1.6 Finance and Governance  

The portfolio has faced significant pressures, primarily due to the current retail trading 
climate which has impacted on the income receivable from the Council’s share of the 
Mall, and also due to vacant space at Cathedral Quarter. 2021/22 is expected to be a 
difficult time for all Town Centre businesses which in turn presents a risk for the income 
generated from the Council’s Commercial Property portfolio.  

6.2 Other Pressures 

6.2.1   Pay Awards and Pay Policy 

Pay Award 
 
In the 2020 Spending Review of 25th November 2020, the Chancellor announced a pay 
freeze for public sector workers in 2021/22, with the exception of some NHS staff and 
over 2.1 million public sector workers whose earnings are less than £24,000, who will 
receive a minimum £250 increase. 
 
It has been noted by Employers and Unions alike that the Government has no formal 
role in the decision around annual local government pay increases, as these are 
developed through negotiation with the Trade Unions via the National Joint Council 
(NJC) for local government services. Therefore the Government cannot automatically 
impose a pay freeze on local government unless it uses a legislative route to do so. 

As such, given the risks of this, provision has been made within the 2021/22 budget for a 
1.5% pay award, which is 0.5% less than the assumption presented to Finance Council 
in February 2020 for 2021/22.  

As is our standard approach, it is also assumed that the costs of any incremental 
progression will be absorbed, or met from efficiencies and savings made within the 
individual portfolios.  

Pay Policy  

The Pay Policy Statement has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011, to have effect for the year 2020/21 unless replaced 
or varied by the Council. The Pay Policy Statement is attached at Appendix E. 
 
6.2.2 National Living Wage  

Increases have been confirmed in the National Living Wage (NLW) level of £0.19 to 
£8.91 with effect from 1st April 2021 (for workers aged 23 and above). Increases have 
also been confirmed in the National Minimum Wage levels as follows; 

 Increase from £8.20 to £8.36 per hour for 21-22 year olds 

 Increase from £6.45 to £6.56 per hour for 18-20 year olds 

 Increase from £4.55 to £4.62 per hour for 16-17 year olds 

 Increase from £4.15 to £4.30 per hour for apprentices 

These increases have significant impact on our external providers, specifically those 
providing social care, including residential and domiciliary care. 

Page 109



 

17 

 

The commissioning budgets included within the 2021/22 Budget, include a provision for 
increases in provider hourly rates arising from the increase in the NLW with effect from 
1st April 2021. Other factors will also be included in the final provider hourly rates for 
2021/22 but until discussions to determine the impact of these are held with providers, 
and contract negotiations are completed, it is not possible to precisely quantify the cost at 
this stage.  
 
Provision has also been made within the MTFS for increases in the NLW in 2022/23 and 
2023/24, however as indicated above, it is not possible to quantify the precise financial 
impact due to changes in demand and the care provider market. 
 
It is recommended that delegated authority is given to the Executive Member for Adult 
Services and Prevention, in consultation with the Executive Member for Finance and 
Governance, to agree the hourly rates and contract changes with social care providers in 
2021/22, applicable from April 2021, as detailed at Recommendation 2.7.  
 
6.2.3 Pensions 

 
The triennial actuarial valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme in 2019, 
identified an increase in Employer Pension contributions from 14.8% to 17.4% for the 
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council section of the fund for the 3 years 2021/22, 
2021/22 and 2022/23; this is required to meet the projected increase in the value of the 
future liabilities of those staff currently working in the organisation and who are in the 
pension fund.  
 
The Council agreed, following discussions with the Scheme Actuary and the Head the 
Lancashire County Pension Fund, and following agreement by the Lancashire Local 
Pension Board, to take a stepped approach to implementing the increase over the 3 
years whilst continuing to repay the scheme deficit over an agreed 16 year repayment 
period, of which 15 years now remain.  
 
2021/22 will see an increase in Employer contributions from 14.8% to 16.6%, increasing 
to 17.4% in 2022/23. The MTFS assumes no further increase beyond 17.4% for 2023/24 
however we must await for the results of the next triennial actuarial valuation to know if 
this assumption holds. 

6.2.4 Apprenticeship Levy  

The 2021/22 budget and MTFS also reflect the Apprenticeship Levy introduced in April 
2017, which is an unfunded tax, charged at 0.5% on the total wage bill for organisations 
with a payroll of over £3.0m. Employers in England can reclaim their contributions in the 
form of digital vouchers to pay for apprenticeship training programmes for both new and 
existing staff; this excludes however the costs of wages, travel, management costs, work 
placements or the running costs of the apprenticeship programme itself. 

The Council has worked hard to ensure we fully utilise the digital vouchers created, which 
in the main have assisted in supporting the costs of training for almost 200 apprentices 
that the council has recruited into the workforce since 2017/18; we intend to recruit more 
apprentices during 2021/22 as part of our workforce development strategy. As in 
previous years, support of approximately £0.5m is included within the 2021/22 Budget to 
corporately fund the salary costs of a rolling programme of approximately 20 apprentices 
each year. Any apprentices employed over and above this number will be funded from 
within the respective portfolio budgets.  
 

Page 110



 

18 

 

 
6.2.5 Inflation 
 
Based on the information released by the Office of National Statistics in January 2021, 
the Consumer Price Index (CPI) for December 2020 stood at 1.2% (Dec 2019: 1.4%), 
whilst the comparable figure for the Retail Price Index (RPI) was 1.2% (Dec 2019: 2.2%. 
 
Within the 2021/22 Budget and MTFS, provision has only been made for specific inflation 
on the more volatile areas of expenditure such as utilities and waste and also for agreed 
price inflation within our larger contracts. For more ‘general consumables’, it has been 
assumed that this will be contained within existing budgets.  

The commissioning budgets for adult social care do include some provision for increases 
in provider hourly rates and contract changes arising from the increase in the National 
Living Wage, however until discussions to determine the impact of this with providers are 
held and fully understood, and the contract negotiations are completed, it is not possible 
to precisely quantify them at this stage.  

6.2.6 Interest and Minimum Revenue Provision  
 
The Bank of England’s Bank Rate was cut at in March 2020 at the start of the Covid-19 
pandemic, and is expected to remain at current levels in the near future. This has been 
reflected in decreasing investment and borrowing interest rates over the course of the 
2020/21. 
 
Interest estimates are based on the Council continuing to use short-term borrowing, 
given the expected duration of the loans required and the lower interest rates achievable 
using short-term borrowing. The Council’s forecast average short-term borrowing rates in 
2020/21 are 0.78%. 
 
 2021/22 

£m 
2022/23 

£m 
2023/24 

£m 

Interest and Investment Income (0.015) (0.015) (0.015) 

Debt Interest Payable  12.286 12.750 12.496 

Minimum Revenue Provision 6.016 6.585 6.832 

TOTAL Net Interest Cost 18.287 19.320 19.313 

Forecast Capital Spend Financed by Borrowing 13.307 3.400 3.650 

 
Debt interest payable and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) increase as a result of 
capital spending funded by borrowing. The Council has undertaken a review of its MRP 
policy with its Treasury Management Consultants, which has led to a proposed change in 
policy for some elements of the MRP calculation. The proposed changes in MRP policy 
are reflected in the figures detailed above, and are detailed in the Capital Strategy 
Report, and supporting Appendices, on the Finance Council Agenda.  
 

7. SUMMARY 

In light of the Local Government Finance Settlement for 2021/22 and the financial 
constraints on the authority, the Leader and the Executive Members will work with 
Officers to continuously review the allocation and use of resources, including continued 
review of all expenditure and income budgets, of contractual commitments and property 
holdings and implementation of savings plans as required, set within the context of the 
Council’s statutory responsibilities and corporate priorities. 
 

Page 111



 

19 

 

Although we are able to recommend for approval a balanced budget for 2021/22, we 
cannot be complacent as this is predicated on estimates and assumptions that are not 
without risk; 

 risk that the forecast and provisions for demand are outstripped 

 risk that the expected income streams are not realised 

 risk that the use of strategic reserves may not be possible 

 the risks presented from the Covid-19 pandemic both during the crisis, and in the 
recovery beyond   

 
The MTFS highlights a budget gap for 2022/23 of £5.6million rising to £8.3million in 
2023/24, although as noted throughout the report, there is significant uncertainty around 
the assumptions used to produce the figures in both these years given the lack of 
information provided by central Government at this time.  
 
We join with colleagues in other authorities, through our membership of SIGOMA 
(Special Interest Group of Municipal Authorities) and through the LGA (Local 
Government Association) to lobby government for an urgent focus on the short and long 
term funding arrangements for local government; without this, it is impossible to plan 
financially not only in terms of our growth and development, but also in respect of 
identifying further cost reductions or service redesign and delivery; the current short-term, 
stop-gap measures are no longer sustainable.  
 
Nonetheless, we will continue with the strategy that has served us well throughout the 
period of austerity to date, by continuously monitoring and reviewing both our income and 
expenditure streams, keeping abreast of the financial implications of developments both 
locally and nationally, and ensuring we develop and implement plans to deliver efficiency 
savings, maximising opportunities for growth and income generation within the financial 
constraints faced and pursuing prevention measures to curtail, or at least defer, demand.  

We undertake to keep Council updated on developments on the future funding regime, 
and the impact this will have on Blackburn with Darwen, as the year progresses.  

8. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-2024  
 
In order to deliver the Capital Strategy, we recommend Finance Council approve the 
proposed Capital Programme for 2021 through to 2024 of £38.797 million, as detailed at 
Appendix C. The programme recognises the importance of investment in the Borough 
and the impact that the schemes themselves will have on the regeneration and 
economic growth of the area in the future. 

The programme is predominantly comprised of existing commitments and includes 
investment in: 

 our local transport plan 

 aids and adaptations through provision of disabled facilities grants 

 regeneration of the borough, including our scheme at Blakey Moor to enhance the 
town centre in Blackburn and support the improvement of leisure facilities and a 
night time economy and Blackburn town centre redevelopment of the former 
Thwaites site 

 facilitating housing and business growth 

 support of continued investment in IT services to underpin our ‘digital first’ 
approach to delivering efficiencies and in turn, cash savings 

Page 112



 

20 

 

 support of our accommodation review which again will drive efficiencies and 
savings through rationalisation and a more cost effective use of space. 

 the existing schemes within the schools capital programme and creation of 
additional school places required within the Borough 

Allocations are also included for potential investment in existing assets. 

However before projects are allocated funding, they are subject to a rigorous business 
case approval process and detailed Member reports are produced in line with the 
Council’s financial procedures.  
 
The programme will contribute towards the achievement of the Council’s priorities by 
creating more jobs and supporting business growth in the borough through construction, 
improving transport networks and enhancing the town centre, by improving housing 
quality and building more homes and also in assisting to deliver efficiencies and savings 
through the rationalisation of accommodation and maximising the use of technology to 
streamline services and processes. 
 
Current commitments will continue to be reviewed to bring forward any additional 
schemes, subject to approval of robust business cases, and capital allocations for the 
schools in the borough will be added to the programme when provided by the 
Department of Education.  
 

9. LEVEL OF RESERVES 
 
As noted in the report ‘The Robustness of the 2021/22 Budget and the Recommended 
Level of Reserves’, the Director of Finance is recommending to Finance Council that the 
minimum level of Unallocated Reserves for 2021/22 is increased from £4.0 million to £6.0 
million, in light of the future risks from the Covid-19 pandemic, the recovery of the 
economy from this and the impact on the residents of the borough and Council services.  

 
10. COUNCIL TAX 

The assumptions made within these budget proposals, which are in line with those made 
by the Government, are that the Council will increase Council Tax in 2021/22 by 3.99% 
reflecting; 

 1.99% - general increase in Council Tax to cover increases in the cost of 
Council services  

 2.00% - to assist it in meeting expenditure on adult social care functions  

  
11. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

The MTFS 2021 to 2024 at Appendix D has been reviewed and updated, incorporating; 
 

 the one year funding settlement for 2021/22,  

 estimates for income and resources for 2022/23 and 2023/24, acknowledging that 
these are made in the absence of any information or detail regarding the allocation 
of local government funding for 2022/23 and beyond (i.e. the redistribution of local 
government funding as determined by the Fair Funding Review, the mechanics of 
the future Business Rates Retention Scheme, and the future provision and 
allocation of any other Government grant funding streams)  

Page 113



 

21 

 

 other projections, forecasts and assumptions in relation to expenditure, inflation, 
interest rates, pensions, as outlined in Appendix D. 

12. CONCLUSION  

The proposed revenue Budget Strategy will continue to focus on delivering the Council’s 
priorities and will try to minimise the impact of spending cuts through the delivery of 
quality efficient and effective services to, and for, the citizens of this borough, whilst 
ensuring the Council operates within the financial constraints imposed by central 
Government.  

13. APPENDICES  

 Appendix A - Budget Summary 2021/22 and Portfolio Controllable Budgets 

 Appendix B - Balancing the 2021/22 Budget Gap 

 Appendix C - Capital Programme 2021-2024 

 Appendix D - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-2024 

 Appendix E - Pay Policy Statement 2021/22 
 
14. POLICY IMPLICATIONS  
 
The budget process is the mechanism by which the Council allocates resources so that it 
can achieve its policy objectives agreed at Policy Council. 
 
15. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
The budget process will determine the Council’s net revenue expenditure for 2021/22, 
the Capital Programme and the level of Council Tax, together with indicative figures for 
the following 2 years through to 2023/24.  
 
16. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced budget. The Local Government (Standing 
Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, which came into force on 25 
February 2014 require local authorities to record in the minutes of a budget decision 
meeting the names of persons who cast a vote for or against the decision or who 
abstained from voting. 
 
17. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
Decisions taken during the budget process will affect the resources allocated to all 
service areas.  
 
18. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS  
 
All proposals where appropriate are subject to an Equality Impact Assessment before 
implementation.  
 
19. CONSULTATIONS  
 
The Council regularly undertakes consultation with residents, businesses, partners and 
stakeholders. Although this has been particularly difficult over the course of 2020/21 due 
to the pandemic, a number of consultation exercises have been undertaken related to 
Covid-19 and the Council’s response.  These have included support for community 

Page 114



 

22 

 

resilience activities, feedback on the Help Hub and feedback on our ‘Picture This’ 
communications campaign. 

Other consultation exercises have been conducted with our staff and residents and 
businesses across the borough through face to face contact, postal surveys and via on 
line surveys to find out opinions on council services, these have included a Staff Security 
Awareness Questionnaire, our National Highways and Transport Survey, a Waste and 
Recycling Customer Panel Survey and the new, Local Plan - Residents Survey which is 
currently underway. 

This feedback helps to shape the Budget, the MTFS and the Capital Programme 
proposals. 

CONTACT MEMBER:     Councillor Vicky McGurk  
Executive Member for Finance and Governance   

 
DATE: 1st March 2021 

Page 115



Appendix A

2021/22 budget 

as agreed at 

Finance 

Council 2020

 Updated 2021/22 

Budget Finance 

Council March 

2021 

Variation

£000 £000 £000

Net expenditure

Portfolio controllable budgets 114,639 120,890              6,251

Net income from support service recharges (941) (941) 0

Interest, Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 

and revenue contributions to capital costs 19,591 21,252 1,661

Contingencies 12,581 8,251 (4,330)

Parish precepts and grants 189 190 1

Net expenditure 146,059 149,642 3,583

Resources

Government grants 54,940 75,362 20,422

Business Rates retained locally 30,975 20,545 (10,430)

Council Tax 56,322 55,018 (1,304)

Council Tax increase - general increase 1.99% 1,118 1,092 (26)

Adult Social Care Precept - 2% increase 0 1,097 1,097

Collection fund surplus / (deficit) 0 (7,883) (7,883)

Contribution from / (to) ear-marked reserves (80) 4,463 4,543

Contribution from / (to) unallocated reserves 2,784 (52) (2,836)

Net  resources 146,059 149,642 3,583

Required Reductions in 

Expenditure/Increases in Revenue 0 0 0

Adults & Prevention Services 50,854 53,747

Public Health & Wellbeing 2,154 2,239

Children, Young People and Education 29,802 32,194

Environmental Services 8,948 9,173

Growth & Development 7,850 8,075

Digital & Customer Services 5,365 5,771

Finance & Governance 9,816 9,691

Schools and Education (non-DSG) 0 0

TOTAL PORTFOLIO CONTROLLABLE 

BUDGETS 114,789 120,890

Budget Summary 2021/22

The table above identifies the changes between the summary 2021/22 Budget headings as presented in 

the MTFS to Finance Council back in February 2020 and the current, updated position presented to 

Finance Council on 1st March 2021.

PORTFOLIO CONTROLLABLE BUDGETS

2020/21 Budget 2021/22 Budget

Page 116



Appendix B

 £000 

(Reduction)/ 

Increase in 

Budget Gap 

2021/22 Budget Gap (as presented to Finance Council in February 2020) 2,784

INCOME

Business Rates: (1,460)

Comprising:

Increase in Grant - the assumption at Feb 2020 was that a new Business 

Rates Retention Scheme would be in place, by which 75% of business rates 

would be retained locally, offset by a corresponding reduction in grant funding 

(i.e. a reduction in  RSG and Top-up Grant). As a new scheme is not yet in 

place, the actual retention rate remains at 50% and as such the actual 

government grant funding is correspondingly higher than that assumed at this 

point last year (10,822)

Reduction in Business Rates retained locally - as described above, this is due 

to the Business Rates Retention Scheme remaining unchanged at 50% 10,430

Business Rates Collection Fund Deficit 2020/21- mainly due to Business 

Rates Reliefs introduced by Govt 7,345

Section 31 Government Grant provided in 2020/21 to offset the element of the 

Collection Fund Business Rates Deficit due to Business Rates Reliefs 

awarded (8,413)

Council Tax: 772

Comprising:

The increase in the budget gap reflects the reduction in the amount of Council 

Tax income expected in 21/22 due to; an increase in the number of Council 

Tax Support Claimants and a 1% reduction in collection rate, compared to the 

assumption made in February 2020 1,331

Council Tax Collection Fund Deficit 2020/21 538

Adult Social Care Precept - Government has introduced the option for 

Councils to apply an Adult Social Care Precept of 3% in 21/22. Given the 

economic climate, the recommendation is for Council to apply a 2% precept in 

21/22 and the balance of 1% in 22/23.This will be applied to offset the 

increase in costs in ASC. (1,097)

Other Grants: (2,349)

Comprising:

New Lower Tier Services Grant - a non-recurring grant provided by 

Government in 21/22 to support the costs of areas such as leisure and 

environment. (317)

The Council has received a share of £300million made available nationally to 

be spent in 21/22 on adults and childrens social care. (1,645)

New Homes Bonus - the increase is above the level forecast for 21/22 back in 

February 2020. (167)

Other grants (220)

Support provided and retained in Ear-marked Reserves for future use 0

Comprising:

Covid-19 Grant - this is the 5th tranche of general government support for the 

additional costs / loss of income due to the pandemic provided for 2021/22 (5,125)

Covid-19 funding transferred to ear-marked reserves for allocation against 

costs and losses of income over the course of 2021/22 5,125

Grant to support the losses in council tax income due to the increase of Local 

Council Tax Support claimants (2,126)

Local Council Tax Support Scheme funding transferred to ear-marked 

reserves to fund an increase costs in this area and to provide support to 

residents in financial hardship 2,126

Revised Budget Gap for 2021/22 (253)

EXPENDITURE

Reductions in the level of contingency funding held (4,330)

Inflationary uplifts in costs (incl National Living Wage), pension contributions 

and the increase in the pay awards compared to the level budgeted for in 

2020/21 6,251

Decrease in the revenue costs of funding the capital programme following a 

review of Treasury Management borrowing requirements and in the 

accounting policy in respect of the Minimum Revenue Provision  1,661

Financing for capital schemes from Section106 contributions and other 

earmarked reserves (3,381)

Replenishment of Unallocated Reserves 52

2021/22 Budget Gap/(Surplus) 0

Balancing 2021/22 Budget  

The table above summarises the way in which the Budget Gap for 2021/22 (as presented in the MTFS to 

Finance Council back in February 2020) has changed over the past 12 months to produce a balanced 

budget as required by statute.

Page 117



Capital Programme 2021/2024

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future 

Years

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1. Estimated Available Resources

Unsupported Borrowing 13,307  3,400  3,650  -  

- Department for Education 3,282  -  -  -  

- Department for Transport Grants 362  -  -  -  

- Disabled Facilities Grant 3,417  1,877  1,877  -  

Other Specific Grants 1,513  -  -  -  

Government Grants 8,574  1,877  1,877  -  

External Contributions 231  -  -  -  

Revenue Contributions 3,381  750  1,750  -  

Capital Receipts -  -  -  -  

TOTAL ESTIMATED AVAILABLE RESOURCES 25,493  6,027  7,277  -  

2. Approved schemes

Health & Adult Social Care

Disabled Facilities Grant 2,324  1,454  1,454  -  

Telecare Project 270  160  160  -  

2,594  1,614  1,614  -  

Children, Young People & Education

Disabled Facilities Grant 823  263  263  -  

Two Year Old Grant -  -  -  -  

Capital Grant Allocations (schemes to be determined) 1,637  -  -  -  

Schools Programme- Shadsworth Heating 90  -  -  -  

Schools Programme- BCHS/Crosshill SEN 380  -  -  -  

Schools Programme- Lower Darwen Disabled Access 15  -  -  -  

Schools Programme- Feniscowles Junior Disabled Access 125  -  -  -  

Schools Programme- Shadsworth Infants Extension 220  -  -  -  

Schools Programme- Lammack School Extension 1,300  50  -  -  

Schools Programme-Darwen East School Places Increase 550  450  1,750  -  

Schools Programme- Longshaw Nursery Relocation 660  -  -  -  

5,800  763  2,013  -  

Environment

Land Remediation Scheme 103  -  -  -  

Blakewater Car Park 230  -  -  -  

333  -  -  -  

Growth and Development

Bank Top and Griffin 150  -  -  -  

Neighbourhood Intervention 720  -  -  -  

Equity Loans/PALs Griffin 100  -  -  -  

Empty Homes Cluster 360  -  -  -  

Other Acquisitions 10  -  -  -  

Development Investment Fund 250  -  -  -  

Assistance to Industry 150  150  150  -  

Blakey Moor 2,257  -  -  -  

Cathedral Quarter Office Block 38  -  -  -  

Local Transport Plan 1,698  -  -  -  

Land Release Fund 400  -  -  -  

6,133  150  150  -  

Digital and Customer Services

Corporate ICT Desktop Refresh 113  -  -  -  

Corporate ICT Core Infrastructure Programme 120  -  -  -  

Corporate ICT Legal Services Case Management System 25  -  -  -  

Corporate ICT Corporate Website 86  -  -  -  

Corporate ICT Town Hall IT Infrastructure Update 190  -  -  -  

Corporate ICT Digital Customer Portal 587  -  -  -  

Corporate ICT Round Management System 133  -  -  -  

1,254  -  -  -  

Finance and Governance

Corporate Accommodation Strategy Phase 2 2,000  -  -  -  

Carbon Management Plan 67  -  -  -  

Darwen Town Hall Reroofing 220  -  -  -  

Mill Hill Community Centre Roof 60  -  -  -  

2,347  -  -  -  

TOTAL Approved Schemes 18,461  2,527  3,777  -  

3. Earmarked schemes

Corporate ICT 2,000  -  -  -  

Corporate Property Investment 3,000  2,000  2,000  -  

Vehicles Earmarked Scheme 532  -  -  -  

APPENDIX C

Page 118



Capital Programme 2021/2024

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future 

Years

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

APPENDIX C

TOTAL Earmarked capital reserves 5,532  2,000  2,000  -  

4.Contingent schemes

Asset Management Strategy 1,500  1,500  1,500  -  

TOTAL Contingent capital reserves 1,500  1,500  1,500  -  

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 25,493  6,027  7,277  -  

Page 119



   

  

APPENDIX D 
 
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2021 to 2024 

 
1.0 Purpose 

 
Robust medium term financial planning is essential, especially in the current 
economic environment. Ensuring the ongoing stability of budgets allows managers to 
plan over the longer term for their services and ensures that resources are deployed 
in the most effective way to achieve greater efficiency and to align their resources 
with the priorities of the Council. In this way viable, effective services can continue to 
be provided. 

 
The purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is to set the financial 
framework for the Council for the medium term to ensure delivery of strategic 
objectives and major projects. This requires a review and assessment of revenue 
budgets, the capital programme, levels of reserves and potential future Council Tax 
levels, based on funding projections and other financial and economic assumptions.  

 
Although the strategy would normally extend to cover the 3 year period beyond the 
end of the budget year, i.e. through to 2024/25, given that; 

 as in 2020/21, the Government has only provided a one year funding 
settlement for 2021/22 and  

 uncertainty prevails around the quantum and mechanisms for raising and 
distributing future local government resources,  

as for the MTFS presented to Finance Council in 2020, this MTFS has been limited 
to 2 rather than 3 additional years, i.e. to 2023/24, until more clarity is provided on 
central Government’s intended changes to the local government funding framework, 
as noted in Section 3.0 below.  
 
The MTFS forms a pivotal link between financial and business planning, both 
reflecting and influencing the key plans of the Council and re-aligning diminishing 
resources on the key priorities. 

 
2.0 Local Context 

 
The MTFS underpins the Council’s Corporate Plan, which was updated and agreed 
by elected Members in March 2019. The Plan sets out for residents, staff and 
partners, the Council’s top priorities for the period through to 2023, and how the 
Council will continue to improve services and manage the ongoing and difficult 
financial challenges ahead, reflecting changes in Council structure and the range of 
initiatives, new partnerships and interventions we have put in place in recent years, 
alongside the changing landscape in local government and the wider public sector. 

The Council has agreed 8 key priorities which sit under 4 strategic themes, as 
follows; 

People:  A good quality of life for all of our residents 

 Supporting young people and raising aspirations 

 Safeguarding and supporting the most vulnerable people 

 Reducing health inequalities and improving health outcomes 

 

Page 120



   

  

Place:  Community pride in a vibrant place to live and visit 

 Connected communities 

 Safe and clean environment 

 

Economy:  A strong and inclusive economy with continued growth 

 Strong, growing economy to enable social mobility 

 Supporting our town centres and businesses 

 

Council:  Delivered by a strong and resilient council 

 Transparent and effective organisation 

The Corporate Priorities and Plan are underpinned by an action plan with key 
corporate and portfolio performance measures so we can progress and monitor 
achievement against each of these priorities. 

Whilst we remain ambitious in our plans to deliver for the residents of the borough, 
the sustained reductions in government funding that have significantly affected the 
Council and the services that it provides to the public since 2010, has impinged on 
what we are able to do and to achieve.  
 
As we have only been given a one-year settlement for 2021/22, and continued 
uncertainty and risk prevails in the unknown changes to future funding from 2022/23, 
the challenge persists to continuously review and realign resources, and to deliver 
efficiencies within the financial constraints imposed by the Government; in doing so, 
the Council is committed to mitigating, wherever possible, the impact on front line 
services.   

 
3.0 Financial Context 

 
The fact we have only received a one year settlement has exacerbated the 
uncertainty and the risk in our medium term financial planning; in the absence of any 
figures or framework from Government, it has been almost impossible to prepare a 
credible financial strategy beyond 31st March 2022 with any degree of confidence in 
the underlying assumptions. Uncertainty prevails in respect of: 

 the development and implementation of a Business Rates Retention Scheme,  

 the development and implementation of a new Fair Funding formula,  

 the future of Government grant funding including Public Health Grant, 
Improved Better Care Fund and Social Care Grant 

 plans for integration of the NHS and adult social care  

 the impact of Brexit, including the potential change to former EU funding 
streams linked to the government’s ‘levelling up’ agenda and proposed future 
shared prosperity funds 

 devolution and potential local government reorganisation  
 
and critically,  
 

 in the public health, social, economic and financial impact of the global Covid-
19 pandemic in both the short and medium term. 

 
It is within this financial context that we have developed the MTFS. 

Page 121



   

  

 

3.1 Fair Funding Review 

The current funding baselines for local authorities in England, as determined by the 
annual local government finance settlement, are based on an assessment of their 
relative needs and resources. The methodology behind this assessment was first 
introduced over ten years ago, and has not been updated since the introduction of 
the 50% business rates retention system in 2013-14. 

Whilst this approach has ensured that those councils who have grown their business 
rates since this time have benefited from the additional income generated, it also 
means that the changes in the underlying level of ‘need’ within individual councils, 
has not been updated since the 2013-14 settlement. In addition, a desire to fully 
capture every aspect of a local authority’s needs has led to increasingly large 
numbers of variables being included in the formulas, many of which have had a 
relatively minimal impact on the overall distribution of funding.  

A consultation was issued at the end of 2018, which closed on 21 February 2019, on 
proposals for a new and simplified needs assessment formula, based on a smaller 
number of indicators; two years later, we are still awaiting the response.  

3.2 Business Rates Retention 

The Government’s ambition for business rates retention remains two-fold: 

1. to give local government greater control over the money it raises, recognising 
that local authorities are best placed to decide local priorities, and  

2. to incentivise local authorities to support local economic growth.  

As such, the intention is that the new business rates retention system will be 
designed to transfer a level of risk and reward to local authorities, allowing growth or 
decline within a local economy to be reflected in their business rates income. 
However in the design of the new system, careful consideration must be given to the 
Business Rates Baseline; i.e. the amount of business rates income that an authority 
is predicted to raise, over which growth in the locally raised business rates can be 
retained and the authorities resource needs; the system requires resetting in order to 
ensure that the distribution of resource remains aligned with need. 

As for the Fair Funding Review, although a consultation outlining suggestions and 
inviting comments for a future approach to Business Rates was undertaken in late 
2018, closing on 21st February 2019, given the political turmoil of 2019 and Brexit, 
followed by global crisis due to Covid-19, there has been no communication from the 
Government on the responses received or on their progress in the development of a 
new scheme.  
 
3.3 Adult Social Care  
 
As noted in the main body of the report at Section 5.5, the publication of the Green 
Paper on adult social care has been delayed several times; from an original 
publication date of “summer 2017”, delays have persisted with the news that a White 
Paper would be issued instead, only to be superseded by the Prime Minister’s 
announcement in January 2020 that he would bring forward ‘plans’ for social care 
during the year; the impact of Covid-19 frustrated any plans to do so but has 

Page 122



   

  

however, brought into sharp focus the inadequacies of the social care system. On 
12th February 2021 the government issued a paper setting out legislative proposals 
for a Health and Care Bill; ‘Integration and Innovation: working together to improve 
health and social care for all’. Within the document Government have stated that we 
are living through the greatest challenge our health and care system has ever faced. 
Collaboration across health and social care has accelerated at a pace over the 
course of the crisis showing what can be achieved through collaboration, flexibility, 
adopting new technology focused on the needs of the patient, and setting aside 
bureaucracy. The paper aims to build on the collaborations seen through the 
pandemic to shape a system that is better able to serve people in a fast-changing 
world. We must await the development of this to understand the impact it will have 
on social care and local government, and on local government finances. 

3.4 Pensions 
 

The triennial actuarial valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme in 2019, 
identified an increase in Employer Pension contributions from 14.8% to 17.4% for the 
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council section of the fund; this is required to meet 
the projected increase in the value of the future pension liabilities for those staff 
currently working in the organisation and who are in the pension fund.  
 
Following discussions with the Scheme Actuary and the Head the Lancashire County 
Pension Fund, and following agreement by the Lancashire Local Pension Board, it 
was agreed that the Council would take a stepped approach to implementing the 
increase over the 3 years; 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23.  
 
The Council will continue to repay the scheme deficit over the remaining 15 years of 
the agreed repayment period and the MTFS reflects the Council’s decision taken last 
year to take advantage of the discount offered for early payment, resulting in 
payment of all the above pension contributions in April 2020 i.e. at the start of the 3 
year plan; this has resulted in a net saving, after accounting for interest on 
borrowing, of approximately £1.5 million across the 3 year period.  

 
4.0 MTFS – Key issues and assumptions 

 
The MTFS has been reviewed and updated within this financial context, ensuring 
that the Council’s strategy remains to help support those in hardship whilst 
encouraging the growth of jobs and businesses. 
 
The Council has managed, with resilience and strong financial control, in balancing 
the delivery of good quality services to the residents of the borough and in meeting 
its statutory duties, alongside an unprecedented contraction in funding. It has done 
so through service reorganisation, redesign and successive savings programmes. 

The Council will continue to monitor income and expenditure streams and to identify 
emerging cost pressures, particularly as more clarity emerges on the new funding 
mechanisms, and we will continue to develop, report and implement the necessary 
financial responses to ensure financial stability and sustainability going forward. 
 
5.0 MTFS key issues and assumptions - Resources and Expenditure 

 
The key figures and assumptions included within the MTFS in relation to Resource 
and Expenditure levels are as follows; 

Page 123



   

  

RESOURCES 2021/22 
£’000 

2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

ASSUMPTIONS FOR 2022/23 and 2023/24 

Revenue Support Grant 13,597 13,733 13,966 In the absence of any further information regarding a future Business Rates Retention scheme it 
has been assumed that RSG, the system of tariffs and top-ups and 50% retention will continue. It 
is assumed that all three elements of the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) will increase by 
an inflationary uplift each year. 

Top Up 24,275 24,518 24,935 

Locally retained Business Rates 20,545 20,494 20,842 

Business Rates related grants  5,240 5,200 5,200 These grants, which compensate for lost business rates income due to changes in relief since the 
Business Rates Baseline was set, are assumed to continue at a similar level until details of a new 
scheme are made available. 

Council Tax (including Parish Precepts) 57,207 59,220 60,701 The MTFS includes assumptions for; 

 a prudent estimate for housing growth in the tax base of £300k for both 22/23 and 23/24 – 
this model is under continuous review, in conjunction with the Growth Team and the 
Revenues Team 

 a general Council Tax increase of 1.99% in each year  

 no further increase in the number of Council Tax Support claimants beyond the level included 
and rolled forward into the tax base from the 21/22 budget – any increase will be offset by the 
application of the CTS Reserve established for this purpose 

 the phased implementation of the 3% Adult Social Care Precept, i.e. a precept of 2% in 21/22 
with the balance of 1% in 22/23, with no further increase in 23/24  

(Deficit)/Surplus on Collection Fund (7,883) (817) (816) The MTFS assumes the in-year Collection Fund for 21/22, 22/23 and for 23/24 will breakeven for 
both Council Tax and Business Rates but reflects the recoupment of the estimated deficit incurred 
in 20/21 over the 3 year period, as allowed by Government as a concession to manage the 
financial impact of Covid-19. 

Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit 
Admin Grant  

700 650 600 It is assumed that the Admin Grants will reduce as more claimants move over to Universal Credit. 

New Homes Bonus 825 185 0 Government has announced the end of NHB in its current form and will consult on this in 2021 - 
given the uncertainties, the MTFS assumes no further NHB  

Building Schools for the Future (BSF) Private 
Finance Initiative (PFI) funding 

8,472 8,472 8,472 The funding level was agreed with Government at the outset of the PFI projects 

Improved Better Care Fund  8,103 8,103 8,103 In the absence of any further information regarding the future of Adult Social Care funding, the 
MTFS assumes that the iBCF will continue at the 2021/22 level 

Social Care Support Grant 6,551 4,925 4,925 It is assumed that given the pressures on social care, the grant (or some form of support for social 
care) will continue at its 20/21 level of £4.9mill. 

Extended Rights to Free Travel 31 31 31 Assumed continuation of this small grant 

Lower Tier Services Grant 317 0 0 One-off grant awarded in 21/22 

Local Council Tax Support Grant 2,126 0 0 One-off grant awarded in 21/22 and transferred to Earmarked Reserves to meet future LCTS 
scheme costs  

Covid-19 Grant 2021/22 5,125 0 0 One-off grant awarded in 21/22 and transferred to Earmarked Reserves to meet additional costs 
of Covid-19 in 21/22. 

TOTAL RESOURCES 145,231 144,714 146,959  

P
age 124



   

  

 

EXPENDITURE 2021/22 
£’000 

 

2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

ASSUMPTIONS FOR 2022/23 and 2023/24 

Portfolio Controllable Budgets 120,890 120,690 120,691 The MTFS reflects the removal of non-recurring income, expenditure and one-off adjustments 
from the 2021/22 budgets  

Contingencies 8,251 11,339 16,208 The assumptions made in respect of contingencies held in future years include; 

 Provision for a Pay award - 2% assumed in both 2022/23 and 2023/24 (amounting to £2.8m 
over the 2 years) 

 Provision for Inflationary uplift on specific expenditure lines (equating to £1.8m over the 2 
years) – this covers inflation on costs such as social care commissioning and energy in both 
2022/23 and 2023/24  

 Provision for increases in the National Living Wage and progression towards parity across 
Lancashire in social care provider rates (amounting to approx. £4.0m over the 2yrs) 

 Apprentice Levy and support to fund Corporate Apprentices 

 Increases in current service Employer Pension contributions from 16.4% in 2021/22 to 
17.4% in both 2022/23 and 2023/2024  

 Payment of Pension Fund Deficit  

Interest paid/received and Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) 

12,335 13,102 13,077 The figures for 22/23 and 23/24 include the costs of planned net borrowing and increases in 
MRP to reflect the capital programme 2021- 2024 

Interest paid/received and MRP in respect of 
PFI projects 

5,952 6,218 6,236 The interest costs were agreed at the outset of the PFI projects 

Revenue funding for capital projects  3,381 0 0 Several schemes included within the 2021/22 capital programme are planned to be financed 
from revenue “contributions” e.g. s106 contributions, which have been accounted for in prior 
periods and carried forward in earmarked reserves 

Schools contributions for prudential borrowing, 
for support services and from DSG Central 
Schools Support 

(1,357) (1,274) (1,207) Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Central Services funding for the historic commitment for 
prudential borrowing has reduced again in 21/22 and a further reduction is estimated for 22/23 
and beyond 

Parish precepts/grants 190 189 189 Assumed at their 21/22 levels 

Transfer to (+) / from (-) Earmarked Reserves (4,463) 80 80 There is significant movement to/from reserves planned for 2021/22, arising mainly from the 
significant Government support provided to alleviate the impact of the pandemic e.g. movements 
to reserves in respect of “general” Covid-19 funding and Council Tax Support grant, offset by 
transfers from reserves to fund the Business Rate deficit brought forward from 2020/21 (due to 
enhanced reliefs) and to finance planned capital expenditure as referred to above. Further 
transfers will undoubtedly be required, and all of these will be reported in the quarterly Corporate 
Revenue Monitoring returns, but they will stem from income and expenditure flows that cannot 
be quantified at this time.   

Replenishment of Unallocated Reserves 52 0 0  

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 
 

145,231 150,334 155,274  

BUDGET SURPLUS/(SHORTFALL) 0 (5,630) (8,315) 
 

 

P
age 125



   

  

 
6.0 MTFS Financial Forecast - Summary 

 
The Council has worked hard through the implementation of a range of measures to 
close the budget gaps that have arisen each year through the Government’s 
programme of austerity; subject to the assumptions made in these papers, yet again, 
and not without impact on the residents of the borough and the services they 
receive, it has again, albeit only just, managed to do so for 2021/22.  
 
From an income perspective, the one-year settlement for 2021/22 is a short-term 
measure to get us through the year and does not facilitate meaningful or effective 
financial planning to support service delivery. 

The future funding level for 2022/23 and beyond is an unknown given the 
uncertainties around the future mechanisms for Business Rates Retention, tariff and 
top-ups, the development and implementation of a Fair Funding Review, the future 
funding of adult social care and the potential integration of social care with health, 
and the impact of Brexit, including the potential change to former EU funding 
streams linked to the government’s ‘levelling up’ agenda and proposed future shared 
prosperity funds 

From an expenditure perspective the situation is equally uncertain given the 
uncertainty in the public health, social, economic and financial impact of the global 
Covid-19 pandemic in both the short and medium term 
 
It is important to note that the figures upon which the budget gap of £5.630 million in 
2022/23 rising to £8.315 million in 2023/24 are based cannot be relied upon within 
any degree of certainty given the significant risks around the assumptions made, 
particularly given the lack of information provided by central Government in relation 
to future funding, and the mechanisms for its distribution, at this time.  
 
The MTFS presented therefore reflects the best estimate of future income and 
expenditure streams that we have at present. It is based on an array of current 
information and data sources and on a series of assumptions which are all referred 
to above and in the main body of the report. 
 

 

Page 126



1 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 – V 15 

 

Appendix E 
 

 
 
 

1. Introduction and Purpose 
 
1.1 Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, we (the Council) have the power to 
appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the authority “thinks fit”. This Pay 
Policy Statement details our approach to pay policy in accordance with the requirements of 
Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
1.2 The purpose of this policy statement is to provide transparency regarding our approach to 
setting the pay of employees (excluding teachers working in local authority schools) by 
identifying: 

 

 the methods by which salaries of all our employees are determined; 

 
 the detail and level of remuneration of our most senior employees i.e. ‘Chief Officers’, 

as defined by relevant legislation; 

 
 the Committee responsible for ensuring the provisions set out in this statement are 

applied consistently and in recommending any amendments to the full Council. 
 

1.3 It applies for the year 2021/2022 unless replaced or varied by the full Council. 
 
1.4 Once approved by the full Council, this policy statement will come into immediate effect 
and will be subject to review on at least an annual basis, the policy for the next financial year 
being approved by 31st  March each year. 

 
This Pay Policy Statement makes reference to a number of related documents and 
information which can be accessed via links to the Council website. These links will be 
inserted when the document is approved by Full Council and published in accordance 
with paragraph 14.1 below. 

 

2. Other legislation relevant to pay and remuneration 
 
2.1 In determining the pay and remuneration of all our employees, the Council will comply with 
all relevant employment legislation. This includes legislation such as the Equality Act 2010, 
Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000, General 
Data Protection Regulation 2018 and where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection 
of Employment) Regulations. We will also ensure there is no pay discrimination within our pay 
structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively justified through the use of job 
evaluation mechanisms, National Joint Council (NJC) and Hay Group, which directly establish 
the relative levels of posts in grades according to the requirements, demands and 
responsibilities of the role. 

Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council 

Pay Policy Statement for the Year 2021/22 

Page 127

https://democracy.blackburn.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD351&amp;ID=351&amp;RPID=1319499


2 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 – V 15 

 

3. Pay Structure 
 
3.1 The Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine(s) (i.e. a defined list of salary points) 
as the basis for our local pay structure, which determines the salaries of the large majority of 
our (non-teaching) workforce together with locally determined rates where these do not apply. 

 

3.2 We adopt national pay bargaining arrangements for the establishment and revision of the 
national pay spine(s), for example through any agreed annual pay increases negotiated 
nationally with joint trade unions. 

 
3.3 All other pay related allowances for Senior Managers are the subject of either nationally 
or locally negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with 
collective bargaining machinery as for all employees. 

 
3.4 In determining our grading structure and setting remuneration levels for posts, the Council 
takes account of the need to ensure value for money in the use of public expenditure, balanced 
against the need to recruit and retain employees who are able to meet our requirements in 
providing high quality services to the community, delivered effectively and efficiently and at 
times at which the services are required. 

 
3.5 New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant pay scale for the 
grade, although this can be varied where necessary to secure the best candidate. Where the 
appointment salary is above the minimum point of the pay scale and is not affected by other 
Council policies or processes, for example alternative employment or flexible retirement, this 
is approved in accordance with the Recruitment and Selection Policy. 

 
3.6 From time to time it may be necessary for us to take account of the external pay levels in 
the labour market in order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, skills and 
capacity. Where necessary, we will ensure the requirement for such is objectively justified by 
reference to clear and transparent evidence of relevant market comparators, using data 
sources that are appropriate and available from within the local government sector and 
outside. 

 

3.7 Any temporary supplement to the salary scale for the grade is approved in accordance 
with the agreed policy. 

 

4. Senior Management Remuneration 
 
4.1 For the purposes of this statement, Senior Management means ‘Chief Officers’ as defined 
within the Localism Act. The posts falling within the statutory definition are set out below, with 
details of their basic salary as at 1st April 2021. 

 
4.2 Where we are unable to recruit Chief Officers, or there is a need for interim support to 
provide cover for a substantive Chief Officer post, the Council will, where necessary, consider 
engaging individuals under a ‘contract for service’. These will be sourced through a relevant 
procurement process ensuring we are able to demonstrate the maximum value for money 
benefits from competition in securing the relevant service. In assessing such it should be noted 
that in respect of such engagements we are not required to make either pension or national 
insurance contributions for such individuals. 

 

4.3 The Council does not currently have any Chief Officers engaged under such 
arrangements. 

Page 128

https://democracy.blackburn.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD372&amp;ID=372&amp;RPID=1319472


3 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 – V 15 

 

5. Chief Executive and Chief Officer pay scales 2021/2022 
(Last national pay award increase applied from 01/04/2020). All the posts listed below 
are permanent unless otherwise stated in the notes 

 
Chief Executive of Council 
£149,111- £162,933 
Denise Park 
denise.park@blackburn.gov.uk – 01254 585655 
 
Strategic Director, Adults & Health (DASS)  
£111,000 - £120,600 
Sayyed Osman 
sayyed.osman@blackburn.gov.uk  – 01254 585340 
 
Strategic Director, Children’s & Education (DCS)  
£111,000 - £120,600 
Jayne Ivory 
jayne.ivory@blackburn.gov.uk – 01254 588888 
 
Strategic Director, Place 
£101,000 - £110,200 
Martin Kelly 
martin.kelly@blackburn.gov.uk – 01254 588686 
 
Strategic Director, Resources 
£101,000 - £110,200 
Paul Fleming 
paul.fleming@blackburn.gov.uk – 01254 222535 
 
Director of HR, Governance & Engagement (monitoring officer) 
£91,756 - £100,580 
David Fairclough 
david.fairclough@blackburn.gov.uk – 01254 585642 
 
Director of Finance (s151 chief financial officer) 
£91,756 - £100,580 
Louise Mattinson 
louise.mattinson@blackburn.gov.uk – 01254 585600 
 
Director of Place 
£91,756 - £100,580 
Martin Eden 
martin.eden@blackburn.gov.uk – 01254 585102 
 
Director of Public Health (DPH) 
£91,756 - £100,580 (see Note 5(i)) 
Dominic Harrison 
dominic.harrison@blackburn.gov.uk – 01254 (58)8920 

 
Deputy Director, Adults Social Care  
£79,900 - £87,947 
Vacant 

 
Deputy Director, Education  
£79,900 - £87,947 
Vacant 

Page 129

mailto:denise.park@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:sayyed.osman@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.ivory@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:martin.kelly@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:paul.fleming@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:david.fairclough@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:louise.mattinson@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:martin.eden@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:dominic.harrison@blackburn.gov.uk


4 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 – V 15 

 

Deputy Director Children’s Social Care  
£79,900 - £87,947 
Vacant 

 

Other Roles included as paid on Chief Officer scales* 
£79,900 - £87,947 

 
Public Health Consultant (Medicine) (0.81FTE)* 
Gifford Kerr 
gifford.kerr@blackburn.gov.uk - 01254 (58)8820 
 
Consultant in Public Health* 
Laura Wharton 
Laura.wharton@blackburn.gov.uk - 01254 (58)8911 

 
Consultant in Public Health (0.18 FTE)* 
Shirley Goodhew 
Shirley.Goodhew@blackburn.gov.uk - 01254 (58)8924 

 
Growth Programme Director (see Note 5(ii)) 
Simon Jones 
simon.jones@blackburn.gov.uk 

 

5.1 Notes 
Information is based on the Chief Officer structure with effect from 1st April 2021 following Policy 
Council December 2020.  

 
* Included for transparency due to salary level post job evaluation. 
 
i) Following pay and grading review this post is confirmed as Director 1 – employee in receipt 
of temporary pay protection additional allowance due to exceptional circumstances related to 
pandemic.  Current salary of £106,406 per annum. 

 

ii) Following transfer to the Council in 2018 post is confirmed as Director 2 – employee in 
receipt of temporary pay protection.  Current salary of £114,445 per annum. 

 
iii) The Chief Executive & Chief Officer Employment Committee determines the numbers and 
grades of Chief Officers - full terms of reference are contained in the Council Constitution. 
Appointments are subject to consultation with the Executive Board - Current membership of 
the Committee is as follows: 

 
Leader of the Council 
2 x Deputy Leader of the Council 
Leader of Main Opposition Group 
 
iv) The Chief Executive appointment is subject to full Council approval and the Chief Executive 
& Chief Officer Employment Committee recommends pay and conditions of employment - full 
terms of reference are contained in the Council Constitution. 

 

v) The Chief Officer Structure Chart is set out at the end of this document. 
 

6. Recruitment of Chief Officers 
 
6.1 The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of Chief Officers is set 
out within the Council Constitution. 

 

Page 130

mailto:gifford.kerr@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:Laura.wharton@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:Shirley.Goodhew@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:simon.jones@blackburn.gov.uk
https://democracy.blackburn.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD355&amp;ID=355&amp;RPID=1319470


5 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 – V 15 

 

6.2 When recruiting to all posts we will take full and proper account of all relevant employment 
law and Equal Opportunities, Recruitment and Alternative Employment Procedures as 
approved by the Council. 

 

6.3 The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed Chief Officer 
will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at the time of 
recruitment. 

 

7. Policy on the remuneration of Chief Officers 
 
7.1 The salaries detailed above are determined by the respective Chief Executive & Chief 
Officer Employment Committee and are based on the Hay Group methodology for job 
evaluation and also having due regard to the Council’s duty to ensure best value and after 
taking professional advice on pay levels, market conditions and other relevant factors. 

 
7.2 With the exception of progression through the incremental scale of the relevant grade 
being subject to satisfactory performance, which is assessed on an annual basis, the level of 
remuneration is not variable dependent upon the achievement of defined targets. 

 
7.3 The Government determines and funds the fees for Returning Officers and for related 
electoral duties for National and Police and Crime Commissioner Elections and these are 
subject to full re-imbursement and paid to officers as appropriate. The fees for Local Elections 
are based on a County wide formula. 

 
7.4 To meet specific operational requirements it may be necessary for an individual to 
temporarily take on additional duties to their identified role. Our arrangements for authorising 
any additional remuneration [e.g. honoraria, ex gratia, ‘acting up’] relating to temporary 
additional duties for Chief Officers are set out in the Council Constitution. 

 

7.5 The level of remuneration is determined as set out above. Other than allowable 
expenses we make no payments in addition to the basic salary to Senior Managers for 
undertaking their core role. Overtime is not payable to Senior Managers. 

 

8. Payments to Senior Managers on their ceasing to hold office under or 
to be employed by the authority. 
 
8.1 Our approach to payment of Senior Managers is the same as those which apply to all our 
employees including those related to long service awards. 

 

8.2 Currently, we operate early retirement scheme(s) where employees may apply for 
voluntary severance. Payments under the scheme are in accordance with the respective 
Pension Scheme Regulations. 

 
8.3 Any applications within these schemes for Senior Managers however are subject to 
approval by the Chief Executive/Chief Officer Employment Committee (as appropriate). 

 

8.4 In circumstances where employees find they are `at risk of redundancy’ they may apply 
for voluntary redundancy and the number of weeks redundancy pay is in accordance with 
national legislation or contractual national terms of employment. For Senior Managers as for 
most other employees the Council pay is for the actual weeks’ pay due. Again for those Officers 
in pension schemes payments are made in accordance with the Pension Scheme Regulations. 
Voluntary redundancy application is open equally to Senior Managers as it is for all appropriate 
employees. 

 
8.5 In all instances, including Senior Managers, our approach is to avoid employee 

Page 131

https://democracy.blackburn.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD355&amp;ID=355&amp;RPID=1319561
https://democracy.blackburn.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD357&amp;ID=357&amp;RPID=1319575


6 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 – V 15 

 

redundancies wherever possible and try and identify suitable alternative job options as 
opposed to compulsory or voluntary redundancy. As such, in circumstances where an Officer’s 
role is redundant an alternative may be found and if suitable the employee could be redeployed 
into that role with temporary salary protection (if appropriate) in line with the Council’s 
alternative employment process. For Senior Managers such considerations are for the Chief 
Executive/Chief Officer Employment Committee. 

 
8.6 Employees who have applied for early retirement or voluntary redundancy will not be 
eligible to be employed by the Council for a period of 6 months from the date that they leave 
our employment, this includes employment by external agencies (including via the Council’s 
preferred supplier [subject to tender]), or by any other means. 

 
8.7 Compensation payments for loss of office are considered in situations where the 
employment relationship is no longer tenable. The Council’s approach is to treat each case on 
its individual merits, taking professional advice on appropriateness, and ensuring that all 
payments represent value for money to the taxpayer. For Senior Managers such 
considerations are for the Chief Executive/Chief Officer Employment Committee. 

 
8.8 In accordance with wider practice any severance package would not normally exceed an 
18 month payback period. I.e. severance pay would not be greater than one and a half year 
salary. 

 

9. Lowest Paid Employees 
 
9.1 The lowest paid employees on a contract of employment with the Council are employed 
on full time [37 hours] equivalent salaries in accordance with the minimum spinal column point 
currently in use within the Council’s grading structure which is based on the National Joint 
Council pay scales. 

 

9.2 As at 31st December 2020, this was £17,842 per annum. We employ Apprentices 
who are not considered within the definition of ‘lowest paid employees’ as they are 
employed under defined training contract terms. 

9.3 The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid and Chief Officers is 
determined by the processes used for determining pay and grading structures as set out earlier 
in this policy statement. 

 
9.4 As part of our overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay markets, both 
within and outside the sector, the Council will use available benchmark information as 
appropriate. 

 

10. Apprentices 

10.1 Our rates for Apprentices are above the Apprenticeship National Minimum Wage 
guidelines for apprentices. The rates are reviewed every April.  The rates below are as at 1st 
April 2020. 

 
Year 1 - £6.15 per hour 

Year 2 - £6.45 per hour or age related National Minimum Wage if 21 or older. 

Page 132

https://democracy.blackburn.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD372&amp;ID=372&amp;RPID=1319600


7 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 – V 15 

 

Apprentice Information 

 
Reporting Period – 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020 

 

Figure   
A The number of employees whose employment in 

England by the body began during the reporting period 
169 

B The number of apprentices who began to work for the 
body in the reporting period and whose apprenticeship 
agreements also began in that period (This includes 
employees who were already working for the body 
before beginning their apprenticeship, as well as new 
apprentice hires) 

33 

C the number of employees employed in England that the 
body has at the end of the reporting period (31st March) 

2125 

D the number of apprentices who work for the body at the 
end of the reporting period (31st March) 

92 

E Figure B expressed as a percentage of figure A 19.5% 

F Figure D expressed as a percentage of figure C 4.33% 

G The number of apprentices who worked for the body 
immediately before the reporting period started (1st 

April) 

33 

H Headcount on the day before the first day of each 
reporting period in the target period 

2160 

I Figure B expressed as a percentage of figure H 1.5% 

 
11. Gender Pay Gap 

 
11.1 The Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations came into effect in 
March 2017. They require that organisations with 250 employees or more publish a series of 
statistics covering a number of different measures of the gap between the total pay of male 
and female employees. These measures must be published, no later than 30 March each year 
for Public Authorities. 

 
11.2 We were very pro-active in ensuring that a review of pay and reward was undertaken at 
a very early stage over ten years ago and we have continued to monitor the impact of this on 
our workforce. Men and women in the same role, performing equal work are paid equally, 
‘same job – same pay’.  We actively support the progression of both men and women within 
the organisation and all employees progress proportionately. 

 
11.3 Our Gender Pay information is outlined in our published Equality Watch Report 20/21 

 

12. Relationship between: Remuneration of Senior Managers, and Remuneration of 
non-Senior Managers 

 
12.1 The Council has no formal policy on the relationship between the remuneration of Senior 
Managers and other employee groups. 

Page 133

https://blackburn.gov.uk/index.php/data-and-information/equality-watch/equality-watch-2020-2021


8 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 – V 15 

 

12.2 Will Hutton’s report entitled Fair Pay in the Public Sector contained a recommendation that 
the Chief Executive’s salary should not exceed 20 times that of the lowest pay in the 
organisation. 
 
12.3 At Blackburn with Darwen, the pay multiple between the Chief Executive’s pay and the 
lowest paid employee in the organisation (see above) is 8.6:1, and is therefore well within this 
recommended range. 
 
12.4 The summary workforce data is shown below. 

 

Highest Pay Grade £149,111- £162,933 

Highest Pay £152,569 

Lowest pay £17,842 

Average Pay (per annum) – mean £28,916 

Average Pay (per annum) – median £25,991 

Pay Difference (between average & highest pay) 

– mean 
£123,653 

Pay Difference (between average & highest pay) 

– median 
£126,578 

Pay Multiple (ratio between average & highest 

pay) - mean 
5.3:1 

Pay Multiple (ratio between average & highest 

pay) – median 
5.9:1 

Pay Multiple (ratio between the lowest and the 

highest pay) 
8.6:1 

Data based on pay as at 31st December 2020 

 

Notes 
 

 The data is based on pay as at 31st December 2020. 
 

13. Trade Union Facility Time (The following section will be completed at the end of 

the 2020/2021 financial year and published accordingly). 

 
Trade Union Facility Time information for the period 1st April 2021 – 31st March 2022. 

 
13.1 The Trade Unions represented within the Local Authority are Unison, Unite and GMB. 

Page 134



9 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 – V 15 

 

13.2 Total number of employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant period 

Number of employees who were relevant 

union officials during the relevant period 

Full-time equivalent employee number 

TBC TBC 

 
13.3 Number of employees who were relevant union officials employed during the relevant 
period spent a) 0%, b) 1%-50%, c) 51%-99% or d) 100% of their working hours on facility time? 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0% TBC 

1-50% TBC 

51%-99% TBC 

100% TBC 

 
13.4 Percentage of total pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant union officials 
for facility time during the relevant period. 

First Column Figures 

Provide the total cost of facility time TBC 

Provide the total pay bill TBC 

Provide the percentage of the total pay 
bill spent on facility time, calculated as: 
(total cost of facility time ÷ total pay bill) x 
100 

TBC 

 
13.5 As a percentage of total paid facility time hours, number of hours spent by employees 

who were relevant union officials during the relevant period on paid trade union activities. 

Time spent on paid trade union activities 
as a percentage of total paid facility time 
hours calculated as: 

 
(total hours spent on paid trade union 

activities by relevant union officials during 

the relevant period ÷ total paid facility time 

hours) x 100 

TBC 

 

14. Publication 
 

14.1 Upon approval by the full Council, this statement will be published on the Councils 
Website. The Policy will be updated and re-published at least annually. Our Annual Statement 
of Accounts will also include a note setting out: 

 

 the number of employees whose remuneration in that year was at least £50,000 in 
brackets of £5,000; 

 the name of each employee and details of their remuneration, for employees whose 
salary is at least £150,000; 

 details of remuneration and job title of certain senior employees whose salary is between 
£50,000 and £150,000. 

Page 135

http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/
https://www.blackburn.gov.uk/financial/accounts-and-expenditure
https://www.blackburn.gov.uk/financial/accounts-and-expenditure
https://www.blackburn.gov.uk/financial/accounts-and-expenditure


 

10 

                                                                                                                                                                       APPENDIX A 
Departmental and Chief Officer structure for 2021: 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 – V 15 
 

P
age 136



Version 1.0 Page 1 23/02/2021 

 
 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF FINANCE   
 
TO: FINANCE COUNCIL 
 
DATE: 1st MARCH 2021 
 

 
 

 

SUBJECT :   COUNCIL TAX FOR 2021/22 
 

 
 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  The Council, in its role as billing authority, is required to set amounts of Council 
Tax before 11 March in the financial year preceding that for which it is set. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 The Council is recommended to approve the draft resolution setting the Council 
Tax for 2021/22, as set out in Appendix 1, or as amended at the meeting. 

 
   

3. BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The Council, as billing authority, is required to calculate a Council Tax requirement 
for the forthcoming year in accordance with regulations made under Section 31A 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended (the Act). In setting its 
Council Tax requirement, the Council takes into account any funding from 
reserves, income it expects to raise and general funding it will receive from 
Government as part of the Local Government Finance Settlement. 

3.2 The Council is also required to set a basic amount of Council Tax for the financial 
year 2021/22. The Council Tax is set on the basis of: 

(a) The precept on the Collection Fund issued by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Lancashire. 

(b) The precept on the Collection Fund issued by the Lancashire Combined Fire 
Authority. 

(c) The Borough Council’s precept on the Collection Fund, which is dependent on 
two factors: 

(i) its council tax requirement, and 
(ii) the precepts issued by the seven Parish / Town Councils. 

These are discussed in more detail later in the report. 
 
 
 
 

Page 137

Agenda Item 9



Version 1.0 Page 2 23/02/2021 

 4. RATIONALE 
   
4.1  To ensure that sufficient Council Tax is generated to meet all precepts. 
 
 

5. KEY ISSUES  
 

5.1 The Council Tax Requirement for 2021/22, together with the basic amount of     
Council Tax in relation to Band D properties for that part of the Borough having  
no Parish Councils  are calculated as follows: 

 £M 
Council’s proposed net expenditure  145.068 
Less: Council’s share of estimated deficit on 
the Council Tax Collection Fund 

        
    0.538 

  145.606 
Less:  General government grant funding  - 75.362 
            Retained business rates income  - 13.200 

Borough Council’s Council Tax Requirement    57.044 

  
Council Tax Base: 34,938.16 
  
Council Tax at Band D £1,632.71 

5.2   Parish / Town Council’s Precepts 

        From 1 April 2013 local council tax support schemes replaced council tax benefit 
in England. As a result the council tax base is reduced where a dwelling is in 
receipt of council tax support in a similar manner to other council tax discounts. 
This reduction in the tax base reduces the amount of council tax income that can 
be raised for the Borough as a whole, and for each parish area. In order to mitigate 
the effects of any reduction in tax base, the Council will again make a grant 
payment to make up the shortfall.  

        The Parish / Town Councils have each submitted their funding requirement, as 
detailed in Appendix 2. Members should be aware that the Parish Council 
precepts form part of the Council’s expenditure for the purposes of the Council 
Tax i.e. the Parish Precepts are added to the Council’s Council Tax requirement 
and the payments to Parishes are met from the General Fund.  Consequently, 
there is no adjustment to it, even though the Council may collect more or less from 
the Parish by way of Council Tax. 

        The average of the Parishes element of the Council Tax  is calculated as follows: 

Total Parish Requirement £189,995.13 
Less: Grants paid by Borough Council   £27,336.50 

Total Parish Precepts  £162,658.63 

  
Council Tax Base: 34,938.16 
  
Average Parish Council Tax at Band D £4.66 

In accordance with Section 31B of the Act, the basic amount of Council Tax for 
the year, including Parish precepts, is £1,637.37 (i.e. £1,632.71 + £4.66). 

 

Page 138



Version 1.0 Page 3 23/02/2021 

5.3   Collection Fund 

 Members will note from the calculation shown in paragraph 5.1 above, that 
Blackburn’s share of the deficit on the Council Tax Collection Fund is £538,454.  
Legislation requires that any such surplus or deficit must be reflected in the 
Council Tax calculation and, therefore, represents a reduction in funds for the 
year 2021/22.   

5.4   Major Precepting Authorities 

        At the time of writing this report, the recommendation in respect of the amount of 
precept due from Blackburn with Darwen Council for 2021/22 has yet to be agreed 
by the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for Lancashire. The PCC’s budget 
decision is expected to be signed in the week commencing 22nd February, and 
includes a recommended precept due from Blackburn with Darwen Council of 
£7,911,746, after an adjustment of £72,306 in respect of the precepting authority’s 
share of the estimated Collection Fund deficit. This results in a Band D Council 
Tax of £226.45, an increase of £15 per year for a Band D property.  

        At the time of writing this report, the recommendation in respect of the amount of 
precept due from Blackburn with Darwen Council has yet to go to the Lancashire 
Fire Authority meeting (scheduled for Monday 22nd February). The paper 
produced for the Fire Authority meeting has incorporated a recommended precept 
of £2,524,981, after an adjustment of £24,231 in respect of the precepting 
authority’s share of the estimated Collection Fund deficit, which results in a Band 
D Council Tax of £72.27, an increase of 1.99%.   

        The aggregate Council Tax calculation in relation to Band D properties for that 
part of the Borough having no Parish Councils, is as follows: 

 £M 
Borough Council’s Council Tax Requirement   57.044 
Lancashire Police Authority Precept     7.912  
Lancashire Combined Fire Authority Precept     2.525 

Total Council Tax requirement   67.481 

  
Council Tax Base: 34,938.16 
  
Aggregate Council Tax at Band D £1,931.43 

            
5.5   Having calculated the basic amount of Council Tax for a  Band  D property, the 

Council is then required to convert it into amounts for all Bands by applying the 
following proportions: 

Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H 

6/9 7/9 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 

 
        The Borough element of the Council Tax, together with the amount calculated for 

each band by the major precepting authorities, forms the aggregate Council Tax 
for each band. 

        For those parts of the Borough which have a Parish or Town Council, a higher tax 
is levied to finance the Parish or Town Council Precept as well. It follows therefore 
that the Borough will have 64 different Tax Rates i.e. 8 bands for 8 areas (7 Parish 

Page 139



Version 1.0 Page 4 23/02/2021 

or Town Councils and the area of the Borough having no Parish), and these are 
shown in detail on the attached draft resolution.  

 

5.6   Draft Resolution 

 The draft resolution for setting the Council Tax is set out in Appendix 1 to this 
report. The elements which form the Council Tax calculation, as detailed in 
paragraphs 5.1 to 5.6 above, are: 

• the “basic amount” of Blackburn’s element of the Council Tax for 2021/22 is 
£1,637.37. 

 • the average of the Parishes element (£4.66) is then deducted to give the 
Council Tax at Band D for those parts of the Borough not having a Parish 
Council (£1,632.71). 

• the calculation for all other Bands then follows e.g. Band A is 6/9ths (66.67%) 
of Band D, Band H is 18/9ths (200%) of Band D. 

 
 

6.  POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 

The policy implications from this report are contained within the Budget Strategy. 
 
 

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

The financial implication arising from the proposed recommendations of this report 
have been incorporated into the Budget Strategy. 
 
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Section 30 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 provides that the amounts 
set for each band will be the aggregate of the Borough element for each band 
calculated under Section 36 and the amount calculated for each band by the major 
precepting authorities. The Council Tax must be set before 11 March in the 
financial preceding that for which it is set. 
 
Under the Local Government (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014, which came into force on 25 February 2014, the Council is 
required to record in the minutes of a budget decision meeting the names of 
persons who cast a vote for or against the decision or who abstained from voting. 
  
 

9. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

None as a direct consequence of this report.  
 
 

10. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

  The decisions to be taken do not change policy and do not require any further 
consideration in respect of equality issues. 
 

Page 140



Version 1.0 Page 5 23/02/2021 

11. CONSULTATIONS 
 

The Council has consulted with its residents, business community, partners and 
other stakeholders throughout the Council Tax setting process.  
 
 

Chief Officer/Member       Louise Mattinson, Director of Finance (Ext. 5600) 
 

Contact Officer:  Karen Moore, Senior Finance Officer (Ext. 5929)  

Date:    17th February 2021 

Background Papers: Budget documentation and reports previously issued 

Page 141



Version 1.0 Page 6 23/02/2021 

Appendix 1 
 

Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council 
 

Draft Council Tax Resolution 2021/22 – Finance Council 1st March 2021 
 
 

The Council is recommended to resolve as follows: 
 
1. That it be noted that on 12th January 2021, the Council calculated the Council Tax 

Base for the year 2021/22 in accordance with regulations made under Section 
31B(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended (the Act): 

 
a) 34,938.16 being the Council Tax Base for the whole of the Council area (Item 

T in the formula in Section 31B of the Act); and 
 

b) for dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish precept relates, as 
detailed in Appendix 2. 

 
2. That the following amounts be calculated for the year 2021/22 in accordance with 

Sections 31 to 36 of the Act: 
 

a) £399,710,117 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) (a) to (f) of 
the Act taking into account all precepts issued to it by Parish 
Councils. 

   

b) £342,503,255 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3) (a) to (d) 
of the Act. 

   

c) £57,206,862 being the amount by which the aggregate at 2 (a) above 
exceeds  the aggregate at 2 (b) above, calculated by the 
Council, in accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act, as 
its Council Tax requirement for the year. (Item R in the 
formula in Section 31B of the Act). 

   

d) £1,637.37 being the amount at 2 (c) above (Item R) divided by the 
amount at 1(a) above (Item T), calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 31B of the Act, as the basic 
amount of its Council Tax for the year (including Parish 
precepts). 

   

e) £162,658.63 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish 
precepts) referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act (see 
Appendix 2). 

   

f) £1,632.71 Being the amount at 2 (d) above less the result given by 
dividing the amount at 2 (e) above by Item T (1 (a) above), 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34 (2) 
of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the 
year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which no 
Parish precept relates. 

Page 142



Version 1.0 Page 7 23/02/2021 

3. That it be noted that for the year 2021/22 the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) 
for Lancashire has issued a precept to the Council, in accordance with Section 40 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as indicated in the tables below, however 
at the time of writing this report, the precept had yet to be agreed by the PCC (signed 
week commencing 22nd February 2021). 

 
4. That it be noted that for the year 2021/22 the Lancashire Combined Fire Authority 

has issued a precept to the Council in accordance with Section 40 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, as indicated in the tables below, however at the time 
of writing this report, the precept had yet to be presented to the Lancashire Fire 
Authority meeting (held on Monday 22nd February 2021). 

 
5. That the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in the tables below as 
the amounts of Council Tax for the year 2021/22 for each part of its area and for each 
of the categories of dwellings. 
 
a) Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council 

  
Part of the Valuation Bands       

Council's          

Area A B C D E F G H 

Eccleshill Parish £1,105.81 £1,290.12 £1,474.42 £1,658.72 £2,027.32 £2,395.93 £2,764.53 £3,317.44 

Livesey Parish £1,093.98 £1,276.31 £1,458.64 £1,640.97 £2,005.63 £2,370.29 £2,734.95 £3,281.94 

North Turton Parish £1,100.68 £1,284.13 £1,467.57 £1,651.02 £2,017.91 £2,384.81 £2,751.70 £3,302.04 

Pleasington Parish £1,092.24 £1,274.28 £1,456.32 £1,638.36 £2,002.44 £2,366.52 £2,730.60 £3,276.72 

Tockholes Parish £1,115.09 £1,300.93 £1,486.78 £1,672.63 £2,044.33 £2,416.02 £2,787.72 £3,345.26 

Yate and Pickup 
Bank Parish £1,103.23 £1,287.10 £1,470.97 £1,654.84 £2,022.58 £2,390.32 £2,758.07 £3,309.68 

Darwen Town Council £1,097.45 £1,280.36 £1,463.27 £1,646.18 £2,012.00 £2,377.82 £2,743.63 £3,292.36 

All other parts of the 
Council's area £1,088.47 £1,269.89 £1,451.30 £1,632.71 £1,995.53 £2,358.36 £2,721.18 £3,265.42 

 
          b) Major Precepting Authorities 

   

Precepting Valuation Bands       

Authority         

 A B C D E F G H 

Lancashire Police 
Authority £150.97 £176.13 £201.29 £226.45 £276.77 £327.09 £377.42 £452.90 

         

Lancashire Combined 
Fire Authority £48.18 £56.21 £64.24 £72.27 £88.33 £104.39 £120.45 £144.54 

 
c) Aggregate Council Tax 

 
Part of the Valuation Bands       

Council's          

Area A B C D E F G H 

Eccleshill Parish £1,304.96 £1,522.46 £1,739.95 £1,957.44 £2,392.42 £2,827.41 £3,262.40 £3,914.88 

Livesey Parish £1,293.13 £1,508.65 £1,724.17 £1,939.69 £2,370.73 £2,801.77 £3,232.82 £3,879.38 

North Turton Parish £1,299.83 £1,516.47 £1,733.10 £1,949.74 £2,383.01 £2,816.29 £3,249.57 £3,899.48 

Pleasington Parish £1,291.39 £1,506.62 £1,721.85 £1,937.08 £2,367.54 £2,798.00 £3,228.47 £3,874.16 

Tockholes Parish £1,314.24 £1,533.27 £1,752.31 £1,971.35 £2,409.43 £2,847.50 £3,285.59 £3,942.70 

Yate and Pickup 
Bank Parish £1,302.38 £1,519.44 £1,736.50 £1,953.56 £2,387.68 £2,821.80 £3,255.94 £3,907.12 

Darwen Town Council £1,296.60 £1,512.70 £1,728.80 £1,944.90 £2,377.10 £2,809.30 £3,241.50 £3,889.80 

All other parts of the 
Council’s area £1,287.62 £1,502.23 £1,716.83 £1,931.43 £2,360.63 £2,789.84 £3,219.05 £3,862.86 

Page 143



Version 1.0 Page 8 23/02/2021 

Appendix 2 
 

Town and Parish Council Precepts 
 

 2020/21 2021/22 

Council Tax 
Increase /  

(Reduction) 
Council Tax Band D 

2021/22 less 2020/21 

   

Parish / Town Council Tax Base Precepts Grant Council Tax Tax Base Precepts Grant Council Tax 

    Band D    Band D 

  £ £ £  £ £ £ £ 

Eccleshill Parish 95.59 2,429.00 413.50 25.41 93.38 2,429.00 413.50 26.01 0.60 

Livesey Parish 2,060.12 17,017.00 1,371.00 8.26 2,086.29 17,233.00 1,371.00 8.26 0.00 

North Turton Parish 1,770.04 32,159.00 1,241.00 18.17 1,756.24 32,159.00 1,241.00 18.31 0.14 

Pleasington Parish 259.34 1,850.00 0.00 7.13 256.55 1,450.00 0.00 5.65 (1.48) 

Tockholes Parish 209.41 7,917.72 146.00 37.81 204.40 8,159.63 146.00 39.92 2.11 

Yate and Pickup Bank 
Parish 141.35 3,128.00 

 

260.00 22.13 141.60 3,133.00 

    

260.00 22.13 

 

0.00 

Darwen Town Council 7,541.34 98,095.00 23,905.00 13.01 7,281.78 98,095.00 23,905.00 13.47 0.46 

TOTAL / AVERAGE 12,077.19 162,595.72 27,336.50   4.57 11,820.24 162,658.63 27,336.50 4.66 0.09 

 

P
age 144



 

Version 1 1 23/02/2021 
 

 
 

 

 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF HR, LEGAL & 
GOVERNANCE                                                                             

 
                                
TO: FINANCE COUNCIL  
 
ON: 1st March 2021 
 

 
 

SUBJECT:   CONSTITUTION UPDATE & APPOINTMENT OF SECTION 151 
OFFICER  
 

 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

To request the Council approve an update of the Constitution to amend the Scheme of 
Delegation to Chief Officers reflecting the Policy Council approval of a new Organisational and 
departmental Structure and to amend and confirm the delegation of planning powers ensuring 
that they reflect Council resolutions.   To also ask the Council Forum to note the resignation of 
Louise Mattinson, Director of Finance and agree that pending a recruitment process that Denise 
Park, Chief Executive assume the Section 151 responsibilities. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  

The Council is asked to: 
 

Approve the revisions to the Constitution as set out in this report.  
 
To note the resignation of Louise Mattinson and agree that Denise Park, Chief Executive 
assume the responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer pending the appointment of a new 
Director of Finance. 

 

3. INFORMATION  
 

3.1 Constitution Update 
 
The Constitution was last updated in July 2020. 
 
The Constitution is a key document setting out the governance framework of the Council.  From 
time to time the constitution needs to be updated to reflect changes in legislation, resolutions 
passed by Council, portfolio changes made by the Leader, and changes made to the Council 
management structure and delegations.   
 
The Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officers also review and update generally the Constitution 
to ensure continued compliance with legislation and in this context to ensure any potential errors 
or inaccuracies are addressed.  
 
The main changes/updates in this report relate to the re-alignment of the Officer Scheme of 
Delegation (Section 16) to reflect the revised Officer and Organisational Structure of the Council 
post the changes approved by the Policy Council in December 2020. 
 

Page 145

Agenda Item 10



 

Version 1 2 23/02/2021 
 

The Constitution makes many references outside of Section 16 to the responsibilities of certain 
officers.  The Constitution has been updated throughout to reflect the job role/title changes 
reflective of the new Council organisational structure.  
 
During the recent review of the delegations however it was identified also that the drafting of the 
delegations in respect of planning powers did not accurately reflect the Council resolutions in 
October 2015 and July 2016.  The changes in the scheme of delegations have been analysed 
thoroughly referring to the early reports of the Planning Cross Party Members Working Group 
since 2011 and the proposals put forward in November 2014 and January 2015.  In addition, the 
minutes of the Planning & Highways Committee meeting of 19 February 2015 have also been 
reviewed long with the report to Council on 23 April 2015, particularly in relation to the ‘one 
objection’ trigger and commercial applications. It has been determined that the delegation of 
planning powers in the Constitution should reflect the Council resolutions of 1 October 2015 and 
21 July 2016.  The exercise of planning powers have correctly and consistently been in 
accordance with Council resolutions.  However, there is some inconsistency between these 
Council resolutions and the precise wording in the constitution.  It is an error which is unintentional 
and does not affect the validity of decisions made to date under the scheme of delegations.  
However, the wording in the Constitution should be amended to that it accurately reflects Council 
resolutions so that there is no ambiguity or confusion.     The opportunity has been taken therefore 
to correct this inconsistency and the Council is requested to endorse its decisions in relation to 
the scheme of delegation previously made and agree to the rectification amendments which now 
form part of the constitution update and review.    
 
The changes proposed are set out as `tracked` in the Appendix to this report. 
 
3.2 Appointment of Section 151 Officer 
 
The Chief Officer Employment Committee (COEC) was advised that the Director of Finance, 
Louise Mattinson has tendered her resignation and will be leaving the Council in April 2021 to 
take up a joint role with Chorley and South Ribble Borough Councils.  The COEC are progressing 
arrangements for the recruitment of a new Director of Finance (Statutory s151 chief financial 
officer). 
 
The council will therefore need to appoint an interim s151 chief financial officer for the period 
between Louise leaving and a new post holder starting. The COEC recommends to Full Council 
that Denise Park, Chief Executive, who is a qualified member of a relevant accountancy body 
(CIPFA), be asked to take on the s151 responsibilities in the interim, supported by appropriate 
Heads of Service in the Finance function. Denise has undertaken the role on an interim basis on 
2 previous occasions pending the appointment of a new s151 officer for the Council. 
 
 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 

Constitutions set out the governance framework for local authorities, which provide the 
foundations for any local authority that aspires to be effective, progressive and successful. 

 
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
   None 
 

7.   LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

The Local Government Act 2000 requires local authorities to prepare, keep up-to-date and 
publicise their constitution.   
 
It is clear from the history and analysis of the changes to the scheme of delegation that there is 
some inconsistency between the Council resolutions of 1 October 2015 and 21 July 2016, and 

Page 146



 

Version 1 3 23/02/2021 
 

the current wording of the constitution due to an unintentional error.  However, as the decisions 
made by Members of the Council on 1 October 2015 and 21 July 2016 created a lawful 
scheme of delegation consistent with the powers available under the powers available to the 
Council under section 101, Local Government Act 1972 and Part II of the Local Government 
Act 2000, the unintended error in the constitution does not override the existing decision of the 
Council to delegate as stated in the reports.   
 
Any legal challenge (by way of Judicial Review) to the determination of planning applications 
since July 2016 would be unsuccessful as statutory period for initiating such action has 
expired.  Also, judicial review is a discretionary remedy and the court would look into the 
substance of the decision rather than its form in order to consider the merits of the any judicial 
review application.   
 
Therefore the determination of planning applications made the under scheme of delegation as 
approved through Council resolutions are lawful, provided that such determinations were in 
compliance with relevant legislative planning requirements.   
 
Under the Council Constitution the Full Council approve the appointment of the `Chief 
Financial Officer` following a recommendation by the Chief Officer Employment Committee.  
The proposals for the appointment of an interim s151 officer as set out in this report are 
consistent with the Constitution. 

 
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

None 
 

 
9. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

The constitution update reflects changes in legislation and guidance.  It also reflects various 
resolutions passed at Council, which would have been subject to an equality assessment, if 
any. 

 
10. CONSULTATIONS 
 

Council Chief/Senior Officers and Members  
 
 
Contact Officer:  David Fairclough, Director of HR Legal & Governance 
    (01254 585642) 
 
    Asad Laher, Head of Legal & Governance (Council Solicitor) 
 

 
Date:     18th February 2021 
 
Background Papers:  Constitution & Council Reports 
     

Page 147



1 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COUNCIL 
CONSTITUTION 

 
 
 
 

Updated October 2020March 
2021 

  

Page 148



2 
 

Constitution of Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council 
  
 

Contents  
  

Part 1 Summary and Explanation  [Page 4 - 8] 
 
Part 2 Articles of the Constitution  [Page 9] 
 
Article 1  The Constitution  [Page 10] 
Article 2 Members of the Council  [Page 11] 
Article 3  Citizens and the Council  [Page 12-13] 
Article 4 The Full Council  [Page 14-15] 
Article 5  Chairing the Council  [Page 16] 
Article 6  Overview and Scrutiny [Page 17-19] 
Article 7  The Leader and the Executive Board  [Page 19-20] 
Article 8  Regulatory and other Committees  [Page 21]  
Article 9  The Standards Committee  [Page 22-23] 
Article 10  Partnerships and other Forums  [Page 24-26] 
Article 11  Joint Arrangements  [Page 27-28] 
Article 12  Officers [Page 29-33]  
Article 13  Decision Making  [Page 34-35] 
Article 14  Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters  [Page 36] 
Article 15  Review and Revision of the Constitution  [Page 37]  
Article 16  Suspension, Interpretation and Publication  
 of the Constitution  [Page 38] 
Schedule 1  Description of Executive Board  
 Arrangements [Page 39] 
  
Part 3 Responsibility for Functions [Page 40] 
  
Section 1  Responsibility for Local Choice Functions  [Page 41-43] 
Section 2  Functions to be carried out by Full Council  [Page 44] 
Section 3  Planning and Highways Committee  [Page 45-48] 
 Members Referral Scheme   
Section 4  Licensing Committee  [Page 49-50] 
Section 5  Standards Committee  [Page 51-52] 
Section 6  Independent Remuneration Panel  [Page 53] 
Section 7 Overview and Scrutiny Committees [Page 54] 
Section 8  Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committees  [Page 55] 
Section 9  Audit and Governance Committee [Page 56-59] 
Section 10  Advisory and Consultative Groups  [Page 60] 
Section 11 Health and Wellbeing Board [Page 61-65]  
Section 12  Other Committees of the Council  [Page 66] 
Section 13  Executive Functions [Page 67] 
Section 14  Executive Member Delegations [Page 68] 
Section 15  Portfolios for Executive Members  [Page 69-80] 
Section 16  Officer Scheme of Delegation [Page 81-93] 
Section 17  Proper Officer Provisions [Page 94-100] 
 
 
 

Page 149



3 
 

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure [Page 101] 
 
Section 1  Council Procedure Rules  [Page 102-120] 
Section 2  Access to Information and Decisions and  
 Attendance at Public Meetings [Page 121-133] 
Section 3  Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules  [Page 134-137] 
Section 4  Executive Board Procedure Rules  [Page 138-142]  
Section 5  Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules  [Page 143-150] 
Section 6  Code of Corporate Governance  [Page 151-181] 
Section 7  Financial Procedure Rules  [Page 182-203] 
Section 8  Contracts and Procurement Procedure Rules [Page 204-211] 
Section 9  Officer Employment Procedure Rules [Page 213-216] 
 
Part 5 – Codes and Protocols [Page 217] 
 
Section 1  Members’ Code of Conduct and  [Page 218-237] 
 Arrangements for dealing with complaints   
Section 2  Officers’ Code of Conduct  [Page 238-250] 
Section 3  Protocol on Member/Officer Relations [Page 251-259] 
Appendix A Re Family members and Social Care matters  [Page 260-261] 
Section 4  Key Decisions  [Page 262-264] 
 
Part 6 – Members’ Allowances Scheme [Page 265-273] 
 
Part 7 – Petitions  Scheme [Page 274-280] 
 
Part 8 – Council Staff Structure  [Page 281-282]
  

  

Page 150



4 
 



 

 

 

PART 1 
 

 

 

SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION 
 

 

  

Page 151



5 
 

Summary and Explanation 

 

The Council’s Constitution 
 
The Council has agreed a constitution which sets out how the Council operates, how 
decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are 
efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Some of these processes are 
required by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to choose.  
 
The Constitution is divided into 16 articles – which set out the basic rules governing the 
Council’s business. More detailed procedures and codes of practice are provided in 
separate rules and protocols at the end of the document. 
 

What’s in the Constitution? 
 
Article 1 of the Constitution commits the Council to clear leadership; partnership working 
and the active involvement of our citizens in the process of local authority decision 
making.  
 
Articles 2 – 16 explain the rights of citizens and how the key parts of the Council operate. 
These are: 
 

 Members of the Council (Article 2). 

 Citizens and the Council (Article 3). 

 The Council meeting (Article 4). 

 Chairing the Council (Article 5) 

 Overview and Scrutiny of decisions (Article 6). 

 The Leader and the Executive Board (Article 7)  

 Regulatory and other committees (Article 8). 

 The Standards Committee (Article 9). 

 Partnerships and Other Forums (Article 10).  

 Joint arrangements (Article 11). 

 Officers (Article 12). 

 Decision making (Article 13). 

 Finance, contracts and legal matters (Article 14). 

 Review and revision of the Constitution (Article 15). 

 Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution (Article 16). 

How the Council operates 

 
The Council is composed of 51 councillors with one-third standing for election three 
years in four.  
 
Councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their ward. The overriding 
duty of councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their 
constituents, including those who did not vote for them.  
 

Page 152



6 
 

Councillors have to agree to follow a code of conduct to ensure high standards in the 
way they undertake their duties. The Standards Committee and the Monitoring Officer 
train and advises them on the code of conduct. 
 
All councillors meet together as the Council. Meetings of the Council are open to the 
public. Here councillors decide the Council’s overall policies and set the budget each 
year.  
 
The Council appoints the Leader who shall appoint a Deputy Leader and two or more 
members to form an Executive Board.  The Executive Board may consist of up to 10 
members, including the Leader and Deputy Leader.  The Leader may allocate portfolios 
to Executive Board members.  The Leader may discharge the executive functions or 
arrange of any of those functions to be discharged by the Executive Board, by individual 
Executive Members, a committee of the Executive Board or by officers.  The Council 
appoints Members to other Committees. The Council meets quarterly as the Council 
Forum to receive reports from the Executive Board, Overview and Scrutiny Committees; 
to receive written questions from Members and Notices of Motion. A Notice of Motion 
sets out action which the proposer and seconder wish the Council to take. This will be 
the subject of debate at the meeting. Functions of the Council include the adoption of 
plans and the determination of matters for which it is responsible. Each Council Forum 
includes an open session lasting up to an hour during which questions may be put by 
members of the public. 
 

How decisions are made 
 
The Executive is the part of the Council which is responsible for most policy and 
operational decisions.  The Leader appoints members to the Executive Board and 
determines the allocation of portfolios to Executive Members.  The Leader also 
determines the allocation of any seats to the opposition parties. 
 
The Executive Board has to make decisions which are in line with the Council’s overall 
policies and budget. If it wishes to make a decision which is outside the budget or policy 
framework, this must usually be referred to the Council as a whole except in cases of 
emergency. 
 
When major decisions are to be discussed or made, these are published in the 
Executive's forward plan in so far as they can be anticipated. Meetings are open to the 
public except in instances where confidential or exempt information (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1972) is being discussed.     
 
Agendas will be made available at Council offices, on the Council's website at 
www.blackburn.gov.uk and in Public Libraries five working days prior to meetings for 
public inspection. Members of the public also have rights to inspect background papers 
to reports which are considered in public.  
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
 
There are three Scrutiny Committees who support the work of the Executive and the full 
Council.  They allow citizens to have a greater say in Council matters by holding 
inquiries into matters of local concern.  These lead to reports and recommendations 
which advise the Executive and the full Council on its policies, budget and service 
delivery.  The Scrutiny Committees also monitor the decisions of the Executive and can 
‘call-in’ a decision which has been made by the Executive, but not yet implemented.  
This enables the relevant Scrutiny committee to consider whether the decision is 
appropriate.  The relevant Scrutiny Committee may recommend that the Executive 
reconsider the decision.  They may also be consulted by the Executive or the Council 

Page 153



7 
 

on forthcoming decisions and the development of policy.  The Scrutiny committees can 
also advise the Council on Policy Development and consult with supporting 
Partnerships. 
  
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
The Council has established a Health and Wellbeing Board as required by the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012.  The key purpose of the Health and Wellbeing Board is to: 
 
‘To provide a stakeholder governance committee to drive improved health, social care, 
quality of life and wellbeing outcomes for local citizens.  It will achieve this through 
rigorous examination and challenge of all stakeholders, both within the Borough and at 
national, sub-national and community levels.  Its strategic focus will be to increase the 
integration, equity, effectiveness and efficiency of health relevant public, private, 
voluntary and community resources within Blackburn with Darwen.’ 
 

Partnerships 
 
In order to give local citizens a greater say in council affairs the Council supports the 
work of and consults regularly with local bodies and partnerships such as Local 
Strategic Partnership and Local Public Service Boards. Ward Councillors also have 
ward issues meetings giving Councillors the opportunity to meet together to discuss 
issues of particular relevance to their constituents. When appropriate, individual citizens 
and representatives of local bodies or partnerships may be invited to attend those 
meetings to discuss particular issues. 
 

The Council’s Staff 
 
The Council employs paid staff (called ‘officers’) to give advice, implement decisions 
and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services. Some officers have a specific duty 
to ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources wisely. A protocol 
governs the relationships between officers and members of the Council. Officers are 
also bound by a code of conduct to abide by high ethical standards. 
 

Citizens’ Rights and Responsibilities 
 
Citizens have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council. These are set out in 
Article 3. Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend on the Council’s own 
processes.  
 
Where members of the public use specific council services, for example as a parent of 
a school pupil or as a user of community care services arranged by the Children’s 
Services and Adult Social Services Departments, they have additional rights. These are 
not covered in this Constitution. 
 
 
Citizens have the right to: 
 

 vote at local elections if they are registered; 
 

 contact their local councillor about any matters of concern to them; 
 

 obtain a copy of the Constitution free of charge; 
 

Page 154



8 
 

 attend meetings of the Council, its Executive and its committees except where, for 
example, personal or confidential matters are being discussed; 

 

 attend the Council Forum and ask questions of the Council Leader, Executive 
Members with portfolios, Chairs of Committees and the Chair of the Standards 
Committee; 

 

 contribute to the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees  
 

 find out, from the Executive's Forward Plan and other published documents, what 
major decisions are to be discussed by the Executive Board or decided by the 
Executive Board or officers, and when; 

 

 attend and ask questions at meetings of the Executive Board 
 

  attend and ask questions at meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

 attend and ask questions of Overview and Scrutiny Committees, the Planning and 
Highways Committee and other meetings in accordance with the published 
arrangements; 

 

 see reports and background papers, and any record of decisions made by the 
Council and Executive Board; 

 

 be advised of appeal mechanisms which exist about decisions of the Council which 
affect them as individuals 

 

 complain to the Council about failure to deliver a service or poor performance; 
 

 complain to the Ombudsman if they think the Council has not followed its procedures 
properly. However, they should only do this after using the Council’s own complaints 
process; 

 

 complain to the Monitoring Officer if they have evidence which they think shows that 
a Councillor has not followed the Member's Code of Conduct; and inspect the 
Council’s accounts and make their views known to the external auditor. 

 
 
In Blackburn with Darwen members of the public are given rights to attend and 
participate in meetings, which exceed those given by law.  Meetings are open to the 
public unless exempt or confidential information (as defined in the Local Government 
Act 1972) is to be discussed.  Similarly, agendas, reports, minutes and background 
documents are usually available for public inspection.   
 
The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work. For further information on 
your rights as a citizen, please contact:  
 
The Head of Legal & Governance/Council Solicitor 
The Council Solicitor 
Town Hall 
Blackburn 
BB17DY  
 
Telephone: (01254) 585585585252. 
 

 

Page 155



9 
 

 

 


 

 

 

PART 2 
 

 

 

ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 
  

Page 156



10 
 

Article 1 – The Constitution 

 

1.01 Powers of the Council 
 
The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 
Constitution. 
 
1.02 The Constitution 
 
This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of Blackburn with Darwen 
Borough Council. 
 
1.03 Purpose of the Constitution 
 
The Purpose of this Constitution is: 
 

 To enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership 
with citizens, businesses, the Local Strategic Partnership and other organisations. 

 

 To support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local authority 
decision-making. 

 

 To help councillors represent their constituents more effectively. 
 

 To enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively, having due regard to 
probity and good corporate governance. 

 

 To create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to public 
account. 

 

 To ensure that those responsible for decision-making are clearly identifiable to local 
people and that they explain the reasons for decisions. 

 

 To ensure high standards in reviewing and scrutinising decisions including ensuring 
that no councillor or officer is involved in scrutinising a decision in which they were 
directly involved. 

 

 To provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community. 
 

1.04 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution 
 

 Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of 
action, the Council will choose that option which it thinks is closest to the purposes 
stated above. 

 

 The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in 
Article 15 

  
 

Page 157



11 
 

Article 2 – Members of the Council 
 
2.01 Composition and Eligibility 
 

(a) Composition. The Council will comprise 51 members, otherwise called councillors. 
One or more councillors will be elected by the voters of each ward in accordance 
with a scheme drawn up by the Local Government Commission and approved by 
the Secretary of State.  

 

 (b) Eligibility. In order to be eligible to hold the office of Councillor a person must be 
aged 18 on the day of his or her nomination and on day of his or her nomination 
meet one of the following conditions:  

 

(i) be a registered elector for the area or; 
 

(ii) have occupied land or premises in the area for the previous 12 months or; 
 

(iii) have had his principal or only place of work in the area for the previous 12 
months or; 

 

(iv) have lived in the area for the preceding 12 months  
 

2.02 Election and terms of Councillors 
 

There will be an ordinary election of a third (or as near as may be) of all councillors to 
be held on the first Thursday in May in each year, except that one year in four there will 
be no regular election. The terms of office of councillors will be four years starting on 
the fourth day after being elected and finishing on the fourth day after the date of the 
regular election four years later.  
 

2.03 Roles and functions of all Councillors 
 

All councillors will: 
 

(a) collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of strategic and 
corporate management functions; 

 

(b) contribute to the good governance of the area and actively encourage community 
participation and citizen involvement in decision making; 

 

(c) effectively represent the interests of their ward and of individual constituents and 
respond to constituents’ enquiries and representations, fairly and impartially; 

 

(d) participate in the governance and management of the Council;  
 

(e) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics; 
 

(f) have such rights of access to such documents, information, land and buildings of 
the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of their functions and in 
accordance with the law; 

 

2.04 Conduct 
 

Councillors should at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol 
on Member/Officer Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 
 
 
 
 

Page 158



12 
 

2.05 Remuneration 
 

Councillors will be entitled to receive remuneration in accordance with the 
Remuneration Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution. 

 
Article 3 – Citizens and the Council 

 

3.01 Citizens’ rights and responsibilities 
 
Where appropriate the Council will treat as Citizens anyone who lives, works, studies 
or regularly use the services in the Borough of Blackburn with Darwen.  
 
Citizens have the following rights. Their rights to information and to participate are 
explained in more detail in the Access to Information and Decisions and Attendance at 
Public Meetings Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution: 
 
(a) Voting. Citizens on the Register of Electors for Blackburn with Darwen Borough 

have the right to vote at Council elections. 
 
(b) Information. Citizens of Blackburn with Darwen have the right to: 
 

(i) attend and participate in meetings of the Council attend its committees except 
where confidential or exempt information (as defined in the Local Government 
Act 1972) is likely to be disclosed and, with the consent of the Chair, participate 
in committee meetings; 

 
(ii) attend and participate in meetings of the Executive Board except where 

confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed;  
 
(iii) find out from the forward plan or other published documents what key decisions 

will be taken by the Executive and when; 
 
(iv) see reports and background papers, and any records of decisions made by the 

Council and the Executive; and 
 
(v) inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the external 

auditor. 
 
(vi) Except where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed, to 

take photographs, film and audio-record the proceedings, and report on all 
public meetings. While no prior permission is required to carry out this activity, 
it is advisable that any person wishing to film or audio-record a public meeting 
should let an officer within Democratic Services knows so that all necessary 
arrangements can be made for the public meeting. This is important because 
the rules only require the Council to provide reasonable facilities for any 
member of the public to report on meetings. 

 
(c)  Participation. Citizens have the right to participate by asking questions and making 

statements in the Council Forum, the Executive Board, the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, Planning and Highways Committee, Licensing Committees, Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and other Committees in line with the Council’s guidance. 
Citizens can also participate in the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
Citizens cannot participate or speak at call-in meeting of the Scrutiny Committees. 

 

Page 159



13 
 

(d)  Petitions. Citizens on the Register of Electors for Blackburn with Darwen Borough 
have the right to sign a petition to request a referendum for an elected mayor form 
of Constitution. 
Citizens also have the right to sign other petitions to the Council.  The Council will 
consider petitions in accordance with the Petition Scheme contained in Part 7 of 
this Constitution  

 
(e)  Complaints. Citizens have the right to complain to: 
 

(i) the Council itself under its Customer Feedback Policy; 
 
(ii) the Ombudsman after using the Council’s own Customer Feedback Policy; 
 
(iii) the Council’s Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Councillor’s Code of 

Conduct. 
 

(f)  Right to respect. Citizens have the right to be treated with respect by Councillors 
and Officers. 

 
 
3.02 Citizens’ responsibilities 
 

Citizens must not be violent, abusing or threatening to Councillors or Officers and 
must not wilfully harm things owned by the Council, Councillors or Officers. Whilst 
citizens have the right to seek to influence decisions made by the Council under any 
of the decision making procedures, they must not attempt to do so in a way that is 
improper or illegal.  
 

Page 160



14 
 

Article 4 – The Full Council      

 

4.01 Meanings 
 
(a)  Policy Framework. The policy framework means the following plans and strategies:- 
 

 Annual Library Plan; 
 

 The Council’s Corporate Plan; 
 

 Children and Young People’s Plan; 
 

 Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy; 
 

 Licensing Authority Policy Statement 
 

 Local Transport Plan; 
 

 Plans and strategies which together comprise the Local Development Framework 
Documents; 

 

 Sustainable Community Strategy 
 

 Youth Justice Plan; 
 

 The annual framework agreed at Policy Council 
 
(b)  Budget. The budget includes the medium term financial strategy, the allocation of 

financial resources to different services and projects, proposed contingency funds, 
the Council Tax base, setting the Council Tax and decisions’ relating to the control 
of the Council’s borrowing requirement and the control of its capital expenditure.  

 
4.02 Functions of the full Council 
 
Only the Council will exercise the following functions: 
 
(a) adopting and changing the Constitution except to the extent permitted by this 

Constitution; 
 
(b) approving or adopting the policy framework and the budget; 
 
(c) making decisions on Executive functions where the decision maker wishes to make 

a decision which is not in accordance with the budget or the policy framework. This 
is subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information and 
Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution; 

 
(d) appointing the leader; 
  
(e) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for committees and sub 

committees, deciding on their composition and making appointments to them; 
unless these powers has been delegated by the Council; 

 
(f) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an Executive 

function or has been delegated by the Council; 

Page 161



15 
 

 
(g) adopting a remuneration scheme under Article 2.05; 
 
(h) changing the name of the area or conferring the freedom of the Borough; 
 
(i) confirming the appointment or dismissal of the Chief Executive (who is the Head of 

Paid Service); the Monitoring officer or the Chief Finance Officer 
 
(j) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and promoting or 

opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills; 
 
(k) all local choice functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution which the Council 

decides should be undertaken by itself rather than the Executive; and  
 
(l) all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council. 
 
4.03 Council meetings 
 
There are three types of Council meeting: 
 
(a) Annual meeting; 
 
(b) Ordinary meetings – (which are referred to as the Council Forum. Separate 

meetings will be held primarily to agree the annual budget. Such meetings are 
referred to as Finance Council. Council meetings each year will be reserved for 
determining issues relating to Council policy and will be referred to as Policy 
Councils); 

 
(c) Extraordinary meetings. 
 
and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of 
this Constitution. 
 
4.04 Responsibility for functions 
 
Part 3 of this Constitution sets out the delegation of responsibilities for the Council’s 
functions, which are vested in the Leader (or to the Executive Board or to individual 
Executive Members, a Committee of the Executive Board or an officer). 

Page 162



16 
 

Article 5 – Chairing the Council 

 

5.01 Role and function of the Mayor 
 
The Mayor’s role is non-political and will be carried out in a manner which reflects that 
principle. 
 
The Mayor and in his/her absence, the Deputy Mayor will have the following specific 
roles and functions: 
 
(a) to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the 

Constitution when necessary; 
 
(b) in accordance with the Constitution and Rules of Procedure, to preside over 

meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently and with 
regard to the rights of councillors and the interests of the community; 

 
(c) to ensure that the Council meeting is a Forum for the debate of matters of concern 

to the local community and the place where members are able to hold the Executive 
Board Members and Committee Chairs to account; 

 
(d) to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities; 
 
(e) to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council determines 

appropriate. 
 

Page 163



17 
 

Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny 

 

6.01 Terms of reference 
 
The Council will appoint a Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to co-ordinate the scrutiny function and to perform the roles set out in the 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure rules. The Council will also appoint Standing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees which will be listed in Part 3 of this Constitution. The 
Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Standing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees will be collectively referred to as “Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees” and will between them discharge the functions conferred by 
section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000, the provisions of the Localism Act 2011, 
Health and Social Care Act 2012, the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007, and relevant regulations.   
 
6.02 General role 
 
Within their terms of reference the Overview and Scrutiny Committees will: 
 
(i) examine and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with the 

discharge of any of the Council’s functions including Executive functions; 
 
(ii) make reports and/or recommendations to Executive Members, the Executive 

Board and to full Council in connection with the discharge of any functions;  
 
(iii) consider matters affecting the area or its inhabitants; and 
 
(iv) following a call in, review decisions made but not yet implemented by the 

Executive.  
 
(v) undertake pre-decision scrutiny 
  
 
6.03 Specific functions 
 
(a) Reports and Recommendations.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees may: 
 
(i) review corporate policy matters and make recommendations to the Executive 

Board and/or the Council for consideration; 
 
(ii) consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community 

participation in their work; 
 
(iii) question members of the Executive Board and/or committees, officers and 

Partners about their views on issues and proposals affecting the area; and 
 
(iv) consider the outcome of external inspections of Council Services and the 

response to them. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 164



18 
 

 
 
(b) Scrutiny.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees may: 
 
(i) examine and scrutinise the decisions made by and performance of Executive 

Members, the Executive Board and/or committees and officers both in relation to 
particular decisions and over time; 

 
(ii) examine and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy 

objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas; 
 
(iii) question members of the Executive Board and/or committees and officers about 

their decisions and performance, whether generally in comparison with service 
plans and targets over a period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, 
initiatives or projects; 

  
(iv) make recommendations to the Executive Member, the Executive Board and/or 

appropriate committee and/or Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny 
process; 

 
(v) review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area including 

the Health Service and invite reports from them by requesting them to address 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and local people about their activities and 
performance. This includes any powers and duties under the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and 

 
(vi) invite appropriate persons to attend meetings and give evidence or act as critical 

friends. 
 
(c)  Finance.  

 
(i) Overview and Scrutiny Committees may exercise overall responsibility for the 

finances made available to them. 
 
(d) Annual report.  
 
(i) The Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee must 

report annually to full Council on the workings of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and their working methods.  

 
6.04 Proceedings of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees will conduct their proceedings in accordance with 
the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
 

Page 165



19 
 

Article 7 –The Leader and the Executive Board 

 

7.01 Role 
 
All of the local authority’s functions which are not the responsibility of any other part of 
the local authority, as set out in the law or under this Constitution shall vest in the Leader 
who may exercise those functions personally or make arrangements for their discharge 
by the Executive Board, by individual Executive Members, a committee of the Executive 
Board or by officers.   
 
7.02 Form and Composition 
 
The Executive Board shall consist of up to ten members, including the Leader and the 
Deputy Leader.  The Leader shall appoint to the Executive Board between two and nine 
members.    
 
7.03 Leader 
 
The Leader will be a councillor elected to the position of Leader by the Council. The 
Leader will hold office (the earlier of) for a term of four years from the date of 
appointment as Leader or until: 
 
(a) he/she resigns from the office; or 
 
(b) he/she is no longer a councillor; or 
 
(c) he/she resigns or for some other reason no longer able to continue office or has 

withdrawn any party whip to which he/she was subject at the time of his/her 
appointment; or  

 
(d) the first Annual Council after his/her normal day of retirement as a councillor. 
 
The Council may remove the Leader from office at an earlier date by a vote of no 
confidence and require his/her resignation requiring a simple majority of the votes.    
 
The Leader shall appoint at least one Deputy Leader who unless they resign or cease 
to be a councillor or removed by the Leader will hold office until the end of the Leader’s 
term.  The Deputy Leader shall take up the role of the Leader if he/she is unable to act 
or the office becoming vacant. 
 
7.04 Other Executive Board Members 
 
(a) Only councillors may be appointed by the Leader to the Executive Board. There 

may be no co-optees and no deputies or substitutes for Executive Board 
members. Neither the Mayor nor Deputy Mayor of the Council may be appointed 
to the Executive Board and members of the Executive Board (including the 
Leader) may not be members of any Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The 
restriction on a member of the Executive Board being a member of an Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee shall not apply to the Leader of an opposition political 
group if he or she has not accepted an appointment to the Executive Board for 
the Municipal Year 

 
(b) A Deputy Leader of the Council will be Vice Chair of the Executive Board 
 
 

Page 166



20 
 

 
(c) Executive Board members shall hold office until the end of the Leader’ term (under 

7.03 above) or: 
 

(i) they resign from office; or 
 

(ii) they are no longer councillors; or 
 

(iii) they resign or have withdrawn any party whip to which they were subject at 
the time of appointment; or 

 

(iv) they are removed from office by the Leader. 
 
7.05 Proceedings of the Executive Board 
 
Proceedings of the Executive Board shall take place in accordance with the Executive 
Board Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
7.06 Responsibility for functions 
 
The Leader shall hold all the Executive functions under his/her control.  The Leader may 
either personally exercise those Executive functions or make arrangements for their 
discharge by the Executive Board, by a committee of the Executive Board, by individual 
Executive Members, or by officers.   
 
The Leader will maintain a list in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out which person or 
body he/she has delegated for the exercise of those particular Executive functions. 

Page 167



21 
 

Article 8 – Regulatory and Other Committees 

 

8.01 Regulatory and other committees 
 
The Council will appoint the following committees set out in Part 3 of this Constitution:  

 

 The Planning and Highways Committee 
 

 The Licensing Committee 
 

 The Standards Committee 
 

 Independent Remuneration Panel 
 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 

 Call-In Committee 
 

 Audit and Governance Committee 
 

 Corporate Parenting Committee 
 

 Member Engagement Advisory Committee 
 
 
8.02 Groups and Panels 
 
The Council will appoint the following groups and panels set out in Part 3 of this 
Constitution:  

 Appeals Panel 
 

 Chief Executive’s Employment Committee 
 

 Chief Officer’s Employment Committee 
 

 Charitable Funds Committee 
 

 
8.03 Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
The Council will establish the Health and Wellbeing Board to discharge the functions 
under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

Page 168



22 
 

Article 9 – The Standards Committee 

 

9.01 Standards Committee 
 
The Council will appoint 9 members to the Standards Committee at their Annual 
meeting. 
 
9.02 Composition 
 
(a) Membership. The Standards Committee will be composed of: 
 

 nine members of the Council ;  
 

 two people co-opted who are not Members or officers of the Council or of any other 
body having a standards committee (independent members); 

 

 two members co-opted from the parish councils/Darwen Town Council wholly or 
mainly in the Council’s area (Parish Members). 

 
(b) Independent members. Independent members will be co-opted on the committee 

and will not be entitled to vote at meetings. 
 
(c) Parish members. Parish Members will be co-opted on the committee and will not 

be entitled to vote at meetings  
 
(d) Chairing the Committee. The Chair and Vice Chair will be drawn from the nine 

members of the Council, and will answer questions at Council meetings in relation 
to the workings of the Committee. 

 
 
9.03 Role and Function 
 
The Standards Committee will have the following roles and functions: 
 
(a) promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by councillors, co-opted 

members; 
 
(b) assisting councillors and co-opted members to observe the Members’ Code of 

Conduct; 
 

(c)  monitoring the operation of the Council’s standards arrangements and to make 
such recommendations to the Council as the Committee considers appropriate 
with respect to: - 

 
(i) the promotion and maintenance of high standards in the conduct of 

Council and Parish/Town Councils business, and in the conduct of 
Members; 

(ii) the maintenance and review of a Code of Conduct for Members of the 
Council, together with such other code, procedure, protocol or guidance 
as the Committee considers to be appropriate and to make 
recommendations to the Council on such codes and regulations; 

(iii) the provision of training, guidance and assistance for Members in relation 
to the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members and any other such code, 
procedure or protocol; 

 

Page 169



23 
 

 
(d)  direct the provision of member development and training to ensure elected 

members receive training which meets their needs as decision makers and ward 
councillors; 

 
(e)  granting dispensations to councillors and co-opted members from requirements 

relating to interests set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
 
(f)  to determine appeals relating to the Monitoring Officer’s decision on 

dispensations. 
 
(g)   dealing with any reports from the Monitoring Officer; 
 
(h)   to adopt such procedures for the hearing and determination of any complaints 

as the Committee considers appropriate. 
 
(i)   To appoint a Hearing Panel of the Committee for the purposes of conducting a 

local hearing into any complaint referred by the Monitoring Officer (having first 
consulted the Independent Person); 

 
(i) A Hearing Panel convened for such purposes shall comprise at least one 

of the independent members and three other members of the Committee 
from at least two different political parties.  Where the complaint is about 
a Parish or a Town Council Member the Panel will include at least one 
of the Parish/Town Council representative co-opted to the Standards 
Committee; and 

(ii) The Independent Person will be invited to attend all meetings of the 
Hearing Panel and his/her views must be sought and taken into 
consideration before the Panel takes any decisions on whether the 
Subject Member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the Code 
of Conduct and as to any action to be taken following a failure to comply 
with the Code of Conduct.  

 
 
(j) oversee the development of quality and relevant information provided to members 

in their roles as decision makers and ward councillors. 
 
(k)  such other functions as the Council may determine.  

Page 170



24 
 

Article 10 – Partnerships and Other Forums 

 

The Council is proactive in supporting the development of partnership bodies both with 
other public sector agencies, like health and police, and with representation from the 
business and community sectors. This is principally through the development of the 
Local Strategic Partnership and its range of sub groups but it also involves other 
significant partnership projects.  
 
10.01 Governance Arrangements 
 
Partnerships are only effective if all partners are fully engaged and they understand 
their respective role and responsibilities and the contributions they can make. Actual 
governance arrangements will vary depending on the type and nature of the 
partnership. As far as possible the Council will expect all its partners to abide by the key 
principles of good governance. These can be codified in a partnership constitution 
document. 
 
This should contain, or be supported by, details of 

 the partnership’s strategic objectives; 

 a business plan; 

 an exit strategy; 

 performance indicators; 

 monitoring and reporting arrangements; 

 risk mitigation procedures; 

 financial requirements; 

 key relationships within and outside the partnership. 
 
Partnerships’ governance arrangements must comply with, or be closely aligned to, the 
Council’s own requirements. 
 
Governance, and other arrangements, will be subject to review by the Council’s auditors 
who will seek to obtain assurance that the partnership’s governance arrangements are 
adequate and effective. This will generally be sought by reviewing evidence provided 
by the partner body which shows compliance with the principles of good governance. 
Results of these reviews will be conveyed, in the form of an audit opinion report, to the 
highest levels of management in both the partnership and the Council. 
 
Council representatives to all partnerships must ensure that they have proper authority 
formally delegated to them before taking any role in the partnership’s decision making 
process. 
 
Managers at all levels in the partnership will be required to report annually, in a 
statement of assurance, and half yearly through the Management Accountabilities 
Framework, that: 

 internal controls have been reviewed and are being applied satisfactorily; 

 risks, existing or new, are managed satisfactorily; 

 any procedural control weaknesses are identified and appropriate action plans 
are set out. 

 
All partnerships must compile and maintain a register of all risks which pose a threat to 
the successful delivery of the partnership’s objectives. 
 

Page 171



25 
 

The Council has a Code of Corporate Governance and will encourage partnerships to 
follow this as closely as possible. The Code forms part of the Council’s Procedure Rules 
and can be found in Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution. 
 
10.02  Accountable Body 
 
In many cases, the Council is the accountable body within a partnership and the 
partnership is responsible for allocating public monies to projects within the scope of its 
terms of reference. Partnership may be responsible for delivering national government 
initiatives and targets. In such circumstances, the partnership carries greater 
responsibilities and it should ensure that all the following aspects of good governance 
in partnerships are followed. 

  
10.03 Accountability 
 

 Such partnerships need therefore to produce an annual governance statement and an 
annual outcomes report and they should have an approved strategy for future 
development (or a business plan) in place. These, together with progress reports, need 
to be reported annually, at the appropriate times, to the Executive Board.  

  
10.04 Remit and terms of reference 
 

 Such partnerships should have a clearly stated remit and terms of reference which 
demonstrate where they sits within a wider network of organisations. It should include 
reporting relationships for any financial responsibility. The terms of reference must be 
periodically reviewed to ensure that they remain fit for purpose to fulfil either the 
Council’s or government’s initiatives; the outcomes need to be reported to the Executive 
Board. 
 
10.05 Membership, chairs of meetings and attendance 
 
Partnership bodies should have clear membership including overall composition, 
organisations or sectors to be represented, terms of office, and voting eligibility. 
Partnership members should be clear about who they are representing and who they 
are accountable to. 
 
Any rules on who should chair meeting should be explicit especially if this relates to 
sectors, or involves rotation between sectors. 
 
Rules on attendance both by individual members or by sectors should be clear including 
rules on expulsion from the partnership. Provision for substitute or named deputy 
representatives and their rights to vote should also be considered. 
 
10.06 Conduct 
 
Councillors and officers involved in the work of Partnership bodies should abide by the 
same standards of conduct in connection with these bodies as they would in connection 
with the Council. The Council will encourage Partnership bodies to adopt and follow 
codes of conduct which are consistent with those adopted by the Council. 
 
10.07  Financial Responsibility 
 
If the partnership is a funding body there should be clear financial decision making and 
accountability with partners. The partnership may have its own financial regulations to 
follow or these may be aligned with those of a partner organisation. The partnership 
must have appropriate audit and governance procedures in place and also it should 
consider whether it needs to have a risk strategy or, as a minimum, it should give 

Page 172



26 
 

consideration to key risks and their management. It should have both an exit strategy, 
in the event of the partnership’s failure or its being wound up and a dispute resolution 
mechanism.  
 
Links to other areas of the Constitution, e.g. Financial Regulations, should be explicit 
where this Council is the accountable body (see Part 4 Section 7 Para A.1 of Financial 
Procedure Rules).   
 
10.08 Partnership meetings and public engagement  
 
Partnership meetings need to be structured and have an accurate record of the 
business transacted. They should have formal agenda, clear guidance on the handling 
of reports and other information at meetings and a clear record of decisions taken and 
required actions. 
 
There should be a clear stance on whether meetings are open to the public and any 
mechanisms for public engagement and consultation. 
 
10.09 Conflicts of interest (declaring personal and financial interests) 
 
Partnerships need to be open and accountable and work within an ethical framework. 
Members of the Council serving on partnership bodies are bound by the Code of 
Conduct contained in part 5 of the Council’s Constitution. However, an effective 
partnership should have its own rules on conflict of interest and the need to declare 
financial and other interests.  
 
10.10 Dealing with complaints and conflicts 
 
Partnership bodies should have mechanisms in place for dealing with complaints and 
also resolving disputes between partners. This should form a laid down procedure within 
their governance documents. 
 
10.11 Partnerships with no financial responsibilities 
 
Partnerships that have no financial responsibilities but are under the umbrella of a 
strategic partnership are accountable for meeting their objectives as defined and agreed 
with the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP). Such partnerships are not therefore formally 
subject to the above financial and governance requirements and it is for the LSP to 
determine terms of reference for all thematic groups as part of its Constitution.  
 
 
 
 

Page 173



27 
 

Article 11 – Joint Arrangements 

 

11.01 Arrangements to promote well being 
 
The general power of competence (GPC) was introduced as part of the Localism Act 
in November 2011. Under the GPC a local authority has power to do anything that 
individuals of full legal capacity may do giving authorities the power to take reasonable 
action they need ‘for the benefit of the authority, its area or persons’ resident or 
present in its area'. 
 
The Council, in order to promote and improve the economic, social or environmental 
well-being of its area, may: 
 
(a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 
 
(b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or body; 

and 
 
(c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or body. 
 
Before doing so the Council will have regard to its Community Strategy. 
 
11.02 Joint arrangements 
 
(a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities 

and/or their Executives to exercise functions which are not Executive functions in 
any of the participating authorities, or advise the Council. Such arrangements may 
involve the appointment of joint committees with these other local authorities.  

 
(b)  The establishment of joint arrangements with one or more local authorities to 

exercise functions which are Executive functions shall be made in accordance 
with the executive arrangements as set out in this Constitution. Such 
arrangements may involve the appointment of joint committees with these other 
local authorities. 

 
(c) Except as set out below, the Executive Board may only appoint Executive Board 

members to a joint committee and those members need not reflect the political 
composition of the local authority as a whole. 

 
(d)  The Executive Board may appoint members to a joint committee from outside the 

Executive Board in the following circumstance: 
 
 Where the functions of the joint committee affect an area of the Borough which 

contains less than two fifths of the total area of the Borough or less than two fifths 
of its population, the Executive Board may appoint to the joint committee any 
councillor who is a member for a ward which is wholly or partly contained within 
the area. 

 
The political balance rules do not apply to such appointments. 
 
(e) Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to joint committees 

will be found in the Council’s Scheme of Delegation in Part 3 of this Constitution. 
 
 
 

Page 174



28 
 

 
 
11.03 Access to information 
 
(a) If all the members of a joint committee are members of the Executive in each of 

the participating authorities, then its access to information regime is that which 
applies by law to an Executive. 

 
(b) If the joint committee contains members who are not on the Executive of any 

participating authority, then the Access to Information and Decisions and 
Attendance at Public Meetings rules in Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 
will apply. 

 
11.04 Delegation to and from other local authorities 
 
(a) The Council may delegate non-Executive functions to another local authority or, 

in certain circumstances, the Executive of another local authority. 
 
(b) The Executive may delegate Executive functions to another local authority or the 

Executive of another local authority in certain circumstances. 
 
(c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another local 

authority shall be reserved to the Full Council. 
 
11.05 Contracting out 
 
(a) The Council, the Leader or the Executive Board (for Executive functions) may 

contract out to another body or organisation functions which may be exercised by 
an officer and which are subject to an order under section 70 of the Deregulation 
and Contracting Out Act 1994. 

 
(b)  The Council, the Leader or the Executive Board may also contract out to another 

body or organisation functions under contracting arrangements where the 
contractor acts as the Council’s agent under usual contracting principles. In this 
case there can be no delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision making. 

 

Page 175



29 
 

Article 12 – Officers 
 
12.01 Management Structure 
 
(a) General. The Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it 

considers necessary to carry out its functions. 
 
(b) Chief Officers. The Council will engage persons for the posts set out in part 8, of 

this Constitution who will be designated chief officers and will have management 
responsibility for the areas set out in that section. In making appointments the 
Council will follow the procedures set out in Part 4. 

  
 (c) Head of Paid Services, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and other 

statutory officer posts. The Council will designate the following posts as shown: 
 

POST            DESIGNATION 

Chief Executive Head of Paid Service 
 

Director of HR Legal & 
GovernanceDirector of HR, 
Governance & Engagement 

 Monitoring Officer 
 

Director of Finance & 
Customer Services 

Chief Finance Officer 
 

Strategic Director 
ResourcesDirector of Digital 
& Business Change 

Senior Information Risk Owner 
 

Director Digital & Strategic 
Director 
ResourcesBusiness 
Change  

Senior Responsible Officer for RIPA 
 

Strategic Director Children’s 
& EducationDirector of 
Children’s Services 

Director of Children’s Services 
 

Director of Adults & 
PreventionStrategic Director 
Adults & Health 

 Director of Adult Social Services  
 

Director of Public Health & 
Wellbeing 

Director of Public Health 
 

Senior Registration Officer Registrar of Birth, Marriages and Deaths 

 
 
Such posts will have the functions described in Article 12.02 to 12.11 below. 
 
It is the function of each of the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer to nominate 
a deputy/deputies to act in case of absence or illness. 
 
12.02 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 
 
(a) Discharge of functions by the Council. The Head of Paid Service will report to full 

Council on the manner in which the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-
ordinated, the number and grade of officers required for the discharge of functions 
and the organisation of officers. 

 
(b) Restrictions on functions. The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring 

Officer but may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer if a qualified accountant. 
 

Page 176



30 
 

12.03 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 
 

a) Maintaining the Constitution.  
 
The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and will 
ensure that it is widely available for consultation by members, staff and the public. 
 

b) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making.  
 
The Monitoring Officer will report to the full Council or to the Leader/Executive Board (in 
relation to an executive function) if he or she considers that any proposal, decision or 
omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise 
to maladministration. Before so doing the Monitoring Officer will consult with the Chief 
Executive and Chief Finance Officer. Such a report will have the effect of stopping the 
proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been considered. 
 

c) Supporting the Standards Committee. 
 
The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high 
standards of conduct through provision of support to the Standards Committee.       
 

d) Complaints against Members   
 
Under the adopted arrangements the Monitoring Officer has been delegated powers for 
dealing with complaints about the Code of the Conduct for Members (set out in Part 5, 
Section 1) of this Constitution, the Monitoring Officer shall receive, and in consultation 
with the Independent Person review and undertake an initial assessment of complaints 
against members, 
 
The Monitoring Officer will appoint an investigations officer where a complaint merits 
formal investigation.  The Monitoring Officer will receive and act appropriately on reports 
made by investigation officers, which may include reporting to the Standards 
Committee’s Hearings Panel. 
 

e) Proper officer for access to information.  
 
The Monitoring Officer will ensure that Executive decisions, together with the reasons 
for those decisions and relevant officer reports and background papers are made 
publicly available as soon as possible, in accordance with the law and the Access to 
Information and Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings Procedure Rules set out 
in Part 4 (Section 2) of this Constitution. 
 

f) Advising whether executive decisions are within the budget and policy 
framework.  

 
The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the executive are in accordance 
with the budget and policy framework. 
 

g) Providing advice.  
 
The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take 
decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy 
framework issues to all councillors. 
 

h) Dispensations 
 

Page 177



31 
 

The power to grant a dispensation may be delegated to the Monitoring Officer in respect 
of the following grounds: 
 

(1) So many Members have “disclosable personal interest” (dpi’s) that it would 

impede the transaction of the business; 

 

(2) Without the dispensation the strengths of political groups on the body 

transacting the business would be so upset as to alter the likely outcome of 

any vote on the matter; 

 

(3) Without the dispensation, every member of the Executive would have a (dpi) 

prohibition from participating; 

 
Restrictions on posts.  
 
The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of Paid Service. 
 
12.04 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer  
 
(a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making. 
 After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the 

Chief Finance Officer will report to the full Council or to the Executive Board (in 
relation to an Executive function) and the Council’s external auditor if he or she 
considers that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring 
unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if 
the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 

 
(b) Administration of financial affairs. 
 The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the administration of the 

financial affairs of the Council. 
 
(c) Contributing to corporate management.  
 The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of the 

Council, in particular through the provision of professional financial advice. 
 
(d) Providing advice.  
 The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority 

to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and 
policy framework issues to all councillors and will support and advise councillors 
and officers in their respective roles. 

 
(e) Give financial information.  
 The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial information to the media, members 

of the public and the community. 
 
12.05 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer 
 
The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such 
officers, accommodation and other resources as are in the opinion of those officers 
sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 
 
 
12.06 Functions of the Strategic Director of Children’s & EducationServices 
 

Page 178



32 
 

The Strategic Director Children’s & EducationDirector of Children’s Services has 
professional responsibility for the leadership, strategy and effectiveness of local 
authority children’s services.  Key functions of the Strategic Director Children’s & 
EducationDirector of Children’s Services include:- 
 
(a) securing the provision of services which address the needs of all children and young 

people, including the most disadvantaged and vulnerable, and their families and 
carers; 

(b) the performance of local authority functions relating to the education and social 
care of children and young people; and 

(c)  ensuring that effective systems are in place for discharging these functions, 
including where a local authority has commissioned any services from another 
provider rather than delivering them itself; 

 
 
12.07 Functions of the Director of Adult Social Services 
 
Key functions of the Director of Adult Social Services include:  
 
(a)  Accountability for assessing local needs and ensuring availability and delivery of 

a full range of adult social services  
(b)  Professional leadership, including workforce planning  
(c)  Leading the implementation of standards  
(d)  Managing cultural change  
(e)  Promoting local access and ownership and driving partnership working  
(f)   Delivering an integrated whole systems approach to supporting communities  
(g)  Promoting social inclusion and wellbeing  
 
 
12.08 Functions of the Director of Public Health 
 
Key functions of the Director of Public Health include: 
 
(a) writing the annual report on the health of the local population; 
(b) taking steps to improve public health; 
(c) planning for and responding to emergencies which present a risk to public health; 
(d) carrying out such public health functions or health protection functions as the 

Secretary of State may delegate or specify in regulations; 
(e) co-operating with the police, probation service and prison service in accordance 

with the Council’s duties under section 325 of the Criminal Justice Act 2003; 
(f)  responsibility for the Council’s public health response under the Licensing Act   

2003.  
 
12.09 Registrar of Birth, Marriages and Deaths  
 
The key functions of the Registrar are:- 

 registration of births, deaths, still births, marriages and civil partnerships 

 notices of marriage and civil partnership 

 licensing venues for marriages and civil partnerships 

 reporting suspected sham marriages to the Home Office 

 delivery and management of citizenship ceremonies 

 custody and care of historic records and the issuing of copy certificates 
 
12.10 Senior Information Risk Owner 
 

Page 179



33 
 

The Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) is the officer responsible across the whole 
Council for Information Governance, takes ownership of the Council’s Information Risk 
Policy, act acts as an advocate for good practice for reducing information risk and 
provide written advice on internal controls in regard to information risk. 
 
12.11 Senior Responsible Officer for RIPA 

The Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) is responsible for ensuring compliance with 

RIPA and its codes, and the overall management of covert human intelligence 

sources (CHIS) and Directed Surveillance. 

12.12 Conduct 
 
Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on 
Officer/Member Relations set out in Part 5 (Section 3) of this Constitution. 
 
12.13 Employment 
 
The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 (Section 9) of this Constitution. 

Page 180



34 
 

Article 13 – Decision Making 

 

13.01 Responsibility for decision making 
 
The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the Council or 
individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions or decisions relating to 
particular areas or functions. This record is set out in Part 3 of the Constitution. 
 
13.02  Principles of decision making 
 
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles: 
 
(a) Decisions will only be made which are within the Council's legal powers; 
 
(b) Decisions will be made only in accordance with powers which have been 

appropriately delegated and recorded within this Constitution; 
 
(c) Decisions should be made having regard only to relevant factors and without 

regard to irrelevant factors; 
 
(d) The process of decision making should reflect the highest standards of probity; 
 
(e) Decisions should be made openly unless there are strong reasons to the contrary; 
 
(f) Decisions which impact on individuals should be made only after consultation with 

those affected has been attempted; 
 
(g) Decisions will be taken following due consideration of any matters required by law 

including the Human Rights Act 1998 and the Equalities Act 2010; 
 
(h) Decisions will be taken only after consideration has been given as to whether it is 

appropriate to seek legal, financial or technical advice; 
 
(i) Decisions will be made with clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 
(j) Decisions will be made after an explanation of what options and reasons have 

been provided 
 
13.03 Decisions reserved to full Council 
 
Decisions relating to the functions listed in Article 4.02 will be made by the full Council 
and not delegated unless permitted by that Article. 
 
13.04 Key decisions 
 
The law says that a "key decision" means an Executive decision which, is likely –  
 
(a) to result in the local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of 

savings which are, significant having regard to the local authority's budget for the 
service or function to which the decision relates; or 

 
(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area 

comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of the local 
authority. 

 

Page 181



35 
 

Decision makers will have regard to Guidance issued by the Secretary of State and 
Guidance approved by Full Council which set out in Part 5 of this Constitution when 
determining whether or not a proposed decision should be regarded as a key decision.  
 
A decision maker may only make a key decision in accordance with the requirements 
of the Executive Board Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 (Section 4) of this Constitution. 
 
13.05 Decision making by the full Council 
 
Subject to Article 13.09, the Council meeting will follow the Council Procedures Rules 
set out in Part 4 (Section 1) of this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 
13.06 Decision making by the Executive Board 
 
Subject to Article 13.09, the Executive Board will follow the Executive Board Procedures 
Rules set out in Part 4 (Section 4) of this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 
13.07 Decision making by Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees will follow the Overview and Scrutiny Procedures 
Rules set out in Part 4 (Section 5) of this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 
13.08 Decision making by other committees and sub-committees established by 
the Council 
 
Subject to Article 13.09, Council committees and sub-committees will follow 
those parts of the Council Procedures Rules (Section 1) set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution as apply to them. 
 
13.09 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals 
 
The Council, a councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-judicial manner 
or determining/considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil rights 
and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a proper procedure 
which accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial 
contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights and the Human 
Rights Act 1998. 
 

Page 182



36 
 

Article 14 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters 

 

14.01 Financial management 
 
The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with 
the financial rules set out in Part 4 (Section 7) of this Constitution. 
 
14.02 Contracts 
 
Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts and Procurement 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 (Section 8) of this Constitution. 
 
14.03 Legal proceedings 
 
The Council Solicitor is authorised to institute, defend or participate in any legal 
proceedings in any case where such action is necessary to give effect to decisions of 
the Council or in any case where the Council Solicitor considers that such action is 
necessary to protect the Council’s interests and to take any necessary steps to settle 
disputes arising. 
 
14.04 Authentication of documents 
 
Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of 
the Council, it will be signed by the Council Solicitor or other person authorised by 
him/her, unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has 
given requisite authority to some other person. 
 
Contracts and Procurement Procedure Rules shall provide that any contract with a 
value exceeding a sum specified in those rules entered into on behalf of the local 
authority in the course of the discharge of an executive function shall be made in writing. 
Such contracts must either be signed by at least two officers of the authority or made 
under the common seal of the Council attested by at least one officer. 
 
14.05 Common Seal of the Council 
 
The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in the custody of the Council 
Solicitor/Head of Legal Services.  A decision of the Council, or of any part of it, will be 
sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision.  
The Common Seal will be affixed to those documents which in the opinion of the Council 
Solicitors or by one of them and either the Director of HR, Governance & 
EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance, the Chief Executive and an entry of 
every sealing of a document shall be made in a book to be provided for the purpose 
and shall be signed by the person or persons who have attested the Seal. 
 

  

Page 183



37 
 

Article 15 – Review and Revision of the Constitution 

 

15.01 Duty to monitor and review the constitution 
 
The Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of 
the Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full 
effect. 
 
15.02 Changes to the Constitution 
 
The Monitoring Officer shall have authority to make amendments to the Constitution 
which are required to comply with the law or to reflect decisions of the Council. All other 
changes to the Constitution will require the approval of the full Council 
 
15.03 Change of Governance Arrangements. 
 
The Council will take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and other interested 
persons in the area when drawing up proposals and may hold a referendum. The 
change will not take effect until the end of the Mayor’s term of office. 
 
The Localism Act 2011 provides for three governance models:- 
 
(1) Executive arrangements – Mayor and Cabinet or Leader and Cabinet Executive 

Member; 
 
(2) A Committee system; 
 
(3) Prescribed arrangements by the Secretary of State (this could be proposed by the 

Local Authority and approved by the Secretary of State). 
 
The Council needs to pass a resolution at a meeting of the Council to change 
Governance arrangements. The Council cannot pass a further resolution until a five 
year period has elapsed unless a referendum is held, on the issue or a petition is 
received asking for a referendum for an elected Mayor. 
 
If the existing governance arrangements have been approved by a referendum then a 
further referendum would be required regarding the change or the Council resolves that 
a proposed change in governance be approved by a referendum. 
  

Page 184



38 
 

Article 16 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the 
Constitution 

 

16.01 Suspension of the Constitution 
 
(a) Limit to suspension.  

The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended. The Rules specified below 
may be suspended by the full Council to the extent permitted within those Rules and 
the law. 

 
(b) Rules capable of suspension. 
  The following Rules may be suspended in accordance with Article 16: 

 The Council Procedure Rules (Part 4, Section 1) to the extent and procedure 
provided for within those Rules. 

 
16.02 Interpretation 
 
The ruling of the Mayor on the interpretation of this Constitution or as to any proceedings 
of the Council shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such interpretation 
will have regard to the purposes of this Constitution as set out in Article 1 
 
16.03 Publication 
 
 
(a) The Chief Executive will ensure that copies are available for inspection at council 

offices, libraries, on the Council's website and at other appropriate locations. 
He/she will ensure that Citizens, who so wish, are provided with one copy free of 
charge. 

 
(b) The Chief Executive will ensure that the summary of the Constitution (Part 1) is 

made widely available within the area and is updated as necessary. 

  

Page 185



39 
 

Schedule 1: Description of Executive Arrangements 

 

 
The following parts of this Constitution constitute the executive arrangements: 
 
1. Article 6 (Overview and Scrutiny Committees) and the Overview and Scrutiny 
 Procedure Rules – (Part 4, Section 5); 
 
2. Article 7 (The Leader and the Executive Board) and the Executive Board Procedure 

Rules – (Part 4, Section 4); 
 
3. Article 13 (Decision making) and the Rules relating to Access to Information and 

Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings – (Part 4, Section 2); 
 
4. Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions). 
 
 
 

  

Page 186



40 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PART 3 
 

 

 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 
 

 

 

Page 187



41 
 

Section 1 Responsibility for Local Choice Functions 

The Local Government Act 2000 and the regulations thereunder generally specifies 
functions, which cannot be the responsibility of the Executive. A small number of 
functions may be the responsibility of the Executive or the Council as a matter of local 
choice. In either case the decision-making can be delegated in accordance with the 
rules applicable to Council functions or Executive functions as the case may be. 

Note: Where the “Executive” is stated to as the “Decision making body” it shall mean 
the Leader, or if delegated by the Leader, Executive Board, an individual Executive 
Member, committee of the Executive Board or officer 
 
The Council has made the following decisions in respect of local choice functions: 
 

Function Decision making body 
 

1. Any function under a local Act other than a 
function of imposing any condition, limitation or 
other restriction on an approval, consent, 
license, permission or registration granted.  
 

 

Executive  

 

2. The determination of an appeal against any 
decision made by or on behalf of the authority. 
 

 

Council or Committee of the 
Council 
 

 

3. The making of arrangements pursuant to 
subsection in relation to appeals against 
exclusion of pupils from maintained schools. 
 

 

Executive  

 

4. The making of arrangements pursuant to 
section 94(1) 1A and (4) of, and Schedule 24 
to, the Schools Standards and Framework Act 
1998 (admission appeals). 
 

 

Executive  

 

5. The making of arrangements pursuant to 
section 95(2) of, the Schools Standards and 
Framework Act 1998 (children to whom section 
87 applies: appeals by governing bodies). 
 

 

Executive  

 

6. The making of appointments to the Police 
and Crime Panel established under section 28 
and Schedule 6 to the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act 2011.  
 

 
Council or Committee of the 
Council 
 

 
7. The conducting of best value reviews in 
accordance with the provisions of any order for 
the time being having effect under section 5 
(best value reviews) of the Local Government 
Act 1999. 

 
Executive  

 
8. Any function relating to contaminated land. 
 
 

 
Council or Committee of the 
Council to the extent that the 
function consists of: 

Page 188



42 
 

a) determining an application for 
or enforcing any licence, approval, 
consent, permission or 
registration  
b) the direct regulation of a person 
 
Executive in all other 
circumstances 
 

 
9. The discharge of any function relating to the 
control of pollution or the management of air 
quality. 
 
 

 
Council to the extent that the 
function consists of: 
a) determining an application for 
or enforcing any licence, approval, 
consent, permission or 
registration  
b) the direct regulation of a person 
 
Executive in all other 
circumstances   
 

 
10. The service of an abatement notice in 
respect of a statutory nuisance. 

 
Council or Committee of the 
Council 
 

 
11. The passing of a resolution that Schedule 2 
to the Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 
should apply in the authority's area 
 

 
Executive  

 
12. The inspection of the authority's area to 
detect any statutory nuisance 

 
Council or Committee of the 
Council 
 

 
13.  The investigation of any complaint as to 
the existence of a statutory nuisance. 

 
Council or Committee of the 
Council 
 

 
14. The obtaining of information under section 
330 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as to interests in land 
 

 
Council or Committee of the 
Council.  
 
Executive to the extent that it may 
be necessary to use these powers 
in connection with the exercise of 
powers to make compulsory 
purchase orders.  
 

 
15. The obtaining of particulars of persons 
interested in land under section 16 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 

 
Council or Committee of the 
Council.  
 
Executive to the extent that it may 
be necessary to use these powers 
in connection with the exercise of 
powers to make compulsory 
purchase orders.  

Page 189



43 
 

 
16. The making of agreements for the 
execution of highways works. 
 

 
Executive  

 
17. The appointment of any individual -  
 
 

(a) to any office other than an office in 
which he is employed by the authority 
 
(b) to any body other than 
 
(i) the authority; 
 
(ii) a joint committee of two or more 
authorities; or 
 
(c) to any committee or sub-committee of 
such a body and the revocation of any such 
appointment 

 

 
Council, except that in year 
appointments to fill a vacancy that 
has arisen may be made by   the  
Leader  

 
18. The making of agreements with other local 
authorities for placing staff at the disposal of 
those other local authorities 
 

 
Executive 
Council if staff will be engaged in 
the discharge of a function which 
in Blackburn with Darwen would 
not be the responsibility of the 
Executive. 
 

 

Page 190



44 
 

Section 2 Functions to be carried out by Full Council 

 

Only full Council will exercise the following functions: 
 
(a) adopting and changing the Constitution except to the extent permitted under the 

Constitution; 
 
(b) approving or adopting the policy framework and the budget; 
 

(c) making decisions on executive functions where the decision maker wishes to 
make a decision which is not in accordance with the budget or the policy 
framework. This is subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to 
Information and Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings Procedure Rules 
in Part 4 (Section 2) of this Constitution; 

 
(d) appointing the Leader; 
 
(e) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for committees and sub 

committees, deciding on their composition and making appointments to them; 
 
(f) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an 

executive function or has been delegated by the Council;  
 
(g) adopting a remuneration scheme for members; 
 
(h) changing the name of the area or conferring the freedom of the Borough; 
 
(i) confirming the appointment or dismissal of the Chief Executive (who is the Head 

of Paid Service, the Monitoring officer or the Chief Finance Officer  
 
(j) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and promoting or 

opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills; 
 
(k) the Council's functions in relation to elections unless the function has been 

delegated by Council. 
 
(l) appointing the Mayor 
 

Page 191



45 
 

Section 3 Planning and Highways Committee 

 

There shall be a Planning and Highways Committee consisting of 13 members of the 
Council and having the following powers: 

Planning Powers 

 
The Committee shall have the power to exercise the Council's powers as local planning 
authority to: 
 
a) Determine applications for planning permission and to grant permission for 

development already carried out, 
 
b) Decline to determine an application for planning permission,  
 
c) Determine applications to develop land without compliance with conditions, 
 
d) Make determinations, give approvals and agree other matters in respect of 

permitted development rights in accordance with Schedule 2 parts 
6,7,11,17,19,20,21 to 24, 26, 30 and 31 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995, 

 
e) Authorise the entering of agreements regulating development or the use of land, 
 
f) Issue a certificate of existing or proposed lawful use or development, 
 
g) Authorise the serving of a completion notice, 
 
h) Determine applications for consent for the display of advertisements, 
 
i) Require the discontinuance of a use of land, 
 
j) Authorise the issue of enforcement notices, stop notices, planning contravention 

notices breach of condition notices, building preservation notices, any other 
subsequent actions under Part VII or the Town and Country planning Act 1990 (or 
equivalent replacement or re-enactment) including section 178 of that Act and to 
authorise  applications for injunctions in respect of breaches of planning control 
and listed buildings, 

 
k) Determine applications for hazardous substances consent and related powers, 
 
l) Determine conditions relating to mining sites, 
 
m) Require the proper maintenance of land, 
 
n) To authorise all action in respect of High Hedges Legislation under Anti-Social 

Behaviour Act 2003, 
 
o) Determine applications for listed building consent and conservation area consent, 
 
p) Serve a building preservation notice and related powers and the power to execute 

urgent works under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Buildings in Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, 

 

Page 192



46 
 

q) Authorise the acquisition of a listed building in need of repair and to serve a repairs 
notice, 

 
r) Exercise any other powers of the local planning authority, which by law are not to 

be a function of the Executive, 
 
s) Issue licences authorising the use of land as a caravan site, 
 
t) The power to exercise all functions relating to the protection of important 

hedgerows and the protection of trees, 
 
u) Make recommendations to the Executive in respect of their planning functions 

including the contents of briefs for the development and redevelopment of land, 
the designation of conservation areas etc., the removal of permitted development 
rights and the making of Compulsory Purchase Orders on planning grounds. 

 
v) Substitute members are permitted on the Committee provided that they have 

undertaken relevant up to date training 
 
NOTE:  
 
The powers of the Planning and Highways Committee do not include agreeing 
development briefs, removing permitted development rights or declaring conservation 
areas. These are all Executive functions. 
 
That the following applications are referred to the Planning and Highways Committee  

 
1) Where a decision would override an objection from one or more objectors 

PROVIDED those objections are planning related consideration/s as listed under 
Material Considerations in the “what’s material” paper published with each 
agenda. 

 
2)1) Where the decisions would be contrary to the development plan or prejudicial to 

Council policy. 

 
3)2) Where the application is for a largescale major development as defined by within 

the definition for the time being prescribed by central government from time to 
time. 

 
4)3) Where the application is for a Smallscale Major Development for dwellings where 

the number of residential units to be constructed is over 50.  However where the 
number of dwellings to be constructed is not given in the application then for a 
site area of over 2 hectares. For all other uses a Smallscale Major Development 
where the floor space to be built is over 1,000 square metres or more or where 
the site area is 2 hectare or more. 

 
5)4) Where the application fulfils the requirements of the current Ward Member 

Referral Scheme.(See below) 

 
6)5) Where the application is by or on behalf of a Member of the Council. 

 
 

6) Where the application is by or on behalf of the Council’s senior management 
team, a service unit head, a member of the Planning Service, or a member of staff 
with direct input to, and therefore influence on the application. 

 

Page 193



47 
 

 
Highway Powers 
 
The Committee shall have power to exercise the following highway functions: 
 
a) The power to create, divert, stop up, extinguish and reclassify footpaths and 

bridleways and the power to make orders and enter agreements in relation to the 
same, 

 
b) The power to exercise all other functions relating to highways and public rights of 

way which are not the function of the Executive. 
 
c) To act as an advisory panel to the Executive Member in respect of Traffic 

Regulation Orders. 
 
Note: the making of traffic regulation orders is an Executive function 
 
Other functions 
 
The Committee shall have power to exercise the Council's functions in relation to the 
registration of commons 
 
Members Referral Scheme 
 
In relation to a planning application whose boundary lies entirely within a single 
electoral ward (one affected ward):- 
 

(i) In the case of an affected ward where there are three ward members, the 
request must be signed by two or more ward members for that ward; 
 

(ii) In the case of an affected ward with either one or two ward members. The 
request must be signed by at least one ward member for that ward. 
 

In relation to a planning application whose boundary extends into more than one 
electoral ward (more than one affected ward):- 
 

(i) Members from any one affected ward can request to refer a planning 
application falling into this category in line with the following: 
 

a) In the case of affected wards where there are three ward members the 
request must be signed by two or more ward members representing 
the affected wards;   
 

b) In the case of affected wards with either one or two ward members the 
request must be signed by at least one ward members representing the 
affected wards. 

 
In all cases:- 
The planning application must not be identical to or substantially the same as one 
which was registered within the past 12 months, and which was previously refused 
permission under delegated powers or withdrawn by the applicant/agent. Any member 
who wishes an application falling into this category to be considered by the Planning 
and Highways Committee must make such a request to the Chair of the Committee, 
who has discretion in this matter, and will consider this request on its merits, outside 
the terms of the Member Referral Scheme. 
 
 

Page 194



48 
 

The request to refer the planning application must always be made in writing by using 
the Ward Member Request to Refer Form. This sets out the criteria under which the 
request to refer is being made and the reasons for the request. Advice and 
clarification can be sought from the case officer to assist the completion of the form. 
The form should then be submitted to the Planning Manager before the end of the 21 
day consultation period. Failure to submit the form within the time period will mean the 
request cannot be considered. The application will then be determined under 
delegated powers.   
 
With regards to an application that is resubmitted within 12 months of being 
registered, and which was either previously refused permission or withdrawn, if 
changes are made to the proposed development, then a new referral request can be 
considered. 

Page 195



49 
 

Section 4 Licensing Committee  

 

There shall be a Licensing Committee consisting of 11 members of the Council which 
shall have the following powers: 
 
The Committee shall have the power: 
 
1 LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 
a) To make recommendations to the Executive on standards and policies in respect of 

all licensing matters. 
 
b) To submit to appropriate Committees and receive reports in accordance with the 

Council’s Statements of Licensing Policy and Gambling Policy. 
 
c) Where timescales require it, to determine any applications for licenses not dealt with 

under delegated powers and to consider and determine reviews against officer 
decisions in respect of those Council licensing functions other than the Licensing 
Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 functions. 

 
2 GENERAL LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
Where timescales require it, to determine any applications for licences not dealt with 
under delegated powers and to consider and determine reviews against officer 
decisions in respect of those Council licensing functions other than the Licensing Act 
2003 and Gambling Act 2005 functions. 

 
3 LICENSING ACT 2003 SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
a) To consider and determine any applications and reviews for either personal or 

premises licences submitted under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 
2005 where a relevant objection/ representations have been received by the 
licensing authority. 

 
b) To deal with decisions whether or not to object in all cases when this Local Authority 

is the consultee and not the relevant authority considering the application. 
 
c) To make a determination in all cases where there is a police and/or an 

environmental objection to a temporary event notice.  
 
d) To deal with any other relevant matters referred to the Council by a relevant 

authority under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. 
 

4  MEMBER OBLIGATIONS 
 
All members of the Licensing Committee must have undertaken relevant up to date 
training. 
 
a) Substitute members are permitted on Licensing Committee provided that they have 

undertaken relevant up to date training. 
 

b) Substitute members are permitted on Licensing Sub-Committee provided that they 
have undertaken relevant up to date training. 

 

Page 196



50 
 

c) Members on the Licensing Act 2003 Sub-Committee may not consider licensing 
applications which relate to the ward they represent. 
  

Page 197



51 
 

Section 5 Standards Committee 

 

There shall be a Standards Committee established in accordance with Article 9 of the 
Constitution. 
 
Role and Function 
 
The Standards Committee will have the following roles and functions: 
 
a) promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by councillors and co-opted 

members ; 
 
b) assisting councillors and co-opted members to observe the Members’ Code of 

Conduct; 
 
c) monitoring the operation of the Council’s standards arrangements and to make 

such recommendations to the Council as the Committee considers appropriate 
with respect to: - 

 
i) the promotion and maintenance of high standards in the conduct of council 

and Parish/Town Councils business, and in the conduct of Members; 
ii) the maintenance and review of a Code of Conduct for Members of the 

Council, together with such other code, procedure, protocol or guidance as 
the Committee considers to be appropriate and to make recommendations 
to the Council on such codes and regulations; 

iii) the provision of training, guidance and assistance for Members in relation 
to the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members and any other such code, 
procedure or protocol; 
 

d) direct the provision of member development and training, to ensure elected 
members receive training which meets their needs as decision makers and ward 
councillors; 

 
e) granting dispensations to councillors and co-opted members from requirements 

relating to interests set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
 
f) to determine appeals relating to the Monitoring Officer’s decision on 

dispensations; 
 
g) dealing with any reports from the Monitoring Officer 
 
h) to adopt such procedures for the hearing and determination of any complaints as 

the Committee considers appropriate 
 
i) to appoint a Hearing Panel of the Committee for the purposes of conducting a 

local hearing into any complaint referred by the Monitoring Officer (having first 
consulted the Independent Person); 

 
i)  A Hearing Panel convened for such purposes shall comprise at least one of 

the independent members and three other members of the Committee from 
at least two different political parties.  Where the complaint is about a Parish 
or a Town Council Member the Panel will include at least one of the 
Parish/Town Council representative co-opted to the Standards Committee; 
and 

 

Page 198



52 
 

ii) The Independent Person will be invited to attend all meetings of the Hearing 
Panel and his/her views must be sought and taken into consideration before 
the Panel takes any decisions on whether the Subject Member’s conduct 
constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to any 
action to be taken following a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.  

 

j) oversee the development of quality and relevant information provided to 
members in their roles as decision makers and ward councillors. 
 

k) such other functions as the Council may determine. 
 

l) Standards Committee members are expected to make every effort to 
attend all meetings, where this is not possible a substitute should be 
nominated. 

Page 199



53 
 

Section 6 Independent Remuneration Panel  

 

There shall be an Independent Remuneration Panel which shall produce a report 
making recommendations: 
 
a)  as to the amount of basic allowance which should be payable to such  members;  
 
b)  as to the duties in respect of which such members should receive a special 

responsibility allowance and as to the amount of such an allowance, and 
 
c)  as to whether the allowance scheme should include allowances in respect of  the 

expenses of arranging for the care of children or dependants of such members and 
as to the amount of such allowance travel and subsistence allowances. 

Page 200



54 
 

Section 7 Overview and Scrutiny Committees  

 

There shall be a Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and the Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committees listed below. These Committees 
shall be established in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny procedure rules and 
shall have the terms of reference described below. 
 
Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
a) To perform the functions of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee set out in 

 Article 6 in respect of any matter which may be subject to scrutiny.  
 
b) The Committee will normally use this power only in respect of issues which it 

considers to be of particular corporate importance, including all aspects of the 
portfolios of the Leader and the Executive Member for Digital & Customer 
Services and Executive Member for Finance & Governance. 

 
c) To approve an annual overview and scrutiny work programme to ensure that there 

is efficient use of the Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committees’ time, and that 
the potential for duplication of effort is minimised. 

 
d) Where matters fall within the remit of more than one Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee to determine which of them will assume responsibility for any particular 
issue, and to resolve any issues of dispute between the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. When appropriate a Sub Committee may be established on a short 
term basis. 

 
e) To receive requests from the Executive Board and/or the full Council for reports 

from Overview and Scrutiny Committees and to allocate them if appropriate to 
one or more Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

 
f) To put in place and maintain a system to ensure that referrals from Overview and 

Scrutiny to the Executive Board are managed efficiently and do not exceed the 
limits set out in this Constitution. 

 
g) At the request of the Executive Board to make decisions about the priority of 

referrals made so as to allow for the effective management of the Executive 
Board’s business and the efficient running of Council business. 

 
h) To establish ad hoc Sub Committees to provide a rapid response to issues of 

particular and urgent concern. 
 
i) The Chair of the Committee may make and change the allocation of Executive 

Member portfolios to Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committees.  
 
j)  The committee shall receive at least two reports from the Health and Wellbeing 

Board and scrutinise its efficiency and effectiveness.    
 
 
 
 

Page 201



55 
 

Section 8 Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

 

Call-In Committee 
 
In accordance with the Overview Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 (Section 
5), the standing Call-In committee will consider and scrutinise any Executive decisions 
referred by the Chief Executive under Rule 14 of those rules.  The Call-In committee 
shall consist of nine members appointed at Annual Council who are not members of the 
Executive Board.  
 
Substitutes shall be permitted but no member may be involved in scrutinising a decision 
in which he/she has been directly involved.     
 
BWD PLACE Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The services within this scrutiny committee are those within the portfolios of the 
Executive Member for Growth & Development and Executive Member for 
Environmental Services. 
 
BWD People Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The services within this scrutiny committee are those within the portfolios of the 
Executive Member Children, Young People & Education, Executive Member for Public 
Health & Wellbeing and the Executive Member for Adult Services & Prevention. 
 
 Other Overview and Scrutiny Bodies 
 
School Organisation Panel  
 
Role and Functions 
 
The Panel will advise on School Organisation Proposals as necessary.   
 
Composition 
 
It will consist of five scrutiny members as follows; three drawn from Policy and Corporate 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee and two drawn from BWD People 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Recommendations of the Panel 
 
The Panel will operate in an advisory capacity and its recommendations will be 
considered by the Executive Board, Executive Members and Directors in accordance 
with Part 3 of the Constitution.  
 
(Note: This section would be subject to changes to Section 15 of this Part 3 reflecting 

any revisions by the Leader to the portfolio arrangements)  

The Provision of Documents to Overview and Scrutiny Committees  

See Part 4 Section 2 - Rules relating to The Access to Information and Decisions and 

Attendance at Public Meetings Procedure Rules 2 

  

Page 202



56 
 

Section 9 Audit and Governance Committee  
 

 
Statement of Purpose: 
 
Our Audit and Governance Committee is a key component of Blackburn with Darwen 
Borough Council’s corporate governance. It provides an independent and high-level 
focus on the audit, assurance and reporting arrangements that underpin good 
governance and financial standards. 
The purpose of the Audit and Governance Committee is to: 

 provide independent assurance to the Council of the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the internal control environment and the extent to 
which these meet the objectives of the Local Code of Corporate Governance; 

 provide independent review of the Council’s governance, risk management and 
control frameworks; 

 oversee the financial reporting and annual governance processes; and 

 oversee internal and external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective 
assurance arrangements are in place. 

 
Governance, Risk and Control: 
 
The Audit and Governance Committee will: 
 

1. Review the Council’s corporate governance arrangements against the good 
governance framework including the ethical framework and consider the local 
code of governance; 

2. Review the Annual Governance Statement prior to approval and consider 
whether it properly reflects the risk environment and supporting assurances, 
taking into account internal audit’s opinion on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Council’s framework of governance, risk management and 
control; 

3. Consider the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money and review 
assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements; 

4. Consider the framework of assurance (including the Management 
Accountabilities Framework) and ensure that it adequately addresses the risks 
and priorities of the Council; 

5. Monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the 
Council; 

6. Monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the Committee; 
7. Consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the 

implementation of agreed actions; 
8. Review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the Council from 

fraud and corruption;  
9. Monitor the Counter Fraud strategy, actions and resources; and 
10. To review the Governance and Assurance arrangements for significant 

partnership or collaborations. 
 
 
 
Internal Audit  
 
The Audit and Governance Committee will: 
 

1. Approve the internal audit charter; 

Page 203



57 
 

2. Approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including internal audit’s resource 
requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and any work 
required to place reliance upon those other sources; 

3. Approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and 
resource requirements; 

4. Make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Head of Audit & 
Assurance to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource 
limitations; 

5. Consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from additional 
roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing, of the Head of Audit and 
Assurance, and to approve and periodically review safeguards to limit such 
impairments. 

6. Consider reports from the Head of Audit & Assurance on internal audit’s 
performance during the year. These will include:  
a) Updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of 

concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work.  
b) Regular reports on the results of the Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme.  
c) Reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform to 

the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and Local Government 
Application Note, considering whether the non-conformance is significant 
enough that it must be included in the Annual Governance Statement.  

7. Consider the Head of Audit & Assurance’s annual report, including:  
a) The statement of the level of conformance with the Public Sector Internal 

Audit Standards and Local Government Application Note and the results of 
the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme that supports the 
statement – these will indicate the reliability of the conclusions of internal 
audit.  

b) The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s 
framework of governance, risk management and control together with the 
summary of the work supporting the opinion and the implications of any 
significant matters identified – these will assist the Committee in reviewing 
the Annual Governance Statement.  

8. Consider an annual risk management report 
9. Consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested.  
10. Receive reports outlining the action taken where the Head of Audit & Assurance 

has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be 
unacceptable to the authority or there are concerns about progress with the 
implementation of agreed actions.  

11. Contribute to the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme and in 
particular, to the external quality assessment of internal audit that takes place at 
least once every five years.  

12. Consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the Annual 
Governance Statement, where required to do so by the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations; and 

13. To provide free and unfettered access to the Chair of the Audit and Governance 
Committee Chair for the Head of Audit and Assurance, including the opportunity 
for a private meeting with the Committee.  

 
External Audit  
 
The Audit and Governance Committee will: 

1. Support the independence of external audit through consideration of the external 
auditor’s annual assessment of its independence and review of any issues 
raised by Public Sector Audit Appointments. 

2. Consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and the report to 
those charged with governance prior to publication of the annual accounts;  

Page 204



58 
 

3. Consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor;  
4. Comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it is 

effective and gives value for money;  
5. Commission work from internal and external audit; and  
6. Advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between external 

and internal audit and other inspection agencies or relevant bodies.  
 
Financial Reporting  
 
The Audit and Governance Committee will: 
 

1. Review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider whether 
appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are 
concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to be 
brought to the attention of the council; and  

2. Consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on 
issues arising from the audit of the accounts.  

 
Treasury Management 
 
The Audit and Governance Committee will: 
 

1. Monitor the Council’s treasury management arrangements in accordance with 
the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 

2. Ensure effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies; 
3. Review the treasury management risk profile and adequacy of risk management 

processes; and   
4. Consider reports on treasury management activity during the year. 

 
Accountability Arrangements  
 
The Audit and Governance Committee will: 
 

1. Report to those charged with governance on the Committee’s findings, 
conclusions and recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness 
of their governance, risk management and internal control frameworks; financial 
reporting arrangements, and internal and external audit functions. 

2. Report to full council on an annual basis outlining the Committee’s performance 
in relation to the terms of reference and the effectiveness of the Committee in 
meeting its purpose. 

3. Publish an annual report on the work of the Committee.  
 
Authority 
 
The Committee is authorised by the Council to investigate any activity within its terms 
of reference. It is authorised to seek any information it requires from any employee, 
including those of partner organisations, and all employees are directed to co-operate 
with any request made by the Committee. 
 
Frequency of Meetings 
The Committee will normally meet five times each year to fulfil its requirements. 
 
 
Programme  
 
In order to meet its principal responsibilities during the year, the Committee will consider 
the reports and /activities outlined in the Annual Audit Plan: 

Page 205



59 
 

 
The programme itself will develop over time as new statutory responsibilities are 
introduced and the timetable may vary. 
 
Membership 
 
The Committee will consist of 6 members appointed by Full Council. In addition, the 
Executive Member for Finance & Governance will also attend each Committee meeting. 
 
The Leader of the Council and all Executive Members are precluded from being voting 
members of the Committee.  
 
A quorum shall be 3 Members.   
 
New Committee members will be required to undertake appropriate induction training 
to enable them to adequately perform their duties as and when necessary. 
 
Attendance 
 
Committee members are expected to make every effort to attend all meetings, where 
this is not possible a substitute should be nominated. 
 
To achieve these objectives, the Committee will depend principally on the attendance 
of the Chief Executive, Director of Finance and Customer Services, the Director of HR, 
Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance Services and the Head 
of Audit & Assurance or their nominated representatives, as appropriate.  The Council’s 
external auditors, external advisors, Directors or senior managers may be required to 
attend as and when requested by the Committee. 
 
Reporting  
The Annual Audit and Governance Committee Report will be formally reported to Full 
Council. 
 
Further reports will be made in those cases where the Committee considers matters 
must be formally brought to the attention of Full Council. 
 
  

Page 206



60 
 

Section 10 Advisory and Consultative Groups 

There shall be the advisory and consultative groups listed in the left hand column of the 
table below. The Membership of groups shall be as listed in the middle column and the 
terms of reference as set out in the right hand column: 

 

Group Membership Terms of Reference 

LJNCC  
(Council) 

Council Officers and 
representatives from 
relevant trades unions in 
proportion to membership.  

To provide a forum for 
consultation and negotiation on 
HR policy and strategy including 
health and safety issues.  
 

LJNCC  
(Schools) 

Council Officers and 
representatives from 
relevant trades unions. 
 

To provide a forum for 
consultation and negotiation on 
HR policy and strategy including 
health and safety issues. 
 

 
Corporate Parenting Committee  
A specialist advisory committee working with the Executive Member for Children, 
Young People & Education and the Chair of the BWD People Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee:  
 
• to continuously improve how Councillors and Council Directorates, as 

corporate parents safeguard and improve the health, accommodation, 
education, and employment of Looked After Children and the delivery of the 
Council’s aspirations contained in the Children's and Young Peoples Plan. 

 
• to address any recommendations by Ofsted acting as a specialist advisor on 

all aspects within its remit to the BWD People Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 
Its recommendations will be considered by Executive Members, Chief Officers and the 
BWD People Overview & Scrutiny Committee in accordance with Part 3 of the 
Constitution.  
 
The membership is open to all elected members of the Council who may contribute in 
their capacity as ‘Corporate Parents’. 
 
The work of the Committee will be reported by the Executive Member for Children, 
Young People & Education to each Council Forum meeting as part of the Executive 
Member Report and the Committee itself will report annually to the Council. 
 
   
 

Page 207



61 
 

Section 11 Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

 
Introduction 

The Council has established a Health and Wellbeing Board, which will operate in 

accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012, the Local Authority (Public 

Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013, and 

other relevant legislation.   

Health and Wellbeing Boards are a key element of the Health and Social Care Act 

2012 and they are a means to deliver improved strategic co-ordination across the 

NHS, social care, children’s services and public health.  The Boards must assess the 

needs and assets of the local population, producing a strategy that addresses these 

needs and builds on any assets, influences commissioning plans of organisations and 

promotes joint commissioning and integrated provision. 

Aims 

1. To improve life chances for the residents of Blackburn with Darwen, by improving 
health and wellbeing; creating healthy places and reducing health inequalities, 
giving all people the opportunity to Start Well, Live Well and Age Well 

 
2. To provide local accountability for improved health and wellbeing (morbidity, 

mortality, quality of life) and health equity outcomes for the population of Blackburn 
with Darwen 

 

3. To promote integration and partnership working between the NHS, social care, 
public health and other local services; 

 

Purpose 

1. To prepare Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) and Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategies (JHWSs), which is a duty of local authorities and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs); 

 
2. To oversee the delivery of the agreed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and 

associated outcomes; 
 

3. To approve and implement plans for joint commissioning and pooled budget 
arrangements, particularly the Better Care Fund, so people are provided with better 
integrated care and support; 

 
4. To lead close working between commissioners and providers of health and social 

care services and other health related services, such as housing and other local 
government services, across Blackburn with Darwen and other relevant footprints; 

 
5. To influence the development of major plans and service redesigns of health and 

wellbeing related services, to ensure that local needs are understood and reflected 
within proposals 

 

 

 

Page 208



62 
 

Accountability 

1. The Board will report to the Council’s Executive Board and to the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Governing Body by ensuring access to meeting minutes and 
presenting papers as required; 

2. The Policy and Corporate Resources Overview Scrutiny Committee has powers in 
relation to the discharge of functions by the Health and Wellbeing Board.  The 
Director of Public Health will provide regular reporting to the Policy and Corporate 
Resources Overview Scrutiny Committee; 

3. The Director of Public Health will provide an Annual Report to the Council detailing 
the Health and Wellbeing Board’s work during the past year. 

Membership 

Voting Members 

1. The Chair will be the Leader of Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council or his or 
her nominated representative.  This appointment is made at the Annual Council 
meeting or nearest Council meeting thereafter.  The Vice Chair will be the Chair of 
the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) or the second nominated CCG 
representative who is also a voting member. 

The core membership of the Board comprises the representatives outlined below.  
The core members are the only individuals with voting rights.   

 

Leader of the Council  

Executive Member Adult Services & Prevention  

Executive Member for Children, Young People & Education 

Leader of the Opposition  

Strategic Director Adults & HealthDirector of Adults & Prevention  

Strategic Director Children’s & EducationDirector of Children’s Services  

Director of Public Health & Wellbeing 

  

A representative of NHS England  

A representative of Healthwatch  

A representative of East Lancashire Hospital Trust  

A representative of Lancashire Care Foundation Trust 

Two representatives of the Clinical Commissioning Group  

Two representatives of the Voluntary sector 

Two representatives of the Community (Lay Members) 

 

2. Only these core members and their named deputies will have voting rights. 

3. The core members will keep under review the membership of the Board and if 
appropriate will make recommendations on any changes to the core membership 
as required, to continue to respond to changes in the system. 

Non voting members 

4. To ensure an adequate breadth of service delivery and activity is represented and 
considered by the Board in their discussions, the Board have agreed that the 
following representatives will be invited to Board meetings as non-voting members: 

Page 209



63 
 

 Chief Executive, Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council  

 Clinical Chief Officer, Blackburn with Darwen Clinical Commissioning Group  

 Chair of the Blackburn with Darwen Live Well Board  
 
These members will not have voting rights. 

 

Invited members 

5. Additional members may be invited at the discretion of the Board to specific 
meetings.  These are likely to include: 

 Representatives from the NHS Commissioning Board 

 Heads of Service 

 Other officers of the Council, NHS and other local health and wellbeing 
stakeholders 

 Executive Members of the Council 
 
Invited members will not have voting rights. 

 

Decision making 

1. The Board will need at least eight voting members to be quorate – this must include 
at least on elected Member, one Clinical Commissioning Group member and one 
member of either the voluntary sector or community sector.  Voting members can 
appoint deputies with the agreement of the Chair; 

 

2. Where consensus cannot be reached the matter will be decided by a simple majority 
of those voting members present in the room at the time the question was put.  The 
Chair will take the vote by a show of hands.  If there are an equal number of votes 
for and against, the Chair will have a second or casting vote. 

 

Roles and responsibilities of Board members 

1. To work together effectively to ensure the delivery of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy; 

 

2. To work within the Board to build a collaborative partnership to key decision making 
that embeds health and wellbeing challenge, issue resolution and provides strategic 
system leadership; 

 

3. To participate in Board discussions to reflect the views of their organisations, being 
sufficiently briefed to be able to make recommendations about future policy 

developments and service delivery; 
 

4. To champion the work of the Board in their wider work and networks and in all 
individual community engagement activities; 

 
5. To share any changes to strategy, system configuration and performance within 

their own partner organisations, with the Board, outlining the consequences of such 
on budgets and service delivery, to allow the Board to consider the wider system 
implications. 
 

Page 210



64 
 

6. To ensure that there are communication mechanisms in place within their 
organisations to enable information about the Health and Wellbeing Board’s 
priorities and recommendations to be effectively disseminated; 

 

Agenda setting and notice of meetings 

1. The agenda will be developed by partnership representation at agenda setting 
meetings and membership of this group is: 

 

 Chair and Vice Chair  

 Clinical Commissioning Group representative 

 Voluntary sector representative 

 Local authority representative 

 Director of Public Health & Wellbeing 
 

2. Any agenda items or reports to be considered at the meeting should be submitted 
to the Council’s Democratic Services no later than seven working days in advance 
of the next meeting.  No business will be conducted that is not on the agenda, unless 
agreed with the Chair prior to commencement of the meeting. 

 

3. In accordance with the Access of Information Legislation Democratic Services will 
circulate and publish the agenda and reports prior to each meeting.  Exempt or 
Confidential Information shall only be circulated to core members. 

 

Procedure at meetings 

1. General meetings of the Board are open to the public and in accordance with the 
Council’s Committee Procedure Rules will include a Public Question Time session.  
Papers, agendas and minutes will be published on the Blackburn with Darwen 
Committee section; 

2. The Board will also hold development / informal sessions throughout the year where 
all members are expected to attend and partake as the agenda suggests; 

3. Core members are entitled to speak through the Chair.  Invited members are entitled 
to speak at the invitation of the Chair; 

4. Whenever possible decisions will be reached by consensus or failing that a simple 
majority vote. 

Conflict of interest 

1. In accordance with the Council’s Committee Procedure Rules, at the 
commencement of all meetings all Board members shall declare disclosable 
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests and any conflicts of interest; 

2. In the case of non-pecuniary matters members may remain for all of part of the 
meeting, participate and vote at the meeting on the item in question; 

3. In the case of pecuniary matters members must leave the meeting during 
consideration of that item. 

 

 

Page 211



65 
 

Code of conduct 

1. All Councillors and co-opted members of Council committees are required to comply 
with the Code of Conduct, contained in Part 5, Section 1 of the Constitution.  
Therefore, all voting members of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be required to 
comply with the Code of Conduct. 
 

2. All voting non Councillor members of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be 
required to complete a declaration of interest. 

 

3. The NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England) is under a duty to issue guidance 
to CCGs on the exercise of their functions in relation to conflicts of interest and 
CCGs must have regards to such guidance.  This list is not exhaustive – as non 
Councillor members of Board may also be bound by other codes of conduct and 
professional standards.  It should also be noted that the public law notions of 
predetermination and bias will also apply. 

 

4. As a matter of process, each agenda of the Health and Wellbeing Board will have 
“Declarations of Interest” as a standing item. 

 

Governance, decision making, transparency and accountability 

1. The Health and Wellbeing Board is a Committee of the Council established in 
accordance with section 102 LGA 1972.  Reports before the Board requiring 
decision will have gone through necessary governance of the author / owner as 
applicable.  Reports will also be clear what and to whom the recommendations 
apply.  

 
2. Decisions made by the Health and Wellbeing Board under their statutory functions 

do not need to go on the Council’s ‘Register of Key Decisions’ and they are not 
subject to the requirement to provide 28 days notice of intention to take a decision. 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is a non-Executive Committee (i.e. a committee 
of the Council), however their statutory functions (as set out in the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012, the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013, and other relevant legislation) are 
not subject to the Council’s “Call in” procedure. 

 
 

Page 212



66 
 

Section 12 Other Committees of the Council  
 

There shall be committees of the Council listed in the left hand column of the table 
below. The Membership of the Committee shall be as listed in the middle column and 
the terms of reference as set out in the right hand column: 
 

Committee Membership Terms of Reference 

Chief Executive’s 
& Chief Officer  
Employment 
Committee 

Four Members of the 
Council: 
(Leader of the Council two 
Deputy Leaders and 
Leader of the main 
Opposition Group) 
 

That the Committee be 
authorised to appoint 
additional Members with 
full voting rights to this 
Committee dependent on 
the business to be 
transacted and in line with 
the political balance of the 
Council. 

To consider the Chief Executive’s 
appraisal process and to perform all 
functions of the Council in relation to 
employment of the Chief Executive 
other than those which the Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules require 
to be performed by full Council or the 
Executive Board. 
 
To perform functions set out in the 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
in respect of Chief Officers to 
determine the terms and conditions on 
which Chief Officers hold office (see 
Part 4 Section 9) 

Investigating and 
Disciplinary 
Committee (IDC) 

Five Members of the 
Council politically balanced 
to include at least one 
Member of the Executive, 

To undertake the functions as set out 
in the model disciplinary procedure 
and guidance (England) in the JNC 
Chief Executive/Chief Officer Terms 
and Conditions of Service. 

Discretionary 
Grant School and 
Post School 
Transport 
Appeals 

Three members drawn 
from the Appeals Panel 

To hear appeals from Officer 
decisions in respect of discretionary 
grants and school transport 

Chief Executive 
and Chief Officer 
Appeals 

Five Members of the 
Council politically balanced 
to include at least one 
Member of the Executive  
who are not Members of 
the IDC, 

To hear and determine appeals by the 
Chief Executive and Chief Officers in 
accordance with the Council’s 
procedures and as set out in the 
model disciplinary procedure and 
guidance (England) in the JNC Chief 
Executive/Chief Officer Terms and 
Conditions of Service.  

Social Services 
Review Panel 

Two members drawn down 
by the Director of Adult 
Services from the Appeals 
Panel together with 
independent members in 
accordance with the 
statutory provisions. 

To make recommendations in 
accordance with the relevant 
complaints procedure. 

Charitable Funds 
Committee 

Six Members of the 
Council 

To support the Council  where it has 
been appointed as sole corporate 
trustee (by an Order of the Charity 
Commission for England & Wales) 
and make decisions on the Council’s 
behalf in relation to day to day and 
operational matters. 

Page 213



67 
 

Section 13 Executive Functions 

 

The Leader shall have power to exercise all functions of the Executive and which are 
not by law or under this Constitution the function of the Council.  The Leader may either 
personally exercise these functions or make arrangements for their discharge by the 
Executive Board, by a committee of the Executive Board, by individual Executive 
Members, or by officers.   
 
The Leader has made arrangements for the discharge of these functions by the 
Executive Board, by a committee of the Executive Board, by individual Executive 
Members, or by officers as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 
 
Note 1: The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 set out functions which are not to be the responsibility of the Executive. In 
summary these cover the adoption of various plans and strategies, the determination 
of the budget, the regulatory and other functions referred to in relation to the Planning 
and Highways Committee and Licensing Committee and certain constitutional and 
quasi legislative functions. 
  
Note 2: Any decisions made or to be made in connection with the discharge of a 
function which is the responsibility of the Executive shall be in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 2000, the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 and the Access to 
Information and Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings Procedure Rules set 
out in Part 4 (Section 2) of this constitution, 

Page 214



68 
 

Section 14 Executive Member Delegations 

 

General Powers 

 
1. Executive Members having delegated powers from the Leader may make any 

Executive decision in respect of their portfolio subject to the restrictions set out 
below.  

 
2. The Leader may take decisions in respect of any portfolio if the relevant Executive 

Member is unable to act.  In absence of the Leader this power may be exercised by 
one of the Deputy Leaders.  

 

Restrictions on exercise of Powers   

 
1. Any decisions which significantly cross cuts more than one portfolio must be 

presented to the Executive Board.  
 
2. All decisions must be taken in accordance with the law, standing orders, financial 

regulations, relevant codes of practice and having regard to those the principles of 
decision making set out in Article 13.02 of the Constitution.  

 
3. An Executive Member will not make a decision in respect of any matter in which he 

or she has a personal or other interest under the Member’s Code of Conduct (Part 
5, Section 1). Such decisions will be referred to the Leader.  

 
4. Executive Members will make decisions only in the presence of an Officer and all 

decisions will be recorded in an approved format and in accordance with any 
regulations from time to time in force.  

 
5. An Executive Member will not use delegated powers to make a key decision.   
 
6. Where the powers given to officers under the Officer Scheme of Delegations (Part 

3, Section 16) coincide with those given to Executive Members the principle will be 
observed that day to day managerial decision are to be taken by officers and 
Executive Members should take strategic decisions.  

 
  
 

Page 215



69 
 

Section 15 Portfolios for Executive Members 
 
The Leader of the Council and Members of the Executive Board will be responsible for 
the delivery of the Corporate Plan and Corporate Priorities The individual portfolios will 
be responsible for monitoring the performance and financial management of their 
portfolio. In addition the individual portfolio will carry the following responsibilities: 
 

1. LEADER 
 
To be responsible for all executive functions other than those functions the Leader has 
delegated under this Constitution. 
 

 To be responsible for overall strategy and policy, including the allocation of key 
corporate policies, development and implementation including the performance 
agreement 

 

 To appoint between two and nine individual Executive Board Members and to 
allocate responsibilities to them.   

 

 To appoint at least one Deputy Leader and to allocate responsibilities to him/her. 
 

 Relationships with Europe, national, regional, sub-regional and local organisations 
and partnerships, including Local Strategic Partnership, Local Public Service Board, 
and associated Corporate initiatives; 
 

 Health & Well Being Board and Strategy; 
 

 Corporate and strategic public relations and communications (including imaging and 
branding); 

 

 Performance Management; 
 

 Corporate research, census and ward profiles; 
 

 Community cohesion & Equality; 

 
 Social Integration ‘Our Community, Our Future’ 

 
 Prevent; 
 

 Joint arrangements with the office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, 
Lancashire Constabulary, Lancashire Fire & Rescue Service, Lancashire Probation 
Service, Lancashire Magistrates Court Committee;  

 

 The mayoralty, those civic and ceremonial matters which are the function of the 
Executive, twinning arrangements and liaison with other authorities; 

 

 Democratic Services; 
 

 Support for Elected Members and the Council’s decision making processes through 
Democratic Services; 

 

 Member support & development; 
 

Page 216



70 
 

 Regional Relationships including; Pennine Lancashire and Lancashire 
Leaders/Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP)/ Lancashire Combined Authority (in 
shadow form) NWRLB;  

 
 Pennine Lancashire Integrated Care Partnership (ICP); 

 
 ‘Together an Active Future’ Sport England Partnership Programme;  

 
 Citizen Engagement (including “Your call”); 

 
 Coroner and Coronial Services; 

 
 Suspension of Head of Paid Service or Chief Officer. 
 
 

2. ADULTS SERVICES AND PREVENTION 
 
To be responsible for strategic and corporate policies for Adults & Prevention Services 
in the Borough and the implementation of such services, in particular through provision 
of services for: 
 

 Strategic commissioning for adult social care; 
 

 Quality Assurance and Performance Management of care services; 
 

 Safeguarding Venerable Adults & Local Safeguarding Adult Board (LSAB)  
 

 Older People; 
 

 Adults with physical disabilities; 
 

 Adults with learning disabilities; 
 

 Adults with mental health needs; 
 

 Adult Social Care provision; 
 

 Transition to adulthood; 

 
 Prevention and Demand Management; 
 

 Independent Living, supported housing strategy and commissioning; 
 

 Emergency Duty Service; 
 

 Hospital Discharge; 
 

 Sensory Impairment Service; 
 

 Care network & Carer services; 
 

 Supporting people; 
 

 Community and Voluntary Groups and Organisations; 
 

Page 217



71 
 

  

 Disabled facilities grants for adults; 
 

 Integrated Health & Care Services 
 

 Volunteering, community engagement & capacity building; 
 

 Integrated Neighbourhood Teams; 

 
 Lifelong Learning and Adult Workforce development; 

 
 Housing Needs and Homelessness; 

 
 Asylum Seeker Policies and Support; 

 
 Community Safety/Crime and Disorder matters/Anti-Social-Behaviour; 

 
 Domestic Abuse; 
 

 CCTV. 

 
 

3. CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE & EDUCATION 
 
Under the Children Act 2004 the Council is required to appoint a “Lead Member for 
Children’s Services”.  The Department of Health has published a guidance: “Statutory 
Guidance on the Roles & Responsibilities of the Strategic Director Children’s & 
EducationDirector of Children’s Services and the Lead Member for Children’s Services” 
which stipulates that Lead Member for Children’s Services:  is a member of the Council’s 
Executive who has political, not operational, responsibility for the leadership, strategy 
and effectiveness of the provision of services to all children and young people.    The 
post holder is also democratically accountable to local communities and has a key role 
in defining the local vision and setting political priorities for children within the broader 
political context. 
 
To be Lead Member responsible for Children’s Services in the Borough including the 
strategic development and implementation of policies and plans to achieve the Every 
Child Matters 5 outcomes (Be Healthy, Stay Safe, Enjoy & Achieve, Make a Positive 
Contribution and Achieve Economic Well-being).  In addition:  
 

 Child protection and other safeguarding of children, and Local Safeguarding 
Children Board (LSCB); 

 

 Children’s Social care provision 
 

 Advice and guidance to vulnerable young people  
  - CAMHS 
  - Teenage pregnancy 
  - Residential care 
 

 Children in our care  
 

 Children with complex needs 
 

 Fostering & Adoption 

Page 218



72 
 

 

 Early Years 
 

 Family support 

 
 Young Peoples Service 
 

 Youth offending team 

 
 Youth Zone & other organisations for young people 
 

 Children’s social care – commissioning;  

 
 Disabled facility grants for children and family  
 

 Health relationships – children and families; 
 

 Partnership and co-operation with relevant voluntary sector and statutory agencies 
and groups; 

 

 Leading on Inter Agency co-operation for Children; 
 

 Services to schools; 
 

 Relationships with nurseries, schools, free schools, academies and other 
educational providers; 

 

 Support for children with special educational needs including statutory assessment, 
education psychology and access to progression;  

 

 School places planning; 
 

 Education Welfare; 
 

 Admissions and exclusions; 
 

 School improvement; 
 

 Governor support services; 
 

 Extended school’s curriculum; 
 
 

 Monitor attainment and achievement of young people; 
 

 Workforce development in schools and across other partners; 

 
 
 
 4. PUBLIC HEALTH & WELLBEING 
 
To be responsible for the public health and wellbeing needs of the borough and 
promotion and implementation of leisure and cultural services provided by the Council, 
in particular: 
 

Page 219



73 
 

 Public Health Prevention; 
 

 Interface with Clinical Commissioning Group; 

 
 Health Promotion and Positive Lifestyles; 

 
 Reduce Health inequalities; 

 
 Public Health Nursing; 

 
 Sexual Health Services; 

 
 Joint Planning with Health and other Agencies, lead for Joint Strategic Needs 

Analysis (JSNA); 

 
 Link with Health Providers, East Lancashire Hospital Trust and Lancashire Care 

Trust; 

 
 HealthWatch; 

 
 Health and Wellbeing Board and Strategy; 

 
 Drugs and Alcohol; 

 
 

 Sport and leisure facilities; 
 

 Libraries 
 

 Museums and arts facilities; 

 
 Turton Tower 
 

 Entertainment and cultural services facilities; 
 

 Archive services; 
 

 Sports Strategy 
 

 Witton Country Park 
 

 Outdoor amenities including sports facilities 
 

 Festivals and events; 

 
 King Georges Hall 

 
 Darwen Library Theatre 
 

 BSF Community use of facilities; 
 

 To determine subsidies and grants for the use of Council Leisure and Cultural 
Services premises by voluntary organisations and groups; 

 

Page 220



74 
 

 Partnership and co-operation with relevant voluntary sector and statutory agencies 
and groups; and 

 

 
5. GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT 
 
To be responsible for the creation and implementation of overall plans (including Local 
Plan), policies and programmes relating to the regeneration, and economic 
development (including the Growth Programme (housing & employment) of the 
Borough.  Specifically to be responsible for:- 
 

 Growth Programme – Housing and Employment including Council owned 
Development Sites; 
 

 Liaison with registered social landlords or other housing providers; 

 
 Local Plan and Core Strategy; 
 

 Transport 
  -   Local Transport Plan 
  -   Public passenger transport; 
 
• Highways maintenance, including street lighting maintenance, planned and reactive 

road maintenance including the delivery of the network Recovery programme, 
drainage, flood risk and Highways Asset Management. 

 

 Securing inward investment and assistance to business; 
 

 Planning and development; 
 

 Agreeing development briefs and dealing with other matters in relation to Town and 
Country Planning insofar as these are delegated Executive functions; 
 

 Building control; 
 

 Traffic Regulation Orders  

 
 Land Charges; 
 

 Town centres and markets;  
 

 Tourism and marketing strategy and tourist information centres; 
 

 Growth Lancashire and Partnership and co-operation with relevant voluntary sector, 
statutory agencies etc.; and 

 

 Business Centres; 
 

 The Leader has agreed that the Executive Member for Growth & Development in 
conjunction with the Executive Member for Finance and Governance be 
delegated authority to consider and approve the making of compulsory purchase 
orders under section 17 of the Housing Act 1985 for individual empty properties 
identified as part of the Council's Empty Property Strategy" 

 
 

Page 221



75 
 

 
 

  
6. FINANCE AND GOVERNANCE 
 
To be responsible for the overall management of the Council’s finance and governance 
resources, including land, property, staffing and the Council’s finances, including the 
following specific responsibilities:- 
 

 Budget monitoring and financial management; 
 

 Council tax policy and Local Council Tax Support; 
 

 Audit, fraud, insurance and risk management; 
 

 Treasury management and performance; 
 

 Procurement; 
 

 Corporate governance; 
 

 Legal Services; 
 

 HR, Payroll and Pensions 
 

 Health and safety; 
 

 Property, corporate accommodation, land and buildings management, including 
appropriation, acquisition, disposal of, lease or development of land or interests in 
land in the Borough; 

 
 Building Maintenance; 

 

 Carbon management and sustainability 
 

 Responsibility for all tenanted property (other than Blackburn and Darwen markets) 
 

 Revenues & Benefits Administration; 
 

 The Leader has agreed that the Executive Member for Growth & Development in 
conjunction with the Executive Member for Finance and Governance be 
delegated authority to consider and approve the making of compulsory purchase 
orders under section 17 of the Housing Act 1985 for individual empty properties 
identified as part of the Council's Empty Property Strategy" 

 
 

 

7. DIGITAL AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
To be responsible for the overall management of the Council’s digital and customer 
services programme and resources, including the following specific responsibilities:- 
 

 Digital Strategy; 
 

 Digital First and Transformation; 

Page 222



76 
 

 
 Organisational Development; 

 
 Information Communications and Technology; 

 
 Benefits Support and Advice; 

 
 Contact Centre and Reception Services; 

 
 Customer Service Standards; 
 

 Registration Services; 
 

 Partnership and co-operation with relevant voluntary sector and statutory agencies 
and groups; 

 
 Advice services; 

 
 Corporate Complaints/Ombudsman 

 
 Information Governance and Data Protection 

 
 Civil Contingencies 

 
 Emergency Planning 

 
 Business Continuity 

 
 RIPA 

 

 
8. ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES  
 
To be responsible for the creation and implementation of waste management, waste 
disposal, ground maintenance services, trading standards and consumer advice and 
commercial and environmental health.  Specifically to be responsible for:- 

 

 Waste management & strategy including refuse collection, recycling and household 
waste centres and waste disposal; 

 

 Street cleansing; 

 
 Enviro-Crime; 

 

 Ground maintenance on Council maintained land; 

 
 Parks; 
 

 Cemeteries and crematorium; 
 

 Licensing and Public Protection; 
 
 
 

Page 223



77 
 

 Commercial and environmental health issues including health and safety at work, 
animal welfare and food safety;  

 

 Car Parking & Parking Enforcement; and 
 

 Trading Standards and consumer advice;  
 

 Housing Standards; 
 

 Home Improvement and Private Sector Renewal; 
 

 Private Sector Landlord Licensing; 
 

 Caravan Dwellers, Travellers and Transient Communities; 
 

 Houses in multiple occupation (HMO); 
 
 
 

ASSISTANT EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 
 
To support Executive Members with their responsibilities there are 15 assistant 
executive members as set out below: 
 
Adults and Prevention Services (3) 
 
Children, Young People and Education (3) 
 
Public Health and Wellbeing (2) 
 
Growth and Development (2) 
 
Finance and Governance (2) 
 
Digital and Customer Services (1) 
 
Environmental Services (2)

Page 224



78 
 

The Executive:  Summary of Portfolio Responsibilities – July 2019   
 

LEADER ADULTS 
SERVICES & 
PREVENTION 

CHILDREN, YOUNG 
PEOPLE & 
EDUCATION   

PUBLIC HEALTH & 
WELLBEING 

GROWTH & 
DEVELOPMENT 

FINANCE & 
GOVERNANCE 

DIGITAL & 
CUSTOMER 
SERVICES 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES 

 

Overall policy & 
strategy 
 
Performance 
management 
 
Corporate 
communication 
 
Corporate 
research, census 
 
Cohesion & 
Equality, and 
‘Your 
Community, Your 
Future’ 
programme 
 
Prevent  
 
Pennine 
Lancashire 
Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP) 
 
‘Together an 
Active Future’ 
Sport England 
partnership 
programme 
 

 
Adult social care 
provision & 
commissioning 
 
Care quality 
assurance & 
performance 
management 
 
Safeguarding 
Adults & LSAB 
 
Carers services 
 
Independent 
Living, supported 
housing strategy 
& commissioning 
 
Sensory 
Impairment  
 
Supporting people 
 
Disabled facilities 
grants for Adults 
 
Integrated health 
& care services 
 

 
Every Child Matters 5 
Outcomes 
 
Children’s Social Care 
provision & 
commissioning 
 
Safeguarding Children 
and LSCB 
 
Health relationships - 
children & families  
 
Inter-agency co-
operation - children 
 
Advice and guidance -
vulnerable young 
people 
 
CAMHS 
 
Youth offending  
 
Teenage Pregnancy 
 
Children in our care 
 
Children with complex 
needs 
 

 
Public Health 
prevention  
 
Interface with Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
 
Health promotion & 
positive lifestyles 
 
Reduce health 
inequalities 
 
Public Health Nursing 
 
Sexual Health 
Services 
 
Joint planning with 
health and other 
agencies,lead for Joint 
Strategic Needs 
Analysis (JSNA) 
 
Link with Health 
Providers, East Lancs 
Hospital Trust & 
Lancashire Care Trust 
 
HealthWatch 
 

 
Growth programme 
– housing & 
employment, 
including Council 
owned 
development sites 
 
Liaison with 
registered social 
landlords or other 
housing providers 
 
Regeneration & 
economic 
development  
 
Securing inward 
investment & 
assistance to 
business 
 
Local Plan & core 
strategy 
 
Planning & 
development 
management 
 
Building control  
 
Land Charges 

 
Council Tax & 
Business Rates 
policy & collection 
 
Local Council Tax 
Support policy 
 
Budget monitoring 
& financial 
management 
 
Internal Audit & 
Assurance 
 
External Audit 
 
Insurance & risk 
management 
 
VAT & Treasury 
management  
 
Procurement 
 
Corporate 
governance 
 
Legal services 
 
HR, Payroll and 
pensions 

 

Digital Strategy 
 
Digital First & 
Transformation 
 
Organisational 
Development  
 
Information 
communications & 
technology 
 
Benefits support & 
advice 
 
Contact Centre & 
Reception Services 
 
Customer Service 
Standards  
 
Advice services  
 
Registration 
Services 
 
Corporate 
Complaints/ 
Ombudsman  
 

 

Waste disposal, 
management & 
strategy  
 
Refuse collection & 
recycling 
 
Household waste 
centres 
 
Street Cleansing 
 
Enviro-crime 
 
Grounds 
maintenance on 
Council land 
 
Parks 
 
Cemeteries & 
crematorium 
 
Licensing & public 
protection 
 
Trading standards 
& consumer advice 
 
Commercial & 
environmental 
health issues 

P
age 225



79 
 

LEADER ADULTS 
SERVICES & 
PREVENTION 

CHILDREN, YOUNG 
PEOPLE & 
EDUCATION   

PUBLIC HEALTH & 
WELLBEING 

GROWTH & 
DEVELOPMENT 

FINANCE & 
GOVERNANCE 

DIGITAL & 
CUSTOMER 
SERVICES 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES 

Your Call 
 
Democratic 
Services 
  
Member support 
& development 
 
The Mayoralty, 
civic & 
ceremonial 
 
Local Strategic 
Partnership 
 
Regional 
relationships, 
including 
Lancashire 
Leaders, NWRLB  
 
Coroner 
 
Police & Crime 
Commissioner 
relationship 
 
LEP (Lancashire 
Enterprise 
Partnership) 
 

Pennine 
Lancashire 

Volunteering, 
community 
engagement & 
capacity building 
 
Community & 
voluntary groups 
& organisations 
 
Prevention & 
demand 
management  
 

Integrated 
neighbourhood 
teams 
 
Lifelong learning 
& adult workforce 
development 
 
Housing needs & 
homelessness 
 
Asylum seeker 
policies & support  
 
Community safety 
 
Domestic Abuse 
 
Crime & disorder  
 
CCTV 
 

Fostering & Adoption  
 
Early Years & 
Children’s Centres 
 
Services to schools 
 
Relationships with 
nurseries, schools & 
academies 
 
Special educational 
needs, statutory 
assessment, education 
psychology 
 
School place planning  
 
Education welfare 
 
School Admissions 
 
Exclusions 
 
School improvement  
 
Governor support  
 
Extended schools 
curriculum 
 
Young People’s 
Services – Strategy, 
co-ordination, 

Health & Well Being 
Board and Strategy 
 
Drugs & Alcohol 
 
Sports & Leisure 
Facilities 
 
Sports strategy 
 
 
 
BSF Community use 
of facilities 
 
Libraries 
 
Arts & Culture 
 
Museums 
  

Turton Tower 
 
Archive services 
 
King George’s Hall 
complex  
 
Darwen Library 
Theatre 
 
Festivals & Events 
 
Witton Country Park 
 

 
Town centres &  
marketing strategy 
 
Visitor Centre & 
Tourism 
 
Markets 
 
Highways & 
Transport  
 
Local Transport 
Plan  
 
Public passenger 
transport 
 
Highways 
maintenance 
 
Drainage 
 
Business Centres 
 
Growth Lancashire 
 
 
 

 
Health & safety  
 
Property & land 
 
Operational 
buildings & 
corporate office 
accommodation  
 
Building 
maintenance  
 
Tenanted property, 
community centre 
buildings 
& allotments 
 
Carbon 
management & 
sustainability  
 
 
 
 
 

Information 
governance & data 
protection 
 
 
 
Civil contingencies 
 
Emergency 
planning  
 
Business continuity 
 

 
Health & safety at 
work  
 
 
 
Animal welfare  
 
Food safety  
 
Car Parks & 
parking 
enforcement  
 
Housing Standards 
 
Home improvement 
& private sector 
renewal 
 
Private sector 
landlord licensing 
 
Caravan dwellers, 
travellers & 
transient 
communities 
 
HMO 
 
 

P
age 226



80 
 

LEADER ADULTS 
SERVICES & 
PREVENTION 

CHILDREN, YOUNG 
PEOPLE & 
EDUCATION   

PUBLIC HEALTH & 
WELLBEING 

GROWTH & 
DEVELOPMENT 

FINANCE & 
GOVERNANCE 

DIGITAL & 
CUSTOMER 
SERVICES 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES 

Joint 
arrangements, 
e.g. Fire, Police 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 management & 
facilities 
 
Relationship with 
Youth Zone & other 
organisations for 
young people 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

   
 

P
age 227



81 
 
 

Section 16 Officer Scheme of Delegation 

 
This Scheme provides officers with the authority to deliver the services for which they are 
responsible.  
 

A Chief Officer may exercise any power delegated to him or her.  
 
A Chief Officer may delegate to another named officer or post holder (normally a Head of 
Service) certain powers and duties which have been delegated to that Chief Officer.  Each 
Chief Officer shall submit on an annual basis to the Director of HR, Legal & Governance & 
Engagement details of such delegations including the named officer or post holder and the 
powers and duties delegated to them.   
 
The Chief Executive may exercise powers delegated to any officer when that officer is unable 
or unwilling to act.   
  

Restrictions on Use of Delegated Powers 
 

1) Chief Officers shall exercise their powers and other specified in this constitution in 
compliance with the law, the Council’s Constitution, and policies, rules and controls 
issued by the Council from time to time including specifically the Financial Procedure 
Rules and the Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules 

 
2) Where powers delegated to a Chief Officer coincide with those given to Executive 

Members the principle will be observed that day to day managerial decisions are for 
the Chief Officer to take and Executive Members should take strategic decisions. 
However, a decision taken by a Chief Officer shall not be open to challenge on the 
basis that it offends this principle. 

 
 

Interpretation of Powers  
 

1. Any power to take action under a statutory provision shall be deemed to authorise 
action under any statutory re-enactment of that provision. 

 
2. Any power to take action shall include the power to take necessary associated 

actions. 
 

GENERAL DELEGATIONS TO ALL CHIEF OFFICERS 
 
All powers shall be exercised in compliance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, 
policies, rules and controls issued by the Council from time to time including 
specifically the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules. 
 
All Chief Officers shall have authority to deal with the following: 
 

A. In connection with Financial Matters 
 

1. The management of buildings and facilities under their control. 
 

Page 228



82 
 
 

2. The placing of orders and the awarding of contracts in accordance the Financial 
Procedure Rules and the Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules and where 
necessary in consultation with the relevant Executive Member. 

 

3. To select contractors to tender for work or supply services to the Council in accordance 
the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules. 

 
4. To incur expenditure on individual capital schemes within the approved budget or on 

design preparation of a scheme. 
 
5. To incur revenue expenditure within the Council’s portfolio revenue budgets. 
 
6. To approve price variations under contracts and to authorise variation orders under 

contracts. Where contracts are managed by a third party external to the Council, price 
variations should be reported to and approved by the relevant Chief Officer.  

 
7. To dispose of assets other than land up to the values set out in Financial Regulations. 
 
8. The drawing up of bids and accepting offers of external funding within their own area of 

responsibility in consultation with the relevant Executive Member, Director of Finance & 
Customer Services and the Executive Member for Finance & Governance. 

 
9. To approve, in consultation with the Directors of HR, Governance & Engagement 

Directors of HR, Legal & Governance and Finance & Customer Services, the payment 
of financial compensation, to resolve a complaint submitted in accordance with the 
Council’s complaints procedure. 

 
10. In consultation with the Director of Finance & Customer Services and relevant Executive 

Member, to approve an increase in the original budget up to a maximum stated in the 
Financial Procedure Rules (Part 4, section 7) subject to the presentation in advance by 
the appropriate Chief Officer(s) of a detailed and fully costed business case to the 
Executive Member. (The format for the business case will be specified by the Director 
of Finance & Customer Services). A report of action taken should also be presented to 
the Executive Member for Finance & Governance. 

 
11. Approval of grants to voluntary or community organisations.  
 
 
B. In connection with HR Matters 
 
1.  In relation to HR matters, each Chief Officer is responsible for the staffing of the services 

which he/she provides concerning all non-Chief Officer posts including: 
 

 Appointment, suspension and dismissals 
 The approval of payments and benefits to staff (see note 1)  

 The approval of leave 

 Agreement to secondments 

 Approval of training opportunities 

 Approval to grant extensions to payments such as sick pay after formal 
approval from both the Director of HR, Governance & EngagementDirector 
of HR, Legal & Governance and the Director of Finance & Customer 
Services.  

Page 229



83 
 
 

 
Note 1: the establishment, deletion, and grading posts is to be within the council’s 
approved pay and reward structure and is subject to the agreement of the Director of HR, 
Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance and Director of Finance 
& Customer Services. 
 
Note 2: in relation to Chief Officers, the powers of the Chief Executive & Chief Officer 
Employment Committee takes precedence. 
 

2. The power to determine employee related applications and appeals in accordance with 
Council’s HR policies and procedures. 

 
3. The engagement of temporary staff in accordance with Council’s HR policies and 

procedures. 
 
C. In connection with General Matters 
 
1 In consultation with the Leader and the relevant Executive Member to authorise 

attendance by Members at conferences/seminars etc. provided there is adequate 
budgetary provision. 

 
2 To authorise persons to enter land or obtain information for any statutory purpose 

coming within the Chief Officer's field of responsibility. 
 
3 To take necessary measures to ensure that high standards of health, safety and welfare 

are achieved in the activities of the Council and its Departments, in compliance with the 
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and the Council’s Health and Safety Policy. 

 
4. In consultation with the relevant Executive Member to consider and determine 

Expressions of Interests made under the Community Right to Challenge (Expressions 
of Interest and Excluded Services) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 

5. In accordance with the RIPA Procedural Guide the Authorising Officer shall be appointed 

by the Council at any particular time to hold the position of 'Authorising Officer' across 

the Council Departments within Blackburn with Darwen. A list of these nominated 

Authorising Officers accompanies the RIPA Procedural Guide. 

 

TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
All powers shall be exercised in compliance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, 
policies, rules and controls issued by the Council from time to time including 
specifically the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules. 
 
1. To take any action, including incurring expenditure, in connection with an emergency or 

disaster in the district. 
 
2. The powers of the Head of Paid Service under the law and the Council’s Constitution. 
 
3. To exercise powers delegated to any Officer when that Officer is unable or unwilling to 

act. 
 

Page 230



84 
 
 

4. To exercise plenary powers 
 
5. To exercise the Chief Officer Employment Committee’s powers in consultation with the 

Chair in respect of the employment related matters of Directors/Chief Officers other than 
appointment and dismissal. A decision made by the Chief Executive under these powers 
must last for no more than six months before the matter is referred to the Chief Officer 
Employment Committee. 

 
6. To appoint Committees from Panels agreed by Council. 
 
7. To exercise functions under the Corporate Complaints Policy. 

 
8 To represent the Council (or to nominate in writing another Chief Officer) on the 

managing boards of major partnerships and other companies and, in so doing, to 
exercise such further operational powers as they or their representative may be required 
on behalf of the Council in accordance with Article 10 of this Constitution. 

 
9. To exercise all relevant powers under the Public Order Act 1986 to consider and take 

any action necessary to comply with a Chief Constable of Police’s application, in order 
to prevent serious public disorder, service damage to property or serious disruption of 
community life. 

 
10. To undertake the statutory Returning Officer role the Electoral Registration Officer role 

and Deputy Returning Officer(Acting) Returning Officer role (General Elections).  
 
11. To issue corporate media statements, publicity and electronic or hard copy publications.  
 
12. To make omission changes to Electoral Polling Districts. 

13 To maintain key relationships at a sub-regional level across Lancashire including other 

local authorities, the emerging Lancashire combined authority and the Lancashire 

Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and health partners. 

14. To be responsible for the corporate performance, policy and research and intelligence 

that supports the Council, Leadership, Executive Members and Senior Officers.  

 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACEDIRECTOR OF GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT 
 
All powers shall be exercised in compliance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, 
policies, rules and controls issued by the Council from time to time including 
specifically the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules 

 
The Strategic Director be authorised to exercise all the Authority’  powers, functions and 
responsibilities in relation to services delivered by the Place Growth & Development 
Ddepartments. 
 

Planning Powers 
 
1 To seek planning permission on behalf of the Council. 
 

Page 231



85 
 
 

2 To determine applications for planning permission, except where one or more of the 
following apply: 

 
2.1 the application one of the following: 

 A largescale major development as defined by within the definition for the time 
being prescribed by central government from time to time and is not for ‘Commercial 
Development’ as defined in paragraph 3 below. 
 

 A Smallscale Major Developments for dwellings where the number of residential 
units to be constructed is over 50. However, where the number of dwellings to be 
constructed is not given in the application then for a site area of 2 hectares or more. 
For all other uses a Smallscale Major Development is one where the floor space to 
be built is 1,000 square metres or more or where the site area is 2 hectares or more, 
and is not for ‘Commercial Development’ as defined in paragraph 3 below. 

 
NOTE: Smallscale Major Developments for the construction of less than 50 dwellings and 

Minor Developments are delegated to the Strategic Director.  
 

2.2 a ‘Commercial Development’ as defined in paragraph 3 below; 

 
2.23 The decision would be contrary to the development plan or prejudicial to Council 

policy; 
 

2.34 The application is referred to the Planning & Highways Committee under the Member 
Referral Scheme; 

 
2.45 The Chair (or the Vice-Chair in his/her absence) of the Planning & Highways 

Committee has requested that the application be determined by the Committee; 
 

2.56 The application is by or on behalf of a Member of the Council; 

 
2.76 The application is by or on behalf of the Council’s senior management team, a service 

unit head, an officer of the Planning Service or any other officer with direct input to, 
and therefore could influence the application 

 
PROVIDED ALWAYS that in circumstances where the Strategic Director PlaceDirector 
of Growth & Development has notified the Chair (or the Vice Chair in his/her absence) 
of the Planning & Highways Committee that a ‘Performance Trigger’ (as defined below) 
is met, exceptions 2.1 to 2.4 above will not apply, and the Strategic Director 
PlaceDirector of Growth & Development shall determine those planning applications in 
consultation with the Chair (or the Vice Chair in his/her absence) of the Planning & 
Highways Committee.   

 
A Performance Trigger will be met if the Council’s performance as regards the speed of 
determining planning applications, as measured against performance indicators set from 
time to time by Central Government, has fallen or is about to fall below a level which 
would result in the Council’s Planning Service being placed in Special Measures. 

 
3. For the purposes of applying these delegation arrangements, “Commercial 

Development” is defined as new building, a change of use, or alterations to 

existing buildings, which is proposed on land that is designated as 

Page 232



86 
 
 

industrial/business development land in the adopted Local Plan, AND which is in 

one or more of the following categories: 

 
3.1. All uses falling within Use Classes A and B of the current Town and Country 

Planning (Use Classes) Order; 
 

3.2. Any use, including Sui Generis uses, not falling into these Use Classes but 
determined by the Strategic Director PlaceDirector of Growth & 
Development to be similar in nature; 
 

3.3. Any use which is not one of the uses set out in 3.1 or 3.2, but which is applied 
for as part of a planning application which also includes one or more of those 
uses. 

 
4, To determine applications in relation to protected trees and hedgerows and issue 

any subsequent Orders arising from such applications. 

5. To determine applications for lawful development certificates. 

6. To authorise the service of planning contravention notices, breach of condition 

notices and stop notices and any other subsequent actions under Part VII of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (or equivalent replacement or re-enactment) 

except action under Section 178 (including Section 215 notices). 

7. To deal with formal complaints and to set and adjust fees in relation to formal 

complaints under the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 (Part 8, High Hedges 

Legislation). 

8. Where urgent action is required and following consultation with the Chair of the 

Planning and Highways Committee to exercise all powers of the Council as local 

planning authority including the service of enforcement notices, stop notices, 

planning contravention notice or breach of condition notice, building preservation 

notices and to authorise applications for injunctions in respect of breaches of 

planning control and listed buildings 

9. To determine on all matters relating to all Prior Notification/Prior Approval 

applications made under the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995 as amended by the Town & Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (Amendment) (England) Order 2013.” 

10. To exercise the functions relating to building control. 

11. To manage the delivery of the Council’s Growth Programme for employment, 

housing and town centre development sites. 

124. To exercise the Council’s functions in relation to public transport. 

135. To exercise all the functions of a commons registration authority and of a town or 

village green registration authority save for decisions (1) to amend the Register of 

Commons and the Register of Town or Village Greens and (2) to set fees. 

Page 233



87 
 
 

146. To consider and determine Reviews of the Listing of Assets of Community Value 

under the Assets of Community Value (England) Regulations 2012, following 

consultation with the Executive Member for Finance & Governance and the 

Executive Member for  Growth & Development and other consultees as 

appropriate. Powers and duties relating to the corporate property including 

buildings and assets of the Council. 

157. To take action in connection with the Management of the Borough’s Market 

undertakings and Fairs. 

168. To approve Temporary Markets with charitable elements subject to conditions set 

out. 

179. Responsibility for the development of corporate plans and longer tem strategies 

for future growth and prosperity of the Borough. 

1820. Responsible for the ‘Hive’ and key relationships with private sector business in 

the Borough including Growth Lancashire. 

 
  
TO THE DIRECTOR OF PLACEOF ENVIRONMENT & OPERATIONS  
 
All powers shall be exercised in compliance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, 
policies, rules and controls issued by the Council from time to time including 
specifically the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules. 
 
1. The Director be authorised to exercise all the Authority’s powers, functions and 

responsibilities in relation to services delivered by the Environment & Operations 
department  

 
2. To exercise all the Council’s responsibilities, functions, duties and powers under all 

legislation in relation to environmental and public protection services 
 
3. Environmental Health Powers:- 

(a) In regulating waste disposal to act in accordance with Control of Pollution and 
Environmental Protection legislation 

 
(b) To carry out all action necessary under environmental health, including food 

safety, safety at sports grounds, petroleum licensing, explosives, health and safety 
and related legislation. 

 
4. Cemetery and Cremation service - to authorise the granting of exclusive rights of burial, 

exhumations and paupers burials 
 
5. To exercise all the Council’s duties and powers under legislation in relation to trading 

standards 
 
6. Licensing Powers – To carry out all licencing and registration functions other than any 

specifically delegated to other Directors. 
 

Page 234



88 
 
 

7. To exercise the powers in connection with Private Sector Housing, Landlord Licensing, 
Housing in multiple occupation, save that in relation to the imposition of civil penalties 
under the Housing Act 2004 as amended by the Housing and Planning Act 2016 the 
decision as to whether there is a reasonable prospect of conviction, which has to be 
made prior to the penalty being imposed, should be made by the Council Solicitor. 

 
8. To exercise powers in connection with Caravan dwellers and transient communities. 

 
9. To have responsibility for car parks, parking and bus lane enforcement. 

 
10. To have responsibility for parks and open spaces. 

 
11. To have responsibility for public halls, catering and events. 

 
12. To make temporary orders in accordance with the Road Traffic Regulations (Special 

Events) Act 1994. 
 

13. To authorise action in accordance with Highways and Road Traffic Legislation. 

 
14. The powers to maintain the highway and to make improvements and carry out 

works to the highways and associated equipment. 
 

15. The powers to issue licenses and take action in respect of skips, scaffolding, the 
deposit of building materials and the excavation of streets. 

 
16. The powers to require the removal of structures or trees from the highway. 

 
17. The powers under the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 in respect of the 

co-ordination of street works etc. 
 

18. Save where the Council or the Executive Board (as applicable) determines 
otherwise those other powers set out in The Contracting Out (Highway 
Functions) Order 2009 

 
19. To have responsibility for Museums, Leisure Services and Libraries. 

19.  

 

 
 
TO THE DIRECTOR OF HR, LEGAL & GOVERNANCE & ENGAGEMENT 
 
All powers shall be exercised in compliance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, 
policies, rules and controls issued by the Council from time to time including 
specifically the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules. 
 
The Director be authorised  to  exercise  all  the  Authority’s  powers,  functions  and 
responsibilities in relation to services delivered by the HR, Legal, & Governance & 
Engagement Department. 
 

Page 235



89 
 
 

1. To be responsible for the conduct and instruct solicitors to institute, defend and appear 
for any legal proceedings in any civil or criminal court or tribunal on behalf of and in the 
name of the Council, including payments to settle proceedings.  

 
2. To take any action to protect the Council's legal rights and to take any necessary steps 

to settle disputes arising. 
 
3. To authorise officers to appear in the Magistrates’ and County Courts. 
 
4. To authorise serving of Statutory Notices, to authorise completion and confirmation of 

Orders, sign and seal documents. 
 
5. To agree indemnities where they are required to enable the Council to exercise any of 

its functions provided that where the giving of an indemnity could have considerable 
financial implications the Director of Finance & Customer Services shall be required to 
give approval. 

 
6. The authority to deliver the following: 
 

 in consultation with the Director of Finance & Customer Services, powers under 
the Coroners Act 1988. 

 determine requests to reproduce the Council’s Coat of Arms. 

 to designate a Proper Officer to oversee the Council’s duties and powers in respect 
of the Registration of Births, Marriages and Deaths. 

 
7. To approve land transactions in accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations.  
 
8. To exercise all powers in relation to the delivery of human resources services for the 

Council including responsibility for Health and Safety. 
 

9. The powers of the Monitoring Officer under the law and the Council’s Constitution. 

 
9.10. To exercise the functions of the communications and engagement team. 

 
10.11. To exercise the functions of democratic services, scrutiny and school appeals 

 
11.12. To exercise the Authority’s functions of election services 

 
12.13. To support the Chief Executive in the exercise of functions under the Corporate 

Complaints Policy administering the Council’s Complaint’s process. 
 
13.14. To support the Standards Committee in the delivery of these responsibilities as set out 

in this constitution. 

 
14.15. To promote and co-ordinate the effective Governance of the Council. 

 
15.16. Responsibility for the delivery of Civil Contingencies functions in consultation with the 

Chief Executive. 
 

TO THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 
 
All powers shall be exercised in compliance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, 
policies, rules and controls issued by the Council from time to time 

Page 236



90 
 
 

 
The Strategic Director be authorised to exercise all the Authority’s powers, functions and 
responsibilities in relation to services delivered by the Resources Department 
 
1. To oversee the continued development and delivery of the Digital strategy and associated 

programmes of work.  
 

2. To exercise all powers and arrangements for the delivery of business efficient Business 
Operations services across the Council. 

 
3. To exercise all powers in relation to the delivery of ICT for the Council. 

 
4. To lead and oversee the capital programme for digital and ICT. 

 
5. To administer the Council’s responsibilities under Data Protection and Freedom of 

Information Legislation and related legislation. 
 

6. To exercise the powers of the Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO) under the law and 
this Constitution. 

 
7. To exercise the powers of the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) under the law and this 

Constitution. 
 

8. To exercise all arrangements for the delivery of effective customer services. 
 

9. To exercise the arrangements for the Register of Birth, Marriages and Deaths.  
 

10. To lead the support and development of the Council’s Scrutiny process, working 
with committee Chairs. 

 
11. To be responsible for the corporate performance, policy and research and 

intelligence that supports the Council, Leadership, Executive Members and Senior 
Officers.  
 
 

 

TO THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND CUSTOMER SERVICES  
 
All powers shall be exercised in compliance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, 
policies, rules and controls issued by the Council from time to time including 
specifically the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules. 
 
The Director be authorised to exercise all the Authority’s powers, functions and responsibilities 
in relation to services delivered by the Finance & Customer  Services Department. 
 
1. To determine applications for discretionary non-domestic rate relief. 
 
2. The power to set the Council Tax Base in consultation with the Executive Member 

(Finance and Governance) 
 

Page 237



91 
 
 

3. The power to approve estimated business rates income in consultation with the 
Executive Member (Finance and Governance) 

 
4.  To exercise the functions of a billing and colleting authority for Council Tax and Business 

Rates and to administer Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit. 
 
5. To write off irrecoverable debts with a limit of £5000 in respect of each individual 

account. To write off larger debts with a limit of £30,000 in consultation with the 
Executive Member (Finance and Governance) 

 
6. The power to take urgent action to protect the Council’s financial position 
 
7. The powers of the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) under the law, and the 

Councils Constitution 
 
8. To promote the effective corporate governance of the Council. 
 
9. To ensure the Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules are complied with.  
 
10. To receive and open tenders. 
 
11. To exercise all arrangements for the delivery of effective customer services. 
 
12. To exercise the arrangements for the Register of Birth, Marriages and Deaths.  

 
113.  Responsible for the Internal Audit function and the relationship with External Audit. 

 
 
TO THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S & EDUCATIONSERVICES 
 
All powers shall be exercised in compliance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, 
policies, rules and controls issued by the Council from time to time including 
specifically the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules. 

  
The Strategic Director be  authorised  to  exercise  all  the  Authority’s  powers,  functions  and 
responsibilities in relation to services delivered by the Children’s Services Department. 

 
1. To deliver services within the remit of the Children Act 2004, the Children Act 1989 and 

other relevant legislation. 
1. To deliver services within the remit of the Children Act 2004 and other relevant 

legislation. 
 
2. The powers of the Director of Children’s Services (DCS) under the law and the Council’s 

Constitution 

 
3. Social services – the authority’s functions within the meaning of the Local Authorities 

Social Services Act 1970, insofar as they relate to children, and the local authority’s 
functions for children and young people leaving care. 

 
4. Health services – any health related functions exercised on behalf of an NHS body under 

section 31 of the Health Act 1999, insofar as they relate to children. 

 

Page 238



92 
 
 

5. Inter-agency co-operation – the building and leading of arrangements for inter-agency 
co-operation as set out in the Children Act 2004. 

 
6. Education services – the authority’s functions in its capacity as a Local Education 

Authority. 

 
7. The delivery of responsibility for Young People Services. 

 
8. The effective support of Children and Young Adults including NEET’s.  

 
9. To administer the effective delivery of Early Years Strategy and Provisions. 
 

 
TO THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF ADULTS & HEALTHPREVENTION 
 
All powers shall be exercised in compliance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, 
policies, rules and controls issued by the Council from time to time including 
specifically the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules. 
 
The Strategic Director be authorised to exercise all the Authority’s powers, functions and 
responsibilities in relation to services delivered by the Adult & HealthPrevention Department. 
 
1. To exercise the powers of the Statutory Director of Adult Social Services (DASS) 
 
2. To exercise the authority’s functions within the meaning of the Local Authorities Social 

Services Act 1970, the Care Act 2014 and any social care legislation, insofar as it relates 
to adults.  

 
3. Any health related functions exercised on behalf of an NHS body under section 31 of 

the Health Act 1999, insofar as they relate to adults. 
 
4. To exercise the Council’s community care responsibilities for adults. 
 
5. To exercise the Council’s functions regarding the procedures for dealing with complaints 

and representations relating to personal social services for adults. 
 
6. To administer and provide grants, loans, charges and other forms of assistance for 

adults. 
 
7. To make provision and act in accordance with legislation relating to mental health. 
 
8. To exercise the Council’s functions and powers in relation to commissioning of adults 

social care and personalisation. 
 
9. To authorise disabled adaptations and home repair assistance. 

 
10. To exercise powers in relation to the Council’s housing needs and homelessness 

responsibilities. 

 
11. The provision of neighbourhood service and engagement including lifelong learning. 

 

Page 239



93 
 
 

12. Community safety responsibilities and authorisation of action in connection with the 
Authority’s duties under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 

 
13. To exercise all relevant powers under the Anti-—Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 

Act 2014. 

14. To exercise all relevant powers under the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 and 
Counter Terrorism and Border Security Act 2019 - including decisions on referral under 
Section 36. 

 

15. To exercise and oversee the Council’s powers relating to CCTV. 

16. To oversee and manage the Council’s responsibilities relating to Asylum Seekers. 

 

TO THE DIRECTOR OF DIGITAL & CUSTOMER SERVICESBUSINESS CHANGE 
 
All powers shall be exercised in compliance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, 
policies, rules and controls issued by the Council from time to time 
 
The Director be authorised to exercise all the Authority’s powers, functions and responsibilities 
in relation to services delivered by the Digital & Customer ServicesBusiness Change 
Department 
 
1. To oversee the continued development and delivery of the Digital First programme. 

 
2. To exercise all powers and arrangements for the delivery of business efficient business 

support services across the Council. 

 
3. To exercise all powers in relation to the delivery of ICT for the Council. 

 
4. To administer the Council’s responsibilities under Data Protection and Freedom of 

Information Legislation and related legislation. 
 

5. To exercise the powers of the Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO) under the law and 
this Constitution. 

 
6. To exercise the powers of the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) under the law and this 

Constitution. 
 

TO THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH & WELLBEING 
 
All powers shall be exercised in compliance with the law and the Council’s Constitution, 
policies, rules and controls issued by the Council from time to time including 
specifically the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules. 
 
The Director be authorised to exercise all the Authority’s powers, functions and responsibilities 
in relation to services delivered by the Public Health & Wellbeing Department. 
 

Page 240



94 
 
 

1. To undertake overall responsibility for all of the local authority’s duties to take steps to 
improve public health and to provide officers and elected members with appropriate 
advice, based on a pattern of local health need, of what works and potential returns on 
public health investment. 

 

2.  To undertake any of the Secretary of State’s public health protection or health 
improvement functions delegated to local authorities, either by arrangement or under 
regulations, – including services mandated by regulations made under section 6C of the 
NHS Act 2006. 

 

3.  To plan for, and respond to, emergencies that present a risk to public health, in 
consultation with the council’s emergency planning officer where appropriate. 

 

4.  To undertake local authority’s role in co-operating with the police, the probation service 
and the prison service to assess the risks posed by violent or sexual offenders 

 

5.  To be responsible for the local authority’s public health response as a responsible 
authority under the Licensing Act 2003, including making representations about 
licensing applications under sections 5(3), 13(4), 69(4) and 172B(4) of the Licensing Act, 
as amended by Schedule 5 of the Health and Social Care 2012. 

 

6.  To be responsible for providing Healthy Start vitamins at any maternity or child health 
clinic commissioned by the council, in accordance with the Healthy Start and Welfare 
Food Regulations 2005 as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

 

7.  To produce and update as necessary the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment in 
consultation with the Clinical Commissioning Group. 

 

8.  To lead on and co-ordinate the development, production, publication and updating of the 
Blackburn with Darwen Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in consultation with the 
Clinical Commissioning Group. 

 

9.  To produce the Director of Public Health’s annual report. 
 

10. To provide public health advice to NHS commissioners to help secure: 
• Commissioning strategies that meet the needs of vulnerable groups 
• The development of evidence-based care pathways and service specifications 
• Evidence-based prioritisation policies 
• Health needs audits and health equity audits and health impact assessments 
 

11.  To ensure delivery of the National Child Measurement Programme. 
 

12.  To secure the delivery of NHS Health Check assessments. 
 

13.  To ensure appropriate access to sexual health services. 
 
14.  To ensure appropriate clinical governance arrangements are in place in respect of any 

clinical services commissioned, including sexual health and drug and alcohol services. 
 

15.  To maintain a particular focus on ensuring disadvantaged groups receive the attention 
they need, with the aim of reducing health inequalities 

 

Page 241



95 
 
 

16. To ensure the delivery of universal Health Visitor Reviews within the healthy child 
programme. 

 

17.1.To have responsibility for Museums, Leisure Services and Libraries. 
 

 

Section 17 Proper Officer Provisions 

 

1. The Chief Executive is appointed as Head of Paid Service pursuant to section 4 of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.   

 
2. The Chief Executive is appointed Acting Returning Officer for any constituency or part 

of a constituency coterminous with or contained in the Borough of Blackburn with 
Darwen. 

 
3. The Chief Executive is appointed Returning Officer for the elections of Councillors for 

the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council. 
 

3.4. The Chief Executive is appointed Police Area Returning Officer for the Election of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire. 

 
4.5. The Director of Finance & Customer Services is appointed as the officer having 

responsibility for the administration of the Council’s financial affairs pursuant to 
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
5.6. The Director of HR, Legal & GovernanceDirector of HR, Governance & 

Engagement is appointed as the Monitoring Officer pursuant to Section 5 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
6.7. The Director of Placeof Environment & Operations is appointed as the officer of the 

burial authority for the various matters referred to in The Local Authorities Cemeteries 
Order 1977 (as amended). 

 
7.8. The Director of Placeof Environment & Operations is authorised to appoint an officer 

as the registrar for the various matters referred to in the Cremation Regulations 2008  
 
8.9. The Strategic Director Place of Growth & Development is appointed the proper officer 

of the Council in relation to the references to the proper officer in the Highways Act 
1980 and the Building Act 1984. 

 
9.10. The Director of Place of Environment & Operations is appointed the proper officer of 

the Council in relation to the references to the proper officer in the Food Safety Act 
1990 

 
10.11. The Director of Public Health & Wellbeing is appointed as proper officer under 

sections 48, 61 and 62 of the Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984; 
Regulations 2 and 3 of the Health Protection (Notification) Regulations 2010; Section 
84 and 85 of the Public Health Act 1936; and Section 37 of the Public Health Act 
1961.  

 

Page 242



96 
 
 

(Note: In relation to the powers and duties of “Proper Officer” under the Public Health (Control 
of Disease) Act 1984 the Director of Public Health & Wellbeing may delegate to appointees 
approved by Public Health England (Cumbria and Lancashire.) 
 

11.12. The Director of Placeof Environment & Operations is appointed the proper 
officer of the Council in relation to references to the proper officer in the Licensing Act 
2003.  

 
12.13. The Strategic Director Adults & HealthDirector of Adults & Prevention is 

appointed the proper officer of the Council in relation to references to the proper 
officer in the Housing Act 1985, 1996, 2004. 

 
 
 
 
 
The officers specified in the following Table hereunder are appointed the proper officer for the 
purpose of the respective functions therein specified in relation to them:- 
 
 
Statutory  
Provision  

Description Proper Officer 

National 
Assistance Act 
1948 

The removal to suitable premises of 
persons in need of care and attention 

Strategic Director Adults & 
Health Prevention 

   
Local 
Government 
Act 1972 
 

  

S13(3) Chairman of Parish Council and 
Proper Officer shall become a body 
corporate where there is no separate 
parish council. 

Chief Executive 

   
S83(1)-(4) Officer to whom persons elected to 

any of the following offices of the 
Borough Council shall make 
declaration of acceptance of office: 
Mayor, Deputy Mayor, Councillor. 

Chief Executive 

   
S84 The Officer to whom a person elected 

to any office under the Borough 
Council may give written notice of 
resignation. 

Chief Executive 

   
S88(2) The Officer who may convene a 

meeting of the Council for the election 
to fill a vacancy. 

Chief Executive 

   
S89(1)(b) The Officer who may receive notice in 

writing of a casual vacancy in the 
office of Councillor from two local 

Chief Executive 

Page 243



97 
 
 

Government electors. 
   
S115(2) The Officer who shall receive all 

money due from every officer 
employed by the Council. 

Director of Finance and 
Customer Services 

   
S146(1)(a) and 
(b) 

The Officer who shall give statutory 
declarations and certificates with 
regard to securities on the change of 
name or status. 

Director of Finance & Customer 
Services  

   

S151 The Officer responsible for the 
proper administration of financial 
affairs. 

Director of Finance & Customer 
Services  

   

S191 Functions with respect to ordnance 
survey 

Strategic Director Placeof 
Growth & Development 

   
S210(6) and (7) Charities Director of HR, Governance & 

Engagement Legal & 
Governance/Council Solicitor  

   
S225(1) Deposit of Documents with the 

Proper Officer the making of notes or 
endorsements and receipts. 

Director of HR, Governance & 
Engagement Director of HR, 
Legal & Governance/Council 
Solicitor  

   
S229(4) and (5) 
 
 
 

The Officer who shall certify that a 
document is a photographic copy of 
a document in the custody of the 
Council. 

The Director having custody of 
the original or the Chief 
Executive or the Director of HR, 
Governance & Engagement 
Director of HR, Legal & 
Governance/Council Solicitor. 

   
S234(1) and (d) The Officer who may authenticate 

documents. 
 

The Director having custody of 
the original or the Chief 
Executive or the Director of HR, 
Governance & Engagement 
Director of HR, Legal & 
Governance/Council Solicitor. 

   
S234(2) (a) Statutory notices under the Public 

Health Act 1936 and 1961, the Public 
Health (Recurring Nuisances) Act 
1969, the Clean Air Acts 1956 and 
1968, the Control of Pollution Act 
1974, the Housing Acts 1957 to 1988 
and the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 (other than for 
Council Houses), the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 (except as 
specified in the next paragraph), the 
Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 

Director of Placeof Environment 
& Operations 
 
 

Page 244



98 
 
 

1948, the Food Act 1984 and the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 
(as it relates to statutory nuisances). 

  

(b) Notice under the Building 
Regulations and the Building Act 
1984 and under the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 with regard to 
dangerous trees and excavations. 

 
Strategic Director Placeof 
Growth & Development  

   

 (c) Any other matter. Director of HR, Governance & 
Engagement Director of HR, 
Legal & Governance/Council 
Solicitor 

   

S236(9) 
 

The Officer who is responsible for 
sending certified copies of byelaws to 
appropriate bodies. 

Director of HR, Governance & 
Engagement Director of HR, 
Legal & Governance/Council 
Solicitor 

   

 
S238 

 
The Officer who shall certify copies 
of Byelaws as true copies. 

  
Director of HR, Governance & 
Engagement Director of HR, 
Legal & Governance/Council 
Solicitor 

   

S248 Keeping the roll of freemen. Chief Executive 
   

Sch 12/Para.4 
(2)(b) 

Receipt of notices regarding address 
to which Summons to meeting is to 
be sent. 

Chief Executive 

   

Sch.12/para.4 
(2)(b) 

The Officer who may sign a 
summons to Council meetings. 

Chief Executive  

   

Sch.12/para.4 
(3) 

The Officer who may receive notice 
from a member of the address to 
which a summons to a meeting is to 
be sent. 

Chief Executive 
 

   

Sch.14/para.25 
(7) 

The Officer who may certify copies of 
resolutions passed under the Public 
Health Acts as true copies for 
production in legal proceedings. 

Director of HR, Governance & 
Engagement Director of HR, 
Legal & Governance/Council 
Solicitor 

   

S100B(2) Exclusion from reports open to 
inspection parts relating to items 
during which the meeting is likely not 
to be open to the public. 

Chief Executive 

   

S100B(7)(C) The supply to the press of additional 
material supplied to Members of the 
Council in connection with items of 
business to be discussed. 

Chief Executive 

   

Page 245



99 
 
 

S100C(2) Preparation of a written summary of 
those parts of the proceedings of a 
Committee which disclose exempt 
information. 

Chief Executive 

   

S100D(1)(a) and 
(5)(a) 

Identification of background papers 
and compilation of list of such 
documents. 

Director responsible for the 
Part 1 Report.  

   

S100F(2)(b) Making of decisions as to documents 
disclosing exempt information which 
are not required to be open to 
inspection by Members of the 
Council. 

Chief Executive 

 

Local Elections 
(Principal 
Areas)(England 
& Wales Rules 
2006 

All references to the Proper Officer in 
these rules. 

Director of HR, Governance & 
Engagement Director of HR, 
Legal & Governance/Head of 
Legal & Governance 

 

Local 
Government 
Act 1974 S30(5) 

Publication in newspapers of reports 
of Local Commissioner. 

Chief Executive 

 

Local 
Government 
(Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 
1976 S41 

Certification of copies of resolutions, 
minutes and other documents. 

Director of HR, Governance & 
Engagement Director of HR, 
Legal & Governance/ Head of 
Legal & GovernanceHead of 
Governance 

 

 
Local 
Government 
Finance Act 
1988 S114 
 

Financial Report to the Authority  Director of Finance and 
Customer Services 

Local 
Government 
and Housing 
Act 1989 
Section 2 
 

Receipt of list of Politically Restricted 
Posts 

Chief Executive 

   
The Local 
Authorities 
(Standing 
Orders) 
(England) 
Regulations 
2001(as 
amended) 

Functions in relation to notifying 
Executive of appointments 
dismissals etc. 

The Chief Executive, except in 
connection with an appointment 
as Head of Paid Service when 
it shall be the Director of HR, 
Governance & 
EngagementDirector of HR, 
Legal & Governance 

  
Designated scrutiny officer 

 
Strategic Director Resources of 
Digital & Business Change 

Page 246



100 
 
 

Local 
Government 
Act 2000,  
Part 1A, section 
9FB 

 

 
National Health 
Service Act 
2006, section 
73A 

 
Director of Public Health 

 
Director of Public Health & 
Wellbeing 

 

Registration  

Service Act 

1953, 

the Marriage 

Act 1949, Civil 

Partnership Act  

2004, and the  

Marriages and  

Civil 

Partnerships 

(Approved  

Premises)  

Regs 2005 

 
Registration of births, deaths, 
marriages and civil partnerships and 
approval of premises for the 
solemnization of marriages and the 
formation of civil partnerships. 

 
Strategic Director Resources 
Director of HR, Legal & 
Governance/Council Solicitor 

The Regulation 

of Investigatory 

Powers 

(Directed 

Surveillance 

and Covert 

Human 

Intelligence 

Sources) Order 

2010 

 

To act as the Senior Responsible 

Officer (SRO) - responsible for: 

• the integrity of the process in place 

within the public authority for the 

management of CHIS and Directed 

Surveillance; 

• compliance with Part 2 of the Act 

and with the Codes; 

• oversight of the reporting of errors 

to the relevant oversight 

Commissioner and the identification 

of both the cause(s) of errors and the 

implementation of processes to 

minimise repetition of errors; 

• engagement with the OSC 

inspectors when they conduct their 

inspections, where applicable; and 

• where necessary, oversight of the 

implementation of post-inspection 

 
Strategic Director Resources of 
Digital & Business Change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 247



101 
 
 

action plans approved by the 

relevant oversight Commissioner.  

 
 

 
RIPA Monitoring Officer 
The RIPA Monitoring Officer is the Council Solicitor. 
 
The RIPA Monitoring Officer: 

a) Will maintain a central record of all original RIPA authorisations, renewals and 
cancellations in wet copy format. 

b) Will ensure that all applications for the use of directed surveillance are listed before 
a Magistrate as soon as practicable following the receipt of an authorised application; 

c) Will   review the authorisations/renewals made on a regular basis to ensure that such 
authorisations/cancellations are made properly, are appropriate and that all forms 
have been fully completed. 

d) Will also raise RIPA awareness within the Council. 
e) Will be prepared to advise, train and assist the Council's officers to enable them to 

comply with RIPA 2000.  
 
Note 
 

5. In accordance with the RIPA Procedural Guide the Authorising Officer shall be appointed 

by the Council at any particular time to hold the position of 'Authorising Officer' across 

the Council Departments within Blackburn with Darwen. A list of these nominated 

Authorising Officers accompanies the RIPA Procedural Guide. 

 
 
Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) 
The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 (PoFA) (CCTV etc. responsibilities) is the Head of 
Safeguarding, Community Protection and Specialist Services. 
 
 
 
“DEPUTY PROPER OFFICER” PROVISIONS 
 
The Chief Executive will appoint a Deputy Returning Officer for Elections as required for when 
the Chief Executive is unable to act. 
 
In other cases where the designated Proper Officer is unable to act, the following are 
designated Deputy Proper Officers:- 
 
a) For the Chief Executive, any Director, as appropriate 
 
 
b) For the Director of HR, Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance, 

a Deputy Monitoring Officer or an appropriate Head of Service 
 
c) For the Director of Finance & Customer Services, a Deputy Section 151 Officer or an 

appropriate Head of Service 
 
d) For the Strategic Director of Digital & Customer ServicesResourcesBusiness Change, 

the Director of Finance or an appropriate or Head of Service 

Page 248



102 
 
 

 
e) For the Strategic Director or Children’s & EducationServices   (DCS) an appropriate 

Deputy DirectorHead of Service 
 
 
 
f) For the Director of Placeof Environment & Operations, an appropriate Head of 

Service/Service Lead  

 
g) For the Director of Public Health & Wellbeing, a Consultant in Public Health  
 
h) For the Strategic Director of Adults & Healthand Prevention (DASS) the Deputy 

Directoran appropriate Head of Service 
 
i) For the Strategic Director Place of Growth & Development an appropriate The Director 

or an appropriated Head of Service 
 
If neither the designated Proper Officer nor the Deputy Proper Officer is able to act, then 
subject to any legal requirements the Chief Executive may designate an appropriate person 
to act as Proper Officer or Deputy Proper Officer.  If the Chief Executive is unable to act, then 
subject to any legal requirements this power shall then be exercised by one of the Directors 
as appropriate, or should they be unable to act, the Director of HR, Governance & 
EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance or an officer nominated by the Director of 
HR, Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance. 
 

  

Page 249



103 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

PART 4 
 

 

 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 

  

Page 250



104 
 
 

Section 1 Council Procedure Rules  

 

 
CONTENTS           Page 
  

1. Annual meeting of the Council         103 
2. Council Forum           104 
3. Other Council Meetings         105 
4. Extraordinary meetings         105 
5. Appointment of substitute members of committees      106 
 and sub-committees  
6. Time and place of meetings         107 
7. Notice of and summons to meetings        107 
8. Chair of meeting           107 
9. Quorum              107 
10. Questions by the public          107 
11. Questions by members          109 
12. Motions on notice           110 
13. Motions without notice          111 
14. Rules of debate           112 
15. Flowchart – Motions          116 
16. Previous decisions and motions         117 
17. Voting            117 
18. Minutes            118 
19. Record of attendance          118 
20. Exclusion of public           118 
21. Members’ conduct           118 
22. Disturbance by public          119 
23. Suspension and amendment of Council Procedure Rules     120 
24. Application to committees and sub-committees       120 
 
  

Page 251



105 
 
 

1. ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 
 
1.1 Timing and business 
 
In a year when there is an ordinary election of councillors, the annual meeting will take place 
within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing councillors. In any other year, the annual 
meeting will take place in March, April or May on a date the Council will decide at or before 
their last meeting prior to the Annual General Meeting. In the absence of a decision or statutory 
provision to the contrary the day will be the third Thursday in May. 
 
The annual meeting will: 
 

(i) elect a person to preside if the Mayor is not present; 
 

(ii) elect the Mayor; 
 

(iii) elect the Deputy Mayor; 
 

(iv) (approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the last meeting; 
 

(v) receive any communications from the Mayor; 
 

(vi) receive any declarations of interest from members; 
 

(vii) appoint the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and such other committees 
as the Council considers appropriate to deal with matters which are neither 
reserved to the Council nor are Executive functions; 

 

(viii) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year; and 
 

(ix) consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting. 
  
 
1.2 Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies 
 
At the annual meeting, the council meeting will: 
 

(i) decide which committees to establish for the municipal year; 
 

(ii) decide the size and role and functions or those committees; 
 

(iii) decide the allocation of seats and substitutes to political groups in 
accordance with the political balance rules; 

 

(iv) receive nominations of councillors to serve on each committee and outside 
body; and  

 

(v) appoint to those committees and outside bodies except where appointment 
to those bodies has been delegated by the Council or is exercisable only by 
the Executive Board. 

 
1.3 Election of Leader 

Page 252



106 
 
 

 
The election of the Leader shall be: 
 

(i) at the first annual meeting held after the current Leader’s normal day of 
retirement as a councillor, or if the Council fails to elect the Leader at this 
meeting then the Leader is to be elected at a subsequent meeting of the 
Council; or  

 

(ii) If the Council passes a resolution to remove the Leader, a new Leader is to 
be elected at the meeting at which the Leader is removed from office or at a 
subsequent meeting of the Council; or  

 

(iii) If the Leader resigns from office or for some other reason no longer able 
continue office a new leader is to be elected at a subsequent meeting of the 
Council. 

 
(Note: The Leader will hold office (the earlier of) for a term of four years, or until the expiry of 
the Leader’s term of office as a councillor or other occurrences under 7.03 of Article 7)  

 
 
2. COUNCIL FORUM 
 
Meetings of the Council Forum will take place in accordance with a programme decided at the 
Council’s annual meeting. The meeting will:- 
 

(i) elect a person to preside if the Mayor and deputy Mayor are not present; 
 

(ii) approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the last meeting; 
 

(iii) receive any declarations of interest from members; 
 

(iv) receive any announcements from the Mayor; 
 

(v) deal with any business from the last Council meeting; 
 

(vi) receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public in relation to matters in 
accordance with the Councils guidance on public speaking at meetings; 

 
(vii) consider any motions moved with notice; 

 
(viii) receive any reports from the Executive Board and the Overview and Scrutiny 

committee and receive questions and answers on any of those reports. The order 
in which the reports shall be submitted shall be as set out in the agenda for the 
meeting and this order shall vary from one meeting to the next; 
 

(ix) receive the minutes and any reports from the Standards Committee; 
 

(x) receive any reports about and receive questions and answers on the business of 
joint arrangements and external organisations; 
 

(xi) consider motions moved without notice;  
 

Page 253



107 
 
 

(xii) consider any questions of which notice has been given; 
 

(xiii) consider any items of special urgency as defined by the Access to Information and 
Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings procedure rule15; and 
 

(xiv) consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting, including 
consideration of proposals from the Executive Board in relation to the Council’s 
budget and policy framework and reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
for debate.   

 
3. OTHER COUNCIL MEETINGS 
 
3.1 Finance Council  
 
(i) Meetings of the Council under this category will consider issues relating to the levying 

of Council tax, the Revenue and Capital Budgets and the setting of borrowing limits. 
 
(ii) A meeting of Finance Council to set the Councils budget for the forthcoming year and 

set the level of Council Tax will take place annually, normally in March. 
 
3.2 Policy Council  
 
(i) A Policy Council to agree the policy framework/Corporate Plan will normally be held in 

November, its purpose to establish the Council’s priorities and inform the budget 
setting process including the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 
(ii) Policy Council shall meet in Committee. 
 
(iii)  If necessary an additional meeting of Council can be held in June to review the 
 Policy Framework and update the agreement 
  

4. EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS 
 
4.1 Calling extraordinary meetings. 
 
Those listed below may request the Chief Executive to call Council meetings in addition to 
ordinary meetings: 
 
(i) the Council by resolution; 
 
(ii) the Mayor of the Council; 
 
(iii) the Monitoring Officer; and 
 
(iv) any five members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented to the 

Mayor and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting within 
seven days of the presentation of the requisition. 

 
4.2 Business 
 
Only business for which the extraordinary meeting has been called may be considered. 
 
 

Page 254



108 
 
 

 
 

5. APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS OF COMMITTEES AND 

SUB-COMMITTEES 

 
5.1 General 
 
Some Committees of the Council shall have provision for substitute members.   A protocol has 
been agreed for overview and scrutiny committees to deter the use of substitutes other than 
in exceptional circumstances (see 5.5 below).  Also substitute members for Licensing Sub 
Committees must be members of the full Committee and have received appropriate training. 
 
A protocol has been agreed for the Planning & Highways Committee which requires 
substitutes to have undertaken relevant and up to date training (see 5.6 below)  
 
5.2 Appointment as a substitute member 
 
All members of the Council are eligible to be appointed as substitute members for all 
Committees which have provision for substitute members, but subject to any statutory 
provisions or other specific provisions stated in this constitution. 
 
5.3 Powers and duties of substitute members 
 
Substitute members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary member of the 
committee but will not be able to exercise any special powers or duties exercisable by the 
person they are substituting. 
 
5.4 Substitution 
 
Substitute members may attend meetings in that capacity only to take the place of the ordinary 
member for whom they are the appointed substitute and where the ordinary member will be 
absent for the whole of the meeting.  
 
It is the responsibility of the regular Committee Member who cannot attend to make 
arrangements for a substitute to be present in his/her place. The attendance of substitute 
members shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 
 
5.5 Protocol for substitute members of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
To enable a more informed and consistent approach to the work of Overview and scrutiny 
committees, the practice of sending substitute members to meetings of the overview and 
scrutiny committees including Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee should no longer take place. The exception to this is that where there is a long 
term absence or where there is a call in situation, substitute members may be used. 
 
5.6 Protocol for substitute members of Planning and Highways Committee 
 
It is a requirement that any member attending Planning and Highways Committee can only 
do so if they have undertaken the relevant and up to date training. 

 
 

Page 255



109 
 
 

 
 
6. TIME AND PLACE OF MEETINGS 
 
The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Chief Executive and notified in the 
summons. 
 

7. NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS 
 
The Chief Executive will give notice to the public of the time and place of any meeting in 
accordance with the Access to Information and Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings 
Rules. At least five clear days before a meeting, the Chief Executive will send a summons 
signed by him/her by post to every member of the Council or leave it at their usual place of 
residence. The summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the 
business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are available. 

 
8. CHAIR OF MEETING 
 
The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Mayor.  Where 
these rules apply to committee and sub-committee meetings, references to the Mayor also 
include the Chair of committees and sub-committees. 

 
9. QUORUM 
 
The quorum of a meeting will be one third of the whole number of members. During any 
meeting if the Mayor counts the number of members present and declares there is not a 
quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately. Remaining business will be 
considered at a time and date fixed by the Mayor. If he/she does not fix a date, the remaining 
business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting. 

 
10. QUESTIONS AND STATEMENTS BY THE PUBLIC 
 
10.1 General 
 
A period of up to one hour shall be allowed at each Council Forum to enable members of the 
public to make statements or to ask questions of the Leader, members of the Executive Board 
or of Committee Chairs.  
 
10.2 Order of questions and statements 
 
Questions and statements will be asked or made in the order notice of them was received, 
except that the Chief Executive may group together similar questions or statements. 
 
10.3 Notice of questions and statements 
 
A question may only be asked or a statement made if details have been delivered to the Chief 
Executive no later than 4 pm on the day before the meeting. The Chief Executive may require 
additional information to be provided. Each member of the public asking a question or making 
a statement must give his or her name and address and must state the Leader or name the 
Executive Member with Portfolio or Committee Chair to whom it is to be addressed. 
 
 
 

Page 256



110 
 
 

 
 
10.4 Number of questions and statements 
 
At any one meeting no person may both make a statement and ask a question and no person 
may submit more than one question or make more than one statement.   
 
10.5 Scope of questions and statements 
 

 The Chief Executive may reject a question or statement if: 
 

 he/she feels that insufficient detail has been provided to enable a proper response to be 
provided;  

 

 it is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility or which affects the 
borough; 

 

 it is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
 

 it is substantially the same as a question or statement which has been put at a meeting of 
the Council, to the Leader, the Executive Board or a Committee in the past six months; or 

 

 it requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 
 

 
10.6 Record of questions and statements 
 

The Chief Executive will enter each question and statement in a book open to public inspection 
and will immediately send a copy of the question or statement to the member to whom it is to 
be addressed. Rejected questions and statements will include reasons for rejection. 
 

Copies of all questions and statements will be circulated to all members and will be made 
available to the public attending the meeting. 
 

10.7 Asking the question or making the statement at the meeting 
 

The Mayor will invite the member of the public to put the question or make the statement to 
the member named in the notice. He or she shall be entitled to speak for no more than 5 
minutes. If a member of the public is unable to be present, they may ask the Chief Executive 
to put the question or make the statement on their behalf. The Chief Executive may ask the 
question, indicate that a written reply will be given or decide, in the absence of the member of 
the public, that the issue will not be dealt with. 
 

10.8 Supplemental question or statement  
 

A member of the public who has put a question or made statement in person may also put 
one supplementary question or make a supplementary statement without notice to the 
member who has responded to his or her original question or statement.  A supplementary 
question or a statement must arise directly out of the original question, statement or the reply. 
The Mayor may reject a supplementary question or statement on any of the grounds in Rule 
10.5 above. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 257



111 
 
 

10.9 Written answers 
 

Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either because of lack of 
time or because of the non-attendance of the member, to whom it was to be put, will be dealt 
with by a written answer. Copies of written answers will be available to all Members. 
 

10.10 Reference to publications 
 

An answer may take the form of a reference to a publication in which the information sought 
is contained. 
 
10.11 Reference of question to the Executive Board or a Committee 
 
Unless the Mayor decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on any question, but any 
member may move that a matter raised by a question be referred to the Executive Board or 
the appropriate committee or sub-committee. Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on 
without discussion. 
 
10.12  Reports of Executive Members/Chairs  
 
 (i) An Executive Member, the Chair of the Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee may present their written report to the Council and speak in 
support of that report for a maximum of ten minutes. 

 
(ii) At the conclusion of each report the Mayor shall proceed to invite statements or 

questions from Members in respect of the report. The Mayor may take the report in 
such sections as he or she considers appropriate and convenient and will invite 
statements or questions in respect of each section of the report in turn. 

 
(iii) A Member may speak for a maximum of five minutes when making a statement under 

rule 10.12(ii). 
 
(iv) Once all Members who wish to ask a question or make a statement in respect of the 

report have done so, the Executive Member, the Chair of the Policy and Corporate 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee may respond to Members’ contributions 
and may speak for a maximum of ten minutes in doing so. This may be extended at 
the discretion of the Mayor where the number of questions put to the Executive 
Member exceeds five. 

 
(v) Alternatively the Mayor may invite an Executive Member, the Chair of Policy and 

Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee to respond to contributions 
made by Members in respect of a section of the report if the Mayor considers it 
appropriate and convenient to do so. Each such response shall not exceed ten 
minutes. 

 
11. QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 
 
11.1 On reports of the Executive Board or Committees 
 
A member of the Council may ask an Executive Board Member or the Chair of a committee 
any question upon an item of the report of the Executive Board or a committee when that item 
is being received or under consideration by the Council. 
 
 

Page 258



112 
 
 

11.2 Questions on notice at Full Council 
 
Subject to Rule 11.4, a member of the Council may ask: 
 

 the Mayor; 
 

 the Leader of the Council or the appropriate portfolio holder on the Executive Board; 
 

 the Chair of any committee or sub-committee; 
 
a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects 
the Borough. 
 
11.3 Questions on notice at Committees and Sub-Committees 
 
Subject to Rule 11.4, a member of a committee or sub-committee may ask the Chair of it a 
question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects 
the Borough and which falls within the terms of reference of that committee or sub-committee. 
 
11.4 Notice of questions 
 
A member may only ask a question under Rule 11.2 or 11.3 if they have delivered the question 
to the Chief Executive by 4 p.m. on the day before the meeting. 
 
 
11.5 Response 
 
An answer may take the form of: 
 
(a) a direct oral answer; 
 
(b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published work, a 

reference to that publication; or 
 
(c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer circulated later to 

the questioner. 
 
11.6 Supplementary question 
 
Each question shall be put and answered without discussion. A member asking a question 
under Rule 11.2 or 11.3 may ask one supplementary question without notice of the member 
to whom the first question was asked. The supplementary question must arise directly out of 
the original question or the reply. 

 
 
12. MOTIONS ON NOTICE 
 
12.1 Notice 
 
Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 13, written notice of every 
motion, signed by at least two members, must be delivered to the Chief Executive by 6.00pm 
at least six clear working days (that is, not counting the day of the meeting or the day of receipt 

Page 259



113 
 
 

or weekends and bank holidays). These will be dated and numbered in the order in which they 
are received and entered in a book open to public inspection. 
 
12.2 Motion set out in agenda 
 
Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order in which 
notice was received, unless the member giving notice states, in writing, that they propose to 
move it to a later meeting or withdraw it. 
 
12.3 Scope 
 
Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which affect the 
Borough.  This will include a motion to remove the Leader. 
  
12.4 Requirement for motion to be moved and seconded 
 
Any motion which appears on the Summons which is not moved and seconded at the meeting 
will be treated as withdrawn, unless its postponement is agreed. 
 
12.5 Referrals to Executive Members or Committees 
 
Any motion, the subject matter of which comes within the province of any Committee(s), or 
Executive Member must:- 
 
(a) Be moved and seconded and receive a response from the relevant Chair or Executive 

Member and then referred for further consideration. The outcome of this consideration 
shall be reported to the next meeting of the Council; or 

 
(b) Be dealt with at the meeting at which it is moved if the Mayor considers that it would be 

convenient to do so, with the agreement of the relevant Executive Member. 
 
12.6 Procedure on referral  
 
If a motion moved at Council is referred to a Committee for consideration, the Chief Executive 
must notify the Member who moved the motion of the time, date and place of the Committee 
to which it has been referred. 
 
 

13. MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 
 
The following motions may be moved without notice: 
 
(a) to appoint a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 
 
(b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 
 
(c) to change the order of business in the agenda; 
 
(d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 
 
(e) to appoint a committee or to make a member appointment arising from an item on the 

summons for the meeting; 
 

Page 260



114 
 
 

(f) to receive reports and to adopt or amend recommendations of committees, officers or 
the Executive Board; 

 
(g) to withdraw a motion; 
 
(h) to amend a motion; 
 
(i) to proceed to the next business; 
 
(j) to put the question immediately to the vote; 
 
(k) to adjourn a debate; 
 
(l) to adjourn a meeting; 
 
(m)  to suspend a particular council procedure rule; 
 
(n) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information and 

Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings Rules; 
 
(o) to propose a vote of no confidence in the Chair; 
 
(p) to not hear further a member named under Rule 20.3 or to exclude them from the 

meeting under Rule 20.4; and 
 
(q) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this Constitution. 
 
(r) for the Council to resolve itself into Committee. 
 
(Note: The removal of the Leader must be via a Motion on Notice under Council Procedure 
Rule 12) 
 

14. RULES OF DEBATE 
 
14.1 No speeches until motion seconded 
 
No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and explained the purpose 
of it until the motion has been seconded. 
 
14.2 Right to require motion in writing 
 
Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Mayor may require it to be written 
down and handed to him/her before it is discussed. 
 
14.3 Seconder’s speech 
 
When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their speech until later in 
the debate. 
 
14.4 Content and length of speeches 
 
Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal explanation or 
point of order.  Except by the consent of the Council, the speech of a proposal of any motion 

Page 261



115 
 
 

of amendment shall not exceed 10 minutes, and all other speeches, shall not exceed 5 
minutes.  With consent, the speech may be continued for a further 5 minutes unless the Mayor 
is of the opinion that the subject matter of the speech is of more than ordinary importance, in 
which case the speech may be continued for such further time as the Mayor may allow. 
 
14.5 When a member may speak again 
 
A member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of debate, 
except: 
 
(a)  to speak once on an amendment moved by another member; 
 
(b)  to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since he/she last spoke; 
 
(c)  if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another member, to speak on 

the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which he/she spoke was carried); 
 
(d)  in exercise of a right of reply; 
 
(e)  on a point of order; and 
 
(f)  with the permission of the Mayor, speak by way of personal explanation, about some 

material part of his/her former speech which may have been misunderstood. 
 
(g)   Any Member may speak as often as he or she desires in Committee of the Council 

subject to the Mayor’s discretion. 
 
14.6 Amendments to motions 
 
(a) An amendment to a motion must be in writing, relevant to the motion and will either be: 
 

(i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration or 
reconsideration; 

 
(ii) to leave out words; 
 
(iii) to leave out words and insert or add others; or 
 
(iv) to insert or add words. 

 
as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to negate the motion. 

 
(b) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No further 

amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed 
of provided that the Mayor may permit two or more amendments to be discussed 
together but not voted on if circumstances suggest that this course of action would 
facilitate the proper conduct of the Council's business. 

 
(c) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may be moved. 
 
(d) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original 

motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further amendments are 
moved. 

Page 262



116 
 
 

 
(e) After an amendment has been carried, the Mayor will read out the amended motion 

before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put it to the vote. 
 
14.7 Alteration of motion 
 
(a) A member may alter a motion of which he/she has given notice with the consent of the 

meeting. The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion. 
 
(b) A member may alter a motion which he/she has moved without notice with the consent 

of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified without 
discussion. 

 
(c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made. 
 
14.8 Withdrawal of motion  
 
A member may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with the consent of both the 
meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion. No 
member may speak on the motion after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it unless 
permission is refused. 
 
14.9 Right of reply  
 
(a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the motion, 

immediately before it is put to the vote. 
 
(b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of reply at the 

close of the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise speak on it. 
 
(c) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on his or her 

amendment. 
 
14.10 Motions which may be moved during debate  
 
When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the following 
procedural motions: 
 
(a) to withdraw a motion; 
 
(b) to amend a motion; 
 
(c) to proceed to the next business; 
 
(d) that the question be now put; 
 
(e) to adjourn a debate; 
 
(f) to adjourn a meeting; 
 
(g) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information and 

Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings Rules; 
 

Page 263



117 
 
 

(h) to not hear further a member named under Rule 20.3 or to exclude them from the meeting 
under Rule 20.4. 

 
14.11 Closure motions 
 
(a) A member may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of a speech of 

another member: 
 

 - to proceed to the next business; 
 - that the question be now put; 
 - to adjourn a debate; or 
 - to adjourn a meeting. 

 
(b) If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Mayor thinks the item has 

been sufficiently discussed, he or she will give the mover of the original motion a right 
of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote. If, the Seconder of the motion 
has reserved his or her speech in accordance with Paragraph 14.3 he or she will be 
permitted to make his or her speech before the mover exercises this right of reply. 

 
(c) If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Mayor thinks the item has 

been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote.  If it is 
passed he/she will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply before putting 
his/her motion to the vote. 

 
(d) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and the Mayor 

thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be so 
discussed on that occasion, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote without 
giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply. 

 
14.12 Point of order 
 
(a) A member may raise a point of order at any time and the Member then speaking shall 

immediately be seated until the point is resolved by the Mayor.  
 
(b) A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure 

or the law. The member must indicate the rule of law and the way in which he/she 
considers it has been broken. The ruling of the Mayor on the matter will be final. 

 

14.13  Flow Chart Motions 

A flow chart diagram setting out the procedure for motions is set out on the following page.  

Page 264



118 
 
 

 

Page 265



119 
 
 

15. PREVIOUS DECISIONS AND MOTIONS 
 
15.1 Motion to rescind a previous decision 
 
A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within the past six 
months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is signed by at least six members. 
 
15.2 Motion similar to one previously rejected 
 
A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting of Council 
in the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion or amendment is signed 
by at least six members. Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no one can propose a 
similar motion or amendment for six months. 
 

16 VOTING 
 
16.1 Majority 
 
Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple majority of 
those members voting and present in the room at the time the question was put. 
 
16.2 Mayor’s casting vote 
 
If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Mayor will have a second or casting 
vote. (The Council Forum on 23rd January 2003 endorsed guidance on this Rule)  
 
16.3 Show of hands 
 
Unless a ballot or recorded vote is demanded under Rules 16.4 and 16.5, the Mayor will take 
the vote by show of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. 
 
16.4 Ballots 
 
The vote will take place by ballot if two members present at the meeting demand it. The Mayor 
will announce the numerical result of the ballot immediately when the result is known. 
 
16.5 Recorded vote 
 
If two members present at the meeting demand it, the names for and against the motion or 
amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and entered into the 
minutes. A demand for a recorded vote will override a demand for a ballot. 
 
In accordance with the Local Government (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 a recorded vote must be taken on key budget decisions of the Council. 
   
16.6 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 
 
Where any member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will be so 
recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained 
from voting. 
 
16.7 Voting on appointments 
 

Page 266



120 
 
 

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there is not a 
clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person with the least 
number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The process will continue until 
there is a majority of votes for one person. 

 
17. MINUTES 
 
17.1 Signing the minutes 
 
The Mayor will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable meeting. The Mayor 
will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct record.  The only 
part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy and then only by motion. 
 
17.2 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary meeting 
 
Where the next meeting is an extraordinary meeting then the next following meeting that is 
not an extraordinary meeting will be treated as a suitable meeting for the purpose of signing 
the minutes. 
 
17.3 Form of minutes 
 
Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the exact form and order the 
Mayor put them. 

 
18. RECORD OF ATTENDANCE 
 
The names of members present during the whole or part of a meeting shall be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting. 

 
19. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 
 
a) Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the 

Access to Information and Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings Rules in Part 4 
(section 2) of this Constitution or Rule 21 (Disturbance by Public). 

 
b) Unless the Mayor determines otherwise all business to be dealt within Open Council 

shall be completed before the press and public are excluded. 

 
20. MEMBERS’ CONDUCT 
 
20.1 Speaking 
 
When a member speaks at full Council they must address the meeting through the Mayor.  
 
20.2 Mayor standing 
 
When the Mayor rises during a debate, any member speaking at the time must stop and sit 
down. The meeting must be silent. 
 
20.3 Member not to be heard further 
 
If a member misconducts him or herself whether by  disregarding the ruling of the Mayor or by 
behaving improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructing business, the Mayor may move 

Page 267



121 
 
 

that the member be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without 
discussion. 
 
20.4 Member to leave the meeting 
 
If the member named continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the Mayor 
may move that either the member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for a 
specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion. 
 
20.5 Conflict of Interests 
 
Where a member discloses an interest arising from:  

(a) a “disclosable pecuniary interest” (as defined in the Member’s Code of Conduct); or 

(b) other interest where that interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of 
the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that is likely to prejudice the 
member’s judgement of the public interest 

the member:  

(i) may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting 

(ii) may not vote on the matter at the meeting  

(iii) must leave the room where the meeting is held while any discussion or voting 
takes place. 

 
20.6 Right to address meeting 
 
Where a Member holds a conflict of interest described in Rule 20.5 above, before retiring he 
or she may first exercise the ability to address the meeting as a member of the public in 
accordance with these Procedure Rules 
 
 

21. DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC 
 
21.1 Removal of member of the public 
 
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Mayor will warn the person concerned. 
If they continue to interrupt, the Mayor will order their removal from the meeting room. 
 
21.2 Clearance of part of meeting room 
 
If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Mayor 
may call for that part to be cleared. 
 
21.3 Mayor's discretion to adjourn 
 
The Mayor may adjourn any meeting for any reason at any time at his/her complete discretion. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 268



122 
 
 

22. SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
 
22.1 Suspension 
 
All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rule 16.6 and 17.2 may be suspended once 
a motion to that effect has been moved, seconded and carried. Suspension can only be for 
the duration of the meeting. 
 
22.2 Amendment 
 
These Rules may be amended, added to; varied or revoked once a motion on notice to that 
effect has been moved seconded and carried by a simple majority of those voting. 
 

 
23. APPLICATION TO COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES 
 
All of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of full Council. None of the rules apply 
to meetings of the Executive Board.  Only Part 4 Rules 5–9, 11–13, 16–22 (but not Rule 20.1) 
apply to meetings of committees and sub-committees with the substitution of the word "Chair" 
for "Mayor". 

Page 269



123 
 
 

Section 2 
Rules relating to Access to Information and Decisions and 
Attendance at Public Meetings  
 
 

MEETINGS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 
 
1. SCOPE 
 
These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, Committees and meetings of the Executive 
Board (together called meetings).  
 
The meeting of the Executive Board or any Committees or Sub-Committees must be held in 
public and comply with these rules except to the extent as outlined below.   
 
2. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 
 
These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere in this 
Constitution or the law. 
 
3. RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS 
 
Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the exceptions in these rules. 
 
4. NOTICES OF MEETING 
 
The Council will give at least five clear days’ notice of any meeting by posting details of the 
meeting at the Town Hall, Blackburn. 
 
5. ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 
 
The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public available for 
inspection at the Town Hall and on publish on the Council’s website at least five clear days 
before the meeting. If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda and any related 
report will be published and open to inspection from the time the item was added to the 
agenda.  Where reports are prepared after the summons has been sent out, the Chief 
Executive shall make each such report available to the public as soon as the report is 
completed and sent to councillors. 
 
6. SUPPLY OF COPIES 
 
The Council will supply copies of: 
 
(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
 
(b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of the items in the 

agenda; and 
 
(c) if the Chief Executive thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied to Councillors in 

connection with an item  
 
to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 

Page 270



124 
 
 

 
 
7. SUMMARY OF PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 
 
A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy documents 
is available to the public at the Town Hall, Blackburn. 

 

EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS 
 
8. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 
 
The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of the 
business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential information would 
be disclosed 
 
Meaning of confidential information 
 
Under section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 public are excluded from meetings 
where Information which is subject to any obligation of confidentiality is being considered. 
 
For the purposes of 100A "confidential information" means-- 

(a)     information furnished to the council by a Government department upon terms 
(however ex-pressed) which forbid the disclosure of the information to the public; and 
(b)     information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under any 
enactment or by the order of a court; 

and, in either case, the reference to the obligation of confidence is to be construed 
accordingly. 
 
Information which relates in any way to matters concerning national security is also 
“confidential information”.  
 
9. EXEMPT INFORMATION - discretion to exclude public 
 
9.1 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information 
would be disclosed 

 
9.2 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely 

affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a 
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary 
for one of the reasons specified in said Article 6. 

 
9.3 (a)  the  Executive Board or any Committee (or Sub-Committee)  may pass a resolution to 

exclude the public during the consideration of an that item where it is likely, in view of the 
nature of the item of business, that if members of the public were present during that item, 
exempt information would be disclosed to them; or 

 
9.3(b) a lawful power is used to exclude a member or members of the public in order to 

maintain orderly conduct or prevent misbehaviour at a meeting 
 
A resolution under rule 9.3(a) must identify the proceedings, or the part of the proceedings to 
which it applies, and state, by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the 1972 Act 

Page 271



125 
 
 

(access to information: exempt information), the description of exempt information giving rise 
to the exclusion of the public. See 9.4 below 
 
9.4 Meaning of exempt information 
 
Exempt information means information falling within the following 7 categories (subject to any 
condition).  These categories are as defined by schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 as amended 
 

 Category Condition Examples 

1. Information 
relating to any 
individual. 

so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the 
case, the public interest 
in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the 
public interest in 
disclosing the 
information. 

Information relating to a particular 
employee, former employee or 
applicant to become an employee 
of, or a particular office-holder, 
former office-holder or applicant to 
become an office-holder under, the 
authority 
 

2. Information which 
is likely to reveal 
the identity of an 
individual 

so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the 
case, the public interest 
in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the 
public interest in 
disclosing the 
information. 

Information relating to a particular 
employee, former employee or 
applicant to become an employee 
of, or a particular office-holder, 
former office-holder or applicant to 
become an office-holder under, a 
magistrates’ court committee or 
probation committee 

 

     Information relating to any 
particular occupier or former 
occupier of, or applicant for, 
accommodation provided by or at 
the expense of the authority 

 

   Information relating to any 
particular applicant for, or recipient 
or former recipient of any service 
provided by the authority 

 

   Information relating to any 
particular applicant for, or recipient 
or former recipient of, any financial 
assistance provided by the 
authority 

 

   Information relating to the adoption, 
care, fostering or education of any 
particular child  

   Information relating to a protected 
informant 

 
3. Information 

relating to the 
financial or 
business affairs 

Information falling within 
this paragraph   is not 
exempt information by 
virtue of that paragraph if 

 Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular 
person (other than the authority) 

  

Page 272



126 
 
 

of any particular 
person (including 
the authority 
holding that 
information). 

it is required to be 
registered under— 
 
(a) the Companies Acts( 
as defined in section 2 of 
the Companies Act 2006)  
(b) the Friendly Societies 
Act 1974; 
(c) the Friendly Societies 
Act 1992 
(d) the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 (e) 
the Building Societies Act 
1986; or 
(f) the Charities Act 
2011. 

Otherwise 

so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the 
case, the public interest 
in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the 
public interest in 
disclosing the 
information. 

 
   The amount of any expenditure 

proposed to be incurred by the 
authority under any particular 
contract for the acquisition of 
property or the supply of goods or 
services  

 
   Any terms proposed or to be 

proposed by or to the authority in 
the course of negotiations for a 
contract for the acquisition or 
disposal of property or the supply of 
goods or services 

 
   The identity of the authority (as well 

as of any other person,) as the 
person offering any particular 
tender for a contract for the supply 
of goods or services   
 

4. Information 
relating to any 
consultations or 
negotiations, or 
contemplated 

so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the 
case, the public interest 
in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the 

Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matters arising 

Page 273



127 
 
 

consultations or 
negotiations, in 
connection with 
any labour 
relations matter 
arising between 
the authority or a 
Minister of the 
Crown and 
employees of, or 
office holders 
under, the 
authority. 
 

public interest in 
disclosing the 
information. 

between the authority or a Minister 
of the Crown and employees of, or 
officer-holders under the authority 

  

5. Information in 
respect of which 
a claim to legal 
professional 
privilege could be 
maintained in 
legal proceedings 

so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the 
case, the public interest 
in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the 
public interest in 
disclosing the 
information. 

Any instructions to counsel and any 
opinion of counsel (whether or not 
in connection with any proceeds) 
and any advice received, 
information obtained or action to be 
taken in connection with: 
(a) any legal proceedings by or 
against the authority; or 
(b) the determination of any matter 
affecting the authority; 
whether, in either case, 
proceedings have been 
commenced or are in 
contemplation  
 

6. Information which 
reveals that the 
Council proposes: 
(a)  to give under 
any enactment a 
notice under or by 
virtue of which 
requirements are 
imposed on a 
person; or 
(b) to make an 
order or direction 
under any 
enactment 

so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the 
case, the public interest 
in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the 
public interest in 
disclosing the 
information. 

Information which, if disclosed to 
the public would reveal that the 
authority proposes – 
(a) to give under any enactment a 
notice under 
or by virtue of which requirements 
are 
imposed on a person; or 
(b) to make an order or direction 
under any 
enactment 

  

7. Information 
relating to any 
action taken or to 
be taken in 
connection with 
the prevention, 
investigation or 
prosecution of 
crime. 

so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the 
case, the 
 public interest in 
maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the 
public interest in 
disclosing the 
information. 

Any action taken or to be taken in 
connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of 
crime 
  

 
 

Page 274



128 
 
 

Information falling within any of categories 1-7 is not exempt by virtue of that paragraph if it 
relates to proposed development for which the local planning authority can grant itself planning 
permission under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

 
 
 
10. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 
 

If the Chief Executive thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public to reports which 
in his or her opinion relate to items during which, in accordance with Rule 9, the meeting is 
likely not to be open to the public. Such reports will be marked “Not for publication” together 
with the category of information likely to be disclosed. 
 

 
11. ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC. AFTER THE MEETING 
 
The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a meeting: 
 
(a) the minutes of the meeting (or records of decisions taken, together with reasons, details 

of any alternative options considered, record of any conflict of interest relating to the 
matter and any dispensations granted for all meetings of the Executive Board) excluding 
any part of the minutes of proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public or 
which disclose exempt or confidential information; 

 
(b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes open to 

inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record; 
 
(c) the agenda for the meeting; and 
 
(d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 
 
 

12. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
12.1 List of background papers 
  
Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 says that when preparing Part 1 reports for 
a decision in part 1 then any such documents used by the officer preparing the report should 
appear on a Background Documents list and they are open to public inspection along with the 
Part 1 report. Section 100D(4) clearly states a document which discloses "exempt information" 
is not required to be included in the list of Background Documents or any document which if 
open to public inspection would disclose confidential information.  It therefore follows that for 
Part 2 reports there can be no "Background Documents" as defined under section 100D(5) 
and as the Part 2 report itself is confidential.   
 
The Officer responsible for the preparation of the Part 1 report for decision will set out in every 
report a list of those documents (called Background Papers) relating to the subject matter of 
the report which in his/her opinion: 
 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the Part 1 report or an important part of the report 

is based; and 
 

Page 275



129 
 
 

(b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report but does not 
include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential information (as 
defined in Rule 9) and in respect of Executive reports, the advice of any political advisor. 

 
 
12.2 Publication and public inspection of background papers 
 
(a) The Council will publish on its website and make available for public inspection one copy 

of each of the documents on the list of background papers and the provisions of Rule 5 
shall apply in relation to access to such documents as they apply in relation to agendas 
and reports. 

 
(b) The Council will make background papers available for public inspection for four years 

after the date of the meeting. 

 
13. PRIVATE MEETINGS   
 Where an executive decision is to be made  
 
(a)  Where the public are to be excluded (either wholly or partly) from the meetings under 

Rule 9.1 the Executive Board (or any committees or sub-committee where an executive 
decision is to be made) must at least 28 clear days before the meeting make available 
at the Town Hall a notice of its intention to hold the meeting in private, and publish the 
notice on the Council’s website. 
The notice must include a statement of the reasons for the meeting to be held in private. 

 
(b)  At least five clear days before the private meeting, the Executive Board (or any 

committee) must make available at the Town Hall a further notice of its intention to hold 
the meeting in private, and publish the notice on the Council’s website. 

 This notice must include: 
 

i) a statement of the reasons for the meeting to be held in private; 
ii) details of any representations received by the Executive Board (or any committee) 

about why the meeting should be open to the public; and 
iii) a statement of its response to any such representations. 

 
(c)  Where the date by which a meeting must be held makes compliance this Rule 13 

impracticable, the meeting may only be held in private where the Executive Board (or 
any committee) has obtained agreement from:  

 
i)    the chairman of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee; or 
ii)    if there is no such person, or if the chairman of the relevant overview and 

scrutiny committee is unable to act, the Mayor; or 
iii)  where there is no chairman of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee or 

the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor  
 

that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 
 
(d) As soon as reasonably practicable after the Executive Board (or any of its committees) 

has obtained agreement under paragraph (c) above to hold a private meeting, it must: 
i)  make available at the Town Hall a notice setting out the reasons why the 

meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred; and 
ii)  publish that notice on the Council’s website. 

  

Page 276



130 
 
 

 
 
14. PROCEDURE FOR TAKING KEY DECISIONS – FORWARD PLAN 
 
When a key decision is to be made, a document (the Forward Plan) must be published at least 
28 clear days before the key decision is made.  This document must state:  
 
(a) that a key decision is to be made on behalf of the Council.; 
 
(b) the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made; 
 
(c) where the decision taker is an individual, his/her name and title, if any and where the 

decision taker is a body, its name and a list of its members; 
 
(d) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be taken; 
 
(e) a list of the documents submitted to the decision taker for consideration in relation to the 

matter; 
 
(f) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their disclosure, 

copies of, or extracts from, any document listed is available; 
 
(g) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to the decision maker; 
 
(h) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they become 

available; and 
 
This Forward Plan must be made available for inspection by the public at the Town Hall and 
published on the Council’s website. 
 
Where the public may be excluded from meetings under this Rule 14, or reports relating to the 
key decision not to be disclosed under Rules 8 & 9, the document must contain particulars of 
the matter but may not contain any confidential, exempt information or particulars of the advice 
of a political adviser or assistant.    
 
15. GENERAL EXCEPTION TO RULE 14  
 

15.1 Subject to Rule 16, where the publication of the intention to make a key decision under 
Rule 14 is impracticable, that decision may only be made:- 

 
(a)   where the Chief Executive has informed the chairman of the relevant overview and 

scrutiny committee or, if there is no such person, each member of the relevant 
overview and scrutiny committee by notice in writing, of the matter about which 
the decision is to be made; 

 
(b)  where the Chief Executive has made available at the offices of the Council for 

inspection by the public and published on the Council’s website, a copy of the 
notice given pursuant to sub-paragraph (a); and 

 
(c)  after five clear days have elapsed following the day on which the Chief Executive 

complied with sub-paragraphs (a) and (b). 
 
15.2  Where such a decision is taken collectively, it must be taken in accordance with rule 1 

& rule 14. 

Page 277



131 
 
 

 
15.3  As soon as reasonably practicable after the Chief Executive has complied with Rule 15.1 

he or she must:-  
 
(a)  make available at the offices of the relevant local authority a notice setting out the 

reasons why compliance with Rule 14.1 is impracticable; and 
 
(b)  publish that notice on the Council’s website. 
 

 
16. SPECIAL URGENCY 
 
16.1  Where the date by which a key decision must be made, makes compliance with 

Rule 14 impracticable, the decision may only be made where the decision maker has 
obtained agreement from:- 

 
(a)  the chairman of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee; or 
 
(b)  if there is no such person, or if the chairman of the relevant overview and scrutiny 

committee is unable to act, the Mayor; or 
 
(c)  where there is no chairman of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee or the 

Mayor, the Deputy Mayor, 
 
that the making of the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

 
16.2  As soon as reasonably practicable after the decision maker has obtained agreement 

under Rule 16.1 that the making of the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be 
deferred, the decision maker must:- 
 
(a) make available at the offices of Council a notice setting out the reasons that the 

decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred; and 
 
(b) publish that notice on the Council’s website. 

 
 
17. REPORTS TO COUNCIL 
 
17.1  Where the Key Decision procedure is not followed 
 

(a) Where an executive decision has been made and: 
 

i)   was not treated as being a key decision (by failure to comply with Rule 14, 
Rule 15 or Rule 16); and 

 
ii)  a relevant overview and scrutiny committee are of the opinion that the 

decision should have been treated as a key decision,  
 

then that overview and scrutiny committee may require the Executive Board or Executive 
Member or Officer who is responsible for the decision to submit a report to the Council 
within such reasonable period as the committee may specify. 

 
(b) A report under sub-paragraph (a) must include details of: 

Page 278



132 
 
 

 
i)  the decision and the reasons for the decision; 

 
ii)  the decision maker by which the decision was made; and 
 
iii)  if the Executive Board or any Committee) or Sub-Committee, Leader, or any 

Executive Member are of the opinion that the decision was not a key 
decision, the reasons for that opinion. 

 
(c) A report under Sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) will be prepared for submission to the 

next available meeting of the Council. However, if the next meeting of the Council 
is within seven days of receipt of the written notice, or the resolution of the relevant 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee, then the report may be submitted to the meeting 
after that. 

 
 
17.2  Quarterly reports to Council on special urgency decisions 
 
In any event the Leader will submit quarterly reports to the Council on the executive decisions 
taken in the circumstances set out in Rule 16 (special urgency) in the preceding three months. 
The report will include details of each decision made and a summary of the matters in respect 
of which each decision was made.  

 

18. RECORD OF DECISIONS 
 

As soon as reasonably practicable after any meeting of the Executive Board or any committee 
or Sub-Committee at which an executive decision was made, whether held in public or private 
the Chief Executive or, where no officer was present, the person presiding at the meeting, 
must ensure that a written statement is produced for every executive decision taken at that 
meeting. The statement must include: 
 

(a)  a record of the decision including the date it was made; 
 
(b)  a record of the reasons for the decision; 
 
(c)  details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the Executive Board 

or committees or sub-committee at the meeting at which the decision was made; 
 
(d)  a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which is 

declared by any member of the Executive Board or committees or sub-
committee which made the decision; and 

 
(e)  in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation granted by 

the Chief Executive. 
 

 
19. DECISIONS BY INDIVIDUAL EXECUTIVE MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 
 

19.1 Reports intended to be taken into account 
 

Where an individual Executive Member or an Officer receives a report which he/she intends 
to take into account in making any key decision, then he/she will not make the decision until 
at least 5 clear days after receipt of that report. 
 

Page 279



133 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
19.2 Provision of copies of reports to Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
On giving of such a report to an individual decision maker, the person who prepared the report 
will give a copy of it to the Chair and Vice Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee as soon as reasonably practicable, and make it publicly available at the same time. 
 

19.3 Record of individual decisions by Executive Members and Officers  
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 makes provision for a decision-
making officer to produce a written record of any decision which falls within the Regulations.  

A decision falls within the Regulations if it has been delegated to an officer either under a 
specific express authorisation; or under a general authorisation to officers to take such 
decisions and, the effect of the decision is to grant a permission or licence, affect the rights of 
an individual; or award a contract or incur expenditure which, in either case, materially affects 
that relevant local government body's financial position.  
 

As soon as reasonably practicable after an Executive decision has been taken by an individual 
Executive Member or by an Officer, he/she will prepare, or instruct the proper officer to 
prepare, a record of the decision including the date it was made, a statement of the reasons 
for it, details of any alternative options considered and rejected, a record of any conflict of 
interest which was declared by an Executive Member who was consulted by the Member in 
relation to the decision  and a note of any dispensation given by the Chief Executive in respect 
of such a conflict. 
 

The written record of the Executive decision together with any background papers, must as 
soon as reasonably practicable after the record is made, be made available for inspection by 
members of the public. 

(a)     at all reasonable hours, at the offices of the relevant local government body; 

(b)     on the website of the relevant local government body, if it has one; and, 

(c)     by such other means that the relevant local government body considers appropriate. 
 

The provisions of Rules 11 and 12 will also apply to the making of decisions by individual 
Executive Members and Officers. This does not require the disclosure of exempt or 
confidential information or advice from a political assistant. 
 

 

20. ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS BY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES   

 

20.1 Rights to copies 
 

Subject to Rule 20.2 below, a Member of Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be entitled to 
copies of any document which is in the possession or control of the Executive Board or its 
committees and which contains material relating to: 
 

(a) any business transacted at a  meeting of the Executive Board or its committees; or  
 

Page 280



134 
 
 

(b) any decision taken by an individual member of the Executive Board in accordance with 
the executive arrangements; or 

 
(c) any decision that has been made by an officer in accordance with the executive 

arrangements. 
 
Subject to Rule 20.2 below, where a member of an overview and scrutiny committee requests 
a document under Rule 21.1 above, the executive must provide that document as soon as 
possible and in any case no later than 10 clear days after the executive receives the request. 
 
20.2 Limit on rights 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not be entitled to: 
 
(a) any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential information, unless that 

information is relevant to an action or decision they are reviewing or scrutinising or which 
is included in the committee's work programme; or 

 
(b) the advice of a political adviser.  
 
Where the executive determines that a member of an overview and scrutiny committee is not 
entitled to a copy of a document or part of any such document for a reason under this Rule21, 
it must provide the overview and scrutiny committee with a written statement setting out its 
reason for that decision 

 

21. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS FOR 
MEMBERS 
 
21.1 Additional Rights – Public Meetings 
 
Subject to Rules 21.3 and 21.4 all members will be entitled to inspect any document which is 
in the possession or under the control of the Executive Board or any Committee or Sub-
Committee and contains material relating to any business to be transacted at a public meeting.  
Any document required under this Rule 21.1 to be available for such inspection for at least 
five clear days before the meeting except that:- 
 
 (a)  where the meeting is convened at shorter notice, such a document must be available 

for inspection when the meeting is convened; and 
 
 (b)  where an item is added to the agenda at shorter notice, a document that would be 

required to be available under this Rule 21.1 must be available for inspection when the 
item is added to the agenda. 

 
21.2 Additional Rights - Other 
 
Subject to Rules 21.3 and 21.4 any document which is in the possession or under the control 
of the executive and contains material relating to:-  
 
  (a)  any business transacted at a private meeting; 
 
  (b) any decision made by an individual member of the Executive Board in accordance with 

executive arrangements; or 
 

Page 281



135 
 
 

  (c)  any decision made by an officer in accordance with executive arrangements,  
 

must be available for inspection by any member when the meeting concludes or where 
an executive decision is made by an individual member or an officer immediately after 
the decision has been made. 

 
Any document which is required under this Rule 21.2 to be available for inspection by any 
member must be available for such inspection, in any event, within 24 hours of the conclusion 
of the meeting or the decision being made, as the case may be. 
 
 
21.3 Exempt Information 
 
21.3.1 Rules 21.1 and 21.2 do not require a document to be available for inspection if it 

appears to the proper officer that it discloses exempt information (Rule 10.4 above) of 
a description falling within Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 1972 Act. 

 
21.3.2 Notwithstanding paragraph 21.3.1 above, Rules 21.1 and 21.2 do require the document to 

be available for inspection by members if the information is information of a description 
for the time being falling within— 

 
(a)  paragraph 3 (see 9.4 above) of Schedule 12A to the 1972 Act (except to the 

extent that the information relates to any terms proposed or to be proposed by or 
to the authority in the course of negotiations for a contract); or 

 

(b)  paragraph 6 (see 19.4 above) of Schedule 12A to the 1972 Act. 

 
21.4 Advice of political advisor  
 
Where it appears to the proper officer that compliance with Rules 21.1 and 21.2 in relation to 
a document or part of a document would involve the disclosure of advice provided by a political 
adviser or assistant that Rule will not apply to that document or part. 
 
 
21.5 Nature of rights 
 
These rights of a member conferred by Rules 21.1 and 21.2 are additional to any other right 
he/she may have. 
 
 
NOTE: EXECUTIVE MEMBERS AND OFFICERS DO NOT MAKE KEY DECISIONS 
EXCEPT WHERE LEADER AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE EXERCISE THEIR EMERGENCY 
POWERS. 
 

  

Page 282



136 
 
 

Section 3 The Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules  

 

1. The framework for Executive decisions 
 
The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget and policy framework as set out 
in Article 4. Once a budget or a policy framework is in place, it will be the responsibility of the 
Executive Board to implement it. 
 
2. Developing the Budget and Policy Framework  
 
The process by which the Budget and Policy Framework shall be developed is:  
 
(a) The Executive Board will publicise a timetable for making draft proposals to the Council 

for the adoption of any plan, strategy or budget that forms part of the Budget and Policy 
Framework, and its arrangements for consultation after publication of those initial 
proposals. The Chair and Vice Chair of the Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee will also be notified. Consultation will take place in a manner and to 
the extent that is appropriate in the circumstances. 

 
(b) In relation to proposals associated with the preparation of or alterations to the 

Development Plan the Executive will develop draft proposals for the purpose of public 
consultation in accordance with regulations 10 to 22 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Plans) (England) Regulation 1999.  The draft consultation proposals will be 
submitted to Council for approval or amendment.  

 
(c) At the end of the consultation period, the Executive Board will draw up firm proposals for 

plans and the budget having regard to the responses to that consultation. The Executive 
Board’s report to Council will reflect the comments made by consultees and the Executive 
Board’s response. 

 
(d) Once the Executive Board has approved the firm proposals, the Chief Executive will refer 

them at the earliest opportunity to the Council for decision. 
 
3. Adoption of plans and strategies      
 
(a)  If the Council has objections to a plan or strategy it may not amend it, approve it for 

submission to a Government Department or adopt it until the Council has informed the 
Leader of its objections and allowed him/her time to respond. It may however make an in 
principle decision. 

 
(b)  If the Council informs the Leader of an objection it shall also instruct the Executive Board 

to reconsider the draft plan or strategy and specify a date by which the Leader may submit 
a response to the Chief Executive. That date must be at least five working days from the 
date when the Leader receives the instruction to reconsider.  

 
(c)  If the Leader does not make a response within the time specified then the in principle 

decision takes effect automatically. 
 
(d) When the Executive Board reconsiders the plan it may: 
 

(i) accept the Council’s objections. In that case no further action is required; 
 

Page 283



137 
 
 

(ii)) make amendments to the draft plan or strategy. In that case the Leader must 
submit any revised draft to the Chief Executive for consideration by the Council 
together with the Executive Board’s reason for those amendments; or 

 
(iii) disagree with the Council’s objections. In that case the Leader must inform the 

Chief Executive that the Executive Board disagrees with the Council’s 
objections and explain why.  

 
(e) If the Leader submits a revised draft of the plan or strategy or if he/she informs the Chief 

Executive that the Executive Board disagrees with the Council’s objections then a further 
Council meeting must be arranged within seven working days.   In that case the Council 
must consider the submissions made by the Leader on behalf of the Executive Board 
before adopting, amending or approving the plan or strategy. The Council may reach a 
decision based on a simple majority of votes cast. 

 
4. Budget Proposals 
 
(a) If, before 8th February in any year: 
 

(i) the Executive Board submits to the Council estimates as required by the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 to enable the budget requirement and basic amount of 
its Council tax to be calculated; and  

 
(ii) the Council objects to those estimates 

 
 the Council may not make amendments to those estimates until the Council has informed 

the Leader of its objections and allowed him/her time to respond. It may however make an 
in principle decision. 

 
(b) The procedures in paragraph 3(a) to 3(e) above apply to objections to the budget in the 

same way that they apply to objections to plans and strategies. 
 
(c)  These rules do not apply in relation to calculations made in response to a notice from the 

Secretary of State given using his capping powers. 
 
5. Decisions outside the budget or policy framework 

 
(a) Any person or body exercising executive functions must normally act within the budget 

and policy framework. A decision is outside the budget and policy framework if it is 
contrary to the policy framework set out in Article 4.01 (a) of the Constitution or contrary 
to or not wholly in accordance with the budget as defined in Article 4.01(b). 

 
(b) Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework may be made in the 

circumstances described in paragraph 6 below. 
 
(c) Virement will be possible to the extent described in the Council's Financial Procedure 

Rules. 
 
(d)  In any other circumstances if a person or body exercising executive functions wishes to 

make a decision which is outside the budget or policy framework, then that decision may 
only be taken by the Council. It is the duty of the person or body who wishes to make 
the decision to refer it to Council. 

 

Page 284



138 
 
 

 
(e) In any case if a person or body wishes to make a decision which appears to be outside 

the budget or policy framework they shall take advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or 
the Chief Finance Officer. Those officers shall advise as to whether the proposed decision 
would in fact be contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance 
with the budget. If the advice of either of those officers is that the decision would not be in 
line with the existing budget and/or policy framework, then the decision must be referred 
by that body or person to the Council for decision. The only exception to this is if the 
decision is a matter of urgency. In that case the provisions in paragraph 6 (urgent decisions 
outside the budget and policy framework) shall apply. 

 
6. Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework 
 
This procedure covers decisions contrary to the policy framework and contrary to or not wholly 
in accordance with the budget.  
 
(a) Any person or body discharging executive functions may take a decision which is contrary 

to the Council’s policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget 
approved by full Council if the decision is a matter of urgency. However, the decision may 
only be taken: 

 
(i)  if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full Council; and 

 
(ii) if the Chair and Vice Chair of the Policy and Corporate Resources Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee agrees that the decision is a matter of urgency. 
 

The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full Council must be 
noted on the record of the decision. The consent of the Chair and Vice Chair of the Policy 
and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee to the decision being taken 
as a matter of urgency must also be noted on that record. In the absence of the Chair and 
Vice Chair of the Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee the 
consent of the Chair and Vice Chair of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee whose terms 
of reference would allow it to scrutinise the proposed decision shall suffice.  In his or her 
absence the consent of the Mayor will be sufficient. 

 
(b) Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next available 

Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why the decision was 
treated as a matter of urgency. 

 
7. Virement 
 
The Council's Financial Procedure Rules (Section C.6) set out procedures and limitations on 
virement within budget heads 
 
8. In-year changes to policy framework 
 
All decisions in relation to executive functions must be in line with the policy framework.  Only 
the Council can change any policy or strategy which is part of the framework except that the 
Executive Board may make changes:  
 
(a) to give effect to a ministerial requirement in relation to any plan or strategy submitted to 

him for approval; 
 

Page 285



139 
 
 

(b) if so authorised by the Council when approving or adopting the plan or strategy. 
 
(c) Any decisions subject to the provisions of paragraph 6 above. 
 
9. Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework  
 
(a) Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion that an executive decision 

is, or if made would be, contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the Council’s budget, then it shall seek advice from the Monitoring Officer 
and/or Chief Finance Officer. 

 
(b) In respect of functions, which are the Executive functions, the Monitoring Officer’s report 

and/or Chief Finance Officer’s report shall be to the Executive Board with a copy to every 
member of the Council. Regardless of whether the decision is delegated or not, the 
Executive Board must meet to decide what action to take in respect of the Monitoring 
Officer’s report and to prepare a report to Council in the event that the Monitoring Officer 
or the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was a departure, and to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee if the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer 
conclude that the decision was not a departure. 

 
(c) If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet implemented, and the 

advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer is that the decision is 
or would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance 
with the budget, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may refer the matter to Council. In 
such cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the decision or its implementation 
until the Council has met and considered the matter. The Council shall meet within 14 days 
of the request by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. At the meeting it will receive a 
report of the decision or proposals and the advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief 
Finance Officer. The Council may either:  

 
(i) endorse a decision or proposal of the Executive Board decision taker as falling 

within the existing budget and policy framework. In this case no further action is 
required, save that the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all 
councillors in the normal way; 

 
or 

 
 (ii) amend the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules or policy concerned to encompass 

the decision or proposal of the body or individual responsible for that Executive 
Board function and agree to the decision with immediate effect. In this case, no 
further action is required save that the decision of the Council be minuted and 
circulated to all councillors in the normal way; 

 
or 

 
(iii) where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to the policy 

framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, and does not 
amend the existing framework to accommodate it, require the Executive Board to 
reconsider the matter in accordance with the advice of either the Monitoring Officer 
or Chief Finance Officer. 

Page 286



140 
 
 

Section 4 Executive Board Procedure Rules 

 

1. HOW DOES THE EXECUTIVE BOARD OPERATE? 
 
1.1 Who may make Executive Board decisions? 
 
Executive functions may be discharged: 
 
i) by the Leader 
 
ii)  by the Executive Board as a whole;  
 
iii) by a committee of the Executive Board;   
 
iv) by an individual member of the Executive Board; 
 
v) by an officer;  
 
vi) through joint arrangements; or  
 
vii) by another local authority.  
 
 
1.2 Delegation by the Leader 
 
All executive functions shall vest in the Leader who may delegate amongst other members of 
the Executive Board, the Executive Board as a whole, committees of the Executive Board and 
Officers.  
 
Any such allocation of functions shall be reported to the Council and Part 3 of the Constitution 
amended accordingly. 
 
1.3 Sub-delegation of Executive functions 
 
(a) Where the Executive Board, a committee of the Executive Board or an individual member 

of the Executive Board is responsible for an executive function, they may delegate further 
to an area committee, joint arrangements or an officer. 

 
(b) Unless the Council directs otherwise, if the Leader delegates functions to the Executive 

Board, then the Executive Board may delegate further to a committee of the Executive 
Board or to an officer. 

 
(c) Unless the Leader directs otherwise, a committee of the Executive Board to whom 

functions have been delegated by the Leader may delegate further to an officer. 
 
(d) Even where executive functions have been delegated, that fact does not prevent the 

discharge of delegated functions by the person or body who delegated them. 
 
1.4 Conflicts of Interest 
 
(a) Where the Leader has a conflict of interest this should be dealt with as set out in the 

Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

Page 287



141 
 
 

 
(b) If every member of the Executive Board has a conflict of interest this should be dealt with 

as set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in Part 5 of this Constitution. 
 
(c) If the exercise of an executive function has been delegated to a committee of the Executive 

Board, an individual member or an officer, and should a conflict of interest arise, then the 
function will be exercised in the first instance by Leader otherwise as set out in the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 
1.5 Executive Board meetings – when and where? 
 
The Executive Board will normally meet at least once per month at times to be agreed by the 
Leader.  The Executive Board shall meet at the Council’s main offices or another location to 
be agreed by the Leader.  
 
1.6 Public or private meetings of the Executive Board? 
 
The Executive Board will meet in public, subject to the Access to Information and Decisions 
and Attendance at Public Meetings Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 (Section 2) of the Constitution.   
 
1.7 Quorum 
 
The quorum for a meeting of the Executive Board, or a committee of it, shall be one half of its 
whole membership (to be rounded up if the Committee has an odd number of members). 
 
1.8 How are decisions to be taken by the Executive Board? 
 
(a) Executive decisions which have been delegated to the Executive Board as a whole will be 

taken at a meeting convened in accordance with the Access to Information and Decisions 
and Attendance at Public Meetings Rules in Part 4 (section 2) of the Constitution. 

 
(b) Where Executive decisions are delegated to a committee of the Executive Board, the rules 

applying to executive decisions taken by them shall be the same as those applying to 
those taken by the Executive Board as a whole. 

 
(c) Decisions shall be taken by a majority of those present and voting. If there is an equality 

of votes at a meeting of the Executive Board or one of its Committees, the person presiding 
shall have a second and casting vote. 

 
2. HOW ARE EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETINGS CONDUCTED? 
 
2.1 Who presides? 
 
If the Leader is present he/she will preside. In his/her absence, then one of the Deputy 
Leaders present shall preside.  In the absence of the Leader/Deputy Leader(s), the Leader 
may appoint another person to do so. 
 
2.2 Who may attend? 
 
Meetings will be open to the public except where confidential or exempt information as defined 
in the Local Government Act 1972 is being discussed. There will be an opportunity for 

Page 288



142 
 
 

members of the public to ask questions of the members of the Executive Board in line with the 
procedure set out in paragraph 3 below. 
 
Where the press and public are excluded from a meeting of the Executive Board on the 
grounds that exempt or confidential information is to be discussed the Board may invite non 
Executive Board Members to remain in the meeting. In deciding whether or not to make that 
invitation the Leader will have due regard to the individual Member's "need to know" details of 
the issue under discussion. No member should accept such an invitation where s/he has a 
personal interest in the matter under discussion. 
 
2.3 What business? 
 
At each meeting of the Executive Board the following business will be conducted: 
 
i) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 
 
ii) declarations of interest, if any; 
 
iii) receive questions and provide answers to the public; 
 
iv) receive questions and provide answers to non-Executive Members; 
 
v) Executive Board member reports set out in the agenda for the meeting. The reports 

shall indicate which are key decisions and which reports are not open to public 
inspection and are except from publication in accordance with the Access to 
Information and Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings Procedure rules set out 
in Part 4 of this Constitution; 

 
vi) Corporate issues set out in the agenda for the meeting, and which shall indicate which 

are key decisions and which are not in accordance with the Access to Information and 
Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution; 

 
vii) matters referred to the Executive Board; 
 
viii) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting which, in the opinion of the Proper Officer 

are likely to be considered in the absence of the press and public.  
 
2.4 Consultation 
 
All reports to the Executive Board from any member of the Executive Board or an officer on 
proposals relating to the budget and policy framework must contain details of the nature and 
extent of consultation with stakeholders and relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees, and 
the outcome of that consultation. Reports about other matters will set out the details and 
outcome of consultation as appropriate. The level of consultation required will be appropriate 
to the nature of the matter under consideration. 
 
2.5 Who can put items on the Executive Board agenda? 
 
Any member of the Executive Board may require the Chief Executive to make sure that an 
item is placed on the agenda of the next available meeting of the Executive Board for 
consideration. If he/she receives such a request the Chief Executive will comply. 
 

Page 289



143 
 
 

3. QUESTIONS AND STATEMENTS BY THE PUBLIC 
 
3.1 General 
 
A period of up to one hour shall be allowed at each Executive Board meeting to enable 
members of the public to make statements or to ask questions of members of the Executive 
Board. 
  
3.2 Order of questions and statements 
 
Questions and statements will be asked or made in the order notice in which they were 
received, except that the Chief Executive may group together similar questions or statements. 
 
3.3 Notice of questions and statements 
 
A question may only be asked or a statement made if details have been delivered to the Chief 
Executive no later than 4 pm on the day before the meeting. The Chief Executive may require 
additional information to be provided.  Each member of the public asking a question or making 
a statement must give his or her name and address and must name the Executive Member to 
whom it is addressed. 
 
3.4 Number of questions and statements 
 
At any one meeting no person may both make a statement and ask a question and no person 
may submit more than one question or make more than one statement.   
 
3.5 Scope of questions and statements 
 
The Chief Executive may reject a question or statement if: 
 

 he/she feels that insufficient detail has been provided to enable a proper response to be 
provided;  

 

 it is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility or which affects the 
borough; 

 

 it is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
 

 it is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of the Council, 
the Executive Board or a Committee in the past six months; or 

 

 it requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 
 
3.6 Record of questions and statements 
 
The Chief Executive will enter each question and statement in a book open to public inspection 
and will immediately send a copy of the question to the member to whom it is to be put. 
Rejected questions and statements will include reasons for rejection. 
 
Copies of all questions and statements will be circulated to all members and will be made 
available to the public attending the meeting. 
 
3.7 Asking the question or making the statement at the meeting 

Page 290



144 
 
 

 
The Leader will invite the member of the public to address his question or statement to the 
Executive Member named in the notice. He or she may speak for up to five minutes. If a 
member of the public is unable to be present, they may ask the Chief Executive to put the 
question on their behalf. The Chief Executive may ask the question, indicate that a written 
reply will be given or decide, in the absence of the member of the public, that the question will 
not be dealt with. 
 
3.8 Supplemental question  
 
A member of the public who has put a question or made a statement in person may also put 
one supplementary question or make a supplementary statement without notice to the 
member who has replied to his or her original question. A supplementary question or 
statement must arise directly out of the original question, statement or the reply. The Leader 
may reject a supplementary question or statement on any of the grounds in Rule 3.5 above. 
 
3.9 Written answers 
 
Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either because of lack of 
time or because of the non-attendance of the member, to whom it was to be put, will be dealt 
with by a written answer. 
 
3.10 Reference to publications 
 
An answer may take the form of a reference to a publication in which the information sought 
is contained. 
 
 
4 QUESTIONS BY NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBERS   
 
A period of up to one hour shall be allowed at each Executive Board meeting to enable non-
executive members of the Council to ask any questions, as per rules under Section 3 for 
questions and statements submitted by the public. 
 

  

Page 291



145 
 
 

Section 5 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules  

 

1. Arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
The Council will have a Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and such Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committees as are mentioned in Part 3 of the 
Constitution. Collectively these committees will be known as the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. 
 
2. Terms of Reference 
 
The terms of reference for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be set out in part 3 
(sections 7 & 8) of the Constitution. 
 
3. Who may sit on the Committees? 
 
All councillors except members of the Executive Board may be members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees. However, no member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which 
he/she has been directly involved. 
 
4. Membership 
 
(a) The membership of the Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee shall consist of eleven Members of the Council appointed at Annual Council. 
  

 
(b) The BwD People Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consist of eleven members 

of the Council appointed at Annual Council. 
 
(c) The BwD Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consist of eleven members of 

the Council appointed at Annual Council.  
 
(d) The Call In Committee shall consist of nine members of the Council appointed at Annual 

Council   
 
(e) Each overview and scrutiny committee shall have the power to co-opt additional non-voting 

members. 
 
(f) Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall be politically balanced. 
 
(g) The protocol for substitute members set out in the Council Procedure Rules (Part 4, section 

1) shall apply to members of the Council who are members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. Substitute members are only permitted where there is a long-term absence 
or where there is a call in situation.  

 
5. Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
There shall be at least four ordinary meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees in 
each year. In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time as and when 
appropriate. An Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting may be called by the Chair of the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, by any three members of the Committee or by the 
Chief Executive if he/she considers it necessary or appropriate. 

Page 292



146 
 
 

 
6. Quorum  
 
The quorum for meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be one third of the 
whole membership. 
 
7. Who chairs Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings? 
 
The Chair and Vice Chair of the Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and of each Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be appointed at 
Annual Council. 
 
8. Work programme 
 
The Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee will agree with each 
Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committee an annual work programme and will receive 
reports on their progress. In agreeing the work programme Committees shall take into account 
wishes of members on that Committee who are not members of the ruling political 
administration 
 
9. Agenda items 
 
(a) Any member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to give notice to the 

Chief Executive that he/she wishes an item relevant to the functions of the committee to 
be included on the agenda for the next available meeting of the committee. On receipt of 
such a request the Chief Executive will ensure that it is included on the next available 
agenda. 

 
(b) The Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall also respond, as soon as their work 

programme permits, to requests from the Council and the Executive Board to review 
particular areas of Council activity.  

 
10. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
(a) Once it has formed recommendations on proposals for development, an Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee will prepare a formal report and identify whether the report should be 
referred for consideration to the relevant Executive Member, the Executive Board and, if 
to the Executive Board whether it should thereafter be submitted to Council. 

 
(b) If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single final report, then up to 

one minority report may be prepared and submitted for consideration with the majority 
report. 

 
(c) A report of a Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be submitted to the Policy 

and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee prior to referral for 
consideration by the relevant Executive Member or the Executive Board or, in the case of 
a report from the BwD People Overview and Scrutiny Committee relating to health scrutiny, 
to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

 

(d) The Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider 
any report submitted and shall either: 

 

Page 293



147 
 
 

i) request the Chief Executive to arrange for the report to be referred for consideration 
by the person or body identified by the Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
or; 

 

ii) refer it back to the Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 

(e) If a report is referred back to a Standing Overview and Scrutiny Committee that Committee 
shall consider any comments of the Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and resubmit the report with or without amendment. The Policy and 
Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall then arrange for the Chief 
Executive to refer the report for consideration in accordance with paragraph 10(d)(i) 

 

(f) When referring a report for consideration the Policy and Corporate Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee may submit additional comments, but may not amend the report. 

 

(g) The relevant Executive Member or the Executive Board, as appropriate, shall consider a 
report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as soon as is reasonably practicable after 
it has been submitted to the Chief Executive and in any event within three months. A report 
which is to be considered by Council shall be submitted to the next available meeting of 
the Council following consideration by the Executive Board.  

 

(h) The relevant Executive Member or the Executive Board shall ensure that a report of his, 
her or its response to the report is submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 

11. Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents 
 

In addition to their rights as councillors, members of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
have the additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in the Part 4 - 
Section 2 - Rules relating to Access to Information and Decisions and Attendance at Public 
Meetings of this Constitution. 
 

12. Members and officers giving account  
 

(a) An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may, within its terms of reference, scrutinise and 
review decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council 
functions. As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require 
any member of the Executive Board the Chief Executive and/or any senior officer to attend 
before it to explain in relation to matters within their remit: 

 

(i) any particular decision or series of decisions; 
 

(ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or  
 
(iii) their performance  

 

  
 and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 

 
 

(b) Where any member or officer is required to attend an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
under this provision, the Chair of that Committee will inform the Chief Executive. The Chief 
Executive shall inform the member or officer in writing giving at least ten working days 
notice of the meeting at which he/she is required to attend. The notice will state the nature 
of the item on which he/she is required to attend to give account and whether any papers 
are required to be produced for the Committee. Where the account to be given to the 

Page 294



148 
 
 

Committee will require the production of a report, then the member or officer concerned 
will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that documentation. 

 
(c) Where, in exceptional circumstances, the member or officer is unable to attend on the 

required date, and then the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall in consultation with 
the member or officer arrange an alternative date for attendance.  

 
13. Attendance by others 

 
An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people other than those people referred to 
in paragraph 12 above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions. 
It may for example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and members and officers in 
other parts of the public sector and shall invite such people to attend. 
 
14. Call-In 
 
(a) All decisions of: 
 

(i) the Executive Board,  

(ii) an individual member of the Executive Board or  

(iii) a committee of the Executive Board, and  

(iv) key or executive decisions taken by an officer; 
 
 shall be published, and shall be available at the main offices of the Council normally within 

2 days of being made. All members of the Council will be sent a copy of the decision. 
 
(b) That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that the decision will 

come into force, and may then be implemented, unless the decision is called in for scrutiny 
by 9a.m. on the Thursday following publication of a decision on Friday. (Adjusted by a 
maximum of one day if there is one or more Bank Holidays in that period)  

 
(c) During that period, the Chief Executive shall Call-In a decision for scrutiny if so requested 

by any six members of the Council who has given detailed reasons for the Call-In of the 
decision. The detailed reasons must be provided by the Lead signatory, by the Call In 
deadline.  When a Call In is requested the Chief Executive shall liaise with the Member 
listed first on the Call-In schedule, to ensure there is sufficient information provided to 
enable the Call-In to proceed.  As long as there is a clear reason given, the call-in should 
be allowed. He/she shall then notify the decision-taker of the Call-In. He/she shall call a 
meeting of the Call In Committee on such date as he/she may determine, where possible 
after consultation with the Chair of the Call In Committee, and in any case within 7 working 
days of the decision to call-in. 
 
(NOTE: Signing the call-in request does not prevent that member being a member of the 
Call In Committee.) 

 
(d) The Chair/Vice Chair of the Call In Committee shall use the following prescribed procedure 

on every occasion, which includes a named vote and the recording of the reasons for 
voting in such way. The Chair and or Vice Chair of Policy and Corporate Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will also attend Call In meetings wherever possible.  
 
1. Chair of the Committee hearing the Call In welcomes those present. 

 

Page 295



149 
 
 

2. Chair asks if everyone has a copy of the reasons why the decision had been called in 
along with a copy of the Call In procedure. 

  
3. Chair asks for apologies/substitutes. 

 
4. Chair asks whether there are any Declarations of Interest. 

 
5. Chair asks the Legal Adviser to explain the process to be followed. 

 
6. Chair asks the representative of those Members who requested the Call In and the 

Executive Member to take their places at the table. 
 

7. Chair asks representative of those Members who requested the Call In to speak to 
explain the reasons for the call in. He/she may do so alone or may do so with another 
person. 

 
8. The Executive Member may seek clarification of any issues from the Member 

representing those responsible for the Call In. 
 

9. Members of the Call In Committee may ask questions of that Member. 
 

10. Chair asks the Executive Member to explain the reasons for the decision made. He/she 
may do so alone or may do so with the relevant Chief Officer. 

 
11. The Member representing those who requested the Call In may ask questions. 

 
12. Members of the Call In Committee may ask questions of the Executive Member/Chief 

Officer. 
 

13. The Member who requested the Call In and then the Executive Member may sum up. 
 

14. The Chair asks the representative of those Members who requested the Call In and 
the Executive Member to leave the table and sit in the public area. They may remain 
in the room if they wish.  

 
15. Chair requests any final contributions from Members before deciding how to proceed.  

 
16. Chair indicates that Members of the Committee will now consider what they have heard 

and decide how to proceed. He asks the legal adviser to go through the options which 
are: 

 
To accept the decision. 

 

If Members do this then they need not do any more. The decision will take effect 
straight away. It could be that some minor issues arise during the debate which the 
Executive Member will agree to take on board. These might be dealt with as part of 
the Minute. As an example when a land sale was called in the Chief Executive gave 
assurances about how it would proceed and these were simply recorded in the 
minutes. 

 

To refer the decision back to the decision making person or body 
 

If Members do this they need to agree what their concerns are. These will be recorded 
in writing and presented to the decision making person or body who will then make a 

Page 296



150 
 
 

final decision. The decision will not take effect until it is reconsidered by the decision 
making person or body. (This decision may not be Called In) 

 

To refer the decision to Council 
 

Statutory Guidance from the DTLR (formerly ODPM, now DCLG) states overview and 
scrutiny committees should only use the power to refer matters to the full council if they 
consider that the decision is contrary to the budget and policy framework or contrary 
to or not wholly in accordance with the budget. The Committee ought to identify those 
parts of the policy framework which are not being followed. 

 

In these circumstances the Committee should refer the issue to the Monitoring Officer 
and Chief Finance Officer who would consider and report on whether the issue is within 
the framework.  Their report would then go to the next meeting of the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee as well as to the Executive Board. If the view then was that 
the decision fell outside the policy framework then the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee could refer the issue to full Council.   

 

17. Move to Named Vote and recording of reasons for reaching such a decision.  
 

18. Inform Executive Member of decision reached as soon as possible. 
 

 
 
(e) Having considered the decision, the Call In Committee may:- 
 

(i) refer it back to the decision making person or body for reconsideration, setting out in 
writing the nature of its concerns or; 

 

(ii) refer the matter to full Council. Such a referral should, in accordance with the Budget 
and Policy Framework Rules (section 3), only be made where the Committee believes 
that the decision is outside the policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget. The procedures set out in those rules must be followed 
prior to any such referral. 

 

(f) If a decision is referred back to the decision making person or body it shall be reconsidered 
in the light of the written concerns of the Call In Committee before a final decision is made. 

 

(g) If following a call in, the Call In Committee does not refer the matter back to the decision 
making person or body and does not refer the matter to Council, the decision shall take 
effect on the date of the Call In Committee meeting. If the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee does not meet the decision shall take effect from the date when the Committee 
should have met. 

 
(h) If the matter is referred to full Council and the Council does not object to a decision which 

has been made, then the decision will become effective on the date of the Council meeting.  
 
(i) If the Council does object the Council may take a decision, which is outside the policy and 

budgetary framework. Otherwise the Council will refer any decision to which it objects back 
to the decision-making person or body, together with the Council’s views on the decision. 
That decision making body or person shall choose whether to amend the decision or not 
before reaching a final decision and implementing it. Where the decision was taken by the 
Executive Board as a whole or a committee of it, a meeting will be convened to reconsider 
within ten working days of the Council request. Where the decision was made by an 
individual, the individual will reconsider within ten working days of the Council request. 

Page 297



151 
 
 

 
15. Call-In and Urgency 
 
(a) The Call-In procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken is 

urgent. A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call in process 
would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests. The record of the decision 
and notice by which it is made public shall state whether in the opinion of the decision 
making person or body, the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not subject to call-in. 
The Chair and Vice Chair of the Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee must both agree that the decision is reasonable in all the circumstances and 
to it being treated as a matter of urgency. 

 
Where agreement cannot be reached the consent of the Chair of the most relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee as determined by the Chief  Executive shall be 
required.  
 
In the event that any of the above are unavailable one of the following may substitute in 
the order of priority set out below: 

 
1. The Chair of the most relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
2. The Vice Chair of the most relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
3. Any other Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair. 

 
(b) The operation of the provisions relating to Call-In and urgency shall be monitored by the 

Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer and a report submitted to Council with proposals 
for review if necessary. 

 
16. The party whip 
 
The ‘party whip’ means – 
 
“Any instruction given by or on behalf of a political group to any councillor who is a member of 
that group as to how that councillor shall speak or vote on any matter before the Council or 
any committee or sub-committee, or the application or threat to apply any sanction by the 
group in respect of that councillor should he/she speak or vote in any particular manner.” 
 
Parties will not apply the whip in respect of the consideration of matters by an Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 
17. Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 
 
(a) Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall consider the following business: 
 
 (i)  minutes of the last meeting; 
 
 (ii) declarations of interest; 
 
 (iii) consideration of any matter referred to the committee for a decision in relation to call 

in of a decision; 
 
 (iv) responses of Executive Members and the Executive Board to reports of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee; and 

Page 298



152 
 
 

 
 (v) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

 
(b) Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts investigations (e.g. with a view to 

policy development), the Committee may also ask people to attend to give evidence at 
Committee meetings which are to be conducted in accordance with the following 
principles: 

 
 (i) that the investigation is conducted fairly and all members of the committee be given 

the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and speak; 
 

 (ii) that those assisting the committee by giving evidence be treated with respect and 
courtesy; and 

 
 (iii) that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the 

 investigation or analysis. 
 
(c) Following any investigation or review, the committee shall prepare a report, for submission 

to the Executive Board and/or Council as appropriate and shall make its report and findings 
public. The committee shall endeavour to reach consensus whenever possible. 

 
 
18. Establishment of Overview and Scrutiny Committees with Other  Councils and 
Organisations 
 
The establishment of Overview and Scrutiny Committees with other Councils and 
organisations shall be allowed to work on cross boundary issues, such as work undertaken by 
Pennine Lancashire. 
 
 
19. Matters within the remit of more than one Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
(a) Where a matter for consideration by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee also falls within 

the remit of one or more other Overview and Scrutiny committees, the decision as to which 
Overview and Scrutiny committee will consider it will be resolved by the Policy and 
Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  If the matter is within the remit 
of the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee that Committee must 
consider the educational issues and the Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee shall determine whether it or another Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee should consider any non educational issues. 

 
(b) Where a decision cannot reasonably await the next meeting of the Policy and Corporate 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee it may be taken by the Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Chair of that Committee. 

 
  

Page 299



153 
 
 

Section 6 Code of Corporate Governance 

 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1. The Council is committed to ensuring that it has adequate and effective corporate 

governance arrangements in place and this Local Code describes how the Council 

intends to achieve this in an open and explicit way. In developing this Code, the 

Council has considered best practice and guidance, particularly the CIPFA/SOLACE 

framework “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 2016”. 

 

1.2. Good corporate governance is about how ensuring that the Council fulfils its purpose 

wisely and openly, with all due accountability to local people.  It means that the Council 

takes sound and lawful decisions - decisions that take into account local people’s 

needs, their wellbeing, and what is needed for a prosperous, caring and successful 

borough. It comprises the systems and processes, cultures and values, by which the 

Council is directed and controlled and through which it accounts to, engages with and, 

where appropriate, leads the community.   

  
2. Definition 

 

2.1. The 2014 CIPFA/IFAC International Framework – Good Governance in the Public 

Sector defines governance as “Governance comprises the arrangements put in place 

to ensure that the intended outcomes for stakeholders are defined and achieved”. 

 

2.2. The Framework also states that ‘to deliver good governance in the public sector, both 

governing bodies and individuals working for public sector entities must try to achieve 

their entity’s objectives while acting in the public interest at all times.  Acting in the 

public interest implies primary consideration of the benefits for society, which should 

result in positive outcomes for service users and other stakeholders’.   

 

2.3. The Council has adopted the ‘Strong Leader’ model of governance whereby the 
Council Leader exercises power and delegates power to others, in particular his/her 
Cabinet.  The Leader and Cabinet make many of the Council’s decisions, but some, 
such as agreeing the annual budget, must be made by full Council, i.e., the whole 
body of elected councillors.  A system of audit and scrutiny, standards and ethics 
ensures that decisions are made within a sound governance framework and that 
behaviour is monitored to ensure effective and efficient governance.  

 
3. The Principles of Good Governance 

 

3.1. The Council operates a governance framework that brings together an underlying set 

of legislative requirements, governance principles and management processes. 

 

3.2. The Council recognises the seven core principles of good governance in the public 
sector as:  
(a) Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law; 

Page 300



154 
 
 

(b) Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement;  
(c) Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits;  
(d) Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes;  
(e) Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it; 
(f) Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management; and  
(g)  Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 

effective accountability.  
 

4. Applying the Principles of Good Governance  

 

4.1. In order to achieve good governance, the Council will seek to apply each of the seven 

core principles, along with their supporting sub-principles, in accordance with 

recommended best practice. The Council has a governance framework in place which 

comprises the systems, processes, culture and values it has to ensure that the 

intended outcomes for stakeholders are defined and achieved. 

 

4.2. We have identified the sources of assurance that are available against each of the 

seven core principles of good governance in the public sector together with the 

supporting principles, which allows the Council to demonstrate that it has an effective 

governance framework in place.  

 

4.3. Appendix A provides a summary of how the Council meets the principles and sub-

principles of this Code of Corporate Governance. Against each sub-principle the 

Council’s evidence compared to best practice (as recommended by the CIPFA/IFAC 

International Framework) is recorded under the heading of “Where You Should See 

Governance in Action”. The column entitled “How the Council Demonstrates Good 

Governance and Issues Identified” records the actual evidence that is available at the 

Council and where practicable are hyperlinked to the very latest information. 

 

5. Review of Effectiveness  

 

5.1. Twice a year, Directors will report to the Chief Executive on how effectively 

governance is being applied in their Departments. This reporting uses the 

Management Accountabilities Framework (MAF).  

 

5.2. At the end of each year the Council will produce its Annual Governance Statement 

(AGS), which includes reviews of MAF exception reports, end of year Directors’ 

assurance statements, external assurance processes and Internal Audit’s opinion 

report. The AGS will also assess the effectiveness of both this Code of Corporate 

Governance and its application during the year, identifying any necessary changes 

and making recommendations to the Executive Board.  

 
5.3. This review of effectiveness will ensure that the sources of assurance within our Code 

of Corporate Governance remain current and valid.  The evidence supporting this 

Page 301



155 
 
 

review will be summarised within Appendix A under the column entitled “How the 

Council Demonstrates Good Governance and Issues Identified”. Where our actual 

evidence no longer meets best practice we highlight any improvements or changes 

that need to be made.  

 

5.4. Appendix B will outline the significant governance issues identified during the last 

financial year and will contain an action plan and timetable to secure any required 

improvement in the Council’s governance arrangements. This action plan should 

consider those significant areas highlighted in Appendix A: “How the Council 

Demonstrates Good Governance and Issues Identified”. 

 
5.5. The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing the Council’s 

corporate governance arrangements against the good governance framework and 

considering annual governance reports and assurances.   This review will be informed 

by a report received from the Council’s Primary Assurance Group. 

 
 

 

Page 302



156 
 
 

Appendix A 

Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law. 

It is essential that the Council is able to demonstrate the appropriateness of its actions across all activities and has mechanisms in place to encourage and enforce adherence 

to ethical values and respect to the rule of law. 

Supporting Sub-Principles Where You Should See Governance in Action How the Council Demonstrates Good Governance 

and Issues Identified 

Behaving with integrity 

 Ensuring members and officers behave with 

integrity and lead a culture where acting in the 

public interest is visibly and consistently 

demonstrated thereby protecting the reputation of 

the organisation. 

 

Suggested examples 

 Codes of conduct. 

 Individual sign off with regard to compliance with 

codes. 

 Protocol on Member/Officer Relations 

 Induction for new members and staff on standards 

of behaviour expected. 

 Performance appraisals.  

 

 

Members sign up to an ‘Acceptance of office’ under 

the Local Government Act with the Monitoring 

Officer at Election Count and are provided with details 

of mandatory policies.   

Declarations of interests required at meetings and 

General Notice of Registerable Interests maintained.   

Members Induction and Training in place.  Training 

throughout the year including mandatory training for 

all members and specific training for members of 

quasi-judicial committee members. 

New Members Induction Pack 

Member and Officer Codes of Conduct 

Officer Appraisal 

Council Constitution includes Member/Officer 

Protocol 

 

 Ensuring members take the lead in establishing 

specific standard operating principles or values for 

the organisation and its staff and that they are 

communicated and understood. These should build 

on the Seven Principles of Public Life (the Nolan 

Principles). 

 

 Communicating shared values with members, staff, 

the community and partners.  

 

Standards Committee 

Member/Officer Protocol 

Complaints procedures for members 

Dignity at Work Policy  

 

 Leading by example and using these standard 

operating principles or values as a framework for 

decision making and other actions. 

 

 Decision making practices. 

 Declarations of interests made at meetings.  

 Conduct at meetings. 

 Shared values guide decision making. 

 Develop and maintain an effective Standards 

Committee.  

 

Standards Committee  

Publishing Decisions and Call-In 

Scrutiny (Pre and Post Decision) 

 

 

 

 

 Demonstrating, communicating and embedding the 

standard operating principles or values through 

 Anti-fraud and corruption policies are working 

effectively.  

The Council is committed to the highest possible 

standards of openness, integrity and accountability.  

P
age 303

http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/Blackburn/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=BDhO8Hlzro%2bygl3i9FQxYX6FlaAB06mEMLMzBxetTQ9aUax6LH2nYg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d


157 
 
 

Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law. 

It is essential that the Council is able to demonstrate the appropriateness of its actions across all activities and has mechanisms in place to encourage and enforce adherence 

to ethical values and respect to the rule of law. 

appropriate policies and processes which are 

reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they are 

operating effectively. 

 

 Up-to-date register of interests (members and staff).  

 Up-to-date register of gifts and hospitality.  

 Whistleblowing policies in place and protect 

individuals raising concerns.  

 Whistleblowing policy available to members of the 

public, employees, partners and contractors. 

 Complaints policy and examples of responding to 

complaints about behaviour.  

 Changes/improvements as a result of complaints 

received and acted upon.  

 Members and officers code of conduct refers to a 

requirement to declare interests.  

 Minutes show declarations of interest were sought 

and appropriate declarations made.  

 

The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy was last 

reviewed in August 2015, and is available to all 

employees, and members of the public.   

Registers of interests and gifts and hospitality are 

maintained reviewed annually. 

2016/2021 Counter Fraud Policy and Strategy 

approved.   

Standards Committee   

Council Constitution updated periodically to reflect 

changes to Council responsibilities and procedures and 

to take account of legislative requirements. 

 

Demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values 

 Seeking to establish, monitor and maintain the 

organisation’s ethical standards and performance 

 Underpinning personal behaviour with ethical 

values and ensuring they permeate all aspects of 

the organisation’s culture and operation 

 Developing and maintaining robust policies and 

procedures which place emphasis on agreed ethical 

values. 

 Ensuring that external providers of services on 

behalf of the organisation are required to act with 

integrity and in compliance with high ethical 

standards expected by the organisation. 

 

 Scrutiny of ethical decision making.  

 Championing ethical compliance at governing body 

level.  

 Provision of ethical awareness training.  

 Appraisal processes take account of values and 

ethical behaviour.  

 Staff appointments policy.  

 Procurement policy.  

 Agreed values in partnership working: 

- Statement of business ethics communicates 

commitment to ethical values to external 

suppliers.  

- Ethical values feature in contracts with 

external service providers. 

 Protocols for partnership working.  
 

The Council has implemented a Behaviour Framework 

which all employees are expected to work in line with.  

The behaviours framework is a set of core behaviours 

which define ‘how’ we are expected to approach our 

work and sits alongside ‘what’ we do, as outlined in 

each of our job descriptions. 

 

The framework details the behaviours and attitudes 

that must be reasonably applied in all situations, are 

required by all employees and supports the delivery of 

our corporate priorities. 

 

The Council’s Significant Partnership Register is 

updated annually and audited periodically.  The 

supporting guidance outlines the need for Terms of 

Reference, minutes, papers etc. 

 

Advice provided to members regarding Constitutional 

matters by Democratic Services and Legal staff. 

Mandatory training during the year for Members on 

areas such as Safeguarding, Data Protection and 

P
age 304

http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/Blackburn/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=BDhO8Hlzro%2bygl3i9FQxYX6FlaAB06mEMLMzBxetTQ9aUax6LH2nYg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d


158 
 
 

Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law. 

It is essential that the Council is able to demonstrate the appropriateness of its actions across all activities and has mechanisms in place to encourage and enforce adherence 

to ethical values and respect to the rule of law. 

Prevent, plus specific training for members of quasi-

judicial Committees. 

Scrutiny process in place. 

Transparency of Decision Making: with Published 

Decisions  

Audit & Governance Committee in place, which 

Internal and External Audit attend. 

 

Contract Procurement Procedure Rules, Procurement 

Strategy and standard procurement and contract 

documentation help to embed ethical values into 

contracts procured by the Council.  The Procurement 

Strategy requires updating to ensure that it reflects 

current regulations and best practise and the Council’s 

approach to purchasing to obtain continuous 

improvement and value for money. 

A draft corporate Social Value Policy has been 

developed that defines social value for the Council and 

sets out the Council’s commitment to this area through 

its commissioning and procurement activity. This has 

been trialled in one of the Council’s business areas and 

will be rolled out during 2018/19. 

 

Respecting the rule of law 

 Ensuring members and staff demonstrate a strong 

commitment to the rule of the law as well as 

adhering to relevant laws and regulations. 

 Creating the conditions to ensure that the statutory 

officers, other key post holders and members are 

able to fulfil their responsibilities in accordance 

with legislative and regulatory requirements. 

 Striving to optimise the use of the full powers 

available for the benefit of citizens, communities 

and other stakeholders. 

 Dealing with breaches of legal and regulatory 

provisions effectively. 

 Statutory provisions. 

 Statutory guidance is followed.  

 Constitution in place. 

 Job description/specifications.  

 Compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role 

of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 

(CIPFA, 2015)  

 Terms of reference.  

 Committee support.  

 Record of legal advice provided by officers.  

 Monitoring Officer provisions.  

 Effective anti-fraud and corruption policies and 

procedures. 

The Director of Finance & Customer Services post 

complies with the principles and requirements set out 

in the CIPFA Statement on the CFO role 

A Counter Fraud Policy and Strategy is in place and 

published.    A Fraud Response Plan is also in place. 

A Whistle Blowing guidance and policy is in place and 

published internally and externally  

A Confidential whistle blowing line is in operation.   

Legal advice is provided on all Council decision 

making reports and members of the Legal Services 

Team attend to provide advice at Committees. 

Training is provided for officers on report writing. 

Positive inspection outcomes achieved e.g. RIPA 

compliance. 

P
age 305

http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/blackburn/Decisions.aspx
http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/blackburn/Decisions.aspx


159 
 
 

Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law. 

It is essential that the Council is able to demonstrate the appropriateness of its actions across all activities and has mechanisms in place to encourage and enforce adherence 

to ethical values and respect to the rule of law. 

 Ensuring corruption and misuse of power are dealt 

with effectively. 

 Local test of assurance (where appropriate). The Council exercises statutory powers to prosecute 

and monitors prosecution outcomes. 

There is a low level of successful appeals on 

regulatory committee decisions e.g. licensing and 

planning. 

Mandatory annual training for regulatory Committee 

Members. 

Regular legal training to members and officers e.g. 

members interests, health and safety, sentencing 

guidelines. 

Code of conduct for members and officers. 

Relevant training for designated officers updated 

annually 

Equality Impact Assessments required for Member and 

Council decisions  

Committee minutes  published 

Complaints process in place 

Standards Committee 

Internal Audit 

 

 

P
age 306

http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/blackburn/Committees/CurrentCommittees.aspx


160 
 
 

Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

Clear and trusted channels of communication are necessary to ensure that the Council can engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, including individual citizens, 

service users, local business and institutional stakeholders in the local community. 

Supporting Sub-Principles Where You Should See Governance in Action How the Council Demonstrates Good Governance 

and Issues Identified 

Openness 

 Ensuring an open culture through demonstrating, 

documenting and communicating the 

organisation’s commitment to openness. 

 

 Making decisions that are open about actions, 

plans, resource use, forecasts, outputs and 

outcomes. The presumption is for openness. If that 

is not the case, a justification for the reasoning for 

keeping a decision confidential should be provided. 

 

 

 Providing clear reasoning and evidence for 

decisions in both public records and explanations to 

stakeholders and being explicit about the criteria, 

rationale and considerations used. In due course, 

ensuring that the impact and consequences of those 

decisions are clear 

 

Suggested Examples 

 Annual report. 

 Freedom of Information Act publication scheme. 

 Online council tax information. 

 Authority’s goals and values. 

 Authority website. 

 Records of decision making and supporting 

materials. 

 

 

 

 

 

 Decision making protocols, including legal and 

finance sign off requirements. 

 Report pro-formas. 

 Record of professional advice in reaching 

decisions. 

 Meeting reports show details of advice given. 

 Discussion between members and officers on the 

information needs of members to support decision 

making. 

 Agreement on the information that will be 

provided and timescales. 

 Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing and 

distributing timely reports. 

 

Officers ensure that the Council website, public news 

website, The Shuttle and Team Talk are up to date, 

informative, user friendly and share information 

effectively with staff and the community. 

Council Tax information leaflet provided and 

information published on the Internet  

Freedom of Information Publication Scheme in place, 

which is reviewed annually.  

Transparency Data Share updated in line with the 

Transparency Code of Practice requirements.  

 

Corporate Plan updated annually  

Policy Council in December each year outlines the 

corporate policy and performance position. 

Performance against the Corporate Plan is reported bi-

annually to Executive Board.  The reports are 

published on the Council’s public Mod.Gov website. 

 

Annual statutory accounts report  - includes a narrative 

summary on key performance/ deliverables  

 

Freedom of Information responses 

Mod.Gov/Public documents 

Publicity of Decisions 

Signed Minutes 

Standard report templates and checklists for Executive 

Member and Executive Board reports requiring Legal 

and Finance review and sign off to ensure legal, 

financial and equality requirements are met and to 

provide assurance for Director approval.  Ensures 

proper checks are carried out for the decision making 

process and publication requirements are met, along 

with opportunity for formal challenge. 

 

P
age 307

http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Corporate-plan.aspx


161 
 
 

Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

Clear and trusted channels of communication are necessary to ensure that the Council can engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, including individual citizens, 

service users, local business and institutional stakeholders in the local community. 

 Using formal and informal consultation and 

engagement to determine the most appropriate and 

effective interventions/ courses of action 

 

 Community strategy 

 Use of consultation feedback. 

 Citizen survey. 

 

Internal key dates for performance data reporting are 

produced and circulated to staff (6 monthly ) 

BwD Prosperity Plan produced through consultation 

and adopted by all stakeholders and in BwD. 

 

Engaging comprehensively with institutional 

stakeholders 

 Effectively engaging with institutional stakeholders 

to ensure that the purpose, objectives and intended 

outcomes for each stakeholder relationship are 

clear so that outcomes are achieved successfully 

and sustainably 

 Developing formal and informal partnerships to 

allow for resources to be used more efficiently and 

outcomes achieved more effectively 

 

 

 

 Communication strategy. 

 

 

 

 Database of stakeholders with whom the authority 

should engage and for what purpose and a record 

of an assessment of the effectiveness of any 

changes. 

 

The Corporate Communications Work Plan acts as the 

corporate communication strategy.  Consultation and 

engagement is carried out through services and 

departments, as well as other forms of specific 

corporate consultation exercises undertaken as 

required, using a range of approaches tailored to the 

specific exercise, including the use of on-line surveys 

and face to face meetings. 

 

A Corporate Plan is in place with key priorities 

identified.  Feedback is provided through Ward 

Solutions Meetings (WSM’s), Your Call initiative, 

Budget Consultation 2018/19.   

Consultation with the Leader of the Council, Executive 

Members, the Chief Executive, Directors, staff and 

partners. 

 

 

 

 Ensuring that partnerships are based on: 

–– trust 

–– a shared commitment to change 

      –– a culture that promotes and accepts challenge     

among partners 

and that the added value of partnership working is 

explicit 

 

 Partnership framework 

 Partnership protocols. 

 

 

Partnership Governance Framework and toolkit in 

place 

 

Engaging stakeholders effectively, including 

individual citizens and service users 

 

 

 Record of public consultations 

The Council is committed to carrying out effective 

consultation exercises using the Council website and 

other communication channels. Communications and 

P
age 308



162 
 
 

Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

Clear and trusted channels of communication are necessary to ensure that the Council can engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, including individual citizens, 

service users, local business and institutional stakeholders in the local community. 

 Establishing a clear policy on the type of issues that 

the organisation will meaningfully consult with or 

involve individual citizens, service users and other 

stakeholders to ensure that service (or other) 

provision is contributing towards the achievement 

of intended outcomes. 

 

 Partnership framework 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

engagement strategies are developed for campaigns 

and major issues. The Corporate Communications 

Work Plan acts as the corporate communication 

strategy, with other engagement and communications 

devolved to services.  

 

Regular Ward Solution Meetings are held as part of the 

community engagement models operated by the 

Council. 

 

The Significant Partnership Register is updated 

annually and audited periodically.  The Register 

includes details of terms of reference, minutes, papers 

etc. 

 

The Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) and sub-groups 

meet at least twice a year.  These are public meetings.  

Agendas and minutes are available on Mod.Gov  

 

LSP Board events communicated and delivered – 

media releases, videoed, and media updates in local 

paper 

 

 Ensuring that communication methods are effective 

and that Members and officers are clear about their 

roles with regard to community engagement. 

 

 Communications strategy. 

 

 

There is a Budget consultation programme.  

 

Social media is used to engage with the public. 

 

 Encouraging, collecting and evaluating the views 

and experiences of communities, citizens, service 

users and organisations of different backgrounds 

including reference to future needs. 

 

 Communications strategy. 

 Joint strategic needs assessment. 

 

The Corporate Communications Work Plan acts as the 

Corporate Communications Strategy. 

 

The Council’s Vision is used as the basis for working 

together with strategic partners to agree a shared 

agenda and work collectively to identify local 

priorities and review and steer resources. 

P
age 309

http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Local-strategic-partnership.aspx


163 
 
 

Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

Clear and trusted channels of communication are necessary to ensure that the Council can engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, including individual citizens, 

service users, local business and institutional stakeholders in the local community. 

 Implementing effective feedback mechanisms in 

order to demonstrate how their views have been 

taken into account. 

 

 Communications strategy. 

 

 

 Balancing feedback from more active stakeholder 

groups with other stakeholder groups to ensure 

inclusivity. 

 

 Processes for dealing with competing demands 

within the community, for example a consultation. 

 

Consultations are carried out as and when required 

using a range of different approaches tailored to the 

area. 

 Taking account of the interests of future 

generations of tax payers and service users 

 

 Reports 

 Joint strategic needs assessment 

Public Health Report  

Your Call Annual Report 

 

 

P
age 310

http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Public-Health-Report-2014.aspx
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Lists/DownloadableDocuments/Your-Call-Annual-Report.pdf


164 
 
 

Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits. 

The Council needs to define and plan outcomes and ensure that these are sustainable.  Decisions should further the Council’s purpose, contribute to the intended benefits 

and outcomes and remain within the limits of the Council’s authority and resources. 

Supporting Sub-Principles Where You Should See Governance in Action How the Council Demonstrates Good Governance 

and Issues Identified 

Defining Outcomes 

 Having a clear vision which is an agreed formal 

statement of the organisation’s purpose and 

intended outcomes containing appropriate 

performance indicators, which provides the basis 

for the organisation’s overall strategy, planning and 

other decisions 

 

 

Suggested Examples 

 Vision used as a basis for corporate and service 

planning. 
 

The Council’s Vision is used as the basis for the 

Council and strategic partners to work together to 

agree a shared agenda and work collectively to review 

and steer resources through identifying local priorities. 

The Council’s Corporate Plan priorities are reviewed 

annually and adopted at Policy Council in December. 

 

The Borough’s Plan for Prosperity was adopted by the 

LSP Board and launched in November 2014. A  Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy is in place and published along 

with the latest Local Plan.   

 

 

 Specifying the intended impact on, or changes for, 

stakeholders including citizens and service users. It 

could be immediately or over the course of a year 

or longer 

 

 Community engagement and involvement. 

 Corporate and service plans and strategies. 

 Community strategy. 

 

Communications and engagement plans are put in 

place.   Updates re service reviews/changes are 

provided to residents ranging from advertising and on-

line updates, social media, and letters and councillors 

meetings to roadshows and public meetings. 

 

 Delivering defined outcomes on a sustainable basis 

within the resources that will be available 

 

 Identifying and managing risks to the achievement 

of outcomes 

 

 Regular reports on progress. 

 Performance trends are established and reported 

upon. 

 Risk management protocols. 

 

Risk Management Strategy and Framework 2015/20 

with supporting toolkit in place:  Corporate and 

departmental risk registers maintained and monitored. 

Management Accountabilities Framework reporting 

and monitoring in place with RAG rated performance 

Includes risk considerations. 

 

 Managing service users expectations effectively 

with regard to determining priorities and making 

the best use of the resources available 

 

 An agreed set of quality standard measures for 

each service element and included in service plans. 

 Processes for dealing with competing demands 

within the community. 

 

 

 

Annual refresh of the Corporate Plan Technical 

Appendix – KPIs and targets for each portfolio. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 311

http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Lists/DownloadableDocuments/BwD-Prosperity-Plan-November%202014.pdf
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/New%20local%20plan%202/4.09%20BwD%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy.pdf
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/New%20local%20plan%202/4.09%20BwD%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy.pdf
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Local-plan-part-2.aspx


165 
 
 

Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits. 

The Council needs to define and plan outcomes and ensure that these are sustainable.  Decisions should further the Council’s purpose, contribute to the intended benefits 

and outcomes and remain within the limits of the Council’s authority and resources. 

 

Sustainable economic, social and environmental 

benefits 

 Considering and balancing the combined 

economic, social and environmental impact of 

policies, plans and decisions when taking decisions 

about service provision 

 

 

 

 Capital investment is structured to achieve 

appropriate life spans and adaptability for future 

use or that resources (e.g. land) are spent on 

optimising social, economic and environmental 

wellbeing: 

–– Capital programme 

–– Capital investment strategy 

 

 

Details of Capital Programme included as part of the 

papers to Finance Council in February and as part of 

the quarterly Corporate Capital Monitoring Reports.  

Business planning guidance issued annually and 

Departmental Plans produced – team/service plans 

provide greater depth of key deliverables for the year 

ahead. 

 

Regular Chief Officers' meetings with the political 

Group Leaders, in addition to Senior Policy Team 

meetings provide forum for Member briefing and 

challenge before decisions made. 

 

 Taking a longer-term view with regard to decision 

making, taking account of risk and acting 

transparently where there are potential conflicts 

between the organisation’s intended outcomes and 

short-term factors such as the political cycle or 

financial constraints 

 

 Discussion between Members and officers on the 

information needs of members to support decision 

making. 

 

Briefing meetings are held between Executive 

Members and the respective  departmental Officers 

 

 Determining the wider public interest associated 

with balancing conflicting interests between 

achieving the various economic, social and 

environmental benefits, through consultation where 

possible, in order to ensure appropriate trade-offs 

 

 Record of decision making and supporting 

materials 

 Protocols for consultation 

 

Minutes published on the Council’s Mod.Gov website 

in accordance with access to information provisions. 

Committee agendas available on Mod.Gov 

 

Service delivery areas require service user engagement 

and feedback as part of service reviews.  The Strategy 

and Funding Team are available to support 

departments in producing appropriate consultation and 

engagement mechanisms. 

 

 Ensuring fair access to services  Protocols ensure fair access and statutory 

guidance is followed 
 

Consultations carried out with affected parties.  

Opportunities for petitions and questions from the 

public to be submitted and considered by Council, or 

the appropriate Committee or Executive Member. 

P
age 312



166 
 
 

Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits. 

The Council needs to define and plan outcomes and ensure that these are sustainable.  Decisions should further the Council’s purpose, contribute to the intended benefits 

and outcomes and remain within the limits of the Council’s authority and resources. 

 

Corporate Equality and Health Impact Assessment 

guidance and requirements are in place.  Equality 

Impact Assessments are required to be competed for 

all policy and strategy decisions and decision papers 

through Council Committees. 

 

Health Impact assessments are also required when 

relevant and needed. 

 

 

 

P
age 313



167 
 
 

Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes. 

Determining the right mix of actions is a critically important strategic choice that the Council has to make to ensure that the intended outcomes are achieved.  Robust 

decision making mechanisms are required to ensure defined outcomes can be achieved balancing the various resource inputs whilst enabling the efficient and effective 

delivery services. 

Supporting Sub-Principles Where You Should See Governance in Action How the Council Demonstrates Good Governance 

and Issues Identified 

Determining interventions  

 Ensuring decision makers receive objective and 

rigorous analysis of a variety of options indicating 

how intended outcomes would be achieved and 

including the risks associated with those options. 

Therefore ensuring best value is achieved however 

services are provided 

 

Suggested Examples 

 Discussion between members and officers on the 

information needs of members to support decision 

making. 

 Decision making protocols, including legal and 

financial sign off.  

 Option appraisals. 

 Agreement of information that will be provided 

and timescales. 

 

Regular Chief Officer meetings with political Group 

Leaders, in addition to Executive Member Briefings, 

portfolio and departmental briefings and Policy 

Development Sessions with Members and the Leader. 

Reporting templates and checklists in place for the 

Executive Board and Member reporting process to 

ensure financial, legal and equality requirements are 

met and provide assurance to Directors and Members 

prior to approval. 

 

 Considering feedback from citizens and service 

users when making decisions about service 

improvements or where services are no longer 

required in order to prioritise competing demands 

within limited resources available including people, 

skills, land and assets and bearing in mind future 

impacts 

 

 Financial strategy. 

 

Reports on budget, robustness of budget, Medium 

Term Financial and Treasury Management Strategies 

and Pay Policy Statement considered annually at  

Finance Council 

Planning Interventions 

 Establishing and implementing robust planning and 

control cycles that cover strategic and operational 

plans, priorities and targets 

 

 Calendar of dates for developing and submitting 

plans and reports that are adhered to. 

 

The Councils Corporate Plan priorities are reviewed 

and updated via all Executive Members / portfolio 

briefing meetings. 

 

Business planning guidance and support is provided 

through the Strategy and Funding Team, six monthly 

performance framework and Management 

Accountabilities Framework monitoring arrangements 

in place. 

 

Timetables for Committees 

Business Plan 

Risk Register 

Corporate Plan 

P
age 314

http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/blackburn/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/1057/Committee/392/Default.aspx


168 
 
 

Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes. 

Determining the right mix of actions is a critically important strategic choice that the Council has to make to ensure that the intended outcomes are achieved.  Robust 

decision making mechanisms are required to ensure defined outcomes can be achieved balancing the various resource inputs whilst enabling the efficient and effective 

delivery services. 

 

 Engaging with internal and external stakeholders in 

determining how services and other courses of 

action should be planned and delivered 

 

 Communication strategy 

 

The Corporate Communications Work Plan acts as the 

corporate communication strategy, with other 

engagement and communications devolved to services.  

Key dates timeline produced and shared re 6 monthly 

performance reporting / challenge framework. 

 

Significant Partnership Register updated annually 

 

 Considering and monitoring risks facing each 

partner when working collaboratively including 

shared risks 

 

 Partnership framework 

 Risk management protocol 

 

Risk management roles and responsibilities set out in 

Risk Management Strategy and Framework 2015/20. 

Corporate and departmental risk registers maintained 

and monitored. 

 

 Ensuring arrangements are flexible and agile so 

that the mechanisms for delivering outputs can be 

adapted to changing circumstances. 

 

 Planning protocols 

 

 

 Establishing appropriate key performance 

indicators (KPIs) as part of the planning process in 

order to identify how the performance of services 

and projects is to be measured. 

 

 KPIs have been established and approved for each 

service element, included in the service plans and 

are reported upon regularly. 

 

Six monthly performance challenge framework in 

place, reported internally within departmental 

management teams, challenge meetings held by the   

Management Board with summary reports presented to 

Executive Board 

 

 Ensuring capacity exists to generate the 

information required to review service quality 

regularly 

 

 Reports include detailed performance results and 

highlight areas where corrective action is 

necessary. 

 

 

 Preparing budgets in accordance with 

organisational objectives, strategies and the 

medium term financial plan 

 

 Evidence that budgets, plans and objectives are 

aligned 

 

Revenue and Capital Budget reporting in place. 

Monitoring reports to Council Forum and Finance 

Council.   

Quarterly reports to Executive Board 

Exception reports for below target KPIs are produced 

outlining the key issues and actions to improve. 

P
age 315



169 
 
 

Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes. 

Determining the right mix of actions is a critically important strategic choice that the Council has to make to ensure that the intended outcomes are achieved.  Robust 

decision making mechanisms are required to ensure defined outcomes can be achieved balancing the various resource inputs whilst enabling the efficient and effective 

delivery services. 

 

 Informing medium and long term resource 

planning by drawing up realistic estimates of 

revenue and capital expenditure aimed at 

developing a sustainable funding strategy 

 

 Budget guidance and protocols 

 Medium term financial plan 

 Corporate plans 

 

Medium Term Financial Strategy prepared. Budget 

guidance included in Standing Financial Instructions 

and Constitution (Part 4 Financial Procedure Rules).   

Corporate Plan 2016-2019 adopted by Policy Council 

 

The LSP  developed and launched a medium term 

plan:   

“Plan for Prosperity 2014-20” which was endorsed by 

the Local Government Association Health and 

Wellbeing Board peer review team. 

.  The Plan is reviewed and updated annually to ensure 

KPIs and targets are relevant.  

 

Optimising achievement of intended outcomes 

 Ensuring the medium term financial strategy 

integrates and balances service priorities, 

affordability and other resource constraints 

 

 Feedback surveys and exit/decommissioning 

strategies 

 Changes are seen as a result 

 

Consideration of social value is built into Procurement 

process as part of the business case production that 

requires the Procuring Officer to consider social value 

act implications. 

 

 Ensuring the budgeting process is all-inclusive, 

taking into account the full cost of operations over 

the medium and longer term 

 

 Budgeting guidance and 

 Protocols 

 

Guidance contained in Constitution (Financial 

Procedure Rules) and Standing Financial Instructions.   

 

 Ensuring the medium term financial strategy sets 

the context for ongoing decisions on significant 

delivery issues or responses to changes in the 

external environment that may arise during the 

budgetary period in order for outcomes to be 

achieved while optimising resource usage 

 

 Financial strategy 

 

Reports on budget, robustness of budget, Medium 

Term Financial and Treasury Management Strategies 

and Pay Policy Statement considered annually at  

Finance Council 

 Ensuring the achievement of ‘social value’ through 

service planning and commissioning. The Public 

Services (Social Value) Act 2012 states that this is 

“the additional benefit to the community...over and 

 Service plans demonstrate consideration of ‘social 

value’ 

 Achievement of ‘social value’ is monitored and 

reported upon 

The Council approach is to buy local where possible 

whilst achieving value for money, to increase monies 

spent in the local economy.  The Council has also 

introduced its own local living wage to enhance 

P
age 316

http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy-.aspx
http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/blackburn/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/1057/Committee/392/Default.aspx


170 
 
 

Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes. 

Determining the right mix of actions is a critically important strategic choice that the Council has to make to ensure that the intended outcomes are achieved.  Robust 

decision making mechanisms are required to ensure defined outcomes can be achieved balancing the various resource inputs whilst enabling the efficient and effective 

delivery services. 

above the direct purchasing of goods, services and 

outcomes” 

 

 opportunities and wellbeing for its lowest paid 

employees. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 317



171 
 
 

Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it. 

The Council needs appropriate structures and leadership in place, with staff who possess the right skills, qualifications and approach to achieve the desired outcomes it has 

identified in the agreed timeframes.  Capacity must be available to enable the Council to fulfil its mandate and arrangements in place that allow the continuous 

development of its capacity  to respond to changes in individuals and the environment, as well as the skills and experience of its staff. 

Supporting Sub-Principles Where You Should See Governance in Action How the Council Demonstrates Good Governance 

and Issues Identified 

Developing the entity’s capacity 

 Reviewing operations, performance use of assets 

on a regular basis to ensure their continuing 

effectiveness 

 

Suggested examples 

 Regular review of activities, outputs and planned 

outcomes. 

 

The Council has a workforce strategy and details how 

we expect to attract, retain and develop our employees. 

Each strand of the workforce strategy takes account of 

how we plan to work as an organisation now and in the 

future. 

 

A ‘Digital Vison for the Borough’ and supporting 

strategies are also in place.  These set out our approach 

to addressing the challenges of delivering technology 

across the organisation and ensuring that the maximum 

benefit is derived for the Council, its workforce, 

customers and partners. 

 

Departmental management teams reviewing progress 

of their service / team plans – 6 monthly Directors 

Exception Report produced. 

 

 Improving resource use through appropriate 

application of techniques such as benchmarking 

and other options in order to determine how the 

authority’s resources are allocated so that outcomes 

are achieved effectively and efficiently 

 

 Utilisation of research and benchmarking 

exercises. 

 

Benchmarking data is also used across the Council to 

outline BwD position in relation to other authorities or 

other areas. i.e. Lancashire, North West. 

 

Departments utilise benchmarking data where 

applicable to provide context to our Council’s 

performance and data. 

 

 Recognising the benefits of partnerships and 

collaborative working where added value can be 

achieved 

 

 Effective operation of partnerships which deliver 

agreed outcomes. 

 

The LSP Prosperity Plan is owned by the sub-groups 

of the LSP Board.  This identifies 31 KPIs along with 

targets.  The Board meetings are open to the public, 

with papers published via Mod.Gov.   

 Developing and maintaining an effective workforce 

plan to enhance the strategic allocation of resources 

 

 Workforce plan.  

 Organisational development plan 

 

The Workforce Strategy provides details of how the 

Council will attract, retain and develop staff.  Along 

with the ‘Digital Vision for the Borough’ and 

P
age 318



172 
 
 

Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it. 

The Council needs appropriate structures and leadership in place, with staff who possess the right skills, qualifications and approach to achieve the desired outcomes it has 

identified in the agreed timeframes.  Capacity must be available to enable the Council to fulfil its mandate and arrangements in place that allow the continuous 

development of its capacity  to respond to changes in individuals and the environment, as well as the skills and experience of its staff. 

supporting strategies it takes account of how we will 

work as an organisation to address the challenges of 

delivering services effectively now and in the future. 

 

Developing the capability of the entity’s 

leadership and other individuals 

 Developing protocols to ensure that elected and 

appointed leaders negotiate with each other 

regarding their respective roles early on in the 

relationship and that a shared understanding of 

roles and objectives is maintained 

 

 

 

 Job descriptions  

 Chief Executive and leader pairings have 

considered how best to establish and maintain 

effective communication 

 

 

A Leadership Framework has been developed. 

There is a robust induction programme for elected 

members supported by an ongoing development 

programme. 

 

Regular Management Board meetings of Directors and 

Heads of Service to communicate and plan 

organisational developments. 

Regular business continuity exercises to build 

resilience. 

Effective communication methods e.g. Teamtalk, 

annual Chief Executive staff briefings. 

Setting and reviewing Council priorities. 

Documented objectives e.g. Corporate Plan. 

Networking e.g. AGMA membership and building 

internal and external partnerships e.g. Pennine 

Lancashire - Together a Healthier Future and 

collaborative working with other authorities. 

The Chief Executive also holds annual staff briefings 

for all Council staff. 

 

 Publishing a statement that specifies the types of 

decisions that are delegated and those reserved for 

the collective decision making of the governing 

body 

 

 Scheme of Delegation reviewed at least annually 

in the light of legal and organisational changes. 

 Standing orders and financial regulations which 

are reviewed on a regular basis. 

 

Scheme of Delegation contained with Constitution. 

Constitutional updates at least annually. 

North West Employers currently used for external 

member training and development as appropriate, with 

Member representation on the Board 

Constitution (Part 4) - Financial Procedure Rules and  

Standing Financial Instructions in place.   

 

P
age 319



173 
 
 

Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it. 

The Council needs appropriate structures and leadership in place, with staff who possess the right skills, qualifications and approach to achieve the desired outcomes it has 

identified in the agreed timeframes.  Capacity must be available to enable the Council to fulfil its mandate and arrangements in place that allow the continuous 

development of its capacity  to respond to changes in individuals and the environment, as well as the skills and experience of its staff. 

 Ensuring the leader and the chief executive have 

clearly defined and distinctive leadership roles 

within a structure whereby the chief executive 

leads the authority in implementing strategy and 

managing the delivery of services and other outputs 

set by members and each provides a check and a 

balance for each other’s authority. 

Clear statement of respective roles and responsibilities 

and how they will be put into practice. 

Members and Officers roles are set out in the 

Constitution Part 5 – Section 3 Protocol of 

Member/Officer Relations 

 

The Leader and Executive Member functions are set 

out in Sections 13 & 14 of the Constitution 

 Developing the capabilities of members and senior 

management to achieve effective shared leadership 

and to enable the organisation to respond 

successfully to changing legal and policy demands 

as well as economic, political and environmental 

changes and risks by: 

- ensuring members and staff have access to 

appropriate induction tailored to their role and that 

ongoing training and development matching 

individual and organisational requirements is 

available and encouraged 

- ensuring members and officers have the 

appropriate 

skills, knowledge, resources and support to fulfil 

their 

roles and responsibilities and ensuring that they 

are able to update their knowledge on a continuing 

basis 

- ensuring personal, organisational and system 

wide development through shared learning, 

including lessons learnt from governance 

weaknesses both internal and external. 

 

 Access to update courses/information briefings on 

new legislation 

 Induction and ongoing training programme for 

members. 

 Personal development plans for members and 

officers 

 For example, for members this may include the 

ability to: 

– scrutinise and challenge 

– recognise when outside expert advice is required 

– promote trust 

– work in partnership 

– lead the organisation 

– act as a community leader 

 Efficient systems and technology used for 

effective support. 

 Arrangements for succession planning 

Training programme in place for Members throughout 

the year. Mandatory training for members on areas 

such as data protection, child sexual exploitation and 

safeguarding.  Technical training for members of 

quasi-judicial Committees. 

 

Members roles are set out in the Constitution Part 5 

Section 3 Protocol of Members/Officer Relations. 

  

Job roles have been developed for Members following 

the completion of the Boundary Commission review of 

the Council to reflect the changes to the role of ward 

and community Councillors and the drive to embrace 

and improve the approach to agile working and the 

Council’s digital agenda.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Ensuring that there are structures in place to 

encourage public participation 

 

 Residents’ panels 

 Stakeholder forum terms of reference 

 Strategic partnership frameworks 

 

The Council works with residents to work together 

through the innovative Your Call campaign.  

Consultation and engagement is carried out through 

services and departments, as well as other forms of 

P
age 320

http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Your-Call.aspx?CurrentTermId=90f02bf1-9c78-4f5d-a499-8a7e6e8b0bdb


174 
 
 

Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it. 

The Council needs appropriate structures and leadership in place, with staff who possess the right skills, qualifications and approach to achieve the desired outcomes it has 

identified in the agreed timeframes.  Capacity must be available to enable the Council to fulfil its mandate and arrangements in place that allow the continuous 

development of its capacity  to respond to changes in individuals and the environment, as well as the skills and experience of its staff. 

specific corporate consultation exercises undertaken as 

required.  Questions and petitions can be submitted by 

members of the public to appropriate Committee or 

Council meetings. 

Ward Solution Meetings are held on a regular basis to 

allow Members to discuss issues affecting the local 

community. 

The LSP Board meetings are open to the public, with 

papers published via Mod.Gov 

 Taking steps to consider the leadership’s own 

effectiveness and ensuring leaders are open to 

constructive feedback from peer review and 

inspections 

 

 Reviewing individual member performance on a 

regular basis taking account of their attendance 

and considering any training or development needs 

 Peer reviews 

 

The Member bite sized training programme addresses 

training and development needs. 

 

 Holding staff to account through regular 

performance reviews which take account of 

training or development needs 

 

 Training and development plan 

 Staff development plans linked to appraisals 

 Implementing appropriate human resource policies 

and ensuring that they are working effectively 

 

All employees are expected to have an annual 

appraisal as well as regular 121s. 

 

There is ongoing training and development available 

for all employees, with access to on-line training 

courses on a wide variety of topics. 

 

 Ensuring arrangements are in place to maintain the 

health and wellbeing of the workforce and support 

individuals in maintaining their own physical and 

mental wellbeing 

 

 Human resource policies 

 

HR policies are regularly reviewed and updated to 

reflect statutory and legislative requirements and best 

practice. 

 

 

  

P
age 321

http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Ward-solution-meetings-calendar.aspx


175 
 
 

Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management. 

Organisational and governance structures need to be in place which can sustain effective performance management arrangements that facilitate the effective and efficient 

delivery of planned services.  Robust systems and arrangements for financial and risk management, and internal control, are essential elements for the achievement of 

intended outcomes. A culture and structure for scrutiny are key parts of accountable decision and policy making, and review. 

Supporting Sub-Principles Where You Should See Governance in Action How the Council Demonstrates Good Governance 

and Issues Identified 

Managing risk 

 Recognising that risk management is an integral 

part of all activities and must be considered in all 

aspects of decision making 

 

Suggested Examples 

 Risk management protocol. 

 

 

2015/20 Risk Management Strategy and Framework 

with supporting toolkit in place. Roles and 

responsibilities identified. 

Corporate and departmental risk registers maintained 

and monitored. Risk owners and key contacts 

identified. 

 

 Implementing robust and integrated risk 

management arrangements and ensuring that they 

are working effectively. 

 

 

 Risk management strategy/ policy formally 

approved and adopted and reviewed and updated 

on a regular basis. 

 

 

 Ensuring that responsibilities for managing 

individual risks are clearly allocated 

 

 Risk management protocol.  

 

 

Managing performance 

 Monitoring service delivery effectively including 

planning, specification, execution and independent 

post implementation review 

 

 Performance map showing all key activities have 

performance measures 

 Benchmarking information 

 Cost performance (using inputs and outputs) 

 Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing and 

distributing timely reports that are adhered to 

 

Management Accountabilities Framework 

Responses to inspection outcomes-improvements 

implemented. 

Filing statutory returns. 

1 to 1s 

Appraisals 

Participation in CIPFA and other benchmarking 

exercises. 

Monitoring performance through regulatory bodies’ 

e.g. monthly returns to General Register Office. 

 

Progress on Council’s Corporate Plan is reported via 

the Council’s Executive Board. 

Progress on the Corporate Plan is provided to Policy 

Council in December each year 

Performance reports on KPIs provide progress updates 

via RAG ratings and actual data.  In addition those 

P
age 322



176 
 
 

Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management. 

Organisational and governance structures need to be in place which can sustain effective performance management arrangements that facilitate the effective and efficient 

delivery of planned services.  Robust systems and arrangements for financial and risk management, and internal control, are essential elements for the achievement of 

intended outcomes. A culture and structure for scrutiny are key parts of accountable decision and policy making, and review. 

KPIs that are red – below target, are also required to 

produce an exception report outlining key issues and 

actions to improve performance. 

 

 Making decisions based on relevant, clear objective 

analysis and advice pointing out the implications 

and risks inherent in the organisation’s financial, 

social and environmental position and outlook 

 

 Discussion between members and officers on the 

information needs of members to support decision 

making 

 Publication of agendas and minutes of meetings 

 Agreement on the information that will be needed 

and timescales 

 

Executive Member briefings and Executive Board 

arrangements provide forums for robust review and 

challenge by Executive Members to ensure informed 

decision making by Directors and Executive Members.  

The Scrutiny process, presentation of motions and 

Members questions provide for democratic challenge. 

 Ensuring an effective scrutiny or oversight function 

is in place which encourages constructive challenge 

and debate on policies and objectives before, 

during and after decisions are made thereby 

enhancing the organisation’s performance and that 

of any organisation for which it is responsible  

(OR, for a committee system) 

Encouraging effective and constructive challenge 

and debate on policies and objectives to support 

balanced and effective decision making 

 

 The role and responsibility for scrutiny has been 

established and is clear. 

 Agenda and minutes of scrutiny meetings 

 Evidence of improvements as a result of scrutiny 

 Terms of reference 

 Training for members 

 Membership 

 

Robust scrutiny arrangements operate with Scrutiny 

Committees.  A Scrutiny toolkit is available to aid 

Members, which is reviewed regularly.  Governance 

arrangements are also reviewed annually by Members.  

The outcomes of Overview & Scrutiny are considered 

by the relevant Executive Member. 

 Providing members and senior management with 

regular reports on service delivery plans and on 

progress towards outcome achievement 

 

 Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing and 

distributing timely reports that are adhered to 

 

Timetables circulated and published 

 

 Ensuring there is consistency between specification 

stages (such as budgets) and post implementation 

reporting (e.g. financial statements) 

 

 Financial standards, budget guidance 

 Financial regulations and standing orders 

 

Guidance contained in Constitution (Financial 

Procedure Rules) and Standing Financial Instructions.   

 

Robust internal control 

 Aligning the risk management strategy and policies 

on internal control with achieving the objectives 

 

 

 Risk management strategy 

 Audit plan 

 Audit reports 

Risk Management Strategy & Framework 2015/20 

Corporate Risk Register 

Approved Annual Internal Audit Plan  

P
age 323



177 
 
 

Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management. 

Organisational and governance structures need to be in place which can sustain effective performance management arrangements that facilitate the effective and efficient 

delivery of planned services.  Robust systems and arrangements for financial and risk management, and internal control, are essential elements for the achievement of 

intended outcomes. A culture and structure for scrutiny are key parts of accountable decision and policy making, and review. 

 Audit & Assurance reports on findings from individual 

reviews provided to Chief Officers.  Progress on plan 

and summary of findings reported to Audit & 

Governance Committee and Annual Opinion Report 

produced.  

 

 Evaluating and monitoring the authority’s risk 

management and internal control on a regular basis 

 

 Risk management strategy/ policy has been 

formally approved and adopted and is reviewed 

and updated on a regular basis 

 

Risk Management Strategy & Framework 2015/20 

approved by Executive Member for Finance & 

Governance.  

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

Scrutiny Committees 

Finance Council 

Council Constitution 

Members Allowances 

Independent Remuneration Panel  

General risk management advice & guidance 

 

 Ensuring effective counter fraud and anti-

corruption arrangements are in place 

 

 Compliance with the Code of Practice on 

Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption 

(CIPFA, 2014) 

 

Counter Fraud Strategy 2016/21 updated in 2015 to 

comply with Code.  Action plan in place. 

 

 

 

 Ensuring additional assurance on the overall 

adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of 

governance, risk management and control is 

provided by the internal auditor 

 

 Annual governance statement 

 Effective internal audit service is resourced and 

maintained. 

 

Annual Governance Statement published with Annual 

Accounts  

Peer review reported in 2016, confirmed internal audit 

service complies with Public Sector Audit Standards 

requirements:   

 

 Ensuring an audit committee or equivalent group or 

function which is independent of the 

executive and accountable to the governing body: 

 Audit committee complies with best practice. See 

Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local 

Authorities and Police (CIPFA, 2013) 

 Terms of reference 

 Membership 

Review of compliance with guidance completed: Audit 

& Governance Committee Self-Assessment and Action 

Plan  

Committee Terms of Reference  

Committee members’ skills and knowledge self-

assessment carried out. 

P
age 324

http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/Blackburn/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=%2fu9UYkHMn73Z4T9SrhafhYJImoCyMkDrl2LcKMTqaWJEIpY6mDR%2f%2fg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/Blackburn/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=%2fu9UYkHMn73Z4T9SrhafhYJImoCyMkDrl2LcKMTqaWJEIpY6mDR%2f%2fg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/Blackburn/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=%2fu9UYkHMn73Z4T9SrhafhYJImoCyMkDrl2LcKMTqaWJEIpY6mDR%2f%2fg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/Blackburn/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=BDhO8Hlzro%2bygl3i9FQxYX6FlaAB06mEMLMzBxetTQ9aUax6LH2nYg%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d


178 
 
 

Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management. 

Organisational and governance structures need to be in place which can sustain effective performance management arrangements that facilitate the effective and efficient 

delivery of planned services.  Robust systems and arrangements for financial and risk management, and internal control, are essential elements for the achievement of 

intended outcomes. A culture and structure for scrutiny are key parts of accountable decision and policy making, and review. 

– provides a further source of effective assurance 

regarding arrangements for managing risk and 

maintaining an effective control environment 

– that its recommendations are listened to and acted 

upon 

 Training 

 

 

Managing data 

 Ensuring effective arrangements are in place for the 

safe collection, storage, use and sharing of data, 

including processes to safeguard personal data 

 

 

 Data management framework and procedures 

 Designated data protection officer (DPO) 

 Data protection policies and procedures 

 

The ISMS (Information Security Management 

Structure) Policy Framework contains a set of defined 

Data Management frameworks and procedures and 

guidelines 

There is a designated DPO, as required by the General 

Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) effective from 

May 2018. Additional roles of Caldicott Guardian and 

Information Asset Owner are allocated to Senior 

Officers. 

Data Protection Policy and procedures available on 

line  

 

Data Quality Policy in place 

File Checks are undertaken annually  

Data quality audit is undertaken annually – KPIs 

selected via a risk based approach 

 

 

 Ensuring effective arrangements are in place and 

operating effectively when sharing data with other 

bodies 

 

 Data sharing agreement. 

 Data sharing register. 

 Data processing agreements. 

 

Data Sharing Agreements in use. Data Sharing 

initiatives are created on the Lancashire Information 

Sharing Gateway (ISG) 

info-sharing-system and previous sharing agreements 

drafted prior to implementation of ISG are monitored 

on SharePoint Register (Internal only) Data Processor 

agreements are utilised in conjunction with ISPs and 

Commissioned Services contracts and are held in a 

central repository. 

 

P
age 325

http://info-sharing-system.org.uk/


179 
 
 

Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management. 

Organisational and governance structures need to be in place which can sustain effective performance management arrangements that facilitate the effective and efficient 

delivery of planned services.  Robust systems and arrangements for financial and risk management, and internal control, are essential elements for the achievement of 

intended outcomes. A culture and structure for scrutiny are key parts of accountable decision and policy making, and review. 

 Reviewing and auditing regularly the quality and 

accuracy of data used in decision making and 

performance monitoring 

 

 Data quality procedures and reports 

 Data validation procedures 

 

Information Asset Owners (IAO) are defined at Head 

of Service level within each service Area. Each IAO is 

responsible for the data they manage, including 

assurances relating to quality, validation and security. 

Assurances are given to SIRO on an annual basis 

within the Directors Report. Information Asset 

Register which includes Ownership, Responsibility, 

Data Flow, Security and Privacy Impact Assessment 

are located on a central repository on SharePoint. 

(Internal only)  

Strong public financial management 

 Ensuring financial management supports both 

long term achievement of outcomes and short-

term financial and operational performance 

 Financial management supports the delivery of 

services and transformational change as well as 

securing good stewardship 

 

 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Annual Budget 

Annual Governance Statement – (Part of the Statement 

of Accounts) 

Statement of Accounts   

Annual Audit & Inspection Letter   

Constitution (Part 4) - Financial Procedure Rules  

Constitution (Part 4) - Contract & Procurement 

Procedure Rules 

Asset Management Strategy 

Corporate Risk Register 

Departmental Risk Registers 

Standing Financial Instructions 

 

 Ensuring well-developed financial management is 

integrated at all levels of planning and control, 

including management of financial risks and 

controls 

 Budget monitoring reports Monthly monitoring reports are considered by 

Executive Members at briefing meetings with their 

respective portfolio Directors.  Quarterly reports are 

presented to  Executive Board 

 

 

P
age 326

http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy-.aspx
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Budget.aspx
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Lists/DownloadableDocuments/Statement-2015-16-Final.pdf
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Lists/DownloadableDocuments/Annual%20Audit%20Letter%202015-16%20-%20issued%20October%202015.pdf
http://blackburn.cmis.uk.com/blackburn/Committees/CurrentCommittees/tabid/132/ctl/ViewCMIS_CommitteeDetails/mid/503/id/419/Default.aspx


180 
 
 

Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability. 

Those responsible for making decisions and delivering services must be answerable for them. To be effective stakeholders must be able to understand and respond as the 

Council plans and carried out its activities in a transparent manner. 

Supporting Sub-Principles Where You Should See Governance in Action How the Council Demonstrates Good Governance 

and Issues Identified 

Implementing good practice in transparency  

 Writing and communicating reports for the public 

and other stakeholders in an understandable style 

appropriate to the intended audience and ensuring 

that they are easy to access and interrogate 

 

Suggested Examples 

 Website  

 Annual report 

 

A  Publication Scheme is in place 

 

Blackburn Website   

Corporate Plan  

Annual Statutory Accounts   

Public Health Report  

Blackburn Facts and Figures 

Blackburn Census 

The Shuttle (council on-line newspaper) 

 Striking a balance between providing the right 

amount of information to satisfy transparency 

demands and enhance public scrutiny while not 

being too onerous to provide and for users to 

understand 

 

 Website  

 Annual report 

 

Mandatory training exercise on effective report writing 

for decisions delivered by Democratic Services 

 

 

Implementing good practices in reporting 

 Reporting at least annually on performance, value 

for money and the stewardship of its resources 

 

 Formal annual report which includes key points 

raised by external scrutineers and service users’ 

feedback on service delivery 

 Annual financial statements 

 

Annual Statutory Accounts Annual Audit Letter   

 

Performance reports on KPIs provide progress updates 

via RAG ratings and actual data.  In addition those 

KPIs that are red – below target, are also required to 

produce an exception report outlining key issues and 

actions to improve performance. 

 

 Ensuring members and senior management own the 

results 

 

 Appropriate approvals 

 

Reports are produced for Executive Board on 

performance reporting and policy performance updates 

are also provided via the Leaders Report at Council 

Forum meetings and updates are also provided to the 

annual Policy Council meeting 

 

 Ensuring robust arrangements for assessing the 

extent to which the principles contained in the 

Framework have been applied and publishing the 

results on this assessment including an action plan 

 Annual governance statement 

 

Annual Governance Statement (AGS) reviewed by 

External Audit and considered by Audit & Governance 

Committee prior to sign off and publication.  

P
age 327

http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Publication-scheme.aspx
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Home.aspx
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Corporate-plan.aspx
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Lists/DownloadableDocuments/Statement-2015-16-Final.pdf
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Public-Health-Report-2014.aspx
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Facts-and-figures.aspx
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/Census.aspx
http://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Lists/DownloadableDocuments/Annual%20Audit%20Letter%202015-16%20-%20issued%20October%202015.pdf


181 
 
 

Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability. 

Those responsible for making decisions and delivering services must be answerable for them. To be effective stakeholders must be able to understand and respond as the 

Council plans and carried out its activities in a transparent manner. 

for improvement and evidence to demonstrate good 

governance (annual governance statement) 

 

 Ensuring that the Framework is applied to jointly 

managed or shared service organisations as 

appropriate 

 

 Annual governance statement 

 

Annual Governance Statement Published with annual 

accounts 

 Ensuring the performance information that 

accompanies the financial statements is prepared 

on a consistent and timely basis and the statements 

allow for comparison with other similar 

organisations 

 

 Format follows best practice 

 

Performance data is provided as part of the annual 

statutory accounts and this is summarised at the 

beginning of the annual report 

Assurance and effective accountability 

 Ensuring that recommendations for corrective 

action made by external audit are acted upon 

 

 

 Recommendations have informed positive 

improvement 

 Compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role 

of the Head of Internal Audit (2010). 

 

Significant weaknesses identified in AGS and 

monitored.   

 

Performance data is provided as part of the Annual 

Statutory Accounts  and this is summarised at the 

beginning of the Annual Report 

 

 Ensuring an effective internal audit service with 

direct access to members is in place which provides 

assurance with regard to governance arrangements 

and recommendations are acted upon 

 

 Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards 

 

Peer review of Audit & Assurance confirmed 

compliance with Standards.  Reported to April 2016 

Audit & Governance Committee. 

 

 Welcoming peer challenge, reviews and 

inspections from regulatory bodies and 

implementing recommendations 

 

 Recommendations have informed positive 

improvement 

 

Corporate Peer Group undertaken in 2018/19 

 Gaining assurance on risks associated with 

delivering services through third parties and that 

this is evidenced in the annual governance 

statement 

 

 Annual governance statement 

 

Annual Governance Statement – (Part of the Statement 

of Accounts) 

 

P
age 328



182 
 
 

Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability. 

Those responsible for making decisions and delivering services must be answerable for them. To be effective stakeholders must be able to understand and respond as the 

Council plans and carried out its activities in a transparent manner. 

 Ensuring that when working in partnership, 

arrangements for accountability are clear and that 

the need for wider public accountability has been 

recognised and met 

 Community strategy A Corporate Peer Review undertaken in 2018/19.  

 

BwD Prosperity Plan is the community strategy for 

BwD – and all members of the LSP board are provided 

with the constitution which includes Terms  of 

Reference , governance, code of conduct  

P
age 329



 
 

183 
 

 

Appendix B 

 

Significant Governance Issue CIPFA Criteria Issue / Actions being taken Responsible officer(s) 

Procurement Strategy requires updating 

and corporate Social Value Policy 

requires roll-out across the organisation. 

 

Robust policies and procedures in place 

which emphasise agreed ethical values. 

Ensuring external providers of services 

on behalf of the organisation are required 

to act with integrity and in compliance 

with high ethical standards expected by 

the organisation. 

 

 

Procurement Strategy and Policy last 

revised in 2013. To prepare an updated 

Procurement Strategy and Policy and 

develop a corporate Social Value Policy 

for approval to ensure Council practises 

reflect current regulations and best 

practise. 

Strategic Procurement Managers 

A review of all Financial Procedure 

Rules and relevant Standing Financial 

Instructions is underway to reflect the   

changes arising from the implementation 

of the new Finance system; this requires 

completion in 2018/19 

 

 

Ensure consistency between specification 

stages (such as budgets) and post 

implementation reporting (e.g. financial 

statements) 

 

The review of Financial Procedure Rules 

and relevant Standing Financial 

Instructions requires completion 

 

Head of Financial Services (Resources) 

    

 

  

P
age 330



 

184 
 

 

 7 The Financial Procedure Rules 
  
 

 

A Status of Regulations  
 

A.1 The Regulations  
 

i  These Regulations are part of the Council’s Rules of Procedure. They must be read in 
conjunction with the Constitution as a whole and with any Standing Financial Instructions issued 
by the Director of Finance and Customer Services. They are issued in accordance with section 
151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 
2011.  They assist the Council to ensure that it has proper financial and managerial controls in 
place and that it uses public monies in accordance with the principles of Corporate Governance.  

 

ii.  These Rules must be followed by any person or body authorised to act on behalf of the Council 
including any other partners where the Council's business or accountable interests are affected.  

 

iii.  They must be followed by schools unless the specific requirements of the Scheme for Financing 
Schools Regime dictate otherwise.  

 

iv.   A Chief Officer must not enter into any arrangement, which may restrict the ability of the Council 
to apply these Rules, without the approval of the Executive Board to that arrangement.  

 

A2 Application of the Regulations   
 

i. Each Chief Officer has the responsibility to ensure that these Regulations, together with the 
Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules and Standing Financial Instructions, are observed 
within his/her Department. The Strategic Director Children  and EducationDirector of Children’s 
Services has responsibility for ensuring that they are observed within schools.   

 

ii  Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules, Financial Procedure Rules and Standing Financial 
Instructions must be followed where the Council acts as agent for any other body, unless the 
agency agreement specifies otherwise. This regulation also applies where the Council acts as 
the accountable body for a project.  

 

iii   The Director of Finance and Customer Services is responsible for interpreting these regulations 
and recommending changes to the Council, as and when he/she considers it necessary. The 
financial limits contained in these Rules may be reviewed and, if need be, revised from time to 
time by the Director of Finance and Customer Services, in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Finance & Governance  

 

iv   The Director of Finance and Customer Services may waive the need to comply with any of these 
Financial Procedure Rules . He/she must record his/her reasons for the waiver and must set out 
the scope and duration of the waiver and any substitute regulations.   

 

A3 Chief Finance Officer  
 

i.  The Director of Finance and Customer Services is the statutory officer responsible for the 
administration of all the financial affairs of the Council.   

 

ii.  The functions of the Director of Finance and Customer Services as Chief Finance Officer are 
set out in Article 12 of the Constitution.  

 
 

Page 331



 

185 
 

 

A4 Code of Corporate Governance  
 

The Council has a Code of Corporate Governance which will be monitored periodically by the Audit 
and Governance Committee to ensure that the objectives of the Code are being met. The Committee 
will also ensure that, to comply with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011, both the 
process for producing the Annual Governance Statement and the Statement itself are robust.  

 
B Financial Controls and Procedures  
 
B.1 Internal Controls  
 

i. Directors’ responsibilities  
 

Chief Officers are responsible for the control and accountability of their staff and for the activities of 
their Departments. They have the responsibility to establish effective internal controls within their 
Departments: 
 

(a) to safeguard the Council’s assets  
 

(b) to ensure reliability of records 
  
(c) to promote operational efficiency  
 

(d) to monitor adherence to policies and objectives  
 

(e) to achieve value for money in the services for which they are responsible 
 

(f) to keep within cash limited budgets 
 

(g)  to ensure that transactions are completed in accordance with the requirements of both the 
Council’s constitution and legislation 

 

(h) to ensure that performance targets are met satisfactorily 
 

(i) generally to identify and manage risks so as to contribute to maintaining a sound system of 
corporate governance  

 

(j) to report both annually, in a statement of assurance (which contributes to the annual statutory 
statement on governance), and half yearly, through the Management Accountabilities Framework, 
that:- 

  
- internal controls have been reviewed and are being applied satisfactorily;  
- risks, existing or new, are managed satisfactorily; and 
- any procedural control weaknesses are identified and appropriate action plans are set out.   

 

(k) to undertake reviews of risks when material changes are to be made either to structures or to 
working practices. 

 

ii. Role, Objectives and Scope of Audit and Assurance 

(a) Audit and Assurance is an assurance function that primarily provides an independent and 
objective opinion to the organisation on the degree to which the internal control environment 
supports and promotes the achievements of the organisation’s objectives. It objectively examines, 
evaluates and reports on the adequacy of internal control as a contribution to the proper, 
economic, efficient and effective use of resources. (In carrying out its duties, Audit and Assurance 

Page 332



 

186 
 

 

complies with the Auditing Practices Board’s “Guidance for Internal Auditors and with the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards and CIPFA Local Government Application Note.)   

(b) These Rules recognise the organisational independence of the internal audit function as 
performed by Audit and Assurance. Although structurally part of the Finance and Customer 
Services Department and reporting, initially, to the Director of Finance and Customer Services, 
who has line management responsibilities for the team, the Head of Audit & Assurance has 
direct reporting and access to all members and directors of the Council. 

 
(c) To reinforce the independent nature of its work, Audit and Assurance will have, as far as 

possible, no non audit responsibilities. 
 
(d) Audit and Assurance aims to provide a high quality and effective audit service that is responsive 

to the needs of departments. 
 
(e) Audit and Assurance aims to add value to the Council systems by identifying areas for 

improvement and offering advice and assistance to clients, in order to ensure effective systems 
of internal control. 

 
(f) Audit and Assurance aims to assist the Council discharge its corporate governance 

requirements. 
 
(g) Audit and Assurance aims to operate to the auditing standards defined in the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards and other guidance offered by relevant accounting bodies. 

 
(h) To demonstrate its independence Audit and Assurance will operate within a framework that 

allows: 
 

 unrestricted access to senior management; 

 the Head of Audit and Assurance to report unedited to all members, the Audit and 
Governance Committee, the Chief Executive, all directors, external auditors, and partner 
bodies, in his or her own name; 

 segregation from operational duties. 
  
(i) Every effort will be made to preserve objectivity by ensuring that members of the Audit and 

Assurance team:- 
 

 are free from any conflicts of interest: 

 that as far as possible, do not undertake any non audit duties; 

 where necessary, are not asked to audit areas where they have previously been employed by 
Blackburn with Darwen, for at least 12 months after joining Audit and Assurance; 

 that, as far as possible, auditors directly involved in the development of new systems and 
working procedures will not be required to audit these areas for at least 12 months after their 
involvement ceases. 

 
(j) The scope of Audit and Assurance allows for unrestricted coverage of all of the Council’s activities. 

This includes the entire control environment and unrestricted access to all records and assets 
deemed necessary during the course of an audit. In addition, the Head of Audit & Assurance will 
have unrestricted access to: 

 the Chief Executive; 

 members; 

 individual chief officers; 

 all employees of the Council. 
 

Page 333



 

187 
 

 

The scope also includes access to records and assets held by, and staff of, the Council’s partners. 
 

(k) Resources 
 The staffing structure of Audit and Assurance will comprise a mix of qualified, experienced and 

trainee posts.  
 
 As far as is practicable, and except in emergencies, members of the Audit and Assurance team 

will not carry out the day to day operations of any system of internal financial control. 
 
 Upon request from the Director of Finance & Customer Services, appropriate specialists from 

other departments should be made available to take part in any audit or review requiring specialist 
knowledge. 

 
 Upon request from the Audit and Governance Committee, or from the Director of Finance and 

Customer Services, audit resources may be made available for work which does not contribute 
directly to the assurance role, provided actions are taken to offset any resultant imbalance in the 
annual audit plan. 

 
 The resource requirements of Audit and Assurance are assessed annually as part of the audit 

planning process and will form part of the annual report presented to the Audit and Governance 
Committee. 

 
 The development and training needs of the Audit and Assurance team, and of individual members 

of staff, are continuously monitored and assessed. Training, both internally and externally 
provided, is used to meet both professional and development needs that are identified. 

 
 Specific resources will be devoted to specialist training to develop the computer audit, contract 

audit, insurance, risk management and counter fraud and information governance functions. 
 
iii Responsibility of the Head of Audit and Assurance  
 
It is the responsibility of the Head of Audit and Assurance to review, appraise and report, unedited 
and in his or her own name, to relevant chief officers, to the Audit and Governance Committee and to 
relevant partner bodies upon: 
 
(a) the soundness, adequacy and application of internal controls established by management to 

manage both financial and non financial risks (This includes reviewing, appraising and 
reporting upon arrangements in the Council’s partnerships). 

 
(b) the extent to which the Council’s, or partnership’s, assets are accounted for and 

safeguarded from losses of any kind, including loss through fraud; 
 
(c) the extent of compliance with all relevant procedures, policies, regulations, legislation and 

agreements; 
 
(d) the suitability and reliability of financial and other management data developed within the 

Council or partnership; 
 
(e) value for money processes which are subject to review; 
 
(f) performance management arrangements; 
 

Page 334



 

188 
 

 

(g) the maintenance of an effective system of Corporate Governance, including risk 
management. (This includes promoting good risk management practice, providing advice 
and reporting at the earliest stages of new or changing processes.); 

 
(h) the implementation and effectiveness of anti fraud and corruption arrangements. (This 

includes promoting awareness of anti fraud and corruption within the organisation.); 
 

(i) to undertake the role of “nominated officer” or  “money laundering reporting officer” in 
accordance with the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002. 

 
(j) its opinion on the overall adequacy of the Council’s control environment and of the annual, 

statutory statement on governance. (These opinions will be reported formally each year).  
 
(k) to advise on the internal control implications of new systems and procedures; 
 
(l) to promote good governance and sound systems of internal control within the Council and its 

partner organisations; 
 
(m) to lead in the investigation of fraud, including benefit fraud. Consequently, all incidents of 

fraud or corruption, whether actual or suspected, need to be reported to Audit and 
Assurance.  

 
(n) to take overall responsibility for the implementation of the Council’s Risk Management 

Framework, and arranging and administering all insurance cover. 
 
(o) at least annually, to report to the Audit and Governance Committee on: 
 

 the adequacy of the control environment; 

 progress against the annual audit plan; 

 significant matters from both internal and external audit and other agencies, where 
appropriate; 

 the adequacy, or otherwise of the resources available to Audit and Assurance; 

 any unresolved issues; 

 the results of the performance management and quality assurance programme within 
Audit and Assurance. 

 
(p) to provide, for approval by the Audit and Governance Committee, an annual audit plan 

together with a strategy for achieving the audit plan’s objectives; 
 

(q) to contribute to the delivery of the key objectives of the Council; 
 
(r) to provide timely advice to the Council on the need to review the Audit and Governance 

Committee’s terms of reference; 
 
(s) to provide timely advice to the Audit and Governance Committee on the need to review the 

terms of reference for Audit and Assurance. 
 
(t) to deliver the annual audit plan; 
 
(u) to facilitate the work of the Audit and Governance Committee by: 
 

 attending its meetings and contributing to its agenda; 

 participating in the Committee’s review of its own remit and effectiveness; 

Page 335



 

189 
 

 

 ensuring that the Committee receives, and understands, documents that describe how 
Audit and Assurance will fulfil its objectives (e.g. the audit strategy, annual work 
programmes, and progress reports) 

 reporting the outcomes of audit and assurance work, in sufficient detail to allow the 
Committee to understand what assurance it can take from that work and/or what 
unresolved risks or issues it needs to address; 

 establishing if anything arising from the work of the Committee requires consideration of 
changes to the audit plan, and vice versa; 

 presenting an annual report including an overall opinion report as outlined in paragraph 
(n) above. 

 
To discharge these responsibilities the Head of Audit and Assurance will ensure that: 
 
(a) the resource requirements of Audit and Assurance are assessed annually as part of the 

audit planning process by establishing, and reporting to the Audit and Governance 
Committee the annual audit need, together with the extent to which this need can be met 
with existing resources, details of any imbalance and actions proposed to deal with any 
shortfall in resources. 

 
(b) available resources allow the staffing structure of Audit and Assurance to comprise a mix of 

qualified, experienced and trainee posts.  
 
(c) in carrying out its duties, Audit and Assurance complies with the Auditing Practices Board’s 

“Guidance for Internal Auditors” and with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and 
CIPFA Local Government Application Note. 

 
(d) work in partnership with management to implement and continuously develop the 

effectiveness of the overall control environment; 
 
(e) good relationships are established and maintained with other auditors and review bodies by, 

for example, the sharing of audit plans, joint working, regular communication; 
 
(f) the continuing development of the Audit and Assurance team by designing and 

implementing an appropriate training and professional development plan based on the 
needs of the team and individual needs; 

 
(g) good working relationships are established and maintained with elected members by: 
 

 meeting regularly with Executive Members; 

 where required, providing briefing and training sessions; 

 involving elected members in the audit planning and reporting processes; 

 providing information relating to the work of Audit and Assurance which members can 
access 

 
To discharge these responsibilities in respect of partnership arrangements, the Head of Audit and 
Assurance will: 
 
(a) ensure that the Council’s key partnerships are identified and the risks they present are 

assessed as part of the annual audit planning process; 
 
(b)  put in place arrangements which ensure that Audit and Assurance has: 
 

 unrestricted access to records and assets held by the Council’s partners; 

Page 336



 

190 
 

 

 unrestricted access to staff of the Council’s partners; 

 unrestricted and unedited reporting to senior management of the partnership; 
 

(c) provide advice to partner bodies on processes needed to comply with the requirements of 
Article 10 of this Constitution and of the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance; 

 
(d) where possible, arrange to receive reports from partner organisation’s own auditors which 

demonstrate: 
 

 the adequacy of the control environment; 

 progress against the annual audit plan; 

 compliance with procedures, policies, regulations and legislation. 
 
 
(e) Where this is not possible, the Head of Audit and Assurance will seek to agree alternative 

methods of receiving assurance from the partner organisation. These may include: 
 

 use of Audit and Assurance staff ; 

 identification of alternative methods of obtaining assurance; 

 provision of advice and assistance to partner bodies in setting up new, or amending 
existing, assurance processes 

 
B.2 Access to Information  
 
i) The Director of Finance and Customer Services shall arrange for such examinations and audits 

of the accounting, financial and other transactions of the Council as he/she considers necessary 
or desirable.  

   
ii) The Director of Finance and Customer Services, or his/her authorised representative, shall have 

authority:  
 

(a) to enter any Council premises or land;  
   

(b) to require any Officer or Member of the Council to produce cash, stores or any other 
property of the Council under his/her control;  

   
(c) to require from any Officer or Member access to all records, documents, vouchers and 
correspondence relating in any way to both the financial or other transactions of the Council 
and the development of processes or activities within the Council or its partners ;  

   
(d) to require and receive such information and explanations as are necessary concerning 
any matter under examination.  

 
iii Chief Officers must notify the Director of Finance and Customer Services immediately of any 

circumstances which involve or which seem likely to involve either loss or irregularity or failure 
of controls, whether or not of a financial nature and whether from inside or outside the authority 
. (This includes potential fraud or other irregularities that might result in criminal prosecutions.) 
The Director of Finance and Customer Services shall then take such steps as he/she considers 
necessary by way of investigation and report.  

   
 
 
B.3 Accounting Control  

Page 337



 

191 
 

 

   
i) All accounting systems, procedures and records of the Council shall be in a form approved by 

the Director of Finance and Customer Services.  
   
ii) Directors must obtain agreement from the Director of Finance and Customer Services before 

either introducing new systems or procedures or making changes to existing ones, where such 
changes might affect the Council’s principal accounting systems.  

   
iii) Chief Officers shall consult the Director of Finance and Customer Services about any matter 

which is liable materially to affect the Council’s finances before any commitment, provisional or 
formal, is incurred or before reporting such matters to either the Council or the Executive Board 
or an Executive Member. (Such consultations must meet any rules set out, periodically, by the 
Director of Finance and Customer Services)   

   
iv) So far as is possible:  
   

(a) Officers with responsibility for providing information about monies due to or from the 
Council and for calculating, checking and recording these sums shall not also be 
responsible for either collection or disbursement;  

   
(b) Officers responsible for examining and checking the accounts of cash transactions shall 

not themselves be engaged in any of these transactions.  
   
v) The Director of Finance and Customer Services may periodically issue written Standing 

Financial Instructions dealing with any aspects of the proper administration of the Council’s 
financial or related affairs. Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that these Standing 
Financial Instructions are followed. These Instructions apply equally to School Governing 
Bodies, except where the Regulations relating to the Scheme for Financing Schools Regulations 
relating to Fair Funding specifically state otherwise.   

   
vi) Each Director shall ensure that there is sufficient financial provision within approved budgets to 

cover any liability which is incurred and that each item of income and expenditure is allocated 
to the appropriate and proper head of account.  

 
B.4   Statements of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement  
   
i) The Director of Finance and Customer Services shall submit, in accordance with legal 

requirements, the signed annual Statement of Accounts and the Annual Governance Statement 
on Internal Control (or statement on governance) for approval to the Council or a Committee of 
the Council.  

   
ii) The person presiding at the Council or Committee meeting shall sign the approved accounts.  
 

B.5 Banking Arrangements  
   
i) The Director of Finance and Customer Services shall make all banking arrangements on behalf 

of the Council. He/she may provide any indemnities which are required in connection with those 
arrangements.  

   
ii) All cheques drawn on behalf of the Council shall be signed by signatories nominated by the 

Director of Finance and Customer Services.  
   

 

Page 338



 

192 
 

 

B.6 Treasury Management  
   
i)   The Council has adopted and adheres to the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 

in the Public Services (2011 edition). 
 
ii)  The Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury management: 

- a treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and approach to 
risk management of its treasury management activities 

- suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in which the 
Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will 
manage and control those activities. 

The content of the policy statement and TMPs will follow the recommendations contained in 
sections 6 and 7 of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the Public Services, 
subject only to amendment where necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of the 
Council. Such amendments will not result in the Council materially deviating from the Code’s 
key principles. 

 
iii)  The Council will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and activities, 

including, as a minimum: 

- an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, and 

- a combined mid-year review of the current year and annual report in respect of the 
outcome of the previous year, after its close. 

These reports will be in the form prescribed in the Council’s TMPs. 
 
iv)  The Council delegates responsibility for the regular monitoring of its treasury management 

policies and practices to the Audit and Governance Committee, and for the execution and 
administration of the treasury management decisions to the Director of Finance and Customer 
Services, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s policy statement and TMPs and, if 
he/she is a CIPFA member, CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury 
Management. 

     
v)   The Council nominates the Audit and Governance Committee to be responsible for ensuring 

effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 
 
vi)   This Financial Regulation does not apply to schools under the fair funding regime. 
 

 
B.7 Writing off debts  
 
The Director of Finance and Customer Services shall be authorised to act on the writing off of all 
debts.  
  
i) Following review with the Legal Services Team and the respective Chief Officers, details of all 

debts which are considered to be irrecoverable shall be submitted to the Director of Finance 
and Customer Services each quarter by the Head of Service (Finance).  

   
ii) Following review by the Director of Finance and Customer Services, approval for debts to be 

written off will be given, if applicable, in line with the following authorisation limits; 
 
 
 

Page 339



 

193 
 

 

Value of debtor write-off Approval level 

Up to £5,000 Director of Finance and Customer Services 

£5,001 to £30,000 Director of Finance and Customer Services in 
consultation with the Executive Member (Finance 
and Governance) 

Over £30,001 Executive Board 

 

 
B.8 Legal powers to incur expenditure  
   
i) Chief Officers must ensure that legal powers exist to carry out any activity for which they are 

responsible.  
   
ii) Chief Officers must notify the Director of Finance and Customer Services before incurring any 

expenditure within section 137 of the Local Government Act 1972. The Director of Finance and 
Customer Services shall ensure that such expenditure is kept within the limits prescribed by 
statute and that it is properly accounted for within the Council’s accounts. 

 
iii) Section 137 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972 is a statutory power.  It gives council’s the 

power ‘to incur expenditure for purpose not otherwise authorised.’ It is only used when there is 

no other specific power available; it is a ‘power of last resort’, it must benefit some or all 

inhabitants, not an individual, nor can it be made retrospectively.  S137 was amended in s36 of 

the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.  The amendment stipulates that expenditure and 

benefit must be balanced 

C Revenue Budget  

C.1 Budget Preparation and Council Tax Setting  
   
i) The Director of Finance and Customer Services, shall prepare annually, a medium term 

financial strategy for submission to the Finance Council.  
   
ii) The Finance Council is responsible for approving a medium term financial strategy and 

individual portfolio cash limits and the revenue budget for the following financial year.  
 

iii) Chief Officers shall review the charges made for services under their control both during 
the financial year and as part of the budget preparation process.  Anticipated variations 
in income, as a consequence, shall be taken into account when preparing the revenue 
budget for the following financial year. Changes to pricing or to charging arrangements 
can be introduced only after consultation with, and the agreement of, the Director of 
Finance and Customer Services.  
 

iv)  Approval to increase the level of fees and charges for activities/services provided shall be 
reported as follows; 

< £80,000 By the Chief Officer (in consultation with the relevant portfolio 
Executive Member) 

£80,001 to £250,000  By the Executive Member  

>£250,000  By the Executive Board 

Page 340



 

194 
 

 

v) Each year, the Finance Council shall approve the revenue budget and the level of Council Tax 
to be levied for the following financial year.    

  
   

C.2 Authority to Spend  
   
i) Expenditure may be incurred and charges levied for the purposes of, and in accordance with, 

the policies on which the budget is based up to the level in the approved budget. In this context, 
approved budget includes all approved budget transfers.  

   
ii) The authority to incur any additional expenditure or to secure any new income streams, 

including grants, which involves a variation from the approved budget, is as follows;  
 

< £5,000 By the relevant Chief Officer, (Informal Chief Officer Decision), 
with notification to the Director of Finance and Customer 
Services, and reported to the Executive Board in the next 
Quarterly Corporate Revenue Monitoring Report following the 
decision  

£5,001 - £80,000 By the relevant Chief Officer (Chief Officer Decision Report), in 
consultation with Director of Finance and Customer Services 
and reported to the Executive Board in the next Quarterly 
Corporate Revenue Monitoring Report following the decision 

£80,001 - £250,000 By the relevant Executive Member, (Executive Member 
Decision Report) in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Finance and Governance and the Director of Finance and 
Customer Services and reported to the Executive Board in the 
next Quarterly Corporate Revenue Monitoring Report following 
the decision 

> £250,000   By the Executive Board  
 
 

C.3 Budgetary Control  
   
i) Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that proper financial and budgetary control 

procedures are being carried out in the services for which they are responsible. They will 
exercise that responsibility by:  

   
(a) complying with the Constitution, the Rules of Procedure (in particular the Financial 

Procedure Rules), Standing Financial Instructions and legislation;  
   
(b) implementing appropriate procedures and controls in consultation with the Director of 

Finance and Customer Services;  
   
(c) ensuring that the processing of payments, commitments, transfers, income, etc. is dealt 

with promptly and in accordance with prescribed procedures;  
   
(d) ensuring that each cost centre is the responsibility of a cost centre manager (budget 

holder) who fully understands how to manage and monitor his/her budgets   

 
(e) delivering agreed efficiency savings   
 

Page 341



 

195 
 

 

(f) effecting sound and robust performance management arrangements   
 
(g) embedding sound risk management procedures.  

 
 

C.4 Revenue Budget Monitoring  
   
i) The Director of Finance and Customer Services shall ensure that each Chief Officer has access 

to regular and timely statements of income and expenditure, under each approved budget, 
together with any other relevant information which is available to him/her.  

   
ii) The nominated Chief Officer (for a particular portfolio) shall submit regular reports to the 

appropriate Executive Member on the current financial position of services within the Member’s 
portfolio, including a comparison of the predicted revenue out-turn for the year with the latest 
approved portfolio cash limit.  

   
iii) The level of detail to be contained in the report referred to in C.4.ii above will be specified by 

the Director of Finance and Customer Services   
   
iv) Periodically, throughout the year, the Director of Finance and Customer Services shall submit 

a report to the Executive Member (Finance and Governance) summarising the information 
presented in accordance with C. 4.ii above, including a projection of the Council’s overall 
financial position.  

   
v) The Executive Board will regularly review the Council’s overall financial position, based on 

reports submitted periodically by the Director of Finance and Customer Services in accordance 
with C. 4.iv above; these are referred to as the quarterly Corporate Revenue Monitoring 
Reports.  

   

C.5 Budget Flexibility – Budget Transfers (Virement)  
   
i) Chief Officers may, in consultation with their Executive Members and in respect of cost centres 

under their control, transfer budgets between, and within, cost centres within the same service 
portfolio provided that:  

   
(a) depreciation charges, central and departmental support charges, contributions to other funds 

of the Council, levies payable to other public bodies and budgets which affect other services 
of the Council are not the subject of the transfer;  

   
   
(b) for all virements in respect of changes in staffing establishment, any existing and future 

increases in costs must be accommodated within the existing and/or future cash limit of the 
cost centre or portfolio;  

   

(c) where the gross value of a budget virement of either income or expenditure, between cost 
centres within the same portfolio, exceeds £80,000, this should be reported by the 
relevant Chief Officer, in consultation with the Executive Member for the relevant portfolio  
 

(d) where the proposed transfer of budgets amounts to a Key Decision (Part 5, section 4), 
the change is subject to the approval of the Executive Board.  

   
ii) All transfers of budgets between service portfolios are subject to approval by the Executive Board, 

as part of the Quarterly Corporate Revenue Monitoring Report. 

Page 342



 

196 
 

 

   
iii) Proper records of all budget transfers must be maintained by budget managers, and the Director 

of Finance and Customer Services must be notified regularly in writing of all budget transfers (and 
the reasons for them) so that the corporate accounting system can be updated.  

  

C.6 Budget Flexibility - Budget Tolerance Within and Between Financial Years  
   
i) In-Year Budget Increases  
   

(a) Requests for In-Year Budget increases are subject to preparation of a detailed and fully costed 
business case by the respective Chief Officer, in consultation with the Executive Member for 
the portfolio; the format of the business case will be specified by the Director of Finance and 
Customer Service 

(b) All business cases must be reviewed by the Director of Finance and Customer Services.  
(c) In-Year budget increases must be subject to review and approval as follows 

< £5,000 By the relevant Chief Officer and reported to the Executive Board in the 
next Quarterly Corporate Revenue Monitoring Report following the 
decision  

£5,001 - £80,000 By the relevant Chief Officer, in consultation with Director of Finance 
and Customer Services and reported to the Executive Board in the next 
Quarterly Corporate Revenue Monitoring Report following the decision 

£80,001 - £250,000 By the relevant Executive Member, in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Finance and Governance and the Director of Finance and 
Customer Services, and reported to the Executive Board in the next 
Quarterly Corporate Revenue Monitoring Report following the decision 

> £250,000 By the Executive Board 

 
  

   
ii) Unapproved or unplanned over-spending at year-end  
   

(a) When an unapproved or unplanned year-end over-spend, or a potential year-end overspend, 
is identified within a cost centre/area, the Chief Officer of the relevant department/portfolio, in 
conjunction with the budget holder, must either:-  

 seek to contain the overspend within their area/department budget responsibility 
by taking corrective action, or  

 transfer budgetary provision from another budget head within the portfolio (see 
C.5.i to iii above).  

   
iv)  Windfalls  
   

(a) A windfall gain will occur when either increased income is received or reduced expenditure is 
incurred as a result of a change in circumstances which is deemed to be outside the control 
of the service. The Director of Finance and Customer Services will determine whether 
increased income or reduced expenditure constitutes a windfall.   

   
(b) The decision to retain the windfall gain within the portfolio or to transfer the windfall to central 

reserves for use within the wider Council will be made by the Director of Finance and Customer 

Page 343



 

197 
 

 

Services, in consultation with the Executive Member (Finance and Governance), in light of 
service needs and organisational pressures.   

    
C.7 Designated Trading Activities  
   
i) If any Chief Officer considers that an existing or a proposed activity within his/her Department 

should be designated a trading activity and therefore should operate as a quasi-commercial 
undertaking, he/she must submit a report, jointly prepared with the Director of Finance and 
Customer Services, setting out the business case, assessment of risks etc., to the Executive 
Board for approval.   

  
ii) If the Executive Board approves such a proposal, the responsible Chief Officer must ensure that 

the conduct of the undertaking’s activities complies with both the procedures, defined, at the time, 
by the Director of Finance and Customer Services, and the Council’s Constitution.   

  

D Capital Programme  
   
D.1 Preparation of the Programme  
   
i) The Finance Council is responsible for approval of the annual Capital Programme.  
   
ii) The Director of Finance and Customer Services, in consultation with the Executive Member 

(Finance and Governance), may define the process to be followed and the criteria to be applied 
in the preparation of the Capital Programme.      

  
 

 D.2 Authority to Spend  
   
i) The programme of capital expenditure, as approved by Finance Council, shall constitute authority 

for incurring expenditure (including the revenue consequences) up to the limits agreed in that 
programme.   

   
ii) Requests to incur capital expenditure on new projects/schemes, other than those included in the 

capital programme approved by Finance Council, are subject to preparation of a detailed and fully 
costed business case which must be reviewed and approved as follows;  

  

< £25,000 By the relevant Chief Officer, in consultation with Director of 
Finance and Customer Services, and reported to the Executive 
Board in the next Quarterly Corporate Capital Monitoring 
Report following the decision 

£25,001 - £80,000 By the relevant Chief Officer, in consultation with Executive 
Member for Finance and Governance and the Director of 
Finance and Customer Services, and reported to the Executive 
Board in the next Quarterly Corporate Capital Monitoring Report 
following the decision 

£80,001 - £250,000 By the relevant Executive Member, in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Finance and Governance and the 
Director of Finance and Customer Services, and reported to the 
Executive Board in the next Quarterly Corporate Capital 
Monitoring Report following the decision 

Page 344



 

198 
 

 

> £250,000   By the Executive Board 
   
 The report must contain details of both the capital costs of the project/scheme and the associated 

revenue costs, including any operational/running costs arising, and the associated revenue costs 
of financing the project/scheme (i.e. interest and Minimum Revenue Provision costs) 

 
iii)  If the proposed capital expenditure is predicated on a transfer of funds from either the Corporate 

IT Capital Reserve or the Corporate Property and Accommodation Reserve, as approved as part 
of the capital programme by Finance Council, approval to add the scheme to the programme is 
required as follows; 

 
< £25,000 By the relevant Chief Officer, in consultation with Director of 

Finance and Customer Services, and reported to the Executive 
Board in the next Quarterly Corporate Capital Monitoring Report 
following the decision 

£25,001 - £80,000 By the relevant Chief Officer, in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Digital and Customer Services (in the case of the 
Corporate IT Capital Reserve) or the Executive Member for 
Finance and Governance (in the case of the Corporate Property 
and Accommodation Reserve), and reported to the Executive 
Board in the next Quarterly Corporate Capital Monitoring Report 
following the decision 

£80,001 - £250,000 By the relevant Executive Member, in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Digital and Customer Services (in the 
case of the Corporate IT Capital Reserve) or the Executive 
Member for Finance and Governance (in the case of the 
Corporate Property and Accommodation Reserve) and reported 
to the Executive Board in the next Quarterly Corporate Capital 
Monitoring Report following the decision 

> £250,000   By the Executive Board 
 
 
iv)  If capital expenditure is to be funded through leasing; 

a) the relevant Chief Officer must discuss this potential funding option, prior to 
purchasing or leasing the asset, with the Director of Finance and Customer 
Services and 

b) the relevant Chief Officer must provide the Director of Finance and Customer 
Services with such information as he/she requires to draw down the leasing 
payments.   

   
v) Chief Officers must report forecast overspends and underspends on approved projects/schemes 

within the capital programme, or slippage in project delivery dates, to the Director of Finance and 
Customer Services as soon as these are identified. In the case of such variations, the following 
shall apply;  

   
< £25,000 Approval by the Chief Officer, (Informal Chief Officer Decision) 

requiring notification by the relevant Chief Officer to the Director of 

Finance and Customer Services, and reported to the Executive 
Board in the next Quarterly Corporate Capital Monitoring Report 
following the decision 

Page 345



 

199 
 

 

£25,001 - £80,000 Approval by the Chief Officer, (published Chief Officer Decision) in 

consultation with the Director of Finance and Customer Services and 

reported to the Executive Board in the next Quarterly 

Corporate Capital Monitoring Report following the decision 

 

£80,001 - £250,000 Approval by the Executive Member, (published Executive Member 

Decision), in consultation with the Executive Member for Finance and 

Resources and the Director of Finance and Customer Services and 
reported to the Executive Board in the next Quarterly Corporate 
Capital Monitoring Report following the decision 

> £250,000   By the Executive Board 
 
 
   
 
   

D.3 Budgetary Control  
   
i) Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that proper financial and budgetary control procedures 

are carried out in respect of every capital scheme for which they are responsible. They will 
exercise that responsibility by:  

   

(a) complying with Standing Orders, Financial Procedure Rules, Standing Financial 
Instructions and legislation; 

(b) Complying with Contracting and Procurement Procedure Rules and Legislation  
   

(c) implementing appropriate procedures and controls in consultation with the Director of Finance 
and Customer Services;  

   
(d) ensuring that the processing of payments, transfers, income, etc., are dealt with promptly and 

in accordance with prescribed procedures; 
   

(e) ensuring that each approved capital scheme is the responsibility of a Lead Officer who is fully 
able to manage major projects, whether capital or not.  

 

 D.4 Capital Monitoring  
   
  i) A nominated scheme Lead Officer (or Senior Responsible Officer) will be responsible; 
 

a. for authorising expenditure,  

b. for monitoring and controlling the progress and overall cost of the project against the 
approved capital project/scheme budget,  

c. for approving remedial action and  

d. for reporting the financial position of the scheme/project to the Director of Finance and 
Customer Services.  

 
   

Page 346



 

200 
 

 

ii) Periodically, throughout the financial year, the relevant Chief Officer shall submit a report, which 
sets out the predicted expenditure profile and total cost of each capital scheme within his/her 
control, to the relevant Executive Member.  

   

iii) Periodically, throughout the financial year, the Director of Finance and Customer Services shall 
submit to the Executive Member (Finance and Governance) a summary of all monitoring reports, 
prepared under D.4.ii above, together with details of the maximum authority to spend and the total 
finance available, to enable the him/her to review the overall stewardship of the Capital 
Programme.  

   

iv) The Executive Board will regularly review actual financial performance against the budget for the 
Capital Programme, based on the reports submitted by the Director of Finance and Customer 
Services, these are referred to as the Quarterly Corporate Capital Monitoring Reports.  

    

 
E Expenditure Requirements  
   
E.1 Payment of Accounts  
   
i) All orders for goods and services must be made in accordance with Standing Financial Instructions 

and, where appropriate, Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules, 
   

ii) Directors may nominate officers to order goods or services and to certify invoices for payment, 
determining both the scope and level of delegated authority. Chief Officers must inform the 
Director of Finance and Customer Services. Such lists must be maintained up to date. Chief 
Officers shall ensure that staff to whom such responsibilities have been delegated both fully 
understand and properly carry out their roles in these processes.  

   

iii) The Director of Finance and Customer Services shall pay all accounts where he/she is satisfied 
that they represent legal payments and are in order.  

   

E.2 Imprest Accounts  
   

i) The Director of Finance and Customer Services shall make such imprest advances as he/she 
considers appropriate to officers of the Council.  

   

ii) Imprest accounts shall be managed in accordance with Standing Financial Instructions.  
 
 
  

E.3 Payment of Employees  
   
i) All payments to employees or former employees of the Council shall be managed in accordance 

with Standing Financial Instructions. 
ii) Honoraria paid to staff must be limited to six months as a maximum for any period. An honorarium 

can be paid for a longer period but the Director must review the position, at least, every six months. 
iii) Subject to the strategic approval of the Executive Board, the Director of HR, Governance & 

EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance, may set out limits on gradings, variations to 
establishments, etc. as he/she considers best suit the Council’s objectives.   

  

F Income  
 
F.1 Income Arrangements  
 
i) The Director of Finance and Customer Services may:  

Page 347



 

201 
 

 

   
(a) agree arrangements for the safe and efficient collection of monies due to the Council  
   
(b) approve the procedures, systems and documentation that must be used so that the correct 

sums due are collected from the right person at the right time.    
   
ii) All official receipt books, tickets and other vouchers shall be ordered and controlled in compliance 

with the Director of Finance and Customer Services instructions.  
   

F.2 Grants  
   
i) Each Chief Officer shall liaise with the Director Finance & Customer Services before making any 

submission for grant approvals to Government Departments or other bodies, to ensure that 
budgetary implications and the objectives of the medium term financial strategy are met.)     

   
ii) The Director of Finance and Customer Services is responsible for signing and submitting all claims 

for grants as appropriate.  
  
iii) The Director of Finance and Customer Services may set out additional requirements in Standing 

Financial Instructions, as he/she deems necessary.  
 

F.3 Other initiatives with outside organisations:  
 
i) Directors proposing such initiatives as partnering, partnership agreements, PFI projects and work 

for third parties, including other local authorities, must consult both the Director of HR, Governance 
& EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance and the Director of Finance and Customer 
Services and then they may only proceed with the Executive Board’s approval.    

 
ii) Separate legal entities may be established only after the approval of the Executive Board, 

following its consideration of a joint report from the relevant Chief Officer, the Director of HR, 
Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance and the Director of Finance and 
Customer Services.  

 
 

G Management of Assets  
   

G.1 Asset Registers  
   
i) The Manager of the Property Consultancy of the Council’s strategic partner, Capita, shall maintain 

a terrier of all properties owned by the Council. The listing shall include a reference to the holding 
Department, the purpose for which it is held, the nature of the Council’s interest, rents payable 
and particulars of tenancies granted.  

   
ii) The Director of HR, Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance shall have 

custody of all title deeds.  
   
iii) The Director of Finance and Customer Services is the asset registrar and he/she must be informed 

by the Manager of the Property Consultancy whenever changes to the terrier are made.   
  
 

G.2 Inventories  
   
i) Each Chief Officer shall maintain an inventory in accordance with Standing Financial Instructions.  

Page 348



 

202 
 

 

   
ii) Similarly, each Chief Officer who holds property on behalf of clients must maintain inventories in 

accordance with Standing Financial Instructions.   
  

 
G.3 Private Funds  
 
 i) Chief Officer must ensure that, when an employee has to control private monies (e.g. those 

belonging to a client of the Council), he/she must control them securely, separately from Council 
monies and in accordance with any instructions issued by the Director of Finance and Customer 
Services.  

   
ii) A private fund may be established only with the Director of Finance and Customer Services’s 

approval.  
   
iii) Private funds must be independently audited annually by auditors approved by the Director of 

Finance and Customer Services.  
   
iv) The Director of Finance and Customer Services shall have access to all records relating to private 

funds. He/she must be informed immediately of any discrepancies.  
 

G.4 Disposal of Assets  
   
i) In this regulation, the word “land” includes buildings and any interest in land.  
   
ii) All disposals of land or of any interest in land shall be made in accordance with the Council’s 

disposals policy. Any exceptions to this rule must be authorised by the Executive Board.   
   
iii) The disposals policy shall be reviewed, at least, every three years by the Head of Property and 

Development with the strategic client to ensure that it remains fully effective in meeting the 
Council's needs. The outcome of this review shall be agreed with the Executive Board.  

   
iv) The Head of Property and Development shall advise the Council in respect of all such disposals 

and may enter negotiations on the Council’s behalf without binding the Council to accept the 
outcome of any negotiations.  

   
v) The Director of HR, Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance may agree 

to any disposal up to a value of £150,000 or £100,000 where the disposal is by way of lease.  
He/she may do so only where the disposal has been recommended by the Head of Property and 
Development.   

   
vi) Where the disposal value is below a de-minimis limit the Director of HR, Governance & 

EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance, after consulting the Director of Finance and 
Customer Services, may set out a framework for such transactions.  The Director of Finance and 
Customer Services will determine periodically the de-minimis limit.   

   
vii) The Executive Member for Finance & Governance may agree to any disposal of land (above the 

limits in v. above) where that decision is not considered to be a key decision.   
   
viii) All other disposals of land are the responsibility of the Executive Board  
   
ix) Disposals of other assets, with an estimated value on disposal up to £30,000, shall be the 

responsibility of the appropriate Chief Officer. Disposals, with an estimated value up to £250,000, 

Page 349



 

203 
 

 

shall be made only after consultation with the relevant Executive Member and the Director of 
Finance and Customer Services.   

   
x) Disposal of other assets, with an estimated value on disposal above £250,000, shall be the 

responsibility of the Executive Board.  
   

G.5 Purchase of land and buildings  
   
i) The Executive Board may agree a policy governing the acquisition of land and buildings which 

will be incorporated in the disposals policy mentioned above.  
   
ii) The Head of Property and Development shall advise the Council in respect of all land purchases 

(including lease and other types of acquisition) and may enter negotiations on the Council’s behalf 
without binding the Council to accept the outcome of any negotiations.  

   
iii) The Director of HR, Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance may agree 

to purchases of land up to a value of £150,000 where the Head of Property and Development has 
confirmed that the price represents the market value of the land and is within Council policy.  

 
iv) The Executive Member for  Finance & Governance may agree to the purchase of any land above 

the limits set out in iii above where that purchase is not considered to be a key decision. This 
power may only be exercised where the Manager of the Property Consultancy has confirmed that 
the price represents the market value of the land.  

   
v) All other purchases of land must be authorised by the Executive Board. 
 
vi) The Director of Finance and Customer Services may determine the ceiling limit below which such 

transactions need not be treated as key decisions. He/she must obtain the Executive Board’s 
approval to increase the ceiling limit above £500,000. He/she must record the justification for 
changes to ceiling limits.      

   

G.6 Stores  
   
i) Each Chief Officer shall be responsible for the safe custody of stores and the maintenance of 

proper records in accordance with the Director of Finance and Customer Services’ instructions.  
   
ii) Stocks shall not be held in excess of normal requirements.  Decisions by a Chief Officer to hold 

excess stock must be based upon an assessment of the risk and benefits.  
   
iii Each Chief Officer shall ensure that:  
 
• Stocks are checked at least annually   
• Significant changes are reported to the Director of Finance and Customer Services    
• Periodical inspections are carried out by an independent person   
• A year-end certificate of the value of stocks held is submitted to the Director of Finance and 

Customer Services each year within 5 working days of the end of the financial year   
• Surplus or obsolete stocks are disposed of in the most economically advantageous manner, as set 

out in paragraph 15 of the Council’s Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules, (the book value of 
such disposals must be reported to the Director of Finance and Customer Services).  

   
iv) A Chief Officer may write off stores with a value of up to £15,000 (For Environment Dept., the 

value is £50,000.) in any year.  For larger values, he/she must obtain the approval of the relevant 

Page 350



 

204 
 

 

Executive Member.  All disposals must be notified to the Director of Finance and Customer 
Services.   

 
v) This rule (and paragraph 15 of the Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules) applies equally 

to the disposal both of items that are included on inventories but are now no longer needed and 
of other goods that are surplus to requirements.    

  

G.7 Security  
 
Chief Officer shall be responsible for:  
 
- the safekeeping of all assets under their control 
  
- the security and the confidentiality of information held within their Departments   
 
- ensuring the safekeeping of documents, files, records etc. in their control.  
 

 
G.8 Intellectual Property 
 
i) Chief Officer shall ensure that the Council’s intellectual property rights are identified, where 

necessary, and are exercised in a manner which protects the Council’s reputation. 
 
ii) Chief Officer shall inform the Director of HR, Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & 

Governance where such rights are identified. Where ownership of intellectual property is identified 
in a contract, they may only proceed with it after the Director of HR, Governance & 
EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance has agreed the terms. 

 
iii) The Director of HR, Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance shall 

maintain an appropriate register and periodically assess Department’s controls. 
 

H Insurance 
 
i) The Director of Finance and Customer Services shall arrange and administer all insurance cover, 

subject to the approval of the Executive Board. 
 
ii) Procedures for self-insurance must be approved by the Director of Finance and Customer 

Services. He/she may give that approval where, in his/her opinion and after consulting with the 
relevant Chief Officer and Executive Member (Resources), self-insurance is deemed to be the 
most economically advantageous option. 

 
iii) Directors must notify the Director of Finance and Customer Services, as soon as possible, of all 

risks, properties or vehicles which need to be insured. They must also notify the Director of 
Finance and Customer Services promptly of any alterations affecting existing cover. All 
notifications under this paragraph should indicate the amount of cover needed. 

 
iv) In handling claims from third parties or from employees, Chief Officer must ensure that the 

mandatory requirements relating to response times are met.  
 
v.) Chief Officers must ensure risk management is promoted within their Departments and, during 

the year, must ensure that the identified risks and their values remain valid.  
 

Page 351



 

205 
 

 

vi) Chief Officers must promptly notify the Director of HR, Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, 
Legal & Governance and the Director of Finance and Customer Services of any matter likely to 
result in a claim against the Council. 

 
vii) Uninsured claims against the Council, where appropriate, may be settled by the individual Chief 

Officers up to £500, in each case. These settlements must be in accordance with guidelines issued 
by the Director of Finance and Customer Services in consultation with The Director of HR, 
Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance. Uninsured claims above this 
amount, up to a limit of £1,500 in each case, shall be settled, where appropriate, by the Director 
of Finance and Customer Services, after consultation with the relevant Chief Officer and the 
Director of HR, Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 352



 

206 
 

 

Section 8 Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules 
 

 
1 Introduction 
 

1.1 In these rules, Procurement Lead means the Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement (for 
Resources and Place based portfolios) or the Head of Service – Strategic Commissioning (for 
People based portfolios), or such Officers as they may nominate to deputise for them. 

1.2 Member and Officer delegated powers are subject to these rules.  Non-compliance may result 
in disciplinary action. If in any doubt about whether the Rules apply, every Member or Officer 
must always check with the Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement Service.  

2. These rules: 

i. do not apply to internal purchases or service provision; they only relate to purchases 
made from outside the Council.   

ii. must be followed by the Strategic Partnership when procuring goods, services or works 
on behalf of the Council 

iii. apply to all contracts that result in the Council giving something (usually money) in 
exchange for goods, services or works. 

iv. apply to the disposal of surplus goods or equipment and to concession contracts. 

v. apply to the appointment of consultants 

vi. does not cover grants which the Council may receive or make, unless the grant 

arrangements amount to a contract for services  

vii. do not normally apply to the sale and purchase of property but may apply in relation to 
development agreements.   

2.2 The most important principles are transparency, openness and fair competition. Whenever 
buying goods, services or works for the Council, Officers must always:  

i) comply with applicable EU Procurement legislation 

ii) act to promote competition; and 

iii) (when spend is over EU thresholds) consider how the procurement of the goods, 
services or works might improve the economic, social and environmental well-being 
of the borough.  
 

2.3 The Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement Service is responsible for keeping the Rules 
under review and monitoring compliance.  

2 Initial Considerations 

2.1 All necessary approvals under the Constitution must have been already obtained for incurring 
the expenditure and undertaking the competitive process.   

Page 353



 

207 
 

 

2.2 The “value” of a contract is the estimated total monetary value over the full duration of the 
contract, including any extension options (i.e. it is not the annual value of the contract). 
Where the duration of a contract is indeterminate, this should be the estimated value of the 
contract over a period of four years.  Contracts must not be artificially split to reduce the value 
to avoid the Rules.  

Authority to Procure 

2.3 Directors should ensure that procurement is undertaken by the Council’s procurement 
professionals or, where departments or functions have no specialist capability, by authorised 
persons who can demonstrate skills and knowledge appropriate to the task and have 
undertaken any mandatory training put in place by the Service Lead – Contracts and 
Procurement Service. 

2.4 Before starting a procurement process, the needs of the service must be identified and options 
fully assessed. If a suitable Corporate Contract is available it must be used unless agreed 
otherwise with the Procurement Lead. For procurements with a value less than £80,000, Officers 
should do this in accordance with any guidance issued by the Contracts and Procurement Team. 
For contracts over £80k in value, a procurement strategy must be approved by the Procurement 
Lead before an Officer starts the proposed procurement process. 

2.5 For contracts over £80,000 or those which involve the transfer of Council employee(s) to a 
contractor, Officers must: 

i) once tenders have been evaluated, seek a decision to award the contract from the relevant 
Chief Officer, or if over £250,000 from the Chief Officer or the Executive Member, (if the 
Executive Member has previously requested to make the decision). 

 
3 Procurement Process 

3.1 The Council’s primary tool for procuring contracts is the Chest e-tendering system. Contracts 
which are to be advertised with a contract value over £25,000 must also be advertised on the 
Government’s Contracts Finder website. Use of any system other than the Chest must be 
approved by the Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement Service. 

 

Advertising 

3.2 Except where 3.4 (i) below applies, contracts over £80,000, including those over EU thresholds, 
must be advertised via the Chest and, the Government’s Contracts Finder website for at least 
10 days, inviting expressions of interests for the contract and stating the last date when the 
expressions of interest or tenders must be submitted to the Council. 

3.3 When the goods, services or works are to be tendered in collaboration with one or more other 
public body(ies), separate advertisement is not necessary provided an advertisement is placed 
by the collaborating group.  

 
Full Tender Procedures (over £80,000 but below EU thresholds) 

 

Route to Market 

Page 354



 

208 
 

 

3.4 Where tenders are to be invited for a high value contract (but not over EU procurement 
thresholds) the procedure to be followed must be determined prior to advertising and must be 
one of the following: 

 
i) Quotation process via the Chest, as per section 3.6 to 3.7 below, if the contract value is 

below £100,000 in value and agreed by the Procurement Lead 
ii) Open Procedure - all interested contractors submit a tender in response to an advertisement; 
iii) Restricted Procedure - expressions of interest from interested contractors in response to an 

advertisement, followed by a pre-qualification exercise to assess contractors capabilities to 
meet the requirements of the contract, the short listed suppliers are then invited to tender; 

iv) Framework arrangement – where a framework agreement exists in respect of the goods or 
services to be procured, tenders shall be invited using the Framework arrangement from 
capable contractors; 

v) Such other procedures as approved by the Procurement Lead 
 
3.5 A pre-qualification questionnaire must not be used for any contract tendered with a value below 

EU Thresholds. 
 

Intermediate-value transactions (£5,000 to £80,000) 

3.6 For transactions valued over £5,000 but at or below £80,000, at least three quotations must 
be invited through the Chest (unless otherwise agreed by the Procurement Lead) before a 
purchase order or contract is issued. If capable suppliers within the borough are known they 
must be invited to quote. Alternatively, contracts may be advertised on the Chest and procured 
through an Open Procedure. 

 
3.7 If only one quotation is received, an Officer must seek further quotations or obtain an 

exemption from the Rules in accordance with section 13.  Receipt of two comparable quotations 
will be sufficient in these circumstances. 

 
Low-value transactions (less than £5,000) 

3.8 For transactions valued at or below £5,000 value for money must be demonstrated and at least 
one written quotation (can be via email) must be obtained, from a supplier before a formal 
purchase order is issued specifying the supplies, services or works and setting out prices and 
terms of payment unless a framework agreement already exists. The Purchase Order must 
contain a standard form of terms and conditions of contract between the Council and the 
supplier.  

 
Framework agreements   

3.9 Officers must investigate whether frameworks are available when they begin a procurement 
and they must ascertain if they are relevant, as such agreements can generate better value for 
money for the Council (i.e. existing frameworks (either procured by the Council or another 
organisation such as another authority or a central purchasing organisation such as the YPO). 
Officers must also check that the Council is authorised to use/access the framework agreement. 
Officers must consult the Procurement Lead –before using an existing framework agreement.  

 
3.10 If a framework is not already in place (or if one does not exist with partners which can be used) 

then Officers must consider if it would be better value to set up a framework, especially where 
the Council will be procuring the same or similar goods or services again in the future.  

 
3.11 For any procurement (call-off) where the terms laid down in the framework agreement are 

sufficiently precise to cover the particular requirement, the call-off can be awarded without re-
opening competition. 

Page 355



 

209 
 

 

3.12 For any procurement (call-off) where the terms laid down in the framework agreement are not 
precise or complete enough for the particular call-off, a further competition should be held with 
all those suppliers within the framework capable of meeting the particular need.  

 
3.13 Select lists and preferred suppliers must not be used without the prior approval of the Service 

Lead – Contracts and Procurement Service. 

4 The EU Directives 

 
 All procurement projects valued above EU Thresholds should be the responsibility of a Lead 

Officer who is experienced in managing major projects and has relevant procurement 
experience.  

 
Additional requirements for transactions valued over EU thresholds 
4.1 Contract values above which procedures governed by the EU Directives apply are currently 

(from 1st January 2018- please note that these thresholds are amended bi-annually): 

 
For supplies and services (including goods and consultancy 

services) except for services subject to Light Touch Regime:  

£181,302 

For works:  £4,551,413 

For Light Touch Regime Services  £615,278 

 

4.2 If a contract is expected to have a value over the threshold, Officers must consider procurement 
under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and seek advice from the Service Lead – Contracts 
and Procurement Service. Officers must follow any applicable requirements of the regulations 
(including, but not limited to, the publishing of notices and following mandatory timescales). 

4.3 Use of a PIN (pre information or periodic indicative notice) should be considered where it would 
help to stimulate markets or where reduced tendering timescales would be desirable. 

4.4 Contracts must be tendered under one of the processes set out in the Procurement Regulations 
above and, unless Officers are using the Restricted or Open procedure, the process must be 
approved by the Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement Service.  

4.5 For each contract, except where indicated below, a Contract Notice in the specified form must 
be published electronically via the Chest in the Supplement to the Official Journal of the 
European Union (OJEU). Advertisements published additional to this:  

 must not appear in any form before a Contract Notice is transmitted to OJEU; and  

 must not contain any information additional to that contained in the Contract Notice in 
OJEU.  

5  Receiving and opening tenders 

5.1 Every response to an invitation to tender for a transaction valued over £80,000 must be delivered 
via the Chest. If a waiver is obtained not to use the Chest, then appropriate safeguards to ensure 
the fairness, transparency and integrity of the tender process, as the Service Lead – Contracts 
and Procurement Service thinks reasonable, must be followed and evidenced.  

Page 356



 

210 
 

 

6 Evaluating tenders  

6.1 Where written quotations are invited for contracts then the bidder submitting the lowest priced 
compliant bid must be awarded any resulting contract, unless alternative pre-determined criteria 
are detailed in the document used to invite bids, in which case those criteria must always be 
used. 

6.2 For contracts advertised via the Chest and for all contracts governed by EU Directives, 
evaluation should be based on the identification of the Most Economically Advantageous Tender 
(“MEAT”) unless the Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement Service agrees to assessment 
based on lowest price. 

6.3 A copy of the evaluation criteria and weightings to be used must be approved by the 
Procurement Lead before tenders are invited. 

6.4 Evaluation involves scoring quotes or tenders objectively by a panel (for tenders, the panel must 
consist of at least three or more officers and/or independent experts) using criteria which must: 

i)   be pre-determined and weighted, as detailed in the invitation to tender documentation;  

ii)   be strictly observed at all times throughout the tender process;  

iii)  reflect the principles of Best Value;  

iv)  include price; 

v)  consider whole-life costing, particularly in the case of capital equipment where the full 
cost of maintenance, decommissioning and disposal should be taken into account;  

vi)  be capable of objective assessment;  

vii) avoid discrimination or perceived discrimination on the basis of nationality, or other cause 
contrary to any of the Council’s policies; and 

 viii) include, where appropriate, criteria that assess the impact on the economic, social and 
environmental well-being of the borough in accordance with any Social Value Policy 
which may be adopted by the Council 

6.5 Any resulting contract must be awarded to the tenderer which submits the most economically 
advantageous tender, i.e. the tender that achieves the highest score in the objective 
assessment unless otherwise agreed with the Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement. 

7 Awarding contracts and Audit Trails  

7.1 The results of the tender evaluation process must be recorded and uploaded to the Chest.  

7.2 A contract must only be awarded and signed by an Officer who is authorised to do so on the 
applicable Department’s Scheme of Delegation, and the Officer must ensure that the 
appropriate Budget Holder has the funds in place to sustain the contract prior to award.  

7.3 Officers should ensure that proper records, including records of any savings, are placed on the 
Chest for all procurement activity conducted on the Chest, and retained in hard copy for all other 
procurement activity. 

Page 357



 

211 
 

 

7.4 Each Director must maintain a register of all contracts in their department that are not on the 
Chest and have a record of where copies of all contracts are kept. 

7.5 Purchase Orders relating to any contract awarded, must be via the Council’s Civica Financials 
system, unless otherwise agreed by the Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement. 

8 Standstill Period  

8.1 For all contracts tendered a ‘standstill period’ must be observed between the decision to award 
and the final contract signing. For tenders subject to the Procurement Regulations, this must not 
be less than ten calendar days, for other tenders it must be for a proportionate period which 
must be approved by the Procurement Lead, if less than ten days. Once the decision to award 
a contract is made, each tenderer must be notified in writing on the outcome of the tender 
process. This notification must include: 

i) details of the contract award criteria;  

ii) the reasons for the decision, including the characteristics and relative advantages of the 
successful tender, 

iii) the score the tenderer obtained against those award criteria;  

iv) the score the winning tenderer obtained;   

iv) the name of the winning tenderer; and 

v) details of when the standstill period will end.  

8.2 Where a tenderer requests a debrief within the standstill period this must be given.  Even if a 
tenderer asks for a debrief outside of the standstill period, the Council is still obliged to provide 
this. If any complaint or objection to the contract award is raised, then the award process must 
cease and advice obtained from the Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement Service and 
must not recommence without the permission of the Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement 
Service. 

9 Contract Award Notice  

All contracts over EU thresholds (including Part B or light touch regime contracts) must be announced 
by means of a Contract Award Notice in the OJEU, published no later than 48 calendar days after the 
date of award through the Chest.  

10 Conditions of contract  

10.1 All transactions must use a form of contract approved by the Service Lead – Contracts and 
Procurement; usually this will be the Council’s Standard Terms and Conditions. 

10.2 All contracts not executed under seal must be signed by a director or an officer appropriately 
authorised by them under their scheme of delegation. 

10.3 Contracts with a value over EU Thresholds or considered to be of a strategically important or 
politically sensitive nature, or where an extended limitation period would be of value, must be 
in writing and executed under seal by Legal Services. 

Page 358



 

212 
 

 

10.4 Contracts with other public bodies, or for insurance or banking arrangements, or for the lease 
or purchase of vehicles, machinery, equipment or software need not be sealed. 

10.5 The Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement must:  

 i) keep a record or list of all model sets of conditions of contract;  

 ii) review all current conditions of contract, at least every 2 years, or when new legislation is 
introduced.  

11  Bonds, Security and Parent Company Guarantees  

11.1 Officers procuring goods, services or works for the Council must consult the Council Solicitor on 
all tenders where the total value exceeds EU thresholds to determine if a bond, parent company 
guarantee or other security is required. 

12  Disposing of surplus goods and stores 

12.1 Service Managers are responsible for the disposal of their own surplus goods, including 
equipment and items on inventories and stores.  

 These disposals are subject to the conditions set out in paragraph G.4 and G.6 of the Council’s 
Financial Procedure Rules and in Standing Financial Instruction 23.  

 The same competitive process for buying supplies, services and works must also be applied to 
the disposal of surplus goods or such other competitive procedure is followed as agreed by the 
Procurement Lead and The Director of Finance and Customer Services. 

12.2 If Officers are in any doubt, professional advice must be sought when making valuations of 
goods to be disposed of.  

13  Exemptions from the Rules 

Exemptions from these Rules must be obtained in advance of any procurement in accordance with 
the following procedure. 

13.1 An exemption cannot be given for any procurement which exceeds the EU procurement 
thresholds – such procurement must always follow a process which is compliant with the EU 
procurement regulations as advised by the Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement. 

13.2 The relevant Director may agree to a waiver of one or more specific rules if, following 
consideration of a report from the procuring Officer, containing the recommendations of the 
Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement and set out in a format prescribed by the 
Procurement Team, the Director is satisfied that: 

 the nature of the market for the works to be carried out or the goods to be purchased or 
services to be provided has been investigated and is demonstrated to be such that a 
departure from the requirements of the Rules is justifiable; or 

 the contract is for works, goods or services that are required in circumstances of extreme 
urgency that could not reasonably have been foreseen; or 

 the circumstances of the proposed contract are covered by legislative exemptions 
(whether under EU Directives or English law); or 

Page 359



 

213 
 

 

 there are other circumstances which are genuinely exceptional. 

13.3 Any contracts that are awarded ‘subject to a waiver’ must be uploaded to the Chest. 

14  Transfers/Novation of Contracts 

14.1 In appropriate circumstances the Council may agree to transfer a contract. 

14.2 This decision must be taken by the relevant Chief Officer upon advice from the Service Lead – 
Contracts and Procurement.  

15  Conflicts of Interest 

15.1 Any interest which may affect the award of a contract of any value under these Procurement 
Rules must be declared.  Every Officer authorised to buy goods, services or works must make 
a written declaration of interests to his/her Director and update it immediately when an interest 
changes.  An Officer who enters into a contract without declaring any such interest will have 
committed a disciplinary offence. Officers must comply with the requirements of Standing 
Financial Instruction 12 in relation to such declarations. 

15.2 Employees of the Council are obliged by law to notify the Chief Executive as soon as possible 
and in writing if they learn that the Council has entered or proposes to enter into a contract in 
which the employee has a pecuniary interest (direct or indirect).   

15.3 The Monitoring Officer must either certify such interests as being acceptable or take any 
necessary action in respect of potential conflicts of interest and the Officer should take no part 
in the award of a contract by the Council. 

16  Hospitality 

16.1 Officers must comply with the requirements of the Council’s Code of Conduct and Standing 
Financial Instruction 21. 

17  Variations and extensions 

17.1 Subject to any statutory restrictions and compliance with these Procurement Rules, a Director 
may authorise the following extensions and variations to an existing contract either: 

i)  an extension for a particular period provided for within the terms and conditions of the 
contract (but subject to satisfactory outcomes of contract monitoring); or 

ii) subject to approval by the Service Lead – Contacts and Procurement Service that the 
variation does not amount to the award of a new contract under procurement law, any other 
variation, and if relevant a consequent change in price, determined in accordance with the 
contract terms, provided the authorised officer considers that the variation still offers best 
value to the Council. 

17.2 Contracts procured under the EU Regulations must not be extended or varied without consulting 
the Service Lead – Contracts and Procurement Service.  

Page 360



 

214 
 

 

Section 9 Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

 
1.  Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers 
 

Where the Council proposes to appoint a Head of Paid Service or a Chief Officer and it is not 
proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among their existing officers, the 
Council will: 

 
(a) draw up a job description and person specification specifying: 
 
 (i) the duties of the officer concerned; and 

 
(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed; 

 
(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to bring it to the 

attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; and 
 
(c) make arrangements for the job description and person specification to be sent to any person on 

request. 
 
2 Appointment in respect of the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring officer or Chief 

Finance Officer. 
 

a) The full council will approve the appointment of the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring officer 
or the Chief Finance Officer following the recommendation of such an appointment by a 
committee or sub-committee of the Council. That committee or sub-committee must include at 
least one member of the executive. 
 

b) The full Council may only approve the appointment of the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring 
officer or the Chief Finance Officer where no material or well-founded objection has been made 
by the Leader on behalf of him/herself or another member of the Executive Board. 

 
 (Note: The National Salary Framework & Conditions of Service of Local Authority Chief 

Executives and subsequent guidance will be used to support the arrangements for the 
appointment, dismissal and disciplinary action in respect of the Chief Executive) 

 
  
3. Dismissal in respect of the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring officer or Chief Finance 

Officer. 
 

The provisions of Schedule 3 (below) of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
Regulations 2001 (as amended) are incorporated into the Constitution in respect of the 
appointment or dismissal of the head of the authority’s paid service, or the dismissal of the 
authority’s monitoring officer or chief finance officer. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 361



 

215 
 

 

SCHEDULE 3 

 (as amended by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 

2015 (SI 2015/881) 

Provisions to be incorporated in standing orders in respect of disciplinary action 

1. In the following paragraphs— 

(a) “the 2011 Act” means the Localism Act 2011; 

(b) “chief finance officer”, “disciplinary action”, “head of the authority’s paid service” and 

“monitoring officer” have the same meaning as in regulation 2 of the Local Authorities 

(Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001(c); 

(c) “independent person” means a person appointed under section 28(7) of the 2011 Act; 

(d) “local government elector” means a person registered as a local government elector in the 

register of electors in the authority’s area in accordance with the Representation of the People 

Acts; 

(e) “the Panel” means a committee appointed by the authority under section 102(4) of the 

Local Government Act 1972(d) for the purposes of advising the authority on matters relating to 

the dismissal of relevant officers of the authority; 

(f) “relevant meeting” means a meeting of the authority (i.e. Full Council) to consider whether 

or not to approve a proposal to dismiss a relevant officer; and 

(g) “relevant officer” means the chief finance officer, head of the authority’s paid service or 

monitoring officer, as the case may be. 

2. A relevant officer may not be dismissed by an authority unless the procedure set out in the 

following paragraphs is complied with. 

3. The authority must invite relevant independent persons to be considered for appointment to 

the Panel, with a view to appointing at least two such persons to the Panel. 

4. In paragraph 3 “relevant independent person” means any independent person who has 

been appointed by the authority or, where there are fewer than two such persons, such 

independent persons as have been appointed by another authority or authorities as the 

authority considers appropriate. 

5. Subject to paragraph 6, the authority must appoint to the Panel such relevant independent 

persons who have accepted an invitation issued in accordance with paragraph 3 in 

accordance with the following priority order— 

(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority and who is a local 

government elector; 

(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority; 

(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another authority or authorities. 

Page 362



 

216 
 

 

6. An authority is not required to appoint more than two relevant independent persons in 

accordance with paragraph 5 but may do so. 

7. The authority must appoint any Panel at least 20 working days before the relevant meeting. 

8. Before the taking of a vote at the relevant meeting on whether or not to approve such a 

dismissal, the authority must take into account, in particular— 

(a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel; 

(b) the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; and 

(c) any representations from the relevant officer. 

9. Any remuneration, allowances or fees paid by the authority to an independent person 

appointed to the Panel must not exceed the level of remuneration, allowances or fees payable 

to that independent person in respect of that person’s role as independent person under the 

2011 Act.” 

 

The Council has adopted the Model Disciplinary Procedure and Guidance (England) produced 

by the JNC for Chief Executives/Chief Officers set out in the National Salary Framework and 

Conditions of Service handbook.  This procedure and guidance was commended to the 

Council by the Local Government Association (LGA) and the Association of Local Authorities 

Chief Executives and Senior Managers (ALACE).   

 
4. Appointment, dismissal and disciplinary action in respect of Chief Officers and 

percentage related deputy Chief Officers other than the Head of Paid Service, the Chief 
Finance Officer, and the Monitoring officer 

 
(a) A committee or sub-committee of the Council will appoint, dismiss and take disciplinary action 

in respect of Chief Officers and percentage related deputy Chief Officers. That committee or 
sub-committee must include at least one member of the Executive Board. 
 

(b) The Committee may only approve the appointment or dismissal of a Chief Officer or deputy 
Chief Officer where no material or well-founded objection has been made by the Leader on 
behalf of him/herself or another member of the Executive Board. 

 
(Note: The process for the approval of job descriptions and person specifications, plus the 
advertising and recruitment process for Chief Officers allows the Leader (as Chair) with the 
Chief Executive, to circulate proposals to the Committee Members for a consultation period of 
3 days. At the end of the consultation process the Leader in consultation with the Chief 
Executive will agree the final process. The Chief Executive will then call a meeting of the Chief 
Officer Employment Committee to conduct interviews and make appointment(s) on behalf of 
the Council.) 
 

(c) The Council has adopted the Model Disciplinary Procedure and Guidance (England) produced 
by the JNC for Chief Executives/Chief Officers set out in the National Salary Framework and 
Conditions of Service handbook.  This procedure and guidance was commended to the 
Council by the Local Government Association (LGA) and the Association of Local Authorities 
Chief Executives and Senior Managers (ALACE).   

Page 363



 

217 
 

 

 
 
5. Appointment and dismissal in respect of the Director of Public Health 
 
(a) The arrangements for the appointment of the Director of Public Health must be in accordance 

with these Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the requirements under the Health and Social 
Act 2012 and any statutory guidance issued concerning the recruitment and appointment 
process. 

 
(b) Before terminating the appointment of the Director of Public Health the Council must consult the 

Secretary of State. 
  
6. Executive Board’s Powers in respect of appointments and dismissals (other than the 

dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer, and Monitoring Officer) 
  
(a) Before an offer of appointment is made or notice of dismissal is given in respect of: 
 

(i) a Chief Officer 
(ii) a deputy Chief Officer 

 
 the Proper Officer must notify every member of the Executive Board of the name of the person 

who it is proposed should be appointed or dismissed. Each member of the Executive Board 
must also be notified of any other details relevant to the appointment or dismissal which the 
Committee has notified to the Proper Officer and of the date and time by which the Leader must 
make any objection on behalf of the Executive Board. 

 
(b) Before the date and time for making an objection has passed the Leader must either: 
 

(i) notify the Proper Officer that neither he nor any member of the Executive Board has an 
objection to the making of the offer of appointment or giving notice of dismissal; or 
 

(ii) notify the Proper Officer that there is such an objection and supply details of it. 
 
(c) An offer of appointment or notice of dismissal may only be given where the Committee is 

satisfied that no material or well- founded objection has been made by the leader on behalf of 
himself or another member of the Executive Board. 

 

 
7. Other appointments, dismissals and disciplinary action 
 
(a) Officers other than assistants to political groups. 
 

Appointment, dismissals and disciplinary action in respect of all other officers with the exception 
of any assistants to political groups is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or his/her 
nominee. Councillors may not make such decisions.  

 
(b) Assistants to political groups. 
 
 Appointment of an assistant to a political group shall be made in accordance with the wishes of 

that political group. 
 
8.  Additional provisions in respect of disciplinary action affecting the Head of Paid Service, 

Chief Finance Officer, and Monitoring officer 
 

Page 364



 

218 
 

 

(a) Suspension.  
 

The Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer may be suspended 
whilst an investigation takes place into alleged misconduct. That suspension will be on full pay 
and last no longer than two months.  Suspension is a neutral act. 

 
9.  Procedures  
 

The Council will maintain procedures in respect of staff appointment and dismissal and in 
respect of grievances. 

  

Page 365



 

219 
 

 



 

 

 

PART 5 
 

 

 

CODES AND PROTOCOLS 
  

Page 366



 

220 
 

 

Section 1 Members Code of Conduct 
 
 

Code of Conduct for Members and Guidance  
 

1. Introduction  

 

 The Council is determined to provide excellent local government for the people of the Borough. 

It promotes and maintains high standards of conduct by Members and Co-opted Members and 

has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members, in line with its obligations under section 27(2) 

of the Localism Act 2011.  To help Members understand their conduct responsibilities, they 

should make sure they read and understand the General Principles below 

 

2.  General Principles of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members  

 

  Members and co-opted Members must behave according to the highest standards of personal 

conduct in everything they do as a Member. In particular, they must observe the following 

principles of conduct, some of which are set out in law.  

 

2.1 Selflessness  

 

 Members should serve only the public interest and should never improperly confer an 

advantage or disadvantage on any person.  

 

2.2 Honesty and Integrity  

 

 Members should not place themselves in situations where their honesty and integrity may be 

questioned, should not behave improperly and should on all occasions avoid the appearance 

of such behaviour.  

 

2.3 Objectivity  

 

 Members should make decisions on merit, including when making appointments, awarding 

contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards or benefits.  

 

2.4 Accountability  

 

 Members should be accountable to the public for their actions and the manner in which they 

carry out their responsibilities, and should co-operate fully and honestly with any scrutiny 

appropriate to their particular office.  

 

2.5 Openness  

 

 Members should be as open as possible about their actions and those of their authority, and 

should be prepared to give reasons for those actions. 

 

 

 

 

Page 367



 

221 
 

 

2.6 Personal Judgement  

 

 Members may take account of the views of others, including their political groups, but should 

reach their own conclusions on the issues before them and act in accordance with those 

conclusions.  

 

2.7 Respect for Others  

 

 Members should promote equality by not discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by 

treating people with respect, regardless of their race, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation 

or disability. They should respect the impartiality and integrity of the authority’s statutory 

officers, and its other employees.  

 

2.8 Duty to Uphold the Law 

  

 Members should uphold the law and, on all occasions, act in accordance with the trust that 

the public is entitled to place in them.  

 

2.9 Stewardship  

 

 Members should do whatever they are able to do to ensure that their authorities use their 

resources prudently and in accordance with the law.  

 

2.10 Leadership  

 

 Members should promote and support these principles by leadership, and by example, and 

should act in a way that secures or preserves public confidence.  

 

3.  Training  

 

  Each Member must attend annual training on the Code of Conduct/ethical standards, in 

addition to any current requirements to receive training for specific Committees, for example 

Planning & Highways or Licensing Committees.  

 

 

Page 368



 

222 
 

 

THE CODE OF CONDUCT  
 
Part 1    
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS   
 
1. Introduction and interpretation  
 
1.1 This Code applies to you as a member of the Council.  
 
1.2 It is your responsibility to comply with this Code. Failure to do so may result in a sanction being 

applied by the Council. Failure to take appropriate action in respect of a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest may result in a criminal conviction and a fine of up to £5,000 and /or disqualification 
from office for a period of up to 5 years.  

 
1.3 In this Code: - 
 
1.3.1 “meeting” means any meeting of: 
 

(a) the Council; 
 
(b) any of the Council’s committees or sub-committees, joint committees or joint sub-

committees; 
 

1.3.2 “member” includes a co-opted member and an appointed member.  
 
2. Scope  
 
2.1 The Code of Conduct applies to applies to you: 
 

(a)    Whenever you act in your official capacity, including whenever you conduct the business 
of your authority or act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting, in your official 
capacity or as a representative of your authority;  

 
(b)    At any time, where your conduct has led to a criminal conviction.  However, the Code of 

Conduct does not apply to your private life. 
 

  
2.2  Where you act as a representative of the Council—  
 

(a)  on another relevant authority, you must, when acting for that other authority, comply with 
that other authority’s code of conduct; or  

 
(b)  on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply with this Code, 

except and insofar as it conflicts with any other lawful obligations to which that other 
body may be subject.  

 
3. General obligations  
 
3.1 You must not: 
 

(a) do anything which may knowingly cause your authority to breach the Equality Act 2010; 
 

Page 369



 

223 
 

 

(b) bully or be abusive to any person;  
 
(c) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be: 
 

(i) a complainant,  

(ii) a witness, or 

iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings, in relation to an 
allegation that a member (including yourself) has failed to comply with his or her 
authority’s code of conduct; or  

 
(d)  do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality of those who 

work for, or on behalf of, the Council.  
 

4.  You must not:  
 

(a) disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information acquired by 
you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature, 
except where: 

 
(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;  
 
(ii) you are required by law to do so; 
  
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional 

advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the information to any 
other person; or  

 
(iv) the disclosure is:  
 

(a)  reasonable and in the public interest; and  
 
(b) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements of 

the Council; or  
 

(b) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that person is 
entitled by law.  

 
5.  You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing 

your office or the Council into disrepute. 
  
6.  You: 
 

(a)  must not use or attempt to use your position as a member improperly to confer on or 
secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage; and  

 
(b)  must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of your authority:  
 

(i)  act in accordance with the Council’s reasonable requirements; and 
  
(ii) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes (including 

party political purposes); and  
 

Page 370



 

224 
 

 

(c)  must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the 
Local Government Act 1986.  

 
7. (1) When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any relevant advice 

provided to you by 
 

(a) The Council’s chief finance officer; or  
 
(b)  The Council’s monitoring officer,  
 

where that officer is acting pursuant to his or her personal statutory duties.  
 
 

(2) You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory requirements 
and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by your authority.  

 

Part 2  
 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
  
8. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests” are defined from time to time by the Secretary of State in 

Regulations.  The Regulations current at the time of adoption of this Code are The Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 and are set out below. 
 
A ‘disclosable Pecuniary Interest’ is an interest of yourself or your partner (which means 
spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person 
with whom you are living as if you are civil partners) within the following descriptions: 

 

Subject Prescribed description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or 
gain. 

 
Sponsorship 

 
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
relevant authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of 
any expenses incurred by M in carrying out duties as a member, or towards 
the election expenses of M. 

 This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 
1992. 

 
Contracts 

 
Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in 
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant 
authority— 

 (a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

 (b) which has not been fully discharged. 

 
Land 

 
Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant 
authority. 

 
Licences 

 

Page 371

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=7&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I5FE396B0E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=7&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I5FE396B0E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB


 

225 
 

 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 
Corporate tenancies 

 
Any tenancy where (to M's knowledge)— 

 (a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

 (b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial 
interest. 

 
Securities 

 
Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 

 (a) that body (to M's knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area 
of the relevant authority; and 

 (b) either— 

 (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 

 (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

 
 
Definitions  

 

“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011; 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the relevant 
person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the 
securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident 
society; 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry 
with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to 
receive income; 

“M” means a member of a relevant authority; 
“meeting” means any meeting of the Council, the Executive, any of the Council’s or 
Executive’s committees, sub-committees, joint committees, joint sub-committees, or area 
committees. 

“member” includes a co-opted member; 

“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member; 

“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives a 
notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or section 31(7), as the case may be, of the Act; 

“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) of the Act; 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building 
society. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 372



 

226 
 

 

9. Registering and declaring Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
9.1 You must, within 28 days of your election or appointment to office as a member or co-opted 

member notify the Council’s Monitoring officer of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests you have 
(see paragraph 8 above)  

 
9.2 You must, notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer within 28 days of becoming aware of any 

changes to a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest previously notified or of any new Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest not previously notified, and provide an update to the Monitoring Officer 
once every 12 months.    

 
9.3 If a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, has not been entered onto the Council’s register, then the 

member or co-opted member must disclose the interest to any meeting of the Council at which 
they are present, where they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and where the matter is 
not a “sensitive interest”. 

 
9.4 Following disclosure of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest not on the Council’s register or the 

subject of pending notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 
days beginning with the date of disclosure. 

 
9.5 Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any discussion of, vote on, 

or discharge any function related to any matter in which you have a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest. 

 
9.6 Any interests notified to the Monitoring Officer will be included in the register of interests.  A 

copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be published on the 
authority’s website 

 
10 Sensitive Interests 

 
Where you consider that disclosure of the details of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest could 
lead to you, or a person connected with you, being subject to violence or intimidation, and the 
Monitoring Officer agrees, if the interest is entered on the register, copies of the register that 
are made available for inspection and any published version of the register will exclude details 
of the interest, but may state that you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, the details of 
which are withheld under Section 32(2) of the Localism Act 2011 

 
11 Effect of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests on Participation  

 
11.1 If you are present at a meeting of the authority and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

in any matter to be considered or being considered at the meeting: 
 
(a) You may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting. 
 
(b) You may not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 

 
(c) If the interest is not registered, you must disclose the interest to the meeting. 

 
(d) If the interest is not registered and is not the subject matter of a pending notification, 

you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days. 
 
Note: In addition the Council Procedure Rules require you to leave the room where the 
meeting is held while any discussion or voting takes place  

Page 373



 

227 
 

 

 
11.2 Where an Executive Member discharging a function alone and becomes aware of a 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter being dealt with or to be dealt with by him/her, the 
Executive Member must notify the Monitoring Officer of the Interest and must not take any 
steps or further steps in the matter 

 
12 Dispensations  
 

The authority may grant you a dispensation, but only in limited circumstances, to enable you 
to participate and vote on a matter on which you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  

 
 
13 Offences  
 

It is a criminal offence to:   

 Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest within 28 days 

of election 

 Fail to disclose a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest at a meeting if it is not on the register 

 Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

that is not on the register that you have disclosed to a meeting 

 Participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which you have a Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interest 

 As an Executive Member discharging a function, acting alone, and having a 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in such a matter, failing to notify the Monitoring Officer 

within 28 days of the interest. 

 Knowingly or recklessly providing information that is false or misleading in notifying the 

Monitoring Officer of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or in disclosing such interest to 

a meeting. 

 
The criminal penalties available to a court are to impose a fine not exceeding level 5 on the 
standard scale and disqualification from being a councillor for up to 5 years. 

 

Part 3 
 
OTHER INTERESTS 
 
14 Notification of Other Interests 
 
14.1 In addition to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests you must, within 28 days of your election or 

appointment to office as a member or co-opted member notify the Monitoring Officer in writing 
of details of your interests within the following categories, for inclusion in the register of 
interests:  
 
(a) Details of any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 

management to which you are appointed or nominated by your authority; 
 
(b) Details of any body exercising functions of a public nature, any body directed to 

charitable purposes or any body one of whose principal purposes includes the 

Page 374



 

228 
 

 

influence of public opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union), of 
which you are a member or in a position of general control or management; 

 
(c) Details of any gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 that you have 

received in connection with your role as a member of the Council, and details of the 
donor  

 
14.2 You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new interest or change to any interest 

registered under this paragraph notify the Monitoring Officer of the details of that new interest 
or change. 

 
14.3 Any interests notified to the Monitoring Officer will be included in the register of interests.  A 

copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be published on the 
authority’s website. 

 
14.4 Where a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is notified to the Monitoring Officer under Part 2, 

paragraph 9 above it need not be separately notified or separately registered again as an 
interest under this Part 3 of the Code. 

 
15 Disclosure of Other Interests 
  
15.1 Subject to 15.2 to 15.5, where you have an interest described in paragraph 14 above or in 

15.2 below in any business of your authority, and where you are aware or ought reasonably 
to be aware of the existence of that interest, and you attend a meeting of your authority at 
which the business is considered, you must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature 
of that interest at the commencement of that consideration, or when the interest becomes 
apparent. 

 
15.2 You have an interest in any business of your authority where a decision in relation to that 

business might reasonably be regarded as affecting your well-being or financial position or the 
well-being or financial position of a member of your family or any person with whom you have 
a close association. 

 
15.3 Where you have an interest in any business of the authority of the type mentioned in paragraph 

14(c), (gifts and hospitality) you need not disclose the nature or existence of that interest to 
the meeting if the interest was registered more than three years before the date of the meeting. 

 
15.4 Where you have an interest by virtue of paragraph 14 but, by virtue of paragraph 17 below, 

(Sensitive interests) relating to it is not registered in the register of members’ interests, you 
must indicate to the meeting that you have an interest, but need not disclose the sensitive 
information to the meeting. 

 
15.5 Where you have an interest in any business of your authority by virtue of paragraph 14 or 

15.2, and you have made an Executive Decision in relation to that business, you must 
ensure that any written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of that 
interest. 

 
16 Non participation in case of certain other interests 
 
16.1 Where you have an interest in any business of your authority by virtue of paragraph 14 or 15.2 

AND the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts 
would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgment of the 
public interest AND where that business:  

 

Page 375



 

229 
 

 

(a) affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body through 
whom the interest arises; or 

 
(b) relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration 

in relation to you or any person through whom the interest arises, 
  
you may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting, and you may not 
participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 

 
 

Note: In addition, the Council Procedure Rules require you to leave the room where the 
meeting is held while any discussion or voting takes place. 

 
16.2 Where you have an interest in any business of your authority to which paragraph 16.1 applies, 

you may attend a meeting but only for the purpose of making representations, answering 
questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are also allowed 
to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise, and 
provided that you leave the room where the meeting is held immediately after making 
representations, answering questions or giving evidence. 

 
16.3 Subject to you disclosing the interest at the meeting, you may attend a meeting and vote on a 

matter where you have an interest under paragraph 16.1 that relates to the functions of your 
authority in respect of:  

 
(a)  housing, where you are a tenant of your authority provided that those functions do 

not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease; 
 
(b) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members; 
 
(c) any ceremonial honour given to members; and 
 
(d) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

16.4 Where, as an Executive Member, you may discharge a function alone, and you become aware 
of an interest under paragraph 16.1in a matter being dealt with, or to be dealt with by you, you 
must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps 
in the matter, or seek improperly to influence a decision about the matter. 

 
17 Sensitive interests 
 

Where you consider that disclosure of the details of an interest could lead to you, or a person 
connected with you, being subject to violence or intimidation, and the Monitoring Officer 
agrees, if the interest is entered on the register, copies of the register that are made available 
for inspection and any published version of the register will exclude details of the interest, but 
may state that you have an interest, the details of which are withheld. 

  

Page 376



 

230 
 

 

BLACKBURN WITH DARWEN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Protocol on Member to Member Relations 
 

Councillor’s at all times must promote and maintain high standards and adopted a Code of Conduct 

for Members in line with its obligations under section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011.  Members and 

co-opted members must behave according to the highest standards for personal conduct in 

everything they do as a Member. In particular they must observe the following 10 principles of 

conduct as set out in the Code of Conduct, some of which are set out in law:  

 

Selflessness, Honesty & Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, Openness, Personal Judgement, 

Respect of others, Duty to uphold the law, Stewardship and Leadership 

 

The Code of Conduct makes it clear that “Members should promote equality by not discriminating 

unlawfully against any person, and by treating people with respect, regardless of their race, age, 

religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability” (Respect for others). This applies to all 

circumstances including working with other councillors.  

All councillors have a responsibility to behave in a way that is not offensive to others and to 

acknowledge that views and opinions held by other councillors may not always coincide with their 

own. Such differences being expressed are unlikely to constitute harassment.  The Code is 

therefore not intended to deter from robust political argument and debate, but it does expect that all 

councillors conduct themselves in accordance with these 10 principles at all times, certainly 

avoiding any behaviours which could be deemed as bullying, harassing or victimising, in any way.   

 

In this context councillors are responsible for being aware of and understanding the following 

definitions*: 

Bullying is a particular form of harassment and may be characterised as persistent, offensive, 
intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, possibly through an abuse or misuse of position or 
power where the intention or outcome is to undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. 
Examples of bullying include: shouting at others in public or in private; personal insults; ignoring or 
excluding individuals; persistent, excessive, unfair or unjustified criticism; setting impossible 
deadlines or targets/objectives or making inconsistent demands. This list is not exhaustive. 
 

Harassment is, in general terms, unwanted, unreasonable and offensive conduct affecting the 

dignity of the individual. It includes verbal, non-verbal and physical conduct that may be related to 

age, gender, race, disability, sexual orientation, religion and belief, nationality or any personal 

characteristic of the individual, and may be persistent or an isolated incident. Examples of 

harassment include: unwanted physical contact, offensive jokes or banter, offensive emails, pictures 

or graffiti, unwelcome sexual advances, exclusion and victimisation.  This list is not exhaustive. 

Victimisation is treating someone less favourably than others because the individual has, in good 

faith, complained (whether formally or otherwise) that someone has been bullying or harassing them 

or someone else, or supported someone to make a complaint or given evidence in relation to a 

Page 377



 

231 
 

 

complaint. Examples include: Isolating someone because the individual has made a complaint or 

treating them differently.   

Councillors can therefore expect of other Councillors: 

 

 To represent their wards effectively and efficiently 

 To strive to do their best for their Wards and constituents of the Borough 

 To behave in a manner which accords with the Code of Conduct for Members 

 To be respectful and courteous 

 To respond to enquiries fairly and efficiently  

 To act lawfully and to maintain confidentiality when appropriate to do so 

 To maintain confidentiality where it is appropriate to do so 

 To have regards to social hours regarding contact  

 To consider information for the purpose of making informed judgements 

 To treat all councillors in a reasonable manner 

 Not to make any inappropriate comment towards another councillor, which could be 

interpreted as discriminatory, demeaning, abusive or bullying. 

 Not to ask Councillor’s to breach council policy or procedures, or to act unlawfully 

 Not to exert undue influence or pressure, or request special treatment for councillor’s 

friends or family members. 

 Not to request unauthorised access to resources or information held by the council 

 Not to breach confidentiality and disclose any personal/private information about 

another councillor  

 

 

Failure to follow the Protocol 

Any complaint alleging failure to follow this Protocol would be considered under the `Arrangements 

for dealing with complaints about the Code of Conduct for Members`. 

Training* 

Mandatory training for all Councillors will be provided annually to help support elected Members in 
understanding equalities, inclusivity and what behaviours may amount to discriminatory behaviour. 
 

Page 378



 

232 
 

 

BLACKBURN WITH DARWEN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Arrangements for dealing with complaints about the Code of 

Conduct for Members 
 

 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 These “Arrangements” are made under section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 and set out 

how you may make a complaint that a Member, Co-opted Member, Parish or Town 

Council Member has or may have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members 

(Appendix 1), and sets out how Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council (“the Council”) 

will deal with allegations of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

 

1.2 The person making the complaint will be referred to as “the complainant” and the person 

against whom the complaint is made will be referred to as the “Subject Member”. 

 

1.3 No member or officer will participate in any stage of the Arrangements (other than as a 

witness) if he or she has, or may have, any personal conflict of interest in the matter. 

 

1.4 For reference a flowchart of the process is set out at the end of this document. 

 

1.5 There are no powers in legislation and therefore under this complaints process for the 

suspension or dismissal of an elected councillor.  In the event of a councillor being found 

in breach of the Code of Conduct only the sanctions as set out in Paragraph 13 below 

apply. 

 

2. Making a complaint 

 

2.1 A complaint must be made in writing on the Council’s standard form (available on the Council’s 

website) either by post or e-mail to; For the attention of The Monitoring Officer, 4th Floor, Town 

Hall, Blackburn BB1 7DY.  email: MonitoringOfficer@blackburn.gov.uk 

 

2.2 The complainant must provide their name and a contact address or an email address, so that 

the Council can acknowledge receipt of the complaint, request any further information and 

keep the complainant informed of its progress.  If the complainant would like to keep their 

name and address confidential, they must indicate this in writing, in which case the Council 

we will not disclose the complainant’s name and address to the Subject Member until their 

request for confidentiality has been considered by the Monitoring Officer Section 5 

(Confidentiality) below.   

The Council will not investigate anonymous complaints, unless there is a clear public interest 

in doing so. 

 

2.3 The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of the complaint within five working days of 

receiving it, and will keep the complainant informed of the progress of your complaint.  At the 

same time the Monitoring Officer will write to the Subject Member (and in the case of a 

complaint about a Town/Parish Councillor to the Clerk of the Town/Parish Council also) with 

Page 379

mailto:MonitoringOfficer@blackburn.gov.uk


 

233 
 

 

details of the allegations (subject to any representations from the complainant on 

confidentiality, which are accepted as valid by the Monitoring Officer under Section 5 

(Confidentiality) below).  

 

2.4 The Subject Member may, within five working days of receipt, make written representations to 

the Monitoring Officer which must be taken into account when deciding how the complaint 

should be dealt with.   Representations received after this time may be taken into account, at 

the discretion of the Monitoring Officer, but will in any event not be considered after the 

Monitoring Officer has issued the initial assessment of the complaint. 

 

3. Initial Assessment of Complaint 

 

3.1 The Monitoring Officer will review the complaint and, following consultation with the 

Independent Person take a decision (initial assessment) as to whether it merits investigation, 

or another course of action.   This decision will normally be taken within 20 working days of 

receipt of a complaint. 

 

 The complaint will be rejected if; 

 

 The complaint is not against one or more named Members or co-opted Members of 

the Council or a Town/Parish Council within its district; 

 

 The Subject Member was not in office at the time of the alleged conduct and a Code 

of Conduct was in force at the time. 

 

 The complaint, if proven, would not be a breach of the Code of Conduct under which 

the Subject Member was operating at the time of the alleged misconduct. 

 

 The complaint is anonymous (unless the Monitoring Officer determines that it is the 

public interest to consider it) 

 

3.2 If the complaint has not been rejected on the grounds in 3.1 the Monitoring Officer will then go 

on to apply the following criteria in deciding whether a complaint should be considered;  

 

 Whether a substantially similar allegation has previously been made by the 

complainant to Standards for England, or the Standards Committee, or the complaint 

has been the subject of an investigation by another regulatory authority; 

 

 Whether the complaint is about something that happened so long ago that those 

involved are unlikely to remember it clearly enough to provide credible evidence, or 

where the lapse of time means there would be little benefit or point in taking action 

now; 

 

 Whether the allegation discloses a potential breach of the Code of Conduct, but the 

complaint is not serious enough to merit any action and 

 

i. The resources needed to investigate and determine the complaint are wholly 

disproportionate to the allegations and 

 

Page 380



 

234 
 

 

ii. Whether in all the circumstances there is no overriding public benefit in carrying 

out an investigation. 

 

 Whether the complaint appears to be malicious, vexatious, politically motivated or tit 

for tat; 

 

 Whether the complaint suggests that there is a wider problem throughout the Authority; 

 

 Whether (after the Monitoring Officer making preliminary enquiries) it is apparent that 

the Subject Member is relatively inexperienced as a Member or has admitted making 

an error and the matter would not warrant a more serious sanction;  

 

 Whether training or conciliation would be the appropriate response. 

 

In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the complaint informally, 

without the need for an investigation.    

 

Such informal resolution may involve the Subject Member accepting that his/her conduct was 

unacceptable and offering an apology, or taking other steps.   Where the Subject Member or 

the Authority (in appropriate cases) makes a reasonable offer of local resolution, but it is 

rejected by the complainant, the Monitoring Officer will take account of this in deciding whether 

the complaint merits formal investigation. 

 

The Monitoring Officer will consult with the Independent Person and then give his decision on 

how the complaint will be dealt with.  The Monitoring Officer may in exceptional circumstances 

refer the question of how to proceed to a Sub-Committee of the Standards Committee. 

 

4. Additional Information 

 

4.1 The Monitoring Officer may require additional information before coming to a decision and 

may request information from the Subject Member. 

 

4.2 Where the complaint relates to a Town/Parish Councillor, the Monitoring Officer may also 

inform the Clerk of the Town/Parish Council of the complaint and seek the views of the Clerk 

of the Town/Parish Council before deciding whether the complaint merits formal investigation 

or other action.    

 

4.3 If the complaint identifies criminal conduct or breach of other regulations by any person, the 

Monitoring Officer is authorised to report this to the Police or other prosecuting or regulatory 

authority, in additional to any action taken pursuant to the Code. 

 
4.4  In circumstances of alleged criminal conduct as set out in paragraph 4.2 above the timescales 

relating to the handling of the complaint throughout this procedure will be amended to facilitate 

the investigation by the Police or other prosecuting regulatory authority. 

 

 

5. Confidentiality 

 

Page 381



 

235 
 

 

5.1 If a complainant has asked for their identity to be withheld, this request will be considered by 

the Monitoring Officer at the initial assessment stage. 

 

5.2 As a matter of fairness and natural justice the Subject Member should usually be told who has 

complained about them and receive details of the complaint.   However,  in exceptional 

circumstances, the Monitoring Officer may withhold the complainant’s identity if on request 

from the complainant, or otherwise, they are satisfied that the complainant has reasonable 

grounds for believing that they or any witness relevant to the complaint may be at risk of 

physical harm, or his or her employment may be jeopardised if their identity is disclosed, or 

where there are medical risks (supported by medical evidence) associated with the 

complainant’s identity being disclosed. 

 

5.3 If the Monitoring Officer decides to refuse a request by a complainant for confidentiality, they 

will offer the complainant the option to withdraw the complaint, rather than proceed with his or 

her identity being disclosed.   The Monitoring Officer will balance whether the public interest 

in taking action on a complaint will outweigh the complainant’s wish to have his or her identity 

withheld from the Subject Member. 

 

6. Investigation 

 

6.1 The Monitoring Officer will appoint an investigating officer where a complaint merits formal 

investigation.   The Investigating Officer may be a Council officer, an officer from another 

council, or an external investigator. 

6.2 The Investigating Officer will follow guidance issued by the Monitoring Officer on the 

investigation of complaints.   The guidance will follow the principles of proportionality and the 

cost effective use of Council resources and shall be interpreted in line with these principles. 

6.3 The Investigating Officer will ensure that the Subject Member receives a copy of the complaint 

– subject to the Monitoring Officer decision on confidentiality. 

6.4 At the end of their investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce a draft report and will 

send copies of that draft report to the complainant and to the Subject Member, for comments.   

The Investigating Officer will take such comments into account before issuing their final report 

to the Monitoring Officer. 

6.5 Although it is not possible to be prescriptive of the length of investigation, however normally it 

would be expected that any investigation once commenced would not normally exceed 20 

working days.  In any event both the Complainant and the Subject Member will be advised of 

the timescale and updated should this require amendment. 

7. Investigating Officer finding of no failure to comply with the Code of Conduct 

 

7.1 Where the Investigating Officer’s report does not find that the Subject Member has failed to 

comply with the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent 

Person, will review the Investigating Officer’s report and if satisfied, will confirm the finding of 

no failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

 

7.2 The Monitoring Officer will write to the complainant and the subject Member (and to the Clerk 

of the Town/Parish Council, where the complaint relates to a Town/Parish Councillor), with a 

Page 382



 

236 
 

 

copy of the decision and the Investigating Officer’s report within 10 working days of receipt of 

the completed report. 

 

7.3 If the Monitoring Officer is not satisfied that the investigation has been conducted thoroughly, 

the Investigating Officer may be asked to reconsider the report and the conclusions. 

 

8  Investigating Officer finding of sufficient evidence of failure to comply with the Code of 

Conduct.   

 Where the Investigating Officer’s report does find that the Subject Member has failed to 

comply with the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating 

Officer’s report and will then either send the matter for a hearing before the Hearings Panel 

normally within 20 working days of receiving the report or resolve the matter under section 9 

below without the need for a hearing. 

 

9. Resolution 

 

If the Monitoring Officer considers that the matter can reasonably be resolved without the need 

for a hearing, they will consult with the Independent Person and the complainant and seek to 

agree a fair resolution.   Such resolution may include the Subject Member accepting that their 

conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology, and/or other remedial action.   If the 

Subject Member accepts the suggested resolution, the Monitoring Officer will report the 

outcome to the Standards Committee and the Clerk to the Town/Parish Council (if appropriate) 

for information, but will take no further action.   If the complainant or the Subject Member 

refuses the resolution in principle or to engage with the agreed outcome, the Monitoring Officer 

will refer the matter normally within 20 working days for a hearing without further reference to 

the complainant or the Subject Member. 

 

10. Hearing 

 

 Where, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, a resolution without a hearing is not appropriate 

or the complainant and/or Subject Member refuses to co-operate, then the Monitoring Officer 

will report the Investigating Officer’s findings to the Hearings Panel which will conduct a 

hearing before deciding whether the Subject Member has failed to comply with a Code of 

Conduct and, if so, what action (if any) to take in respect of the Member. 

 

 The Standards Committee will agree and adopt a procedure for local hearings.    

 

11. Constitution of the Hearings Panel 

 

The Hearings Panel is a sub-committee of the Council’s Standards Committee.  The Council 

have decided that it will comprise of at least one of the independent members co-opted to the 

Standards Committee and three members of the Council drawn from at least two different 

political parties.   Where the complaint is about a Town or a Parish Council Member, the 

Hearings Panel will include at least one of the Town/Parish Council Members co-opted to the 

Standards Committee. 

 

The Independent Person is invited to attend all meetings of the Hearings Panel and their views 

must be sought and taken into consideration before the Hearings Panel takes any decision on 

whether the Subject Member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the code of conduct 

Page 383



 

237 
 

 

and as to any action to be taken following a finding of failure to comply with the Code of 

Conduct. 

 

12. The Independent Person 

 

The Independent Person must be a person who has applied for the post following 

advertisements of a vacancy for the post, and approved by a positive vote from a majority of 

all the Members of the Council at a meeting of the full Council. 

 

A person is not eligible for appointment if they: 

 

 are, or have been within the past five years a Member, co-opted Member or officer of 

the Council; 

 

 are, or have been within the past five years a Member, co-opted Member or officer of 

a Town or Parish Council within the Borough; or 

 

 are a relative or close friend of a person within bullet points 1 or 2 above.  

 

For this purpose, “relative” means that: 

 

 Spouse or civil partner; 

 Living with the other person as husband and wife or as if they were civil partners; 

 Grandparents of the other person; 

 A lineal descendant of a grandparent of the other person; 

 A parent, sibling or child of the person within the above bullet points; 

 A spouse or civil partner of a person within the above bullet points; or 

 Living with a person within the above bullet points or as husband and wife or as if they 
were civil partners. 

 

13. Action 

  

Where a Hearings Panel find that a Subject Member has failed to comply with the code of 

conduct, the Council has delegated to the Hearings Panel such of its powers to take action in 

respect of Subject Members as may be necessary to promote and maintain high standards of 

conduct.   Accordingly, the Hearings Panel may –  

 

 Publish its findings in respect of the Subject Member’s conduct; 

 Report its finding to Council (or to the Town/Parish Council) for information; 

 Recommend to Council that the Subject Member be censured; 

 Recommend to the Subject Member’s group leader (or in the case of ungrouped 
members recommend to Council) that he/she be removed from any or all committees or 
sub committees of the Council; 

 

Page 384



 

238 
 

 

 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the Subject Member be removed from the 
Executive, or removed from their portfolio responsibilities; 

 

 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to (or recommend that the Town/Parish Council) arrange 
training for the Subject Member; 

 

 Recommend to Council (or recommend to the Town/Parish Council) that the Subject 
Member be removed from all outside bodies, appointments to which they have been 
appointed or nominated by the Council (or by the Town/Parish Council); 

 

 Withdraw (or recommend to the Town/Parish Council that it withdraws) facilities provided 
to the Subject Member by the Council such as a computer, website and/or e-mail and 
internet access; or 

 

 Placing such restrictions on Subject Member’s access to staff which may be reasonable 
in the circumstances and in accordance with the Member/Officer Protocol provided that 
such restrictions do not impede the Subject Member from carrying out their duties as a 
Councillor 

 

14 Withdrawal of a Complaint 

 

In the event that a complainant withdraws a complaint at any time prior to a decision having 

been made by a Hearings Panel, the Monitoring Officer may, following consultation with the 

Independent Person, decide that no further steps be taken in respect of that complaint but 

shall, in taking such a decision take into account any issues which may arise under Paragraph 

3.1(c) of the Code of Conduct. 

 

15 Revision of these Arrangements 

 

 The Council may by resolution or delegation to the Monitoring Officer agree to amend these 

arrangements and has delegated to the Chair of the Hearings Panel the right to depart from 

these arrangements where they consider that it is expedient to do so in order to secure the 

effective treatment and fair consideration of any matters. 

 

16. Appeals 

 

 Subject to judicial review or a decision of a Local Government Ombudsman, there is no right 

of appeal against the decision of a Monitoring Officer or of the Hearings Panel. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 385



 

239 
 

 

 

 FLOW CHART COMPLAINTS 
 

COMPLAINT 

(Para 2) 

ASSESSMENT BY 

MONITORING 

OFFICER 

(Para 3) 

REFUSE RESOLVE 

INFORMALLY 

ADDITIONAL 

INFORMATION 

(IN CONSULTATION WITH INDEPENDENT PERSON) 

AGREE 

INVESTIGATION 

(Para 6) 

OUTCOME OF 

INVESTIGESTION 

 (LIAISE WITH INDEPENDENT PERSON) 

NO FURTHER 

ACTION 

(Para 7) 

REFER TO 

HEARINGS PANEL 

(Para 8) 

RESOLVE 

FORMALLY 

(Para 9) 

NO 

FURTHER 

ACTION 

SANCTION 

(Para 13) 

Page 386



 

240 

 

Section 2 Officers’ Code of Conduct 
 
  

Employee Code of Conduct 

  
1. Introduction  
 

Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council is committed to achieving and maintaining 
the highest possible standards of conduct.   
 
The Employee Code of Conduct (hereafter referred to as the “Code”) is part of the 
Councils Constitution and outlines the standards of behaviour expected of all 
employees – morally, ethically and legally.  
 
It forms part of your terms and conditions of employment and applies to all 
employees. You are required to abide by the standards detailed within it.  

 
The Code is not intended to prohibit social involvement or restrict you in your day 
to day life and dealings outside work. It is, however, important that you are aware 
of your actions and how these may impact on the Council’s principles of 
accountability and responsibility. 
 
The Code cannot cover all areas that are likely to arise in practice, but the principles 
of the Code will apply in order to ensure the integrity of the Council is maintained 
at all times. 
 

2. Conduct and Standards  
 

You are expected to give the highest possible standard of service and conduct so 
that the public have confidence in your integrity. This also protects you from any 
misunderstanding and unfair criticism. Where it is part of your duties to provide 
advice to councillors and fellow employees, you should do so with impartiality.  
 
You should always be aware of your responsibilities to the community you serve 
and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial service delivery to all groups and 
individuals within that community. 
 
Any departure from these high standards will be treated as a serious matter and 
could lead to action under the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and/or in conjunction 
with other applicable policies. This may result in formal action up to and including 
dismissal, and, where necessary through the process of the law, for example, 
criminal proceedings. 
 

 
2.1 Behaviours Framework 

 
The Council has developed a Behaviours Framework that employees are expected 
to demonstrate, which define a Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council employee 
and is based on its four corporate values: 
 

 Customer; 

 Listening; 

 Teamwork; 

 Honesty. 
 

Page 387



 

241 

 

Employees serving the public must practice and exhibit these through the course 
of their work  
 
There are six behaviours which sit behind and support the values and underpin the 
specific requirements set out within the framework. 

 
Further information on the Behaviours Framework can be accessed by the 
following intranet link: 

 
Intranet > Human Resources > Advice > BwD Borough Council Behaviour 
Framework 
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/upload/pdf/Behaviours_Framework_-
_v4.0_July_2013.pdf 

 
2.2  Equality Issues 
 

In addition to the requirements of the law you should ensure that you comply with 
Council policies relating to equality issues, both with regard to employment and 
service delivery. 
 
All members of the local community, customers and other employees have a right 
to be treated with fairness and equity in accordance with equality legislation. The 
Councils equality statement can be accessed by the following link:  

 
Intranet > Human Resources > Policies > Equality Act 2010 Statement 
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=ConWebDoc.54083  

 
2.3  Dress and Personal Appearance at Work 
  

 You are reminded that standards of dress, personal appearance and hygiene, 
including standards required in the interests of health and safety, can affect public 
confidence and you should therefore make yourself aware of and comply with 
expected standards for your particular employment.  

 
2.4  Health and Safety 
  

In the interests of the public and colleagues, you must adhere to the Council’s 
Health and Safety arrangements.  
 
You must not act wilfully, intentionally or recklessly in a way that could place the 
public, your colleagues, or yourself at risk, and you must adhere to the duty of care 
outlined in the Council's Health and Safety Policy. This is particularly the case 
where there is direct responsibility for a service user’s welfare. The Health and 
Safety Policy can be accessed by the following link:  

 
Intranet > Health and safety > Policies 
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.2381 

 
2.5  Wages and Recoupment 
 

There may be times where, for one reason or another, there has been an 
overpayment made to salary. You are reminded that you have an obligation to 
contact the HR Service and report any overpayment if you suspect this has 
occurred. The Council reserves the right to require repayment, either by deduction 
from salary or other accepted method. In each case individual circumstances will 

Page 388

http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d00s
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d00s010
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/upload/pdf/Behaviours_Framework_-_v4.0_July_2013.pdf
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/upload/pdf/Behaviours_Framework_-_v4.0_July_2013.pdf
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/upload/pdf/Behaviours_Framework_-_v4.0_July_2013.pdf
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/upload/pdf/Behaviours_Framework_-_v4.0_July_2013.pdf
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d00s
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d00s014
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=ConWebDoc.54083


 

242 

 

be taken into account when deciding the period over which the repayment is to be 
made.   

 
3. Disclosure of Information and Confidentiality 
 
3.1 Media and Social Media 
 

You should not contact or disclose information relating to the work of the Council 
to the media, other than as part of your job or as an official spokesperson of the 
Council. If you are contacted or asked for an opinion, you should refer the enquiry 
to the Councils Public Relations and Communications Team. 
 
You must not disclose any information on your own personal pages via social 
media, for example, Facebook, Twitter etc. which is, or may be, protected under 
the Data Protection Act 1998 relating to Council business, service users, 
employees or Councillors and you must take care to ensure that any use of social 
media does not bring the Council into disrepute nor is defamatory or libellous.  
 
Where there is a reasonable belief that the use of social media has been used 
inappropriately then you should raise this with your line manager or Head of 
Service, alternatively the Whistleblowing Policy can be referred to. Examples 
where it may have been used inappropriately include: 
 

 it highlights potential criminal activity; 

 the disclosure of confidential information; 

 where the suspicion arises that there has been fraud, dishonesty or corruption; 

 where there is the potential to bring the Council into disrepute. 
 
The Whistleblowing Policy can be used to raise genuine concerns regarding any 
aspect of the Council’s work and can be accessed using the following link: 

 
Intranet > Human Resources > Policies > Whistleblowing   
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=ConWebDoc.50256 

 
3.2   Data Protection 

 
All information containing personal data relating to members of the public and 
employees must be obtained, held and dealt with fairly and lawfully in accordance 
with the Data Protection Act 1998. Any information relating to Council business, its 
service users, employees or Councillors must not be used or given out in any 
manner that does not comply with that Act, except where this has been expressly 
authorised. 
 
You must be aware of which information within your authority can be disclosed and 
which cannot, and act accordingly. You should not use any information you may 
come across in the course of your employment for personal gain or benefit, nor 
should you pass it on to others who might use it in such a way. The handling and 
sight of information should always be treated as being confidential. If in doubt, you 
should check with your line manager or Head of Service. 
 
You should not prevent another person from gaining access to information to which 
that person is entitled by law, for example, requests made under the Freedom of 
Information Act. 
 

3.3 Intellectual Property 

Page 389

http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d00s
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d00s014
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=ConWebDoc.50256


 

243 

 

 
Intellectual property is a general term that includes inventions, creative writings 
and drawings. If any of these are created by you in the course of your employment, 
for example, plans, then as a general rule they belong to the Council and therefore 
cannot be sold or lent to any other person or organisation without prior written 
permission of the Council.  

 
3.4   General Disclosures in relation to Council Executive Reports 

 
The law requires that most of the work undertaken by the Council should be open 
to inspection and that certain types of information should be available to Elected 
Members, Government Departments, service users and the public. There are 
exceptions to this which include: 

 

 confidential or “exempt from publication” information discussed at meetings of 
the Council, the Executive Board, Executive Member meetings, committees 
and other meetings when the press and public have been excluded; 

 commercially sensitive information in relation to contracts for the supply of 
goods and/or services; 

 personal information relating to service users, employees and Elected 
Members. 

 
In particular, you should not disclose (without express permission) information 
relating to Part II agenda items and reports. No reports relating to staffing, financial, 
commercial, disciplinary, political or other confidential matters should be provided 
or discussed without the express agreement of the Council, Chief Executive or a 
departmental Director. 
 

4. Corruption  
 

You must ensure that you use public funds entrusted to you in a responsible and 
lawful manner.    
 
You must be aware that it may be deemed to be corrupt if you receive or give any 
gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage for doing, or not doing, anything or showing 
favour, or disfavour, to any person in their official capacity and could amount to a 
criminal offence as well as gross misconduct and so place you at risk of a criminal 
sanction as well as disciplinary proceedings. This includes bribing another person, 
being bribed and/or bribing a foreign public official.  

 
Failing to prevent bribery is also considered to be a ‘corporate offence’. Under this, 
the Council will be guilty of an offence if an “associated person” bribes someone 
else with the intention to obtain or retain business, or a business advantage, for 
the Council. “associated persons” may include employees, agents and 
subsidiaries.  
 
Further information on the Bribery Act 2010 can be accessed by the following link:  

 
Intranet > Human Resources > Policies > The UK Bribery Act 2010 

http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=ConWebDoc.57535  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 390

http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d00s
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d00s014
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=ConWebDoc.57535


 

244 

 

5. Gifts and Hospitality 
 

With the exception of gifts of a token value, you should refuse any gift or hospitality 
offered to you or members of your family. All gifts or offers of hospitality over the 
token value must be recorded on the form attached to Standing Financial 
Instruction 21 (SFI 21) which must be sent to the Director. Nothing over the token 
value must be accepted without the written consent of the Director. 

 
A gift should only be accepted where it is reasonable and justifiable and is on a 
scale appropriate to the circumstances, for example, the gift has a token face value 
of up to £25 (e.g. calendars, pens, key rings, diaries, calendars or other 
promotional items). As a general rule, therefore, anything with a value of £25 or 
more must be registered. 
 
No personal gifts from either existing or potential contractors or suppliers should 
be accepted and gifts should not take the form of cash, bonds or benefits such as 
hotel accommodation or tickets to major sporting events. 
 
Examples of hospitality are free meals, tickets to attend sporting or entertainment 
events, or working lunches from potential or current contractors and outside 
suppliers or people or organisations subject to decisions by the Council. 
 
Normally, visits to exhibitions, inspection of equipment and attendance at 
conferences by employees will be at the Council’s expense. There may be 
occasions where it may be in the Council’s interest to accept offers from outside 
agencies, organisations or individuals, for example, offers of hospitality which form 
part of the life of the community or where the Council needs to be represented. The 
decision to attend will be made by the departmental Director. When receiving 
authorised hospitality, you should be particularly sensitive with regard to its timing 
in relation to decisions which the Council may be taking affecting those providing 
the hospitality.  
 
If there is any doubt, the approval of the line manager (or the Director where gifts 
or hospitality above the token value are received directly or without warning) should 
be sought before accepting any gift or hospitality or the offer should be declined 
politely.   
 
For further information and guidance on accepting gifts and hospitality, including 
the value of such goods, please refer to Standing Financial Instruction 21 (SFI 21): 
 

http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/upload/doc/SFI_21_Gift_and_Hospitality_Dec12
.doc  

 
6. Sponsorship – Giving and Receiving 
  

The requirements of this Code concerning the acceptance of gifts or hospitality 
also apply to where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is seeking to 
sponsor a local government activity, whether by invitation, tender, negotiation or 
voluntarily. Particular care must be taken when dealing with contractors or potential 
contractors. 
 
Where the Council wishes to sponsor an event or service or where the Council 
through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other means, give support in the 
community, you must follow the requirements of this Code concerning conflicts of 
interest and complete the Register of Interest Form (SFI 12).   

 

Page 391

http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/upload/doc/SFI_21_Gift_and_Hospitality_Dec12.doc
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/upload/doc/SFI_21_Gift_and_Hospitality_Dec12.doc


 

245 

 

Intranet > Human Resources > Forms > Register of Interest Form  
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/upload/doc/SFI_12_Register_of_Interest.doc 

 
7. The Selection of Developers, Consultants or Contractors 
 

The need for accountability and openness is crucial during any tendering exercise. 
Any relationship, of a private or business nature, with any current or proposed 
external contractor(s) and/or supplier(s) of services to the Council must be declared 
to the departmental Director prior to any involvement in the tendering or contract 
process. 
 
No part of the community should be discriminated against when assessing or 
awarding contracts. 
 
Orders and contracts must be awarded fairly against other tenders, in accordance 
with the Council’s Financial Regulations, Standing Financial Instructions and 
Contracts and Procurement Procedure Rules. No special favour should be shown 
to businesses run by, for example, friends, partners or relatives in the tendering 
process.  
 
You should not behave in a manner that gives the impression that you are in a 
position of favouring one party over another, or in your dealings, behave in such a 
way that seeks or implies a gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage, or any offer of such 
is required in return for an award of contract.  

 
If you are involved in the selection or supervision of contractors who you have 
previously had, or currently have a relationship or any other official relationships 
with contractors or potential contractors in a business or personal capacity, you 
should declare that relationship in writing via the Register of Interest Form to your 
departmental Director. Where there are concerns from any party with regard to a 
relationship with an external contractor and/or supplier, then the Whistleblowing 
Policy should be referred to.   
 
Where you are aware of confidential information on tenders or costs for contractors, 
this information should not be disclosed to any unauthorised party or organisation. 

 
A link to the Council’s Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules is below: 

 
Resources > Finance > Procurement > Strategy and Rules 
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/upload/doc/Contract_and_Procurement_Rules_
Review_Apr2013_20130430115801 

 
8. Financial, Personal and Conflicts of Interests  
 

For the purposes of this Code, the following are examples of who should declare 
an interest. The list is not exhaustive: 

 

 If you have a direct or indirect financial interest in a company or organisation 
which trades, or could potentially trade with the Council; 

 If you or your spouse/partner have a direct personal, financial and other interest 
which may conflict with the business of the Council or with your employment 
with the Council.  

 
 
 

Page 392



 

246 

 

8.1 Personal commitments 
  

A personal commitment outside work which may conflict with your employment in 
the Council must be declared on a Register of Interest Form (SF1 12). This includes 
being employed by, or receiving any kind of payment including those ‘in kind’, such 
as a gym membership, from a company or organisation which has a contract with 
the Council. Other examples include: 

 

  directorships, including non-executive directorships of, or employment by, 
public or private companies likely or possibly seeking to do business with the 
Council; 

 close relative, spouse or partner who has directorship of public or private 
companies likely or possibly seeking to do business with the Council; 

 outside interests that may have conflicting time demands and so could possibly 
affect the performance of duties in the Council. Examples include, second or 
third jobs, management of companies, etc.; 

 remunerated or honorary positions and other connections with organisations 
which may give rise to a conflict of interests; 

 representational or other non-financial interests in areas covering Council 
business. 

 tenancy or licence agreements with the Council; 

 employees who may have small personal interests whereby they do not have 
contractual relations with the Council but may sell goods on a small scale to 
employees of the Council. It is arguable that they may be using their position 
within the Council to secure sales. Although individually these may not be large 
amounts, over a period of time, it could amount to a substantial sum; 

 Membership of a Secret Society. 
 

You should disclose any land, (other than your home), or business in which you 
have an interest which is, or likely to be, the subject of a Council decision. 
 
The departmental Director will maintain a confidential register of all declared 
interests to ensure standards of conduct are maintained. This will be reviewed 
annually by the Council’s Monitoring Officer. If your circumstances change you can 
make a voluntary declaration by completing and submitting the Register of Interest 
Form (SF1 12). 
 
If you have a personal interest in a matter raised at a meeting where you are in 
attendance or advising on the matter, this must be declared immediately and you 
must take no further part. Such a declaration made at an official meeting will be 
recorded formally in the minutes of the meeting.   

 
The Council requires that you declare if you are a member of any Secret Society.  
 
A Secret Society can be defined as: 
 
“Any lodge, chapter, society, trust or regular gathering or meeting which is not open 
to members of the public, who are not members of that lodge, chapter, society, 
trust, regular gathering or meeting” 
 

“A society which as part of membership obliges a member to make a commitment, 
whether by oath or otherwise, of allegiance to the lodge, chapter, society, trust, 
regular gathering or meeting” and 
 

Page 393



 

247 

 

“Includes, whether initially or subsequently, a commitment, whether by oath or 
otherwise, of secrecy about the rules, membership, or conduct of the lodge, 
chapter, society, trust, regular gathering or meeting”. 
 

Please note that a lodge, chapter, society, trust, regular gathering or meeting as 
defined above, should not be regarded as a Secret Society if it forms part of the 
activity of a generally recognised religion. 

 
8.2 Commitments outside Work 
 

You should ensure that you are clear about your contractual obligations to the 
Council and should not take part in any other business or take outside activity which 
conflicts with the Council's interests. Any interest in which you, your spouse or 
partner have a financial/indirect interest including being employed by, or receiving 
any kind of remuneration or benefit ‘in kind’ from an organisation which has a 
contract with the Council should be declared using the Register of Interest Form. It 
is a criminal offence to fail to comply with this provision.  
 
The only exception to the legal requirement to disclose a financial/indirect interest 
is where the interest is so distant or small that no reasonable person would expect 
it to influence you if you might have dealings with the organisation concerned. In 
such cases it need not be disclosed.  
 
If in any doubt, you should check out the particular situation with your line manager. 

 
8.3 Secondary Employment 
 

The Council stresses to employees of all grades, that you should not undertake 
outside work if your official duties overlap in some way with your proposed work, 
and/or if it causes a conflict of interest, or if it makes use of material to which you 
have access by virtue of your position (for example, an architect or planner who 
draws up plans within his or her own authority for an applicant for planning 
consent). It is irrelevant whether or not the work is paid.   
 
Where there is a possibility of a conflict of interest, you must put a request in writing, 
seeking permission from your appropriate Director before undertaking any other 
employment, or private work. The letter must provide clear details of the work to be 
undertaken, the hours of work, the work location and the remuneration involved.  
 
Until you receive written approval no additional employment or private work must 
be undertaken. Failure to seek and obtain written permission could lead to action 
being taken in accordance with the Disciplinary Policy. 

 
8.4 Whole time service  
 

If your SCP point is at or above NJC scale 29 (£24,894 as at 2013/2014) you must 
not take up any paid or unpaid employment, run a business, or take up any other 
additional appointment, without first receiving the express consent, in writing, from 
your relevant Director. 
   
Where you disagree with any decision you have the right to appeal to your 
departmental Director and they will arrange for a review of the decision.   
 
You should not use Council facilities e.g. email, internet, telephones, printers 
and/or photocopiers for undertaking any outside work interests. Similarly you 

Page 394



 

248 

 

should be aware that correspondence and incoming telephone calls related to 
outside work are not allowed. 

 
9. Recruitment Policy and Employment Policies  
 

The Council’s Recruitment and Selection Policy and Equality Act 2010 Statement 
must be followed when recruiting to any post within the Council.  
 
In order to avoid any possible accusation or appearance of bias, you will not be 
involved in any recruitment and selection exercise for any employee who is a 
relative, partner, friend or any person in respect of whom the your involvement 
could reasonably be perceived to be prejudiced or biased. 
 
For the same reasons, you should not be involved in any decisions on discipline, 
grievance, promotion or pay where there is a direct or indirect link to the employee 
who is the subject of such procedures. 
 
You must immediately report to you respective Head of Service if there are any 
individual attempts made to influence you in any way regarding the use or 
application of policies.  

 
10. Personal Relationships 
 

If you become involved in a personal relationship with someone you manage, or 
you manage a relative or close personal friend, you should immediately advise your 
line manager or Head of Service who will consider the individual circumstances 
and any implications regarding continued management to avoid any accusation or 
appearance of bias. Relevant issues will be considered on a case by case basis. 

 
11. Political Awareness and Impartiality 
 

Councillors and employees are public servants; however, they do have clearly 
different and distinct roles and responsibilities.  
 
Councillors are responsible to the electorate whilst in office and you are responsible 
for undertaking assigned duties and responsibilities appropriate to your job role 
with the Council.  
 

You must, at all times, be impartial in your dealings with Councillors from all political 
parties. 
 
You may be required to advise political groups in the course of your duties and in 
doing so you must not compromise your political neutrality. 
 
You must not at any time allow your own personal or political views or interests to 
influence you in the work you undertake on behalf of the Council. 

 
 
 
 
12. Politically Restricted Posts  
 

The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 contain provisions to restrict the 
political activity of senior employees. 
 

Page 395



 

249 

 

If you hold a politically restricted post you are disqualified from membership of any 
Local Authority, other than a parish or community council, from being an MP or 
MEP and as such cannot have an active political role either in or outside the 
workplace.  

 
The political restrictions are deemed to be incorporated in the contract of 
employment of every local authority employee who holds a politically restricted 
post. Further information on this can be found under the policy at: 

 
Intranet > IT projects and news > Guide to managing change > Remodelling 
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=ConWebDoc.43927 

 
13. Related Documents  
  

The Employee Code of Conduct must be applied in conjunction with the Council’s 
other relevant policies, these include: 
   

 the Terms and Conditions of Employment – both national and local;  

 the Councils Contract Procedure Rules; 

 Financial Regulations including Standing Financial Instructions; 

 Standing Orders; 

 departmental or locally held rules, policies and procedures of conduct that are 
issued  from time to time; 

 legislation such as the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 etc. 
   
The Employee Code of Conduct must also be applied in conjunction with relevant 
professional Codes of Practice such as: 

 

 General Social Care Code of Conduct;  

 Health and Social Care Workers in England; 

 Solicitors Regulation Authority Code of Conduct. 
 
14. Further Guidance 
 

If you require further advice regarding the application of the Employee Code of 
Conduct please contact the appropriate Human Resources Team for your 
Programme Area – (Intranet > Human Resources > Contacts).  

 

15. Approving Body & Date 
 

LJNCC (Council) – Wednesday 23 October 2013 
 
 

Page 396

http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d010
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d010001
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.00101d010001001
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=ConWebDoc.43927


 

250 

 

Employee Code of Conduct – Quick Reference Guide 
 
This quick reference guide has been developed to provide an overview of the 
Employee Code of Conduct. Please ensure that you refer to the full Employee Code 
of Conduct (referred to as the “Code”) for full details and further information.  
 

Section Topic Information 

1. Introduction 
 

The Code forms part of the terms and conditions 
of employment and outlines standards of 
behaviour expected of employees. It will form a 
key part of the induction process of new 
employees.  

2. Conduct and 
Standards 
 

All employees are expected to give high 
standards of courteous and efficient service to 
the public and to do so with impartiality. 

2.1 Behaviours 
Framework 
 

The Behaviours Framework is a set of core 
behaviours which define ‘how’ we are expected 
to approach our work and sits alongside ‘what’ 
we do in supporting the delivery of the corporate 
plan. 

2.2 Equality Issues 
 

Employees should ensure they comply with 
Council policies relating to equality matters and 
equalities legislation. 

2.3 Dress and Personal 
Appearance at Work 

Employees must ensure standards of dress and 
personal hygiene are to the standards 
appropriate to the duties and responsibilities of 
their post. 

2.4 Health and Safety 
 

Employees must adhere to the Council’s Health 
and Safety arrangements including the Health 
and Safety Policy and procedures. 

2.5 Wages and 
Recoupment 
 

Employees have an obligation to contact Human 
Resources and report any overpayment where 
this has occurred and agree an appropriate 
method of repayment.  

3. Disclosure of 
Information and 
Confidentiality 

To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998 all 
personal data must be obtained, held and dealt 
with fairly and lawfully. Employees should not 
inappropriately disclose any information 
obtained during their employment with the 
Council and should treat this as confidential. 

3.1 Media and Social 
Media 
 

Employees should not contact or disclose any 
information relating to the work of the Council to 
the media without authorisation, nor should they 
disclose any information on social media which 
is covered by the Data Protection Act or may 
bring the Council into disrepute. 

3.2 Data Protection 
 

The Council supports and promotes the 
principles of open government and welcomes 
opportunities to share information with the 
community. Employees must be aware of the 
type of information which can be disclosed and 
to whom, and the type of information which must 
not be disclosed, except where this has been 
authorised. 

Page 397



 

251 

 

3.3 Intellectual Property 
 

Any intellectual property created by employees 
during employment belongs to the Council and 
therefore cannot be sold or lent to any other 
person or organisation without permission. 

3.4 General Disclosures 
in relation to Council 
Executive Reports 

The law requires that most work undertaken by 
the Council should be open to inspection and 
that certain information be available. 

4. 
 

Corruption Where employees have direct responsibility for 
financial transactions they are responsible for 
ensuring that public funds entrusted to them are 
used in a responsible and lawful manner and 
comply with Financial Regulations. 

5. Gifts and Hospitality 
 

With the exception of gifts of a token value of up 
to £25.00, employees should refuse any gift or 
hospitality offered to them or members of their 
family without the written consent of the 
Director. All gifts or offers of hospitality over the 
token value must be recorded.   

6. Sponsorship – Giving 
and Receiving 
 

Employee must follow the Code in relation to 
accepting gifts or hospitality in regards to 
sponsorship from an outside organisation. 
Where the Council wishes to sponsor an event 
neither an employee and/or a relative must 
benefit. 

7. The Selection of 
Developers, 
Consultants or 
Contractors 

Any tendering exercises must be open, 
transparent and in line with the Contracts and 
Procurement Procedure Rules, and Financial 
Procedure Rules. Employees must declare any 
relationship or conflict of interest prior to any 
involvement in the tendering or contract process 
and should treat any information confidentially.  

8. Financial, Personal 
and Conflicts of 
Interest 

Employees must declare a direct or indirect 
financial interest in an organisation which may 
trade with the Council. 

8.1 
 

Personal 
Commitments 

A personal commitment/private interest that may 
conflict with employment in the Council must be 
declared using a Register of Interest Form. 

8.2 
 

Commitments outside 
Work 

Employees should not take part in any business 
or outside activity which conflicts with their 
Council responsibilities. Any interest falling 
under this should be declared using a Register 
or Interest Form and should withdraw from any 
meetings where they have a direct or indirect 
financial or personal interest in the matter under 
discussion. 

8.3 
 

Secondary 
Employment 

Employees may not undertake outside work if 
their duties overlap or causes a conflict of 
interest unless they have appropriate 
authorisation. 

8.4 
 

Whole time service Employees on NJC scale 29 (£24,894 as at 
2013/2014) or above are required to devote 
their whole-time service to the work of the 
Council and may not engage in any other 
business or take up any other appointment 
without appropriate authorisation. 

Page 398



 

252 

 

9. 
 

Recruitment Policy 
and Employment 
Policies 

Employees must follow the Council’s 
Recruitment and Selection Policy when 
recruiting to any post within the Council. 
Employees will not be involved in any 
recruitment, discipline, grievance, performance 
or pay matters where this a conflict of interest by 
a direct or indirect link to the employee subject 
to such procedures. 

10. 
 

Personal 
Relationships 

Employees must inform their line manager if 
they become involve in a personal relationship 
with someone they line manage or if they 
manage a relative or close personal friend so 
that this can be considered to avoid any 
accusation or appearance of bias. 

11. 
 

Political Awareness 
and Impartiality 

Councillors are public servants and have clear 
and distinct roles and responsibilities. 
Employees, must at all times, be impartial in 
their dealings with Councillors from all political 
parties. 

12. 
 

Politically Restricted 
Posts 

An employee in a politically restricted post 
cannot have an active political role either in or 
outside the workplace. 

13. 
 

Related Documents The Code must be applied in conjunction with 
Council policies and professional Codes of 
Practice. 

 
The Employee Code of Conduct cannot cover all areas that are likely to arise in 
practice but the principles of the Code will apply to ensure the integrity of the Council 
is maintained at all times. 
 
  

Page 399



 

253 

 

Section 3 Protocol on Member/Officer Relations 
 
 
A. INTRODUCTION 
 
1. Purpose of the Protocol 
 
1.1 An effective working relationship between members and officers is critical to 

the successful operation of the Council's business and to maintaining 
confidence in the machinery of local government in Blackburn with Darwen. 

 
1.2 The purpose of this protocol is to guide members and officers of the Council in 

their relationships with one another.  It is not intended to be prescriptive or 
comprehensive and seeks simply to offer guidance on some of the issues, 
which most commonly arise.  

 
2. Status of the Protocol 
 
2.1 This Protocol has been endorsed by the Council’s Standards Committee and 

approved by Council. 
 
3. Roles and Responsibilities – Elected Members 
 
3.1 Members are elected democratically. It is their policies, ideas and decisions 

which people vote for.  Members set the core values of the organisation, agree 
a policy framework, set the corporate goals and promote the Council in all its 
work.  Members are also the key channels of democratic accountability and 
scrutiny ensuring that Officers uphold the values of the organisation and deliver 
those policies that have been determined by the organisation.  Members are 
the advocates for their constituents and deal with individual casework.  
Members are responsible for making the most senior appointments in the 
Council through the Chief Executive and Chief Officer Employment Committee. 

 
3.2 Members are responsible to the electorate and serve only so long as their term 

of office lasts. 
 
4. Roles and Responsibilities - Officers 
 
4.1 The role of officers is to deliver services according to the policies and 

requirements set by Members, to draft policy proposals which accord with the 
overall framework set by members, to give professional advice in the course of 
policy development and to manage the organisation.  

 
4.2 Directors are responsible for appointments of staff below Chief Officer level. 

Officers are accountable to their Director. They work to the instructions of their 
Director and not to individual members - whatever office a Member might hold. 

Page 400



 

254 

 

B. LEGITIMATE EXPECTATIONS 
 

1. What members can expect of officers   
  

Members can expect officers:  
 

 To do their job effectively and efficiently  
 

 To strive to provide services which offer best value  
 

 To behave in a manner which accords with the standards set by the Council 
 

 To be helpful, respectful and courteous  
 

 To assist members in carrying out their role as elected members (but not in 
any party political or campaigning activity, or with private business)  

 

 To deal with members’ enquiries fairly and efficiently  
 

 To be open and honest with members.  
 

 To work with all members equally and fairly  
 

 To act lawfully  
 

 To give advice or recommendations based on reasoned options  
 

 To ensure that members have all the information necessary to make 
informed judgments  

 

 To maintain confidentiality where it is proper for them to do so  
 

 Not to canvass members or otherwise seek to gain favour from them for 
personal or career advantage 

 

 To have regard to social hours and generally to be sensible about 
contacting members at potentially inconvenient times, unless in an 
emergency or otherwise agreed.  

 

 To remember that they are employed by Blackburn with Darwen Council as 
a whole and not by any part of the Council or individual member 

 
  

Page 401



 

255 

 

2.  What officers can expect of members 
  

Officers can expect members: 
 

 To accept that officers are accountable to their Manager  
 

 To be helpful, respectful and courteous to officers  
 

 Not to become involved in the day to day management of the Council 
 

 To accept that officers act independently of political bias  
 

 To fully consider advice and recommendations for the purpose of making 
informed judgments  

 
 Not to ask officers to breach Council policy or procedures, or to act 

unlawfully, or outside the terms of their job  
 

 Not to exert influence or pressure, or request special treatment,  
 

 Not to request unauthorised access to resources or information held by the 
Council  

 
 To treat officers in a reasonable manner  

 
 To be open and honest with officers  

 
 To act lawfully and to maintain confidentiality when appropriate to do so  

 
 To remember that Officers have a duty to support all parts of the 

organisation  
 

 To respect that officers have private lives and not to contact them outside 
normal working hours, or at home, unless in an emergency, or if the officer 
is officially working from home, or otherwise agreed.  

 
 
  

Page 402



 

256 

 

C. SPECIFIC GUIDANCE 

 
1. Officer/Member relationships 

 
Personal relationships 

 
1.1 It is clearly important that Senior Officers should have a close working 

relationship with Executive Members, opposition Group Spokesmen, Scrutiny 
Committee Chairmen and other senior officers. However, such relationships 
should never be allowed to become so close, or appear to be so close, as to 
bring into question the individual's ability to deal impartially with others. 

 
1.2 Members must not sit on a Council body or assume an Executive role 

responsible for any officer with whom they have a close personal relationship. 
 

Members’ Constituency Role & Individual Officers  
 
1.3 A member may be asked for advice and support by an officer who is one of 

their constituents.  Officers are entitled to seek such assistance in the same 
way as any other member of the public.  However, members should be careful 
not to prejudice the Council's position in relation to employment matters in 
respect of an officer. 

 
Dealings with Junior Officers 

 
1.4 Members, as citizens, will deal routinely with junior officers of the Council. 

However, when acting as Councillors, members should take care not to place 
junior officers in a difficult position for example by seeking information from 
them which is not in the public domain or by requesting special treatment for 
themselves or another person. 

 
Giving Instructions to Officers 
 

1.5 Members should not give instructions to staff unless they are authorised to do 
so under the Council’s Constitution. Any such instructions should be addressed 
to the relevant Chief Officer. 

 
Complaints about officers or services 

 
1.6 Members have the right to criticise reports or the actions taken by officers, but 

they should always: 
 

•avoid personal attacks on officers 
•ensure that criticism is constructive and well-founded.  

 
1.7 Members should avoid undermining respect for officers at meetings, or in any 

public forum including through the press. This would be damaging, both to 
effective working relationships and to the public image of the Council.  It would 
also undermine the mutual trust and courtesy that is an essential element of a 
well run authority. It is important to note that this requirement is not intended to 
prevent members from undertaking polite but robust and probing scrutiny of the 
work of Officers. 

 
1.8 Complaints about officers or Council services should be made to the Director 

of the service where the member feels the fault lies.   
 

Page 403



 

257 

 

Officers and Whole Council 
 
1.9 Officers are required at all times to serve the whole Council and will need to 

exercise judgement in fulfilling this obligation. Members must recognise this 
obligation on officers.  

 
1.10 Directors are responsible for the contents of all reports submitted in their name. 

The advice contained in such reports is independent and members must not 
seek to suppress or amend any aspect of such advice.  

 
2. Support to Members and Party Groups 
  
 Equipment, accommodation and staff resources 
 
2.1 Members are provided with ICT (information and communication technology) 

equipment and support services (e.g. diary management, correspondence 
handling, stationery provision, typing, printing, photocopying and research 
support) to enable them to better perform their policy and constituency role as 
elected members.  

 
2.2 Members are also provided with accommodation sufficient for their needs and 

facilities for holding meetings with their constituents. 
 
2.3 Members should not normally use – and officers should not provide - such 

equipment and support services in connection with party political or 
campaigning activity or for purposes not related to Council business.  

 
2.4 Where it would otherwise cause undue inconvenience the Council may permit 

Members to use equipment for personal as well as Council business. This 
permission may extend to the use of Personal Computers, mobile phones etc. 
Members who use such equipment on personal business must abide by any 
specific conditions attached to such usage including conditions as to payment. 

 
2.5 All requests for support which require staff resources will be subject to the 

request not being unreasonable, not placing undue demands on resources and 
there being sufficient resources available to meet the request.  

 
2.6 Officer support which is made available is to be used to support Council 

business only and not for general party political activities.  
 

Officers and Political Party Group Meetings   
 
2.7 It is usual practice for officers to provide support for individual party groups and 

there is a common understanding that the Chief Executive and Directors will 
ensure that such support is provided. However, no individual Officer can be 
required to attend a political group meeting or to write a report for such a 
meeting. 

 
2.8 Officer support to individual political groups must not extend beyond providing 

information in relation to matters of Council business.  Officers must not be 
involved in advising on matters of party business.  Officers should not be 
expected to be present when matters of party business are being discussed.  

 
 
2.9 Special care needs to be exercised whenever officers are involved in providing 

information and advice to a party group meeting which includes persons who 

Page 404



 

258 

 

are not members of the Council. Officers are more likely to feel unable to attend 
such meetings. Where they do attend they may not be able to provide the same 
level of information and advice as they would to a member only meeting and in 
certain circumstances may feel constrained to refuse to give advice. 

 
2.10 When Officers attend such meetings the members present are responsible for 

the proper behaviour of non Councillors present.  
 
2.11 Officers will respect confidentiality in respect of issues discussed at Group 

meetings. 
 

Meetings with Individual Members  
 
2.12 Group leaders, Executive Members, Committee Chairs and Vice Chairs and 

Opposition Spokespersons are entitled to private and confidential briefings 
from a Director on matters of policy which have already been or may be 
discussed by the Council or which are within its decision-making 
process.  Normally such briefings will be organised on a Portfolio basis but 
separate meetings may be arranged with individual Directors where 
appropriate.  

 
2.13 Officers will respect confidentiality in respect of issues discussed at such 

meetings. 
 
3. Information Sharing 
 

Local Information   
 
3.1 It is essential that members should be fully informed about matters on which 

they may be required to make decisions or which affect their Wards. 
 
3.2 Directors must ensure that all relevant staff are aware of the requirement to 

keep local members informed of issues affecting their ward and that the timing 
of such information allows members to contribute to any proposed decisions.   

 
3.3 If a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local issue, all the 

members representing the Wards affected should be invited to attend the 
meeting.    

  
3.4 Similarly, whenever the Council undertakes any form of consultative exercise 

affecting a particular Ward or Wards, the local Ward members should be 
notified at the outset of the exercise.  

 
Information Sharing with Individual members or Political Groups 
  

3.5 Individual members may request any Director to provide them with factual 
information. There is much information which will be freely shared with 
members. However, if a Director considers the cost of providing the information 
requested - or the nature of the request - to be unreasonable, he/she may 
decline to provide that information unless the Member establishes a legal right 
to that information. Any requests made for information shall be kept 
confidential. 

 
3.6 The legal rights of members to information are contained within statute, the 

Constitution and in common law. The law in relation to information sharing is 

Page 405



 

259 

 

complex. This section provides an overview of some key principles. It is not 
intended to be a detailed examination of the specific legal provisions. 

 
3.7 In summary, as members of the public, members have the right to see agendas, 

reports and background papers relating to meetings of the Council and its 
Committees even where they are not members of the Committee in question. 
However, this right does not extend to seeing papers which contain confidential 
or exempt information such as information relating to individual service users 
or information which is commercially confidential.  

 
3.8 Under the Council’s Constitution these same rights apply to matters to be dealt 

with by the Executive Board. In addition members have the right to see other 
documents which relate to business to be transacted at Committee or the 
Board. Certain confidential and exempt information is excluded from this right. 

 
3.9 Members also have a right to see information relating to any decision of an 

individual Executive member once the decision has been made. Once again 
certain confidential and exempt information is excluded from this right. 

 
3.10 Members have a right to inspect any Council documents so far as access to 

the document in question is reasonably necessary to enable the member to 
perform his/her duties as a member of the Council. This is commonly known as 
"the need to know" principle. It is for the Director of the Department which holds 
the document in question, to determine whether an individual member has a 
need to know. The Director may consult the Director of HR, Governance & 
EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance in particular cases of 
difficulty. 

 
3.11 In many cases a need to know can be presumed. However, where members 

wish to see documents containing confidential information, that request will 
need to be specifically justified if the information is to be provided.  

 
3.12 Where confidential information has been shared it must only be used by the 

Member for the purpose for which it was provided (i.e. in connection with the 
proper performance of the Member’s duties as a Member of the Council).  It 
should not be circulated without the approval of the relevant Director. Failure 
to comply with this rule may breach the Code and, in certain circumstances 
may be a criminal offence.  

 
3.13 There are separate rules which give members the right to information about the 

Council’s finances.  
 

Information Sharing and Scrutiny 
 
3.14 Scrutiny Committees have additional rights to information which are set out in 

the Access to Information and Decisions and Attendance at Public Meetings 
Rules within the Constitution. Briefly these rules enhance individual members’ 
rights so as allow the Committee to have access to documents which contain 
information where that information is relevant to an action or decision which is 
being scrutinised or is within the Committee’s work programme. This provision 
allows the Committee to have access to confidential or exempt information. 

 
 
 
3.15 When a decision has been subject to call in, the relevant Director should 

produce a pack of the documents relevant to the decision which may be 

Page 406



 

260 

 

accessed by members of the Scrutiny Committee. Where that pack would be 
very large the Director should attempt to identify the most important documents 
and draw Members attention to these. 

 
4. Correspondence  
 
4.1 Correspondence, including e-mails, between an individual member and officer, 

should not normally be copied by the officer to any member, unless the member 
who initiated the correspondence copied it to other members in which case the 
officer should normally copy his correspondence to those other members.  

 
4.2 Members can expect Officers to treat their correspondence with the utmost 

discretion. However, Officers and particularly more junior officers may need to 
seek advice on answering Members' queries and Directors need to be able to 
monitor the quality of information being supplied. For that reason 
correspondence may, where necessary be copied by an Officer to his /her 
Manager, Director, the Director of Finance and Customer Services, the Director 
of HR, Governance & EngagementDirector of HR, Legal & Governance, or the 
Chief Executive but should not normally be circulated more widely.  

 
5. Members roles in representing individual citizens  
 
5.1 Members should not normally appear before a quasi-judicial body administered 
by the Council to represent an individual citizen.  Note separate arrangements are in 
place to facilitate representation for Planning & Highways Committees. 
 
5.2 If a Member proposes to attend a meeting between an officer and a citizen, they 
should advise the appropriate Chief Officer in advance of this intention. 
 
6. Members involvement in respect of Family members and social care matters 
 

6.1 In the event that any Member’s relative becomes the subject of any 
Policies/Procedures/Applications related to the conduct of the Council’s social care 
responsibilities the following protocol is to be observed to allow the member to fulfil 
their family role aside other citizens of the Borough whilst ensuring they do not 
compromise their role as Councillor’s. 

1 The Member should notify the Monitoring Officer or relevant Chief Officer 
(DCS or DASS) and may ask for advice or clarity.  

2 The Member must not seek to influence the Officers/Members who are 
conducting the proceedings on behalf of the Council – and approved 
processes will be followed in the same way as for any other citizen of the 
Borough. (See Code of Conduct references in Guidance – Appendix A). 

3 At all times during and after the conclusion of the matter, the Member 
must behave in accordance with The Code of Conduct. 

4 Dependent upon the particular circumstances of the matter and the 
legislative framework, the respective Chief Officer may or may not be able 
to share further information with the Member involved. 

5 Dependent upon the nature of the matter, a member may request to be 
temporarily relieved of individual portfolio or committee/sub-committee 
responsibilities should they identify a potential conflict of interest.      

 
Further information is available via a Guidance note for Members from the Monitoring 
Officer approved by the Standards Committee on 8th January 2015 and is attached 
as Appendix A to this Protocol. 
 

Page 407



 

261 

 

7. Public statements and dealings with the media  
 
7.1 Officers responding to requests from the media must do so in accordance with 

the corporate media protocol. 
 
7.2 Officers will not assist in party political publicity and all publicity issued by the 

Council will abide by the provisions of the Local Government Act 1986 and the 
Code of Conduct issued under the Local Government Act 1988. 

7.3 When making public statements on matters affecting the Council officers 
should follow the following principles: 

 Statements should be made without political bias; 

 Statements should not be made where they could reasonably be 
regarded as bringing the Council into disrepute;  

 
Officers should not normally express a view in public as to decisions which 
members ought to take. This principle does not, of course, prevent officers 
giving professional advice to decision making bodies. It is also not intended to 
prevent officers giving advice in respect of planning applications and similar 
matters. 

 

 
  

Page 408



 

262 

 

 
APPENDIX A 

ADVICE NOTE FOR MEMBERS/OFFICERS  

INVOLVEMENT IN RESPECT OF FAMILY MEMBERS AND SOCIAL 

CARE MATTERS 
Introduction 
In the event that any Member’s relative becomes the subject of any 
Policies/Procedures/Applications related to the conduct of the Council’s social care 
responsibilities the following protocol is suggested be observed to allow the member 
to fulfil their family role aside other citizens of the Borough whilst ensuring they do not 
compromise their role as Councillor’s. 

1 The Member should notify the Monitoring Officer or relevant Chief Officer 
(DCS or DASS) and may ask for advice or clarity.  

2 The Member must not seek to influence the Officers/Members who are 
conducting the proceedings on behalf of the Council – and approved 
processes will be followed in the same way as for any other citizen of the 
Borough. (See Code of Conduct references below). 

3 At all times during and after the conclusion of the matter, the Member 
must behave in  
accordance with The Code of Conduct. 

4 Dependent upon the particular circumstances of the matter and the 
legislative framework, the respective Chief Officer may or may not be able 
to share further information with the Member involved. 

5 Dependent upon the nature of the matter, a member may request to be 
temporarily    
relieved of individual portfolio or committee/sub-committee responsibilities 
should they identify a potential conflict of interest.      

If these arrangements are followed, this protects both the Council and the Councillor 
from potential challenge. 

More background information: 

(i) The Council 

For example, looking at social case matters - The Council has certain statutory duties 
it must fulfil which it must do so with no favour to one citizen over another and at all 
times act in the best interests of the `vulnerable adult’ or `child’ (depending on the 
type of case).  Clearly it must also be seen to act all times be act in the best 
interests of the `vulnerable adult’ or `child’ (depending on the type of case. 

(ii) The Member 

Clearly the member has a family duty and expectation placed upon them and this can 
be a very emotional and personally distressing time on occasions.  This family event 
however may come into conflict with their role as Councillor given the duties placed 
upon the Council only briefly outlined in example in (i) above. 

It would be very easy for the member to find themselves in direct conflict with the 
Code of Conduct if they attempt to influence (or even give the impression of seeking 
to influence) any formal proceeding the Council is carrying out under its statutory 
obligations. 

The Members Code of Conduct is quite explicit in parts in this respect Paragraph 2 
(See Constitution) refers:- 

“2 - Members and co-opted members must behave according to the highest 
standards of personal conduct in everything they do as a member.  In particular they 
must observe the following principles of conduct, some of which are set out in law. 

Page 409



 

263 

 

2.1 – Selflessness – Members should serve only the public interest and should never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person 

2.2 – Honestly and Integrity – Members should not place themselves in situations 
where their honesty and integrity may be questioned, should not behave improperly 
and should on all occasions avoid the appearance of such behaviour 

2.7 – Respect for others – Members should promote equality by not discriminating 
unlawfully against any person, and by treating people with respect, regardless of their 
race, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability.  They should respect the 
impartiality and integrity of the authority’s statutory officers, and its other employees. 

2.8 – Duty to uphold the law – Members should uphold the law and, on all occasions, 
act in accordance with the trust that the public is entitled to place in them. 

2.9 – Stewardship – Members should do whatever they are able to do to ensure that 
their authorities use their resources prudently and in accordance with the law. 

2.10 – Leadership – Members should promote and support these principles by 
leadership, and by example, and should act in a way that secures or preserves public 
confidence.” 

The current Protocol on Member/Officer relations is also very explicit (see 
Constitution): 

“Members can expect officers to: 

To do their job effectively and efficiently 

To act lawfully 

To maintain confidentiality where it is proper for them to do so 

 

Officers can expect of members: 

Not to become involved in the day to day management of the Council 

Not to ask officers to breach Council policy or procedures, or to act unlawfully, or 
outside of the terms of their job 

Not to exert influence or pressure, or request special treatment 

Not to request unauthorised access to resources or information held by the council 

To act lawfully and to maintain confidentiality when appropriate to do so” 

What else could we do to help the member and support the protocol being applied 
reasonably? 

It would be advisable to protect the Member and Council further, to instruct another 
local authority to conduct the case matter in such situations like this example if they 
arise.  This may also include should the matter require legal support, to instruct 
outside Council ensuring there can be no accusations of the Member not following 
the Code of Conduct by exerting influence on staff and also protect the social work 
employees from accusations that they only made case assessment decisions as they 
were aware of the member family relationship.     

Page 410



 

264 

 

Section 4 Key Decisions 
 
 
Definition 
 
The Council’s constitution adopts the statutory definition of “key decision” as meaning 
an Executive decision, which is likely: 
 

a) to result in the local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making 
of savings which are, significant having regard to the local authority's 
budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or  

b) to be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an 
area comprising two or more Wards of the Council. 

 
 
Guidance on Interpretation 
 
 
A. Financial significance 
 
1. When the Council approves the annual revenue budget each year this then acts 

as a decision to incur expenditure on all the matters contained in the budget. For 
this reason a decision which involves revenue expenditure need only be treated 
as key where it: 
 

a. Requires a budget variation (other than one within a portfolio) of more 
than £250,000 or where; 

b. The decision will have a material affect on Council services such as 
where: 
i) an existing service will be substantially reduced or will cease 

all together. 
ii) a service which is currently provided in house will be 

outsourced 
iii) a partnership will be entered with a third party which involves 

an element of risk share or transfer 
 
This recognises that decisions on revenue expenditure are only significant 
financially where they represent substantial deviations from the agreed budget. 
This means that routine but high value expenditure can proceed without the 
decision being treated as key. This includes, for example, the gas supply 
contract, the insurance contract and major software renewal contracts.   

 
The second part of the definition means that substantial changes to a service will 
be treated as key decisions. 

 
 
2 The Authority’s capital programme provides authority to spend up to the limits 

agreed in that programme.  Expenditure within the agreed capital programme will 
therefore not constitute a key decision in financial terms. Capital expenditure 
above that provided for in the capital programme will be treated as key if the 
proposed project/scheme has a value of more than £250,000. 

 
Although many capital projects will not need to be treated as key decisions on 
financial grounds careful thought must also be given as to whether the capital 
project will have a significant impact on the community and therefore still be a 

Page 411



 

265 

 

key decisions. Financial Procedure Rules set out procedures for permitting 
capital expenditure that involves expenditure of less than £250,000.  

 
The Council will also treat a decision as being key on financial grounds where: 
 
 
3. It involves the acquisition or disposal of land having a value that is estimated to 

exceed £500,000.  
 
4. It involves the disposal of a capital asset other than land having a value estimated 

to exceed £250,000 
 

5. Its consequences are likely to result in compulsory redundancies or major 
changes to the terms and conditions of employment of a significant number of 
employees across the Council’s functions.  

  
 
 
B. Effect On Communities 
 
In deciding whether a decision is key because of its effect on communities Government 
guidance suggest that consideration should be given to the strategic nature of the 
decision and whether the outcome will have an impact, for better or worse, on the 
amenity or well being of the community or quality of service provided by the authority 
to a significant number of people living or working in the locality affected. 
 
The following principles should particularly be taken into account: 

 
1. A decision may affect a great number of people but not significantly and 

these decisions would not normally be key. For example raising charges 
for leisure facilities in line with inflation may affect a lot of people but the 
effect is unlikely to be significant and this would not be a key decision. 

 
2. Similarly a decision may affect a number of Wards but not significantly. 

Such a decision would not be key. An example might be creating a new 
post, which works across Ward boundaries. 

 
3. A decision that has a significant impact on communities living or working 

in only one ward should be treated as a key decision e.g. a school 
closure or the introduction or amendment of traffic calming measures.  

 
4. Where a decision is only likely to have a significant impact on a very 

small number of people in one Ward it will not be key. The people 
affected should though be informed of the forthcoming decision in 
sufficient time for them to exercise their rights to see the relevant papers 
and make an input into the decision making process. 

 
 5. Consideration should be given to the level of public interest in the 

decision. The higher the level of interest the more likely it is that the 
decision should be considered to be key. 

 
6. A decision that forms part of the development of or a change to the 

Policy Framework or the Budgetary Framework should be treated as 
key. This would include any decision, which has financial implications 
and which are not provided for within the revenue budget, capital 
programme or virement rules. 

Page 412



 

266 

 

 
7. Where a decision forms part of a series of potential decisions not all of 

them will necessarily be key. For example, a decision to express an 
interest in a particular project without binding the Council to proceed or 
significantly restricting the range of options open to the Council, may 
not be key even where implementing the project would have very 
significant impact on the community 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 413



 

267 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PART 6 
 

 

 

MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 
 

MAY 2018 
 

(NJC Pay Award 2019/20 Applied May 2019) 

 
 

 
  

Page 414



 

268 

 

 
MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME 
 
 
THIS DOCUMENT FORMS PART OF THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION 
 
CONTENTS 
 

Introduction to the Members' Allowances Scheme                             
Part 1: Allowances for Councillors                                                      
Part 2: Allowances for Co-optees                                        
Part 3: Travel Allowances 
Part 4: Subsistence Allowances 
Appendix 1: Schedule of Members Allowances  
Appendix 2: Schedule of Approved Duties  

 
Introduction  
 
1. This scheme requires approval by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council in 

exercise of the powers conferred by the Local Authorities (Members’ 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. 

 
2. This scheme replaces all previous Members’ Allowances Schemes and applies 

to Members of Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council with effect from May 
2018. 

 
3 It is a requirement that this scheme be reviewed at least every four years by 

the Independent Remuneration Panel 
  
4.  This scheme should be read in conjunction with the provisions of the Council’s 

Code of Conduct for Members of the Council. 
 
5. The allowances mentioned in this scheme shall:- 
 

5.1 Be implemented from May 2018. 

 
5.2 Be up rated annually in line with the pay award for local authority NJC 

staff with each annual increase being reported to a Council meeting for 
information at the earliest opportunity.  

 
5.3 Payments made to Councillors under this Members' Allowance Scheme 

will be published each year. 
 
6. Any other amendments to this scheme will be determined by the Council 

following receipt of recommendations from the Independent Remuneration 
Panel. 

 
7. 7.1 In this scheme “Councillor” means an elected member of Blackburn with 

Darwen Borough Council. “Year” means the period of the Municipal Year.   
 
 7.2 “Co-optee” means a person (other than a Councillor) who is appointed to 

the membership of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council. 

 

Page 415



 

269 

 

 
Part 1 – Allowances for Councillors 
 
1. Basic Allowance 
 

 A basic allowance shall be paid to each Councillor for each year to enable them 
to cover the costs associated with their role as an Elected Member of Blackburn 
with Darwen Borough Council. 

 
2. Special Responsibility Allowances 
 

Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) shall be paid to those Councillors who 
have been appointed or recognised by the Council or have been notified to the 
Chief Executive by their Group as holding the special responsibilities in relation 
to the Authority that are specified in Appendix 1 to this scheme.   

Note that only one SRA shall be paid (the highest amount), where applicable, 
irrespective of the number of responsibilities held. 

 
3. Attendance Allowance 
 
 No Attendance Allowance shall be payable under this scheme either for Council 

duties or in respect of Council appointments to Outside Bodies.    
 
4. Renunciation 
 

A Councillor may, by notice in writing given to the Chief Executive, elect to 
forego any part of his or her entitlement to an allowance under this scheme. On 
giving such notice, the lower amount will then become payable to that 
Councillor until such notice is rescinded. 

 
5. Part Year Entitlements 
 

 In accordance with the requirements of the regulations, pro rata payments of 
Basic Allowance or Special Responsibility Allowance shall be payable to 
eligible Councillors in any of the following circumstances: 

 
 5.1 If an amendment to this scheme changes the amount to which a 

Councillor is entitled by way of a Basic Allowance or a Special 
Responsibility Allowance. 

 
 5.2 Where the term of office of a Councillor begins or ends otherwise than at 

the beginning or end of a year. 
 
6. Suspension of Allowances 

 
 Where a Councillor is suspended wholly or partially from his or her duties, the 

allowances payable to that Councillor (including Basic, Special Responsibility, 
Travel, Subsistence and Dependent Carers/Childcare Allowance) will also be 
suspended in whole or in part.  

 
7. Payment 
 

Page 416



 

270 

 

 Payment of Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances shall be made in 
equal instalments on a monthly basis directly to a bank account under the 
Bankers Automated Clearing System. 

 
8. Travel and Subsistence Allowances 
 

 Travel and Subsistence Allowances may be claimed by Councillors in 
accordance with Appendix 2 to this scheme. 

 [Note – subsistence expenses can only be claimed for approved duties outside 
of the authorities boundaries.   

 
9. Dependents Carer’s and Childcare Allowance  

 
 Councillors are eligible to claim Dependents Carer’s and Childcare Allowances 

for approved duties as set out in Appendix 2. The sum of £10 per hour for 
Dependent Carers and £5 per hour for Childcare will be payable. 

 
 This will not be payable where the care is provided by any other member of the 

Councillor’s household.]  
 
10. Digital Councillor Package 

 
Councillors will be provided with appropriate IT equipment including: 
 
Tablet refreshed in line with Council’s policy to cover equipment needs and 
meet with the Council’s data protection, information governance and security 
standards.    This equipment is provided to facilitate digital engagement and 
communication and support the Councillors active participation in Council and 
related Council meetings.  All Council meetings will utilise digital media.   
 
A smartphone (with secure email) will be provided to Executive and Shadow 
Board Members and the option of a mobile phone handset for all other 
members.  
 
As an alternative a member can utilise their own Tablet device and the Council 
will load secure e-mail and other Council related software (e.g. Modern.gov to 
facilitate Council meetings and other digital information exchanges). 
 
A monthly cap of £25 on mobile phone bills will be applied in relation to 
Executive Members*, and £15 for all Non-Executive Members.  Any costs in 
excess of the set limits will be claimed back from the following month’s basic 
allowance payment. As an alternative, a payment of £14 per month will be 
made for those Members choosing to use their own mobile phones. 

 
[* Executive Members – exceptional circumstances (approved in advance) may 
allow the monthly limit for calls and data usage costs being exceeded such as 
occasions when Executive Members are abroad and have requirements related 
to their roles for international calls and higher than usual data usage costs.] 

  

Page 417



 

271 

 

Part 2 – Allowances for Co-optees  
   

Travel and Subsistence Allowances 
 

 Travel and Subsistence Allowances may be claimed by all co-optees of Council 
Committees and Sub Committees in accordance with the provisions detailed in 
Appendix 2. 

 

Part 3 – Travel Allowances 
 

1. These provisions apply to Councillors and co-optees on Council Committees 
and Sub Committees and members of the Independent Remuneration Panel. 
Travel allowances are only paid on journeys exclusively for the conduct of 
Council business. 
 

 Travelling allowances can be claimed in respect of each occasion on which one 
of the persons described above carries out a duty as described in Appendix 2 
to this scheme. 

 

2. Car Mileage  
 

2.1 Claims are subject to the claimant having the appropriate insurance 
(business use) for their car. 

 
2.2 Mileage rates claimable at 45p per mile. 
 
2.3 This rate is the Inland Revenue approved rate at April 2017.  Should the 

rate change the allowance will be adjusted accordingly. 
 
2.4 When claiming mileage the distance claimed for mileage should be the 

shortest most reasonable journey by road from the point of departure to 
the point of which the duty is performed and similarly from the duty point 
to the place of return.   

 
2.5 Where Members are travelling from work for Council meetings/Council 

business they should only claim the mileage that they have undertaken 
over and above their normal journey from their place of residence to and 
from work. This is in accordance with Inland Revenue guidance. 

 
2.6 Any claims for expenses should be made in accordance with paragraph 

10. 
 
3.    Travel by Bus 
 
 The actual cost of bus travel will be reimbursed and councillors who regularly 

use bus services may claim reimbursement of the cost of a Rover season ticket. 
This includes the purchase of an annual Rover pass. A personal contribution 
will be expected where some personal use of the pass is undertaken.  

 
4.    Travel by Taxi 
 

  The actual cost of fare will be reimbursed. Receipts should be provided for taxi 
journeys.  

 
5.    Travel by Rail 
 

Page 418



 

272 

 

  The actual cost of rail travel will be paid.  
 

6.    Travel by Bicycle/Motorbike 
 

a. A rate of 20p per mile will be made for the use of bicycle and a rate of 24p 
per mile for the use of motorbikes. 
 

b. These rates are the Inland Revenue approved rate at April 2017.  Should 
the rate change the allowance will be adjusted accordingly. 

 
7.    Using a Wheelchair 
 

A payment of £200 per year will be made to assist motorised wheelchair users. 
This provision will be reviewed in the light of experience and the needs of 
individual users. 

 
8.    Longer Journeys   
 
  When travelling longer distances e.g. to attend a conference or seminar, 

Democratic Services staff can make arrangements for rail tickets or other forms 
of transport booking which avoids members bearing the cost of fares until 
reimbursement is received.       

 
9. Car parking 

 
  A car park pass will be issued for the Brown Street Car Park.  Executive Board 

Members will be issued with a pass for ‘B’ stack of the Mall Multi-Storey car 
park.  These passes are strictly for use by Councillors only and to be used 
whilst on Council business only.  

 
 Other parking charges will only be reimbursed whilst incurred in respect of 

approved duties (as defined in Appendix 2) outside the borough. 
 
10. Making Claims 
 

  Any claims for travelling expenses should be submitted digitally through the 
Council’s MyView system and contain all the information required including 
details of journey and specific duties or activities undertaken.  These should be 
in line with the approved duties listed in Appendix 2. 

 
Failure to provide the required level of information will unavoidably result in 
delays to the processing of claims and may result in claims being rejected. 

 
Part 4 – Subsistence Allowances  
 
4.1 Members may claim subsistence allowances in respect of approved duties 

undertaken outside the outside the authority’s boundaries (as set out in Appendix 
2) where meals and accommodation are not otherwise provided and they have 
actually incurred the expenses claimed. Receipts must always be obtained and 
submitted with claims. 

 
 
 
 
 
4.2  The meal allowances rates are as follows:  

Page 419



 

273 

 

 

 Breakfast Allowance  £ 5.00 

 Lunch Allowance (5 hour rate) £ 5.00 

 Dinner (10 hour rate)  £10.00 

 Late evening meal rate  £15.00 
 
4.3 Overnight accommodation must be booked through Governance Services or 

other Departments (as appropriate) as this will avoid the need for Members to 
pay directly for accommodation and enable the Council to take advantage of any 
preferential rates. 

 

 Inner London - £180 per night 

 Outside Inner London and the rest of the UK  - £120 per night 
 
 
4.4 Meals which are not provided as part of the accommodation fee or any meals not 

provided by the Conference, meeting or event being attended may be claimed 
for at the rates detailed above in paragraph 4.2. 

 
4.5 All claims are to be submitted digitally through the Council’s MyView system. 
 

 

Page 420



 

274 

 

APPENDIX ONE     
 

SCHEDULE OF MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES (rates last reviewed 2018/19) 
           

Responsibility 2018/2019 2019/2020 No. 

Basic allowance £7,000.00 £7,140.00 51 

Special Responsibility Allowances 2018/2019 2019/2020 No. 

Leader of the Council £20,000.00 £20,400.00 1 

Deputy Leaders (including Executive 
Member portfolio allowance) 

£12,000.00 £12,240.00 2 

    

Other Executive Board Members 
(with portfolios) 

£ 7,000.00 £7,140.00 5 

Assistant Executive Members £ 3,000.00 £3,060.00 15 

Chair of Policy & Corporate 
Resources Committee 

£ 3,900.00 £3,978.00 1 

Vice Chair of Policy & Corporate 
Resources Committee 

£ 1,500.00 £1,530.00 1 

Scrutiny Committee Chairs £ 3,000.00 £3,060.00 2 

Chair of Planning & Highways 
Committee 

£ 4,900.00 £4,998.00 1 

Vice Chair of Planning & Highways 
Committee 

£ 1,800.00 £1,836.00 1 

Chair of Licensing Committee £ 4,700.00 £4,794.00 1 

Vice-Chair of Licensing Committee £ 1,700.00 £1,734.00 1 

Chair of Standards Committee £ 1,500.00 £1,530.00 1 

Main Opposition Leader £ 7000.00 £7,140.00 1 

Main Opposition Deputy Leaders 
(if 20% or more seats (i.e. 10 or more) 

£ 2,000.00 £2,040.00 1 

Opposition Spokespersons (Shadow 
Cabinet) 
(The Shadow Cabinet shall include the Opposition 
Spokesperson for Planning & Highways Committee 
and Licensing Committee) 

£ 1,500.00 £1,530.00 

7 
(The number shall 
be reduced to 6 

where SRA is made 
to an Opposition 
Deputy Leader, 

Minor Opposition Leader 
(Subject to 10% or more seats (i.e. 5 or more) 

£ 2,000.00 £2,040.00 1 

Appeals Panel Members £50.00 per meeting £51.00 N/A 

Mayoral Allowance £12,000.00 £12,240.00 1 

Deputy Mayor £ 4,000.00 £4,080.00 1 

 

Note: 2019/2020 NJC Pay Award of 2% applied in accordance with paragraph 5.2 of this Scheme

Page 421



 

275 

 

APPENDIX TWO 
 

Schedule of Approved Duties for the purpose of travel, subsistence 
claims (where incurred outside the authority’s boundaries) and 
dependent carer’s and childcare allowances 
 

For Members of the Council 

Council Forum and other meetings of Full Council. 

Executive Board meetings either as a Member or an observer. 

Meetings of any Committee or Sub Committee of the Council either as a member or 
an observer including any formal briefing meetings. 

 Attendance at: 

 Senior Policy Teams 

 Partnership Political Leadership Group 

 Policy Development Sessions 

 Scheduled meetings with Directors to discuss Council business 

 Scheduled meetings with Portfolio holders to discuss matters relevant to their 
portfolio 

 Shadow Executive Board meetings 

 Other Political Group meetings convened solely to discuss Council business 

Attendance by an Executive Member at Council premises for the purposes of making 
a decision under delegated powers. 

All other Council meetings and any other meeting scheduled on the Council’s formal 
calendar of meetings, including formal briefing meetings. 

Attendance at any meeting (other than one specifically mentioned in this schedule) 
the holding of which has been authorised by Full Council, or a Committee or Sub 
Committee of the Council or a joint Committee of which the Authority is a Member. 
Members of more than one political group must have been invited to such a meeting. 

Meetings of partnership bodies like Blackburn with Darwen Strategic Partnership 
and meetings of any other external body to which a Councillor has been formally 
appointed by the Council.* 
*where an outside body has its own scheme for the payment of allowances, Councillors should claim 

travel and subsistence expenses from that body and not from the Council 
Opening of tenders where a member is required to be present 

Conferences and Seminars (including training events organised by the Council) 
where attendance is authorised by the Council). 

Site and premises visits relating to Council business. 

Pre-arranged consultation meetings with officers of the Council. 

Visits to inspect Council premises e.g. Regulation 33 visits to Children’s Homes  

Ward surgeries and ward visits to undertake Council business. 

Parish Council meetings, Community Association meetings where Members have 
been invited to attend regarding Council business. 

Attendance at any meeting or event as a representative of the Council where that 
attendance has been approved in advance by the Chief Executive. 

Visits to the Town Hall to undertake essential correspondence, paperwork etc. in 
relation to the conduct of Council business. 

 

For Co-opted Members on Council Committees and Sub-Committees 

Attendance at any meeting of a Committee or Sub Committee of which the claimant 
is an appointed member 

Any arranged visit in connection with the business of a Committee or Sub Committee 
including conferences, seminars, training events, tours of inspection, site visits. 

 

Page 422



 

276 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PART 7 

 

 

 

PETITION SCHEME 
  

Page 423



 

277 

 

 
 

 
PETITIONS 

 
The Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one way in which 
people can let us know their concerns. All petitions sent or presented to the Council 
will receive an acknowledgement within 10 working days of receipt.  This 
acknowledgement will set out what we plan to do with the petition. We will treat 
something as a petition if it is identified as being a petition, or if it seems to us that it is 
intended to be a petition. 
 
Paper petitions can be sent to: 
 
Democratic Services 
Floor 2 Old Town Hall 
Blackburn  
BB1 7DY 
 
Online petitions are available. 
 
The Council will respond to all the petitions it receives.  We will be as flexible as we 
can when handling your petition so that it is considered quickly and in the most 
appropriate way.  
 
There are three types of petitions: 

 “Ordinary” petitions 
These must be signed by at least 6 people 

 

 Petitions requiring debate 
Petitions which contain 4,200 signatures or more will be debated by the full 
Council. 

 

 Petitions to hold council employees to account  
Petitions which call for evidence from a senior council employee and have at 
least 2,100 signatures will trigger that response 

 
Who can submit a petition? 
Anyone who lives, works or studies in the Borough of Blackburn with Darwen.  
 
What are the guidelines for submitting a petition? 
 
Petitions submitted to the Council must include: 
 

 a clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition. It should 
state what action the petitioners wish the council to take 

 

 the name and address and signature of any person supporting the petition. 
 

Petitions should be accompanied by contact details, including an address, for the 
petition organiser. This is the person we will contact to explain how we will respond to 
the petition.  The contact details of the petition organiser will not be placed on the 
website. If the petition does not identify a petition organiser, we will contact signatories 
to the petition to agree who should act as the petition organiser. 

Page 424



 

278 

 

 
Petitions which are considered to be vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate will 
not be accepted. In the period immediately before an election or referendum we may 
need to deal with your petition differently – if this is the case we will explain the reasons 
and discuss the revised timescale which will apply. If a petition does not follow the 
guidelines set out above, the Council may decide not to do anything further with it. In 
that case, we will write to you to explain the reasons. 
 
 
What will the Council do when it receives my petition? 
 
An acknowledgement will be sent to the petition organiser within 10 working days of 
receiving the petition.  It will let them know what we plan to do with the petition and 
when they can expect to hear from us again.  It will also be published on our website. 
 
The petition will need to be verified before any action can be taken.  If we can do what 
your petition asks for, the acknowledgement may confirm that we have taken the action 
requested and the petition will be closed. If the petition has enough signatures to trigger 
a Council debate, or a senior officer giving evidence, then the acknowledgment will 
confirm this and tell you when and where the meeting will take place.  If the petition 
needs more investigation, we will tell you the steps we plan to take. 
 
If the petition applies to a planning or licensing application, is a statutory petition (for 
example requesting a referendum on having an elected mayor), or on a matter where 
there is already an existing right of appeal, such as Council Tax banding and non-
domestic rates, other procedures apply.  
 
Where a person or organisation (or someone on their behalf) has submitted a petition 
which is the same or substantially the same as one submitted within the previous 12 
months, this will not be accepted. 
We will not take action on any petition which we consider to be vexatious, abusive or 
otherwise inappropriate and will explain the reasons for this in our acknowledgement 
of the petition. 
 
If we decide that a petition is not acceptable then we will let the petition organiser know 
our reasons. 
 
To ensure that people know what we are doing in response to the petitions we receive 
the details of all the petitions submitted to us will be published on our website, except 
in cases where this would be inappropriate. Whenever possible we will also publish all 
correspondence relating to the petition (all personal details will be removed).  
 
How will the Council respond to petitions? 
 
Our response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how many 
people have signed it, but may include one or more of the following: 
 

 taking the action requested in the petition 

 considering the petition at a Council meeting 

 holding an inquiry into the matter 

 undertaking research into the matter 

 holding a public meeting 

 holding a consultation 

 holding a meeting with petitioners 

Page 425



 

279 

 

 referring the petition for consideration by a Council Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee* 

 calling a referendum 

 writing to the petition organiser setting out our views about the request in the 
petition 

 
*Overview and Scrutiny committees are committees of Councillors who are 
responsible for scrutinising the work of the Council – in other words, Overview and 
Scrutiny committees have the power to hold the Council’s decision makers to account. 
 
In addition to these steps, the Council will consider all the specific actions it can 
potentially take on the issues highlighted in a petition. The table below gives some 
examples. 
 

Petition subject Appropriate steps 

Alcohol related crime 
and disorder 
 

If your petition is about crime or disorder 
linked to alcohol consumption, the 
Council will, among other measures, 
consider 
the case for placing restrictions on 
public drinking in the area by 
establishing a designated public place 
order or, as a last resort, 
imposing an alcohol disorder zone. 
When an alcohol disorder 
zone is established the licensed 
premises in the area where 
alcohol related trouble is being caused 
are required to contribute 
to the costs of extra policing in that 
area. The council’s response 
to your petition will set out the steps we 
intend to take and the reasons for taking 
this approach. 

Anti-social behaviour 
(ASB) 
 

As the elected representatives of your 
local area, as social 
landlord and licensing authority, the 
Council plays a significant 
role to play in tackling anti-social 
behaviour.  
 
When responding to petitions on ASB, 
we will consider in 
consultation with our local partners, all 
the options available to 
us including the wide range of powers 
and mechanisms we have 
to intervene as part of our role as social 
landlord and licensing 
authority. For example, we will work with 
the neighbourhood 
policing team in the affected area to 
identify what action 

Page 426



 

280 

 

might be taken including what role 
CCTV might play, consider 
identifying a dedicated contact within 
the council to liaise 
with the community and neighbourhood 
partners on issues 
of ASB in the area in question and, 
where appropriate, we will 
alert the crime and disorder reduction 
partnership and crime 
and disorder overview and scrutiny 
committee to the issues 
highlighted in the petition. 

Under-performing schools We will consider, in consultation with 
local partners, all the 
options available to us when working 
with schools to secure 
their improvement. For example, on our 
behalf, the school 
improvement partner will play a pivotal 
role, challenging and 
brokering support for poorly performing 
schools. Where 
a school is under performing we will 
consider whether it is 
appropriate in the circumstances to 
issue a warning notice 
outlining expectations and a timeframe 
for the school to 
improve its performance standards. 
Other measures available 
to us, where schools fail to comply with 
a warning notice or are 
in an Ofsted category of notice to 
improve (requiring significant 
improvement) or special measures 
including; appointing 
additional governors, establishing an 
interim executive board, 
removal of the school’s delegated 
budgets, requiring the school 
to enter into a formal contract or 
partnership or, only if the 
school is in special measures, closure. 

Under-performing health services We will work with local health partners 
to consider the matter 
raised in the petition including, where 
appropriate, exploring 
what role the Local Involvement 
Network (LINK) might have 
in reviewing and feeding back on the 
issue (the LINK is run by 
local individuals and community groups 
and independently 

Page 427



 

281 

 

supported – their role to find out what 
people want in terms 
of local health services, monitor those 
services and to use their 
powers to hold them to account). The 
health overview and 
scrutiny committee will also be alerted 
to the petition and where 
the matter is sufficiently or potentially 
serious, the issue will be 
referred to them to consider for review. 

 
If your petition is about something over which the Council has no direct control (for 
example the local railway or hospital) we will consider making representations on 
behalf of the community to the relevant body. The Council works with a large number 
of local partners and where possible will work with these partners to respond to your 
petition. If we are not able to do this for any reason (for example if what the petition 
calls for conflicts with council policy), then we will set out the reasons for this to you. 
You can find more information on the services for which the council is responsible here 
www.blackburn.gov.uk. 
 
If your petition is about something that a different Council is responsible for we will 
give consideration to what the best method is for responding to it. This might consist 
of simply forwarding the petition to the other Council, but could involve other steps. In 
any event we will always notify you of the action we have taken. 
 
 
Full Council debates 
 
If a petition contains more than 4,200 signatures it will be debated by the full Council 
unless it is a petition asking for a senior Council officer to give evidence at a public 
meeting.  This means that the issue raised in the petition will be discussed at a meeting 
which all councillors can attend. The Council will endeavour to consider the petition at 
its next meeting, although on some occasions this may not be possible and 
consideration will then take place at the following meeting.  The petition organiser will 
be given 5 minutes to present the petition at the meeting and the petition will then be 
discussed by Councillors for a maximum of 15 minutes. The Council will decide how 
to respond to the petition at this meeting. They may decide to take the action the 
petition requests, not to take the action requested for reasons put forward in the 
debate, or to commission further investigation into the matter, for example by a relevant 
committee. Where the issue is one on which the Council Executive are required to 
make the final decision, the Council will decide whether to make recommendations to 
inform that decision. The petition organiser will receive written confirmation of this 
decision. This confirmation will also be published on our website. 
 
Officer evidence 
 
Your petition may ask for a senior Council Officer to give evidence at a public meeting 
about something for which the officer is responsible as part of their job. For example, 
your petition may ask a senior Council officer to explain progress on an issue, or to 
explain the advice given to elected members to enable them to make a particular 
decision. 
 
If your petition contains at least 2,100 signatures, the relevant senior officer will give 
evidence at a public meeting a Council Overview and Scrutiny committee. A list of the 

Page 428



 

282 

 

senior staff that can be called to give evidence can be found in the Appendix.  You 
should be aware that the Overview and Scrutiny committee may decide that it would 
be more appropriate for another officer to give evidence instead of any officer named 
in the petition – for instance if the named officer has changed jobs. The committee may 
also decide to call the relevant Councillor to attend the meeting. Committee members 
will ask the questions at this meeting, but you will be able to suggest questions to the 
chair of the committee by contacting the Scrutiny Elections and Neighbourhoods 
Manager (01254 585191) up to three working days before the meeting. 
 
 
 
What can I do if I feel my petition has not been dealt with properly? 
 
If you feel that we have not dealt with your petition properly, the petition organiser has 
the right to request that a Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee review the steps 
that the Council has taken in response to your petition. It is helpful to everyone, and 
can improve the prospects for a review if the petition organiser gives a short 
explanation of the reasons why the council’s response is not considered to be 
adequate. 
 
The Committee will endeavour to consider your request at its next meeting, although 
on some occasions this may not be possible and consideration will take place at the 
following meeting. Should the Committee determine we have not dealt with your 
petition adequately, it may use any of its powers to deal with the matter. These powers 
include instigating an investigation, making recommendations to the council executive 
and arranging for the matter to be considered at a meeting of the full Council. 
 
Once the appeal has been considered the petition organiser will be informed of the 
results within 5 working days. The results of the review will also be published on our 
website. 
 
 
Director of Finance and Customer Services  

Page 429



 

283 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PART 8
 

 

 

COUNCIL STAFF STRUCTURE 
As at 1st July 2019  

Page 430



 

284 

 

 

 

P
age 431


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Council Forum Meeting held on 28th January 2021
	4 Declarations of Interest
	6 Capital Strategy 2021/22
	Appendices 1 to 6
	Appendix 7 - Asset Management Plan

	7 The Robustness of the 2021/22 Budget and the Recommended Level of Reserves
	8 Revenue Budget 2021/22, Medium Term Financial Strategy and Capital Programme 2021-24
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E

	9 Council Tax 2021/22
	10 Constitution Update
	Item 10 Draft Update Constitution March 2021


